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IDEAS ARE EVERYTHING

developed a set of strategies and have

Oshkosh Truck builds some of the

delivered against those strategies.

biggest, toughest, most rugged vehicles

We like to compete and we love to win.

in the world. They’re found all across the

Our goal is to have every one of our

globe, helping people get work done,

products in a first or second place

and they all have two things in common.

market position, with our ultimate goal of

First, they’re designed, manufactured,

achieving the top spot. Striving to be the

marketed and supported by some of

best is the only way we know how to

the finest and most talented people

operate. In doing so, we have been able

anywhere. Second, they all began as

to grow this company at a remarkable

ideas. At Oshkosh Truck, we value Big

rate and with industry-leading success.

Ideas. And Big Ideas are what we intend

This has led to significant shareholder

to show you in our 2006 annual repor t.

value creation, and it is our Big Idea to

We have been successful over an

work toward that goal as we move into

extended period of time because we

the next phase of our growth.
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Please refer to the definition of “markets” and forward-looking
statements on page 28. All references to “markets” and
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SUMMARY

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION

SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA. FISCAL YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
(7) (8)

(7) (8)

(5) (7) (8)

(4) (7) (8)

(3)

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

$ 1,743,592

$ 1,926,010

$ 2,262,305

$ 2,959,900

$ 3,427,388

111,118

129,199

180,410

267,202

325,928

59,598

75,620

112,806

160,205

205,529

0.86

1.08

1.57

2.18

2.76

1,024,329

1,083,132

1,452,414

1,718,303

2,110,908

EXPENDITURES FOR PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15,619

24,673

29,950

43,174

56,020

DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION & STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

25,392

26,120

27,961

34,699

48,588

NET WORKING CAPITAL (DEFICIT)

33,964

(1,436 )

31,026

178,845

121,320

149,958

1,735

3,851

3,149

2,859

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

409,760

518,863

636,093

818,670

1,061,905

BOOK VALUE PER SHARE

6.03

7.44

9.00

11.16

14.40

908,000

1,205,000

1,551,000

1,944,000

1,914,000

NET SALES
OPERATING INCOME
NET INCOME (1)
PER SHARE ASSUMING DILUTION

(1)

TOTAL ASSETS

(2) (3) (4) (5)

LONG-TERM DEBT (INCLUDING CURRENT MATURITIES)

BACKLOG
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(6)

NET SALES

OPERATING INCOME

(Dollars in millions)

(Dollars in millions)

$3,500

EARNINGS PER SHARE

$350

$3,427.4

$3.00
$325.9

3,000

$2.76

300

$2,959.9

2,500

2.25

$267.2

250
$2,262.3

2,000

$2.18

200

$1,926.0

$1.57

$1,743.6

1.50

$180.4

1,500

150

1,000

100

500

50

0

$111.1

$1.08

$129.2

.75

0

$0.86

0

% Change

20.6%

10.5%

17.5%

30.8%

15.8%

% Change

13.0%

16.3%

39.6%

48.1%

22.0%

% Change

16.2%

25.6%

45.4%

38.9%

26.6%

Year

02

03

04

05

06

Year

02

03

04

05

06

Year

02

03

04

05

06

NET SALES (a)

OPERATING INCOME (a)

FIRE AND EMERGENCY
DEFENSE
COMMERCIAL

FIRE AND EMERGENCY
38.0%

22.6%

27.7%
60.8%
34.3%

DEFENSE
16.6%

COMMERCIAL

(a) Excludes corporate and intersegment eliminations.

(1) Fiscal 2003 results included a $3,945 after-tax charge ($0.06 per share) related to the payment
of the call premium and related costs and the write-off of capitalized deferred financing costs
due to the September 19, 2003 early retirement of the Company’s $100,000 of 8 3/4% senior
subordinated notes due March 2008. Fiscal 2003 results also included a $3,400 reduction in
income tax expense and corresponding increase in net income and related per share amounts
($0.05 per share) as a result of the September 2003 favorable settlement of an income tax audit
covering fiscal 1999 through 2001.
(2) Fiscal 2002 cash from operating activities, including an $86,300 performance-based payment
received on September 30, 2002 on the Company’s MTVR contract, was principally used to
prepay long-term debt. See (6). In fiscal 2003, the Company prepaid its $100,000 of 8 3/4%
senior subordinated notes due March 2008 with borrowings under its bank credit facility and from
available cash.
(3) On July 31, 2006, the Company acquired all of the equity interests of AKSV for $142,049 in cash.
On August 14, 2006, the Company acquired for $130,793 in cash all of the issued and
outstanding capital stock of IMT. Amounts include acquisition costs and are net of cash
acquired. Fiscal 2006 results included sales of $32,406 and operating income of $1,619
related to AKSV and IMT following their acquisition, respectively. See Note 3 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.
(4) On November 1, 2004, the Company acquired for $19,912 in cash all of the issued and outstanding
capital stock of CON-E-CO. On March 9, 2005, the Company acquired for $11,169 in cash all of the
issued and outstanding capital stock of London. Amounts include acquisition costs and are net of
cash acquired. Fiscal 2005 and 2006 results included sales of $54,545 and $98,378 and operating
income of $2,371 and $9,379, respectively, related to CON-E-CO and London following their acquisition.
See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(5) On July 8, 2004, the Company acquired for $79,854 in cash all of the issued and outstanding
capital stock of JerrDan. On July 29, 2004, the Company acquired for €6,282 ($7,635) in cash,
plus debt assumed of €10,891 ($13,238), 75% of the outstanding quotas (ownership interests)
of BAI. Amounts include acquisition costs and are net of cash acquired. Fiscal 2004, 2005 and
2006 results included sales of $35,408, $174,731 and $183,652 and operating income of
$1,189, $13,009 and $16,308, respectively, related to JerrDan and BAI following their acquisition.
(6) In fiscal 2002, the Company prepaid $6,000 of its term loan A and $126,250 of its term loan B
from cash generated from operating activities. See (2).
(7) In fiscal 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share–Based
Payment,” requiring the Company to recognize expense related to the fair value of the
Company’s stock–based compensation awards. Had SFAS No. 123(R) been in effect for
the earliest period presented, results would have been as follows for fiscal 2002, 2003,
2004 and 2005, respectively: operating income - $108,245, $126,309, $177,172 and
$263,686; net income - $56,725, $72,730, $109,568 and $156,689; net income per
share assuming dilution - $0.82, $1.04, $1.52 and $2.13.
(8) In fiscal 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005, the Company recorded cumulative life-to-date adjustments
to increase the overall margin percentage on the MTVR base contract by 1.0, 1.2, 2.1 and 2.5
percentage points, respectively, as a result of contract modifications and favorable cost
performance compared to previous estimates. These changes in estimates, recorded as cumulative
life-to-date adjustments, increased operating income, net income and net income per share by
$4,300, $3,000 and $0.04 in fiscal 2002, $9,200, $5,800 and $0.09 in fiscal 2003, $19,500,
$12,300 and $0.17 in fiscal 2004 and $24,700, $15,100 and $0.21 in fiscal 2005, respectively,
including $1,700, $1,000 and $0.02 in 2002, $5,700, $3,600 and $0.05 in fiscal 2003,
$16,200, $10,200 and $0.14 in fiscal 2004 and $23,100, $14,200 and $0.20 in fiscal 2005,
respectively, relating to prior year revenues.
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I am pleased to represent the entire

We also grew our operating income

Oshkosh Truck family in announcing that

at a rate of 22.0% to $325.9 million.

fiscal 2006 was not only another great

This led to an increased margin of

year of Big Ideas, it was also our tenth

9.5%, which moved us even closer

consecutive year of improving financial

to our goal of a 10% consolidated

performance. Sales increased 15.8% to

operating income margin for the

$3.43 billion, with revenues in excess

entire Company.

of $3 billion for the first time in the
Company’s 89-year history.

This strong operating income
performance drove our net income
of $205.5 million, leading the way
to an increase of 26.6% in earnings
per share to $2.76, another

CAPTURING

BIG IDEAS

all-time record. We believe these
record-breaking numbers will be
eclipsed in 2007 as a result of
strong business plans, an
experienced management team
and solid end-market demand.

ROBERT G. BOHN
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
Oshkosh Truck Corporation
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Our strong cash flow has enabled us

and Lull®– is renowned for its premium

was restored to profitability for the year.

to invest capital in continued growth.

quality, low total cost of ownership and

Our Company-wide lean initiative

In 2006, we completed two tuck-in

advanced technologies. The company

contributed many fine operational

acquisitions – AK Specialty Vehicles

fits ideally with our existing acquisition

improvements throughout the year.

and Iowa Mold Tooling – which we

strategy. We expect JLG to provide

McNeilus, for example, has realized

expect will add over $200 million

balance to our business mix and scale

tremendous gains and has greatly

of sales in 2007.

in our procurement. Furthermore, with

increased throughput rates for front-

sales and service centers on six continents,

loader refuse collection bodies and

Just after the end of our fiscal year, we

JLG’s extensive global reach is a nice

concrete mixer drums. In Europe, the

announced our latest Big Idea. That is,

complement to our existing distribution.

lean team has been a valuable resource

we announced our agreement to acquire

at the Geesink Norba Group by improving

JLG Industries, Inc. (JLG), the world leader

At Oshkosh Truck, we showed improved

in aerial work platforms and telehandlers.

execution in fiscal 2006, with all of

JLG primarily serves the non-residential

our segments reporting double-digit

The work processes and priorities

construction market, with customers

percentage gains in operating income.

brought to plants where lean activities

such as equipment rental companies,

Of particular note, our commercial

have been deployed will continue to

construction contractors and other

segment operating income margins began

support us into the future.

industrial companies. Its portfolio of

to recover and the Geesink Norba Group,

leading brands – JLG®, SkyTrak®, Gradall®

our commercial European subsidiary,

throughput and reducing cost.

2006 WAS NOT ONLY ANOTHER GREAT YEAR OF BIG IDEAS,
IT WAS ALSO OUR TENTH CONSECUTIVE YEAR OF IMPROVING
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AT OSHKOSH TRUCK.
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DEFENSE

Vehicles), SMIT mobile medical vehicles

This surge in buying is likely to mean a

Our Defense segment continued the strong

and Frontline broadcast vehicles into

softening of the commercial market and

growth it showed in fiscal 2005, leading our

the segment.

revenues in fiscal 2007, but we are

fiscal 2006 performance with sales

focused on improving operating income

increasing 24% to $1.3 billion.While our

COMMERCIAL

parts & service business softened in the

Going into fiscal 2006, our first priority

back half of the year, the new and

was the turnaround of our Commercial

LOOKING FORWARD

remanufactured vehicle business was strong

segment. I am pleased to report that the

Acquisitions with complementary,

throughout fiscal 2006.We expect these

commercial business was back on track

innovative products are superb

revenue streams to continue to contribute to

during the year as stronger pricing drove

examples of the Big Ideas that serve

segment profitability for many years to come.

margin improvement. Sales were up just

to guide this company. We think the

through margin enhancement efforts.

under 10% to nearly $1.2 billion, which

acquisition of JLG is a Big Idea that

FIRE AND EMERGENCY

drove an increase in operating income

will offer great value for Oshkosh

With sales of $961 million, the Fire and

from $23.8 to $66.2 million, and a

shareholders, and for JLG customers

Emergency segment grew over 14% in

commensurate rise in operating income

and employees alike. Moving forward

fiscal 2006. We expect our carefully

margin. This is an important step as we

as a more formidable growth company,

planned and executed strategic acquisition

move toward a goal of 10% operating

our size and scale will help us become

of AK Specialty Vehicles to be a strong

income margins in all segments. Backlog

more competitive. We also expect to

contributor to 2007 performance. This

grew significantly in fiscal 2006 as order

generate a significant amount of cash,

acquisition brings Oshkosh Specialty

volume expanded in advance of the 2007

which we will use to quickly pay down

Vehicles (rebranded from AK Specialty

diesel engine emissions standards changes.

debt. I look forward to discussing

The acquisition of JLG®, the world leader in aerial
work platforms and telehandlers, is an ideal fit
with Oshkosh’s acquisition strategy.
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the performance of this product line in

we have developed in the decade since

potential acquisitions that could

next year’s annual report as part of

we originally set out to transform this

benefit our current mix of business.

our Access Equipment segment.

Company. They are:

This is how we diversified over the past

This management team has successfully

Lead in new product development –

company that’s better able to serve our

brought 14 new businesses into the

To do this, we need to understand our

customers and deliver shareholder value.

Company in the last 10 years. Each

customers better than anyone else.

has been accretive in its first full year

We also need to align every function –

As we move forward in fiscal 2007, we

of operation, and we have rapidly paid

engineering, purchasing, manufacturing,

expect to continue to be led by the Big

down the debt incurred to acquire

marketing, sales, service and training –

Ideas of our people. With JLG, we will

each business. Adding our 15th, and

around a single deliverable.

have the scale to put more Big Ideas to

decade and became a strong, balanced

arguably most transformational,

work. We are happy to have you with us

company as a new segment of our

Seek operational excellence through

as shareholders and will work hard to

business will be hard work, but we

“lean” – I mentioned this earlier, and it

deliver world-class results.

point to our record of successful

has been a cornerstone of our success.

acquisitions and shareholder value

This basic philosophy of “lean” guides all

creation as indicators that we will be

of our decisions, and that is “do things

successful in our latest move.

as simply as possible.”

We are confident going into the future,

Pursue strategic, complementary

and are guided by the same strong ideas

acquisitions – We continuously evaluate

ROBERT G. BOHN
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
Oshkosh Truck Corporation
November 22, 2006

    
      
    
      
   
Through a commitment to continuous innovation, Pierce® is
highly respected as America’s leading brand in fire apparatus.

The strength, performance and reliability of Oshkosh®
trucks continue to be proven under harsh conditions.

McNeilus® refuse collection trucks have a reputation
for outstanding durability and longevity.
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We work day and night to continuously

deliver sustainable shareholder value,

disposal, we are significantly increasing

improve operational performance and

which is why we’re in business in the

our development capabilities by leveraging

efficiency. This effort is a part of the

first place.

the combined power and strength of our

business that cannot get too much

engineering teams. We began the project

attention. We don’t always know where

Efforts to streamline our fire and

in 2005 and completed our move-in

our ideas will come from, but we do

emergency operations led to an $18.5

during fiscal 2006.

know that the ideas generated by our

million investment in a facility expansion.

lean initiative have become the lifeblood

Designed to reduce complexity and

Other Big Ideas that we implemented

of our efforts.

improve material flows, this expansion

in fiscal 2006 include multi-million

allows us to deliver the world’s best fire

dollar investments in an automated

These ideas have helped us reduce

trucks to dedicated firefighters in a

blast and paint line in our defense

process complexity, reduce variability,

more timely and value-added manner.

remanufacturing plant and a laser

reduce cost and eliminate waste.

cutting and forming process at our

By working tirelessly to deliver these

Another Big Idea led to the investment

North Plant. They will allow us to

performance improvements, we’re able

in and development of our Global

better serve customers in our defense

to enhance our competitive position and

Technology Center, which is located

business, where our products are put

serve our customers better. Ultimately,

near our South Plant operations.

to the test every single day.

it gives us a stronger opportunity to

With this kind of world-class facility at our

A Pierce facility expansion improves material flow and delivers the
world’s best fire trucks in a more timely and value-added manner.
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trucks are designed. Among them is a

When Pierce Manufacturing

set of safety improvements that include

introduced the new Velocity chassis

frontal airbags – the first ever available in

in September 2006, it provided a

a custom fire truck – and newly designed

textbook example of Oshkosh Truck

seats with enhanced seatbelts and

Corporation’s commitment to product

restraint systems.

innovation and development. Through
an improved new product development

Other Big Idea “game changers”

process centered around customer

introduced to the market by Velocity

research, a cross-functional work team

include: more interior space, integrated

brought a truly Big Idea to market.

storage and clutter management,
improved visibility for the driver, and

What began as a dialogue between Pierce

easier maintenance.

and firefighters nationwide became a
comprehensive effort to build the ideal

The industry’s positive response, in

fire truck. The new chassis incorporated

terms of initial orders, further reinforces

five major “game changers” in the way fire

Pierce’s market-leading position.

'!$ 


"   

The Pierce Velocity chassis was designed and built with
the help of many firefighters from around the nation.
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The Oshkosh H-Series snow removal chassis
features a new cab design that improves safety,
visibility and comfort.
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H-SERIES SNOW BLOWER

JERRDAN 60-TON ROTATOR

After thoroughly interviewing airport

BUSHMASTER ASSURED
MOBILITY VEHICLE

snow removal operators, Oshkosh

In response to the U.S. military’s

product line with the introduction of

went to work to design a next-

need for a solution to protect mobile

a new 60-Ton Rotator Wrecker that

generation H-Series snow removal

troops, Oshkosh Truck teamed with

provides industry-leading lift, pull and

chassis. Major airports all across North

Australia’s leading defense contractor,

stability characteristics. Used for

America rely on Oshkosh’s H-Series to

ADI, to make the Bushmaster Assured

extreme recoveries and considered the

keep runways open during severe winter

Mobility Vehicle available to U.S. forces.

flagship of any towing fleet, the wrecker

weather. Since speed and efficiency

Battle tested and combat proven,

is equipped with a boom that rotates

can make all the difference to an

the Bushmaster is designed and

360 degrees and is rated at 120,000

airport’s operation, the H-Series was

armored to withstand blasts and

pounds when retracted. With the

redesigned to offer improved visibility,

ballistic ambushes from roadside

industry’s widest stabilizer spread,

safety and comfort. Specifically, operator

bombs and land mines. After seven

JerrDan’s new wrecker has unparalleled

visibility was improved with close to

years and 150,000 miles of testing,

stability and can pull more than 68,000

40% more windshield glass over its

the Bushmaster is a long-term

pounds from the side.

predecessor, which was already the

supportable fleet solution that Oshkosh

industry leader in that category.

is actively marketing in North America.

In fiscal 2006, JerrDan extended its

The Oshkosh-licensed Bushmaster brings a new level
of speed and protection to rapid troop deployment.
The JerrDan 60-Ton Rotator Wrecker addresses
an unmet need with industry-leading lift,
pull and stability characteristics.
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Oshkosh Truck continues to pursue a
strong commitment to market leadership
in all segments. Through a dedication to
innovation and a wise investment of
capital, we intend to take full advantage
of opportunities presented by evolving
market dynamics at home and abroad.


This growing business continues to evolve
and improve as it responds to defense
customer needs. Our armoring capability
has grown into a major strength as we
continue to install armor, which improves

 
 

Oshkosh Truck’s Logistics Vehicle System Replacement (LVSR) is part of the large
Oshkosh fleet of vehicles relied on by the brave men and women in the U.S. military.
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the safety of our armed forces personnel
as they work to execute dangerous
missions. We have been armoring vehicles
in theater for several years and we plan

to begin armoring vehicles in our factory

guests were on hand in Dallas for the

leaders in implementing lean activities,

in the first half of calendar 2007.

debut of Pierce Manufacturing’s newest

which are forming a solid foundation of

We’re proud of our unmanned ground

fire truck, the Velocity, at the 2006 Fire-

operational excellence going forward.

vehicle expertise and the success we

Rescue International show in September.

INTERNATIONAL

demonstrated in the first two DARPA
Grand Challenge events, especially the
TerraMax™

The Velocity is a great example of the

Sales to international markets were

systematic and disciplined new product

17.7% of all revenues for fiscal 2006.

vehicle was one of only five entries to

development process that will help

We believe this percentage will increase

complete a 132 mile desert course.

propel Oshkosh Truck forward.

as the turnaround continues at the

2005 challenge when our

Geesink Norba Group in Europe, and as

We look forward to the 2007 Urban
Challenge that will take place on a 60 mile

COMMERCIAL

our offerings from BAI in Italy continue

course and allow us to showcase our

The segment rebounded in fiscal 2006

to expand their following. Furthermore,

strength in autonomous vehicle technology.

as industry orders ahead of new emissions

we expect that the two acquisitions in

requirements for 2007 and our own lean

fiscal 2006 and the addition of access

FIRE AND EMERGENCY

activities led the way. Commercial margins

equipment with JLG in 2007 will

The segment produced another strong year,

more than doubled from 2.2% in 2005

increase our percentage of sales to

led by steady growth across the product

to 5.6% in 2006. McNeilus and the

international markets.

line and included the addition of Oshkosh

Geesink Norba Group in Europe have been

Specialty Vehicles. The fiscal year ended
on a high note when over 1,700 invited

McNeilus builds some of the world’s toughest,
most durable refuse truck bodies.

The addition of
Frontline Communications
opens the advanced communications
vehicle market to the Company.
Contender by Pierce builds on Oshkosh’s
strength in homeland security.

TerraMax illustrates Oshkosh’s leadership
in unmanned vehicle technology.
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Oshkosh Truck’s rich history of successful
acquisitions continued at a strong pace
in fiscal 2006 with the additions of
AK Specialty Vehicles (rebranded
Oshkosh Specialty Vehicles (OSV)) and
Iowa Mold Tooling (IMT). OSV strengthens
Oshkosh's position within the homeland
security industry for command and
communications vehicles and continues
its expansion in the European specialty
vehicle market. OSV’s brands are
renowned and respected for technology
leadership among broadcast and mobile
medical vehicles. Mobile medical vehicles
carry such equipment as MRI machines,
mammography machines, and

 
  

Oshkosh Specialty Vehicles mobile medical units such
as this expand the Oshkosh Truck playing field.
16

catheterization labs.
Frontline is OSV’s leading brand in the
broadcast, command and communications

vehicle industries. It provides a full line

companies and mining operations.

of television broadcast, satellite and

Its full line of service vehicles includes

microwave transmission, and electronic

trucks for general mechanics, tire

news gathering vehicles to broadcasters,

service and lubrication. Additionally,

TV stations, radio stations and NASA.

IMT offers a broad line of truck-mounted
cranes including wallboard loaders,

OSV also offers a wide range of

telescopic cranes and articulating

customized command and

cranes for a variety of end markets.

THE SUCCESSFUL

communications vehicles to federal,

We expect IMT to help improve

state, and local governments, law

operating margins and be a strong

enforcement, fire service and the

contributor to Oshkosh’s aerial technology

PURSUIT OF
ACQUISITIONS

military. Customers include the Federal

expertise. There is additional growth

Emergency Management Agency,

potential for IMT in adjacent

the U.S. Navy, the New York Police

market spaces, among government

Department and the FBI.

and international customers, and in

CONTINUED IN
FISCAL 2006.

aftermarket parts and services for its
IMT is the leading North American

existing customers. The subsidiary’s

manufacturer of field service vehicles

strong distribution system includes

marketed to major construction

more than 80 dealers that are located

equipment dealers, major construction

throughout North America.

IMT’s line of field service vehicles and truck-mounted cranes is expected
to be a strong contributor to Oshkosh’s aerial technology expertise.
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BUSINESS

OVERVIEW
FIRE AND EMERGENCY
®
™

®

®

Heavy Expanded Mobility Tactical Trucks (“HEMTT”); HEMTT-Load
Handling Systems (“LHS”); Palletized Load System (“PLS”) trucks
and trailers; Logistic Vehicle System Replacement (“LVSR”); Heavy
Equipment Transporters (“HET”); Medium Tactical Trucks (“MTT”);
Medium Tactical Vehicle Replacements (“MTVR”); wheeled tankers;
armored personnel carriers; high-mobility trailers; simulator shelters;
remanufacturing; armoring; worldwide integrated logistics support

Custom and commercial fire apparatus; rescue and homeland
security apparatus; aircraft rescue and firefighting (“ARFF”)
vehicles; ambulances; snow blowers and plow trucks; towing and
recovery equipment; financing; aftermarket service; training

Defense segment sales grew 24.1% based on strong growth of
new and remanufactured trucks and modestly higher parts and
service sales.

Fire and Emergency segment sales grew 14.3% due to organic
sales growth and expansion of homeland security business.

Recent acquisition brings communications, broadcast and mobile
medical products

NET SALES
$1,500

NET SALES
$1,317.2

1,000

$774.1

500
0

05

$1,500
Dollars in millions

$1,061.1

04

KEY ADVANTAGES

®

®

Dollars in millions

FINANCIAL RESULTS

PRODUCTS

BRANDS

DEFENSE

06

$841.5

1,000

$961.5
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•Broad product line encompasses vehicles with payload
capacities ranging from 2.5 to 70+ tons

•No. 1 worldwide brand of fire and rescue apparatus recognized
for performance, quality, safety and innovation

•Strong brand recognized for superior performance and reliability

•America’s No. 1 individual brand of wreckers and carriers

•Innovation leader, including development of ProPulse® diesel-electric
drive, on-board vehicle power, TAK-4TM independent suspension
system, TerraMaxTM unmanned ground vehicle and Joint Light Tactical
Vehicle (“JLTV”) concept design

•Innovation leader – industry’s first frontal airbags in custom
fire truck chassis

•Extensive remanufacturing and armoring capabilities
•Leadership position in worldwide, integrated logistics support

•Strong global distribution and service networks
•Comprehensive product line for fire and homeland
security applications
•Revolutionary VelocityTM and ImpelTM chassis introduced to
warm reception in 2006
•Acquisition of OSV brings higher operating income margins
and strong mobile communications expertise

•Potential for sustaining troops in Iraq and Afghanistan for
several years
•Troop protection such as cab armor and troop carriers
remains a priority for militaries worldwide

INDUSTRY OUTLOOK

•Trend toward remanufacturing U.S. fleet as result of heavy use in
Iraq and Afghanistan conflicts
•U.S. Army transformation to modular brigade concept may drive
additional tactical truck requirements

•Homeland security market continues to be robust
•Recent events providing lessons learned for disaster
response efforts
•Expanded National Guard and Army Reserve role in homeland
security and disaster relief may create opportunities for
vehicle sales

•Expanded parts and service requirements on global scale

•Increased air traffic driving airport infrastructure expansion
worldwide, with particular strength in China

•Strong defense funding and supplementals expected
to continue

•Technology shift to high definition television driving broadcast
vehicle demand

•Continued trend toward vehicle technologies such as unmanned
vehicles, IED threat detection, crew survivability, reduced
maintenance, and network-centric vehicles

•Increased usage of specialty procedures requiring additional
mobile medical units

•Increased support needed for Army Reserve and National Guard
as troops are called to active duty; increased demand for
homeland security and natural disaster response
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•Municipal markets appear healthy

COMMERCIAL-CONCRETE PLACEMENT

COMMERCIAL-REFUSE

®

®

®

®

®

®

Rear-discharge mixers; Revolution® mixer drums; front-discharge
mixers; concrete batch plants; all-make parts; financing; aftermarket
service; training

®

®

®

Refuse collection vehicle bodies; rear loaders, front loaders, side loaders
and automated mobile and stationary compactors; demountable containers
and container-handling equipment; bin lifters; all-make parts; financing;
aftermarket service; training

IMT acquisition brings mechanics trucks, tire ser vice trucks,
lubrication trucks, telescopic & ar ticulating cranes and hydraulic loaders
Sales for the combined Commercial segment grew 9.6% due to improved selling prices
and strong demand in advance of diesel engine emissions standards changes in 2007.

NET SALES
Dollars in millions

$1,500
$1,085.7

1,000

$1,190.3

$907.3

500
0

04

•No. 1 North American manufacturer of concrete mixers
and batch plants
•Single source for concrete mixers, batch plants, all-make parts
and service

05

06

•No. 1 worldwide manufacturer of refuse collection bodies
•Comprehensive product line known for low maintenance costs
and high productivity
•Extensive direct sales and service networks

•Revolution composite mixer drum offers unique profitability benefits
to concrete producers

•Proprietary and all-make parts

•Extensive sales and service networks

•Product development focused on safety and productivity
enhancements

•Large installed base provides strong aftermarket opportunities
IMT acquisition brings higher operating income margins and leadership
in ser vice vehicle and truck-mounted crane markets

•2007 emissions standards for diesel engines expected to reduce
mixer market by 20%-40% in calendar 2007
•2007 cement consumption forecasted to be equal to 2006*
•Non-residential and highway construction expected to offset
downturn in residential market
•Continuing consolidation among major multinational
concrete producers
•Reduction in capital spent on mixer equipment in 2007
expected to be partially offset by batch plant purchases

•U.S. municipal spending is expected to stay strong
•After pre-buy in 2006 due to 2007 emissions standards changes for
diesel engines, refuse market in U.S. expected to decline by 20-25%
in calendar 2007
•Intense pricing pressure across European markets
•Detachable bin lifts gaining popularity in European markets
•Stringent safety regulations throughout Europe
•Stronger emissions regulations and fuel price increases are
generating interest in alternative fuel and hybrid-electric vehicles

*Portland Cement Association
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PEOPLE USE VEHICLES BUILT BY OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION TO
SAVE LIVES AND BUILD COMMUNITIES. WE BELIEVE
THEY DESERVE THE MOST RUGGED, DURABLE AND TOP PERFORMING
VEHICLES IN THE WORLD.

DEFENSE

FIRE AND EMERGENCY

COMMERCIAL

ACCESS EQUIPMENT*

Assured mobility vehicles

Ambulances

CONCRETE PLACEMENT

Aerial work platforms

Military trailers

ARFF

Batch plants

Military trucks

Broadcast

Mixers

Vehicle armoring

Communications

REFUSE

Fire apparatus

Compactors

Homeland security

Containers

Mobile command

Refuse bodies

Mobile medical
Rescue
Snow removal

Telehandlers

Service trucks
Truck-mounted cranes

Towing and recovery
*New segment beginning with fiscal 2007.
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$VXVHGKHUHLQWKH³&RPSDQ\´UHIHUVWR2VKNRVK7UXFN&RUSRUDWLRQLQFOXGLQJ3LHUFH0DQXIDFWXULQJ,QF ³3LHUFH´ 
0F1HLOXV&RPSDQLHV,QF ³0F1HLOXV´ DQGLWVZKROO\RZQHGVXEVLGLDULHV9LNLQJ7UXFNDQG(TXLSPHQW,QF ³9LNLQJ´ 
.HZDXQHH)DEULFDWLRQV//& ³.HZDXQHH´ 0HGWHF$PEXODQFH&RUSRUDWLRQ ³0HGWHF´ -HUU'DQ&RUSRUDWLRQ ³-HUU'DQ´ 
&RQFUHWH (TXLSPHQW &RPSDQ\ ,QF DQG LWV ZKROO\RZQHG VXEVLGLDU\ ³&21(&2´  /RQGRQ 0DFKLQHU\ ,QF DQG LWV
ZKROO\RZQHGVXEVLGLDU\ ³/RQGRQ´ *HHVLQN*URXS%91RUED$%DQG*HHVLQN1RUED/LPLWHGDQGWKHLUZKROO\RZQHG
VXEVLGLDULHV WRJHWKHU WKH ³*HHVLQN 1RUED *URXS´  %$, %UHVFLD $QWLQFHQGL ,QWHUQDWLRQDO 6UO ³%$,´  $. 6SHFLDOW\
9HKLFOHV//&$OXPLQXP%RG\&RUSRUDWLRQDQG3ULPH0HGLFDO0DQXIDFWXULQJ//&DQGWKHLUZKROO\RZQHGVXEVLGLDULHV
WRJHWKHU³$.´ DQG,RZD0ROG7RROLQJ&R,QF ³,07´ ³2VKNRVK´UHIHUVWR2VKNRVK7UXFN&RUSRUDWLRQQRWLQFOXGLQJ
3LHUFH0F1HLOXV9LNLQJ.HZDXQHH0HGWHF-HUU'DQ&21(&2/RQGRQ*HHVLQN1RUED*URXS%$,$.,07RUDQ\
RWKHUVXEVLGLDULHV

7KH ³2VKNRVK´ ³0F1HLOXV´ ³3LHUFH´ ³0('7(&´ ³-HUU'DQ´ ³&21(&2´ ³/RQGRQ®´ ³%$,´
³*HHVLQN´ ³1RUED´ ³.LJJHQ´ ³)URQWOLQH´ ³$.´ ³,07´ ³60,7´ ³5HYROXWLRQ´ ³$WODQWLF 6HULHV )URQW
/RDGHU´³&RPPDQG=RQH´³$//67((5´³7$.´³$UURZ;7´³+DZN([WUHPH´³+HUFXOHV´³+XVN\´
³9HORFLW\´³,PSHO´³&RQWHQGHU´³6PDUW3DN´³$XWR5HDFK´³3RZHU*ULG´³6N\$UP´³7HUUD0D[´³/R
3UR´³$OO3UR´³7UX7URI´DQG³3UR3XOVH´WUDGHPDUNVDQGUHODWHGORJRVDUHWUDGHPDUNVRUUHJLVWHUHGWUDGHPDUNVRI
WKH&RPSDQ\$OORWKHUSURGXFWDQGVHUYLFHQDPHVUHIHUHQFHGLQWKLVGRFXPHQWDUHWKHWUDGHPDUNVRUUHJLVWHUHGWUDGHPDUNV
RIWKHLUUHVSHFWLYHRZQHUV


$OOUHIHUHQFHVKHUHLQWRHDUQLQJVSHUVKDUHUHIHUWRHDUQLQJVSHUVKDUHDVVXPLQJGLOXWLRQ


)RU HDVH RI XQGHUVWDQGLQJ WKH &RPSDQ\ UHIHUV WR W\SHV RI VSHFLDOW\ YHKLFOHV IRU SDUWLFXODU DSSOLFDWLRQV DV ³PDUNHWV´
:KHQ WKH &RPSDQ\ UHIHUV WR ³PDUNHW´ SRVLWLRQV WKHVH FRPPHQWV DUH EDVHG RQ LQIRUPDWLRQ DYDLODEOH WR WKH &RPSDQ\
FRQFHUQLQJXQLWVVROGE\WKRVHFRPSDQLHVFXUUHQWO\PDQXIDFWXULQJWKHVDPHW\SHVRIVSHFLDOW\YHKLFOHVDQGERGLHVDQGDUH
WKHUHIRUHRQO\HVWLPDWHV8QOHVVRWKHUZLVHQRWHGWKHVHPDUNHWSRVLWLRQVDUHEDVHGRQVDOHVLQWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVRI$PHULFD
7KHUHFDQEHQRDVVXUDQFHWKDWWKH&RPSDQ\ZLOOPDLQWDLQVXFKPDUNHWSRVLWLRQVLQWKHIXWXUH
Cautionary Statement About Forward-Looking Statements

7KH&RPSDQ\EHOLHYHVWKDWFHUWDLQVWDWHPHQWVLQ³%XVLQHVV´DQG³0DQDJHPHQW¶V'LVFXVVLRQDQG$QDO\VLVRI)LQDQFLDO
&RQGLWLRQ DQG 5HVXOWV RI 2SHUDWLRQV´ DQG RWKHU VWDWHPHQWV ORFDWHG HOVHZKHUH LQ WKLV $QQXDO 5HSRUW RQ )RUP . DUH
³IRUZDUGORRNLQJVWDWHPHQWV´ ZLWKLQ WKH PHDQLQJ RI WKH3ULYDWH 6HFXULWLHV /LWLJDWLRQ 5HIRUP $FW RI  $OO VWDWHPHQWV
RWKHU WKDQ VWDWHPHQWV RI KLVWRULFDO IDFW LQFOXGHG LQ WKLV UHSRUW LQFOXGLQJ ZLWKRXW OLPLWDWLRQ VWDWHPHQWV UHJDUGLQJ WKH
&RPSDQ\¶V IXWXUH ILQDQFLDO SRVLWLRQ EXVLQHVV VWUDWHJ\ WDUJHWV SURMHFWHG VDOHV FRVWV HDUQLQJV FDSLWDO H[SHQGLWXUHV GHEW
OHYHOV DQG FDVK IORZV DQG SODQV DQG REMHFWLYHV RI PDQDJHPHQW IRU IXWXUH RSHUDWLRQV LQFOXGLQJ WKRVH XQGHU WKH FDSWLRQV
³([HFXWLYH 2YHUYLHZ´ DQG ³)LVFDO  2XWORRN´ DUH IRUZDUGORRNLQJ VWDWHPHQWV  :KHQ XVHG LQ WKLV $QQXDO 5HSRUW RQ
)RUP . ZRUGV VXFK DV ³PD\´ ³ZLOO´ ³H[SHFW´ ³LQWHQG´ ³HVWLPDWH´ ³DQWLFLSDWH´ ³EHOLHYH´ ³VKRXOG´ ³SURMHFW´ RU
³SODQ´RUWKHQHJDWLYHWKHUHRIRUYDULDWLRQVWKHUHRQRUVLPLODUWHUPLQRORJ\DUHJHQHUDOO\LQWHQGHGWRLGHQWLI\IRUZDUGORRNLQJ
VWDWHPHQWV  7KHVH IRUZDUGORRNLQJ VWDWHPHQWV DUH QRW JXDUDQWHHV RI IXWXUH SHUIRUPDQFH DQG DUH VXEMHFW WR ULVNV
XQFHUWDLQWLHV DVVXPSWLRQV DQG RWKHU IDFWRUV VRPH RI ZKLFK DUH EH\RQG WKH &RPSDQ\¶V FRQWURO ZKLFK FRXOG FDXVH DFWXDO
UHVXOWVWRGLIIHUPDWHULDOO\IURPWKRVHH[SUHVVHGRULPSOLHGE\VXFKIRUZDUGORRNLQJVWDWHPHQWV,QDGGLWLRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶V
H[SHFWDWLRQVIRUILVFDODUHEDVHGLQSDUWRQFHUWDLQDVVXPSWLRQVPDGHE\WKH&RPSDQ\ZKLFKDUHJHQHUDOO\VHWIRUWK
XQGHU WKH FDSWLRQ ³0DQDJHPHQW¶V 'LVFXVVLRQ DQG $QDO\VLV RI )LQDQFLDO &RQGLWLRQ DQG 5HVXOWV RI 2SHUDWLRQV  &HUWDLQ
$VVXPSWLRQV´$GGLWLRQDOLQIRUPDWLRQFRQFHUQLQJIDFWRUVWKDWFRXOGFDXVHDFWXDOUHVXOWVWRGLIIHUPDWHULDOO\IURPWKRVHLQWKH
IRUZDUGORRNLQJVWDWHPHQWVLVFRQWDLQHGLQ,WHP$RI3DUW,RIWKLVUHSRUW

$OOIRUZDUGORRNLQJVWDWHPHQWVLQFOXGLQJWKRVHXQGHUWKHFDSWLRQV³([HFXWLYH2YHUYLHZ´DQG³)LVFDO2XWORRN´LQ
³0DQDJHPHQW¶V'LVFXVVLRQDQG$QDO\VLVRI)LQDQFLDO&RQGLWLRQDQG5HVXOWVRI2SHUDWLRQV´VSHDNRQO\DVRI1RYHPEHU
7KH&RPSDQ\KDVDGRSWHGDSROLF\WKDWLIWKH&RPSDQ\PDNHVDGHWHUPLQDWLRQWKDWLWH[SHFWVWKH&RPSDQ\¶VHDUQLQJV
SHUVKDUHIRUIXWXUHSHULRGVIRUZKLFKSURMHFWLRQVDUHFRQWDLQHGLQWKLV$QQXDO5HSRUWRQ)RUP.WREHORZHUWKDQWKRVH
SURMHFWLRQVWKHQWKH&RPSDQ\ZLOOSXEOLFO\GLVVHPLQDWHWKDWIDFW7KH&RPSDQ\¶VSROLF\DOVRSURYLGHVWKDWLIWKH&RPSDQ\
PDNHVDGHWHUPLQDWLRQWKDWLWH[SHFWVWKH&RPSDQ\¶VHDUQLQJVSHUVKDUHIRUIXWXUHSHULRGVWREHDWRUDERYHWKHSURMHFWLRQV
FRQWDLQHGLQWKLV$QQXDO5HSRUWRQ)RUP.WKHQWKH&RPSDQ\GRHVQRWLQWHQGWRSXEOLFO\GLVVHPLQDWHWKDWIDFW([FHSW
DVVHWIRUWKDERYHWKH&RPSDQ\DVVXPHVQRREOLJDWLRQDQGGLVFODLPVDQ\REOLJDWLRQWRXSGDWHLQIRUPDWLRQFRQWDLQHGLQWKLV
$QQXDO 5HSRUW RQ )RUP .  ,QYHVWRUV VKRXOG EH DZDUH WKDW WKH &RPSDQ\ PD\ QRW XSGDWH VXFK LQIRUPDWLRQ XQWLO WKH
&RPSDQ\¶VQH[WTXDUWHUO\HDUQLQJVFRQIHUHQFHFDOOLIDWDOO
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PART I
ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

The Company
The Company is a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of a broad range of specialty commercial, fire and
HPHUJHQF\ DQG PLOLWDU\ YHKLFOHV XQGHU WKH ³2VKNRVK´ DQG ³3LHUFH´ WUDGHPDUNV YHKLFOH ERGLHV XQGHU WKH ³0F1HLOXV´
³0HGWHF´³-HUU'DQ´³%$,´³/RQGRQ´³*HHVLQN´³1RUED´³)URQWOLQH´³$.´³60,7´DQG³,07´WUDGHPDUNVPRELOH
DQGVWDWLRQDU\FRPSDFWRUVDQGWUDQVIHUVWDWLRQVXQGHUWKH³.LJJHQ´WUDGHPDUNSRUWDEOHDQGVWDWLRQDU\FRQFUHWHEDWFKSODQWV
XQGHUWKH³&21(&2´DQG³0F1HLOXV´WUDGHPDUNVDQGPRELOHPHGLFDOWUDLOHUVXQGHUWKH³$.´WUDGHPDUN2VKNRVKEHJDQ
EXVLQHVVLQDQGZDVDPRQJWKHHDUO\SLRQHHUVRIIRXUZKHHOGULYHWHFKQRORJ\,Q2VKNRVKZDVDZDUGHGWKHILUVW
+HDY\([SDQGHG 0RELOLW\ 7DFWLFDO 7UXFN ³+(077´  FRQWUDFWIRU WKH86'HSDUWPHQW RI'HIHQVH ³'R'´  DQGTXLFNO\
GHYHORSHG LQWR WKH 'R'¶V OHDGLQJ VXSSOLHU RI VHYHUHGXW\ KHDY\SD\ORDG WDFWLFDO WUXFNV  ,Q  WKH &RPSDQ\ EHJDQ D
VWUDWHJLFLQLWLDWLYHWRVKHGXQGHUSHUIRUPLQJDVVHWVDQGWRGLYHUVLI\LWVEXVLQHVVE\PDNLQJVHOHFWLYHDFTXLVLWLRQVLQDWWUDFWLve
VHJPHQWVRIWKHVSHFLDOW\YHKLFOHDQGERG\PDUNHWVWRFRPSOHPHQWLWVGHIHQVHWUXFNEXVLQHVV7KHUHVXOWRIWKLVLQLWLDWLYHWR
GDWH KDV EHHQ DQ LQFUHDVH LQ VDOHV IURP  PLOOLRQ LQ ILVFDO  WR  ELOOLRQ LQ ILVFDO  ZLWK HDUQLQJV IURP
FRQWLQXLQJRSHUDWLRQVLQFUHDVLQJIURPDORVVRISHUVKDUHIRUILVFDOWRHDUQLQJVRISHUVKDUHLQILVFDO

$VSDUWRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFRQWLQXDWLRQRILWVGLYHUVLILFDWLRQDQGDFTXLVLWLRQVWUDWHJ\RQ2FWREHUWKH&RPSDQ\
VLJQHGDGHILQLWLYHDJUHHPHQWWRDFTXLUH-/*,QGXVWULHV,QF ³-/*´ DJOREDOOHDGHULQWKHVDOHRIDHULDOZRUNSODWIRUPVDQG
WHOHKDQGOHU YHKLFOHV IRU  SHU VKDUH  -/* SULPDULO\ VHUYHV WKH FRQVWUXFWLRQ PDUNHW ZLWK FXVWRPHUV VXFK DV HTXLSPHQW
UHQWDOFRPSDQLHVFRQVWUXFWLRQFRQWUDFWRUVDQGRWKHUPDQXIDFWXULQJRULQGXVWULDOFRPSDQLHV7KH-/*SRUWIROLRRIOHDGLQJ
EUDQGV ± -/*® 6N\7UDN® *UDGDOO® DQG /XOO®  LV UHQRZQHG IRU LWV SUHPLXP TXDOLW\ ORZ WRWDO FRVW RI RZQHUVKLS DQG
DGYDQFHGWHFKQRORJLHV7RWDOFRQVLGHUDWLRQLQFOXGLQJWUDQVDFWLRQFRVWVDQGDVVXPHGGHEWLVH[SHFWHGWRDSSUR[LPDWH
ELOOLRQLQFDVK7KH&RPSDQ\LQWHQGVWRILQDQFHWKHWUDQVDFWLRQZLWKDELOOLRQVHQLRUVHFXUHGFUHGLWIDFLOLW\DUUDQJHGE\
%DQN RI $PHULFD 1$ DQG -30RUJDQ &KDVH %DQN 1$ DQG WR UHILQDQFH PRVW RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V DQG -/* V FXUUHQWO\
RXWVWDQGLQJGHEW7KHDFTXLVLWLRQKDVEHHQDSSURYHGE\WKH%RDUGRI'LUHFWRUVRIHDFKFRPSDQy and is subject to customary
FORVLQJFRQGLWLRQVLQFOXGLQJDSSURYDOXQGHUWKH+DUW6FRWW5RGLQR$FWDQGVLPLODUODZVRXWVLGHWKH86DQGWKHDSSURYDOE\
WKHVKDUHKROGHUVRI-/*$VVXPLQJFRPSOHWLRQRIWKHWUDQVDFWLRQWKH&RPSDQ\HVWLPDWHVWKDWLWVVDOHVZLOODSSUR[LPDWH
ELOOLRQLQILVFDODQG-/*ZLOOEHFRPHWKHODUJHVWRIIRXUEXVLQHVVVHJPHQWVRIWKH&RPSDQ\8QOHVVH[SUHVVO\VWDWHG
WKHSURMHFWLRQVDQGGLVFXVVLRQVWKURXJKRXWWKLVGRFXPHQWGRQRWLQFOXGHWKHLPSDFWRQWKH&RPSDQ\RIWKH-/*DFTXLVLWLRQ
6HH1RWHWRWKH1RWHVWR&RQVROLGDWHG)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWVIRUIXUWKHUGLVFXVVLRQRIWKLVSHQGLQJDFTXLVLWLRQ


$VSDUWRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VVWUDWHJ\WKH&RPSDQ\KDVFRPSOHWHGWKHIROORZLQJDFTXLVLWLRQV
x

3LHUFHDOHDGLQJPDQXIDFWXUHUDQGPDUNHWHURIILUHDSSDUDWXVLQ6HSWHPEHU

x

1RYD4XLQWHFKDPDQXIDFWXUHURIDHULDOGHYLFHVIRUILUHWUXFNVLQ'HFHPEHU

x

0F1HLOXV D OHDGLQJ PDQXIDFWXUHU DQG PDUNHWHU RI FRPPHUFLDO VSHFLDOW\ YHKLFOH ERGLHV LQFOXGLQJ UHDU
GLVFKDUJH FRQFUHWH PL[HUV DQG SRUWDEOH FRQFUHWH EDWFK SODQWV IRU WKH FRQFUHWH UHDG\PL[ LQGXVWU\ DQG UHIXVH
vehicle bodies for the waste serviFHVLQGXVWU\LQ)HEUXDU\

x

.HZDXQHHDIDEULFDWRURIKHDY\VWHHO components such as crDQHFRPSRQHQWVDQGDHULDOGHYLFHVLQ1RYHPEHU


x

9LNLQJ2VKNRVK¶VRQO\UHPDLQLQJIURQWGLVFKDUJHFRQFUHWHPL[HUGHDOHULQ$SULO

x

0HGWHFDOHDGLQJPDQXIDFWXUHURIDPEXODQFHVDQGUHVFXHYHKLFOHVLQ2FWREHU

x

&HUWDLQDVVHWVRI7(0&2DPDQXIDFWXUHURIFRQFUHWHPL[HUVEDWFKSODQWVDQGFRQFUHWHPL[HUSDUWVLQ0DUFK


x

*HHVLQN1RUED*URXSDOHDGLQJ(XURSHDQPDQXIDFWXUHURIUHIXVHFROOHFWLRQWUXFNERGLHVPRELOHDQGVWDWLRQDU\
FRPSDFWRUVDQGWUDQVIHUVWDWLRQVLQ-XO\

x

-HUU'DQDOHDGLQJPDQXIDFWXUer and marketer of towing and recovery HTXLSPHQWLQWKH86LQ-XO\

29

x

75% of the ownership interests of BAI, a manufacturer and marketer of fire apparatus and equipment to
municipalities and airports throughout Europe, the Middle East and North Africa, in July 2004;

x

CON-E-CO, a leading manufacturer of concrete batch plants in the U.S., in November 2004;

x

London, a leading Canadian manufacturer and marketer of rear-discharge concrete mixers, in March 2005;

x

AK, a leading manufacturer of mobile medical, homeland security command and communications and
broadcast vehicles, in July 2006; and

x

IMT, a leading manufacturer of field service vehicles and truck-mounted cranes, in August 2006.

The Company believes it has developed a reputation for excellent product quality, performance and reliability at low
total product life cycle costs in each of the specialty markets in which it participates. The Company has strong brand
recognition in its markets and has demonstrated design and engineering capabilities through the introduction of several highly
HQJLQHHUHGSURSULHWDU\FRPSRQHQWVWKDWLQFUHDVHWKHRSHUDWLQJSHUIRUPDQFHRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VSURGXFWV7KH&RPSDQ\KDV
developed comprehensive product and service portfolios for many of its markets in an effort to become a single-source
supplier for its customers, including third-party customer lease financing for fire and emergency products and certain
commercial products through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Oshkosh Equipment Finance, L.L.C., doing business as Oshkosh
&DSLWDO ³2VKNRVK &DSLWDO´  DQG IRU FHUWDLQ FRPPHUFLDO SURGXFWV WKURXJK WKH &RPSDQ\¶V LQWHUHVW LQ 2VKNRVK0F1HLOXV
)LQDQFLDO 6HUYLFHV 3DUWQHUVKLS ³20)63´   7KH &RPSDQ\¶V FRPPercial vehicle lines include refuse vehicle bodies, rearand front-discharge concrete mixers, all-wheel drive truck chassis, field service vehicles and truck-mounted cranes. The
&RPSDQ\¶VFXVWRPDQGFRPPHUFLDOILUHDSSDratus and emergency vehicles include pumpers, aerial and ladder trucks, tankers,
light-, medium- and heavy-duty rescue vehicles, wildland rough terrain response vehicles, wreckers, carriers, aircraft rescue
DQGILUHILJKWLQJ ³$5))´ YHKLFOHVDPEXODQFHVVQRZUHPRYDOYHKLFOHVKRPHODQGVHFXULW\YHKLFOHVEURDGFDVWYHKLFOHVDQG
mobile medical trailers. As the leading manufacturer of severe-duty, heavy- and medium-payload tactical trucks for the
DoD, the Company manufactures vehicles that perform a variety of demanding tasks such as hauling tanks, missile systems,
ammunition, fuel and cargo for combat units.
In December 1998, the Company launched its first medium-payload defense truck upon the award of the Medium
7DFWLFDO9HKLFOH5HSODFHPHQW ³0795´ EDse contract for the U.S. Marine Corps from which the Company generated total
sales of approximately $1.0 billion during the period from fiscal 2000 through fiscal 2005, when the contract was completed.
7KH &RPSDQ\ KDVEHHQXWLOL]LQJ WKH 0795 WUXFNSODWIRUP LQ GHIHQVH WUXFNSURFXUHPHQW FRPSHWLWLRQVZRUOGZLGHDQG KDV
JHQHUDWHG PXOWLSOH FRQWUDFW DZDUGV IRU WKH 0795 WUXFN SOatform. The Company expects that U.S. Marine Corps
requirements and international demand will keep thH0795WUXFNLQSURGXFWLRQIRUVHYHUDO\HDUV
In June 2006, the DoD awarded Oshkosh a production contract for the Logistics Vehicle 6\VWHP5HSODFHPHQW ³/965´ 
truck and associated manuals, vehicle kits, test support and training for the U.S. Marine Corps. The Company estimates that
WKH ILUPIL[HGSULFH LQGHILQLWHGHOLYHU\LQGHILQLWHTXDQWLW\ Fontract has a value of $740.2 million based on a production
quantity of 1,592 units over a six-year period. The contract allows the U.S. Marine Corps to purchase up to 1,900 cargo,
ZUHFNHU DQG ILIWKZKHHO /965 YDULDQWV  The Company expects the first delivery of units under the contract in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2007, with full rate production beginning in fiscal 2008.
Competitive Strengths
7KHIROORZLQJFRPSHWLWLYHVWUHQJWKVVXSSRUWWKH&RPSDQ\¶VEXVLQHVVVWUDWHJ\
Strong Market Positions. The Company has developed strong market positions and brand recognition in its core
businesses, which the Company attributes to its reputation for quality products, advanced engineering, innovation, vehicle
performance, reliability, customer service and low total product life cycle costs.
Extensive Distribution Capabilities. The Company has established an extensive domestic and international distribution
system for specialty vehicles and bodies tailored to each market. Networks of dealers and distributors are utilized in markets
characterized by a large, fragmented customer base. The Company employs direct in-house sales and service representatives
in markets characterized by a concentrated customer base.
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Flexible and Efficient Manufacturing. Over the past ten years, the Company has significantly increased manufacturing
efficiencies. The Company believes it has competitive advantages over larger truck manufacturers in its specialty vehicle
markets due to its manufacturing flexibility and custom fabrication capabilities. In addition, the Company believes it has
FRPSHWLWLYHDGYDQWDJHVRYHUVPDOOHUWUXFNDQGWUXFNERG\PDQXIDFWXUHUVGXHWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶VUHODWLYHO\KLJKHUYROXPHVRI
similar products that permit the use of moving assembly lines and allow the Company to leverage purchasing power
opportunities across product lines.
Diversified Product Offering and Customer Base7KH&RPSDQ\¶VEURDGSURGXFWRIIHULQJVDQGWDUJHWPDUNHWVVHUYHWR
diversify its sources of revenues, mitigate the impact of economic cycles and provide multiple platforms for both potential
LQWHUQDOJURZWKDQGDFTXLVLWLRQV)RUHDFKRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VWDUJHWPDUNHWVWKH&RPSDQ\KDVGHYHORSHGRUDFTXLUHGDEURDG
product line to become a single-source provider of vocational vehicles, vehicle bodies, parts and service and related products
WRWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFXVWRPHUV
Strong Management Team. The present management team has successfully executed a strategic repositioning of the
&RPSDQ\¶V EXVLQHVV ZKLOH VLJQLILFDQWO\ LPSURYLQJ LWV ILQDQFLDl and operating performance. With each acquisition since
1996, the Company assimilated the management and culture of the acquired company and has introduced, and continues to
introduce, new strategies intended to increase sales and usH WKH &RPSDQ\¶V H[SHUWLVH LQ purchasing, engineering and
manufacturing to reduce costs.
Quality Products and Customer Service7KH&RPSDQ\¶VSURGXFWVKDYHGHYHORSHGVWURQJEUDQGUHFRJQLWLRQEDVHGRQ
WKH &RPSDQ\¶V FRPPLWPHQW WR PHHW WKH VWULQJHQW SURGXFW TXDOLW\ DQG UHOLDELOLW\ UHTXLUHPHQWV RI LWV FXVWRPHUV DQG WKH
VSHFLDOW\YHKLFOHDQGERG\PDUNHWVVHUYHG7KH&RPSDQ\¶VFRPPLWPHQWWRSURGXFWTXDOLW\LVH[HPSOLILHGE\WKH,62
certification of Oshkosh, Pierce, McNeilus, Kewaunee, BAI, the Geesink Norba Group and the mobile medical facilities of
AK. The Company also achieves high quality customer service through its extensive service and parts support program,
which is available to domestic customers 365 days a year in DOOSURGXFWOLQHVWKURXJKRXWWKH&RPSDQ\¶VGLVWULEXWLRQV\VWHPV
Proprietary Components  7KH &RPSDQ\¶V DGYDQFHG GHVLJQ DQG HQJLQHHULQJ FDSDELOLWLHV KDYH FRQWULEXWHG WR WKH
development of proprietary, severe-duty components that enhance vehicle performance, reduce manufacturing costs and
strengthen customer relationships. These proprietary components include front drive and steer axles, transfer cases, cabs, the
$//67((5HOHFWURQLFDOOZKHHOVWHHULQJV\VWHP7$.LQGHSHQGHQWVXVSHQVLRQWKH6N\$UPDUticulating aerial platform
ladder, the Hercules and Husky foam systems, the Command Zone embedded diagnostics multiplexing technology, the
0F1HLOXV$XWR5HDFK$UPIRUDXWRPDWHGVLGHORDGLQJUHIXVHERGLHV*HHVLQN1RUED*URXS¶V6PDUW3DNFRPSDFWLRQV\VWHP
-HUU'DQ¶V YHKLFOH UHFRYHU\ V\VWHP WKH 3UR3XOVH K\EULG HOectric drive technology and the TerraMax autonomous vehicle
QDYLJDWLRQ V\VWHP  7KH &RPSDQ\ DOVR KDV DQ H[FOXVLYH OLFHQVH WR PDQXIDFWXUH DQG PDUNHW WKH 5HYROXWLRQ FRPSRVLWH
FRQFUHWHPL[HUGUXPLQ1RUWK&HQWUDODQG6RXWK$PHULFDDQGWKH&DULEEHDQ WKH³$PHULFDV´ DQG(XURSH7KH&RPSDQ\
believes these proprietary components provide the Company a competitive advantage by increasLQJLWVSURGXFWV¶GXUDELOLW\
operating efficiency and performance. The integration of many of these components across various product lines also
UHGXFHV WKH &RPSDQ\¶V FRVWV WR PDQXIDFWure its products compared to manufacturers who simply assemble purchased
components.
Business Strategy
The Company is focused on increasing its net sales, profitability and cash flow by capitalizing on its competitive
VWUHQJWKV DQG SXUVXLQJ D FRPSUHKHQVLYH LQWHJUDWHG EXVLQHVV VWUDWHJ\  .H\ HOHPHQWV RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V EXVLQHVV VWUDWHJ\
include:
Focusing on Specialty Vehicle and Body Markets. The Company plans to continue its focus on those specialty vehicle
and body markets where it has or can acquire strong market positions and where the Company believes it can leverage
synergies in purchasing, manufacturing, technology and distribution to increase sales and profitability. The Company
believes the higher sales volumes associated with strong market positions will allow the Company to continue to enhance
productivity in manufacturing operations, capitalize on extensive distribution capabilities, fund innovative product
development and invest in further expansion. In additiRQ WR WKH &RPSDQ\¶V SODQV WR increase its market share and
SURILWDELOLW\ WKH &RPSDQ\ EHOLHYHV HDFK RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V VSHFLDOW\ YHKLFOH DQG ERG\ PDUNHWV H[KLELW RSSRUWXQLWLHV IRU
further market growth.
Pursuing Strategic Acquisitions7KH&RPSDQ\¶VSUHVHQWPDQDJHPHQWWHDPKDVVXFFHVVIXOO\QHJRWLDWHGDQGLQWHJUDWHG
fourteen acquisitions since 1996 that, taken as a whole, have significantly increased the CoPSDQ\¶VVDOHVDQGHDUQLQJV7KH
Company expects to close the acquisition of JLG in December )ROORZLQJDQDSSUR[LPDWHO\WZR\HDUSHULRGGXULQJ
which the Company intends to focus on integrating the JLG acquisition and reducing debt, the Company intends to resume its
pursuit of strategic acquisitions, both domestically and internationally, to enhance its product offerings and expand its
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international presence in specialty vehicle and body markHWV  7KH &RPSDQ\¶V DFTXLVLWLRQ VWUDWHJ\ LV IRFXVHG RQ
RSSRUWXQLWLHVWKDWSURYLGHRUHQKDQFHDIXOOUDQJHRISURGXFWV WRFXVWRPHUVLQJURZLQJVSHFLDOW\YHKLFOHDQGERG\PDUNHWV
ZKHUHWKH&RPSDQ\FDQLPSURYHLWVVWURQJPDUNHWSRVLWLRQVDQGDFKLHYHVLJQLILFDQWDFTXLVLWLRQV\QHUJLHV
Introducing New Products  7KH &RPSDQ\ KDV PDLQWDLQHG D VWURQJ HPSKDVLV RQ QHZ SURGXFW GHYHORSPHQW LQ UHFHQW
\HDUV DV LW VHHNV WR H[SDQG VDOHV E\ OHDGLQJ LWV FRUH PDUNHWV LQ WKH LQWURGXFWLRQ RI QHZ RU LPSURYHG SURGXFWV DQG QHZ
WHFKQRORJLHVWKURXJKLQWHUQDOGHYHORSPHQWVWUDWHJLFDFTXLVLWLRQVRUOLFHQVLQJRIWHFKQRORJ\,QILVFDOWKH&RPSDQ\
LQYHVWHGPLOOLRQLQGHYHORSPHQWDFWLYLWLHVIRUQHZSURGXFWVDQGSURGXFWHQKDQFHPHQWV7KH&RPSDQ\EHOLHYHVLWLVDW
WKH IRUHIURQW RI FRPPHUFLDOL]LQJ HPHUJLQJ WHFKQRORJLHV WKDW DUH FDSDEOH RI LPSRUWDQW FKDQJHV LQ FXVWRPHU XVHV RI LWV
SURGXFWV VXFK DV WKH 7HUUD0D[ DXWRQRPRXVO\ RSHUDWHG YHKLFOH 3UR3XOVH K\EULGHOHFWULF GULYH 5HYROXWLRQ FRPSRVLWH
FRQFUHWHPL[HUGUXP6LGH/RDGLQJ9HKLFOH5HWULHYHUDQG9HORFLW\DQG,PSHOFXVWRPILUHFKDVVLV
Tailoring Distribution and Service to Each Market. The Company actively tailors distULEXWLRQDQGVHUYLFHWRHDFKRILWV
GRPHVWLF DQG LQWHUQDWLRQDO PDUNHWV  'HDOHUV DQG GLVWULEXWRUV DUH XWLOL]HG LQ PDUNHWV FKDUDFWHUL]HG E\ D ODUJH IUDJPHQWHG
FXVWRPHUEDVH&RPSDQ\RZQHGRUOHDVHGIDFLOLWLHVDQGLQKRXVHVDOHVUHSUHVHQWDWLYHVDUHXWLOL]HGLQPDUNHWVFKDUDFWHUL]HG
E\DFRQFHQWUDWHGFXVWRPHUEDVHVXSSOHPHQWHGE\DQHWZRUNRIQDWLRQZLGHVHUYLce representatives. The Company believes
WKDW WKLV GLVWULEXWLRQ DQG VHUYLFH PRGHO SURYLGHV IUHTXHQW FRQWDFW ZLWK FXVWRPHUV DQG WLPHO\ VHUYLFH DW D UHDVRQDEOH FRVW
%HFDXVHWKH&RPSDQ\¶VYHKLFOHVPXVWEHUHDG\WRJRWRZDUILJKWDILUHUHVFXHFOHDQXSWRZEURDGFDVWEXLOGDQGSHUIRUP
other critical missions, the Company has acWLYHO\EHHQH[SDQGLQJ&RPSDQ\RZQHGVHUYLFHORFDWLRQVHQFRXUDJLQJGHDOHUVWR
H[SDQGVHUYLFHORFDWLRQVDQGDGGLQJURYLQJVHUYLFHYDQVWRPDLQWDLQKLJKUHDGLQHVVOHYHOVRILWVLQVWDOOHGIOHHWV
Focusing on Lean Operations. 7KH&RPSDQ\VHHNVWRGHOLYHUKLJKSHUIRUPDQFHSURGXFWVWRFXVWRPHUVDWERWKORZWRWDO
SURGXFW OLIH F\FOH FRVWV DQG ORZ DFTXLVLWLRQ SULFHV +LVWRULFDOO\ WKH &RPSDQ\ KDV DFWLYHO\ EHQFKPDUNHG FRPSHWLWRU FRVWV
DQG EHVW LQGXVWU\ SUDFWLFHV DQG XWLOL]HG WHDPV RI LQGXVWULDO HQJLQHHUV DQG SURFXUHPHQW VSHFLDOLVWV WR UHHQJLQHHU
PDQXIDFWXULQJSURFHVVHVDQGOHYHUDJHSXUFKDVLQJYROXPHVWRPHHWWKHVHREMHFWLYHV6LQFHWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFRUSRUDWH
VWUDWHJLFSXUFKDVLQJJURXSKDVSURFXUHGDSSUR[LPDWHO\RIDOOPDWHULDOVDQGFRPSRQHQWV&RPSDQ\ZLGHWROHYHUDJHWKH
&RPSDQ\¶VIXOOSXUFKDVLQJSRZHU%HJLQQLQJLQILVFDOthe Company adopted a more comprehensive, lean enterprise
IRFXVWRFRQWLQXHLWVGULYHWREHDORZFRVWSURGXFHULQDOOLWVSURGXFWOLQHVDQGWRGHOLYHUORZSURGXFWOLIHF\FOHFRVWVIRUits
FXVWRPHUV /HDQ LV D PHWKRGRORJ\ WR HOLPLQDWH QRQYDOXH DGGHG ZRUN IURP D SURFHVV VWUHDP  :KLOH FRQWLQXLQJ LWV
EHQFKPDUNLQJDQGEHVWSUDFWLFHVDQDO\VHVWKH&RPSDQ\EHJDQDZRUOGZLGHUHFUXLWLQJHIIRUWLQILVFDOWRKLUHH[HFXWLYHV
ZLWKVLJQLILFDQWOHDQH[SHULHQFH7KH&RPSDQ\IRUPHGOHDQH[HFXWLYHVLQWRWHDPVWRWUDLQHPSOR\HHVLQNH\OHDQVNLOOVVXFK
DV SURFHVV YDOXH VWUHDP PDSSLQJ DQG WR FRQGXFW IRFXVHG LPprovement events arRXQG WKH &RPSDQ\ WR streamline process
YDOXHVWUHDPV,QILVFDOWKHOHDQWHDPVZHUHSULPDULO\IRFXVHGDW*HHVLQN1RUED*URXSDQG0F1HLOXV¶IDFLOLWLHVLQDQ
HIIRUWWRWXUQDURXQGWKHVHEXVLQHVVHV,QILVFDOWKH&RPSDQ\H[SDQGHGLWVOHDQLQLWLDWLYHZLWKWKHFUHDWLRQRIFKDUWHUHd
FRVWUHGXFWLRQWHDPVDWDOOEXVLQHVVHVDQGWKHLQWURGXFWLRQRIEURDGEDVHGWUDLQLQJSURJUDPV$VDUHVXOWRIWKLVOHDQIRFXV
WKH&RPSDQ\H[SHFWVWRUHGXFHSURGXFWFRVWVPDQXIDFWXULQJOHDGWLPHVDQGQHZSURGXFWGHYHORSPHQWF\FOHWLPHVRYHUWKH
next several years.
Products


7KH&RPSDQ\LVIRFXVHGRQWKHIROORZLQJFRUHVHJPHQWVRIWKHVSHFLDOW\YHhicle and body markets:

Fire and Emergency Segment  7KURXJK 3LHUFH WKH &RPSDQ\ LV D OHDGLQJ GRPHVWLF PDQXIDFWXUHU RI ILUH DSSDUDWXV
DVVHPEOHG RQ FXVWRP FKDVVLV GHVLJQHG DQG PDQXIDFWXUHG E\ 3LHUFH WR PHHW WKH VSHFLDO QHHGV RI ILUHILJKWHUV  3LHUFH DOVR
PDQXIDFWXUHV ILUH DSSDUDWXV DVVHPEOHG RQ FRPPHUFLDOO\ DYDLODEOH FKDVVLV ZKLFK DUH SURGXFHG IRU PXOWLSOH HQGFXVWRPHU
DSSOLFDWLRQV  3LHUFH¶V HQJLQHHULQJ H[SHUWLVH DOORZV LW WR GHVLJQ LWV YHKLFOHV WR PHHW VWULQJHQW JRYHUQPHQW UHJXODWLRQV IRU
VDIHW\ DQG HIIHFWLYHQHVV  3LHUFH SULPDULO\ VHUYHV GRPHVWLF PXQLFLSDO FXVWRPHUV EXW DOVR VHOOV ILUH DSSDUDWXV WR DLUSRUWV
XQLYHUVLWLHV DQG ODUJH LQGXVWULDO FRPSDQLHV DQG LQ LQWHUQDWLRQDO PDUNHWV  3LHUFH¶V KLVWRU\ RI LQQRYDWLRQ DQG UHVHDUFK DQG
GHYHORSPHQWLQFRQVXOWDWLRQZLWKILUHILJKWHUVKDVUHVXOWHGLQD EURDGSURGXFWOLQHWKDWIHDWXUHVDZLGHUDQJHRILQQRYDWLYH
KLJKTXDOLW\FXVWRPDQGFRPPHUFLDOILUHILJKWLQJHTXLSPHQWZLWKDGYDQFHGILUHVXSSUHVVLRQFDSDELOLWLHV,QDQHIIRUWWREHD
VLQJOHVRXUFH VXSSOLHU IRU LWV FXVWRPHUV 3LHUFH RIIHUV D IXOO OLQH RI FXVWRP DQG FRPPHUFLDO ILUH DSSDUDWXV DQG HPHUJHQF\
YHKLFOHV LQFOXGLQJ SXPSHUV DHULDO DQG ODGGHU WUXFNV WDQNHUV OLJKW PHGLXP DQG KHDY\GXW\ UHVFXH YHKLFOHV ZLOGODQG
URXJK WHUUDLQ UHVSRQVH YHKLFOHV PRELOH FRPPDQG DQG FRQWURO FHQWHUV ERPE VTXDG YHKLFOHV KD]DUGRXV PDWHULDOV FRQWURO
YHKLFOHVDQGRWKHUHPHUJHQF\UHVSRQVHYHKLFOHV

7KURXJK %$, WKH &RPSDQ\ LV RQH RI WKH OHDGHUV LQ PDQXIDFWXULQJ DQG PDUNHWLQJ ILUH DSSDUDWXV DQG HTXLSPHQW WR
PXQLFLSDOLWLHVDQGDLUSRUWVWKURXJKRXW(XURSHWKH0LGGOH(DVWDQG1RUWK$IULFD%$,SURGXFHVDZLGHUDQJHRIILUHILJKWLQJ
YHKLFOHV$5))XQLWVLQGXVWULDOILUHILJKWLQJWUXFNVDQGIRUHVWILUHILJKWLQJWUXFNV
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Through JerrDan, the Company is a leader in the manufacturing and marketing of towing and recovery equipment in the
U.S. The Company believes JerrDan is recognized as an industry leader in quality and innovation. JerrDan offers a complete
line of both roll-back carriers (“carriers”) and traditional tow trucks (“wreckers”). In addition to manufacturing equipment,
JerrDan also provides its customers with one-stop service for carriers and wreckers and generates revenue from the
installation of equipment, as well as the sale of chassis and service parts.
Through Medtec, the Company is one of the leading U.S. manufacturers of custom ambulances for private and public
transporters and fire departments. Medtec markets a broad line of ambulances for private patient transporters, fire
departments and public transporters, but specializes in Type I and Type III ambulances. Type I and Type III ambulances are
popular among public patient transporters and fire departments. Type I ambulances feature a conventional style, light- or
medium-duty chassis with a modular patient transport body mounted separately behind the truck cab. Type III ambulances
are built on light-duty van chassis with a walk-through opening into the patient transport body which is mounted behind the
vehicle cab.
The Company, through its Oshkosh and BAI brands, is among the leaders in sales of ARFF vehicles to domestic and
international airports. These highly specialized vehicles are required to be in service at most airports worldwide to support
commercial airlines in the event of an emergency. Many of the world’s largest airports, including LaGuardia International
Airport, O’Hare International Airport and Los Angeles International Airport in the United States and airports located in
Montreal and Toronto, Canada, and Rome and Milan, Italy, are served by the Company’s ARFF vehicles. The Company
believes that the performance and reliability of its ARFF vehicles contribute to the Company’s strong position in this market.
The Company is a leader in airport snow removal vehicles in the U.S. The Company’s specially designed airport snow
removal vehicles can cast up to 5,000 tons of snow per hour and are used by some of the largest airports in the United States,
including Denver International Airport, LaGuardia International Airport, Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport and
O’Hare International Airport. The Company believes that the reliability of its high performance snow removal vehicles and
the speed with which they clear airport runways contribute to its strong position in this market.
In July 2006, the Company became one of the leaders in the manufacturing of mobile medical vehicles to North
American and European medical centers and service providers through its AK acquisition. AK is the only mobile medical
vehicle manufacturer certified by all major original equipment manufacturers of mobile medical imaging equipment General Electric Company, Royal Philips Electronics and Siemens AG. AK is also a leading manufacturer and integrator of
custom vehicles for the broadcast and communications industry, where the Company markets a full line of television
broadcast, satellite news gathering and microwave transmission electronic news gathering vehicles to broadcasters, TV
stations, radio stations, and NASA.
The Company offers two- to ten-year municipal lease financing programs to its fire and emergency customers in the
United States through Oshkosh Capital. Programs include competitive lease financing rates, creative and flexible finance
arrangements and the ease of one-stop shopping for customers’ equipment and financing. The lease financing transactions
are executed through a private label arrangement with an independent third party finance company.
Defense Segment. The Company has sold products to the DoD for over 80 years. The Company’s proprietary military
all-wheel drive product line of heavy-payload tactical trucks includes the HEMTT, the Heavy Equipment Transporter
(“HET”), the Palletized Load System (“PLS”), the Common Bridge Transporter (“CBT”) and the Logistic Vehicle System
(“LVS”). Beginning with the award of the MTVR base contract in fiscal 1998, the Company became a major manufacturer
of severe-duty, medium-payload trucks for the U.S. Marine Corps. In fiscal 2005, the Company launched the Medium
Tactical Truck (“MTT”) to offer a line of lower-cost severe-duty, medium-payload trucks suitable for less demanding
requirements than the MTVR. The Company also exports severe-duty heavy- and medium-payload tactical trucks to
approved foreign customers.
In April 2003, the Company was awarded a contract to provide the United Kingdom Ministry of Defence (“U.K. MoD”)
with 348 wheeled tankers, with a value of approximately 145 million British Sterling over a three-year period, commencing
in fiscal 2005. The contract was subsequently amended to include an additional nine wheeled tankers, training and support
resulting in a current value of approximately 160 million British Sterling (approximately $250 million) over a three-year
period from fiscal 2005 through fiscal 2007. The Company’s contract for the U.K. wheeled tanker utilizes the Company’s
high performance MTVR truck as its main truck platform. Sales under the U.K. wheeled tanker contract totaled $126.3
million and $56.4 million during fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively. The Company expects to ship the last units under the
contract in the first quarter of fiscal 2007.
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The Company has developed and maintained a strong relationship with the DoD over the years and has established itself
as a proven supplier. The Company operated under a Family of Heavy Tactical 9HKLFOHV ³)+79´ UHTXLUHPHQWVFRQWUDFW
with the DoD that expires in November 2006. The contract included the following heavy-payload products: HEMTT,
+(077(63 ³([SDQGHG6HUYLFH3URJUDP´ +(73/6DQG&%7DQGDVVRFLDWHGORJLVWLFVDQGFRQILJXUDWLRQPDQDJHPHQW
support. As of November 16, 2006, the Company was in negotiations to renew this contract for a one-year period with two
RSWLRQ \HDUV  $V D UHVXOW RI VLJQLILFDQW XVDJH RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V KHDY\SD\ORDG WUXFNV LQ 2SHUDWLRQ ,UDTL )UHHGRP WKH
&RPSDQ\ ZDV DZDUGHG D IRXU\HDU IL[HGSULFH FRQWUDFW WKH ³,',4´  RQ 6HSWHPEHU   WR UHEXLOG 2VKNRVK KHDY\
SD\ORDGGHIHQVHWUXFNVDQGWUDLOHUVGHSOR\HGLQ,UDT$VIXQGVEHFRPHDYDLODEOHWRWKH'R'WKH,',4DOORZVWKH'R'WR
FRQWUDFWZLWK2VKNRVKWRUHEXLOG2VKNRVKGHIHQVHWUXFNVDQGWUDLOHUVDWIL[HGSULFHVRYHUDIRXU\HDUSHULRG

,Q-XQHWKH'R'DZDUGHG2VKNRVKDSURGXFWLRQFRQWUDFWIRUWKH/965WUXFNDQGDVVRFLDWHGPDQXDOVYHKLFOHNLWV
test support and training for the U.S. Marine Corps. The Company estimates that the firm-fixed-price indefiniteGHOLYHU\LQGHILQLWHTXDQWLW\FRQWUDFWKDVDYDOXHRIPLOOLRQEDVHGRQDSURGXFWLRQTXDQWLW\RIXQLWVRYHUDVL[
\HDU SHULRG  7KH FRQWUDFW DOORZV IRU WKH SXUFKDVH RI XS WR  FDUJR ZUHFNHU DQG ILIWKZKHHO /965 YDULDQWV  7KH
Company expects the first delivery of units under the contract inWKHIRXUWKTXDUWHURIILVFDOZLWKIXOOVFDOHSURGXFWLRQ
beginning in fiscal 2008.
,Q)HEUXDU\WKH&RPSDQ\HQWHUHGLQWRDOLFHQVLQJDJUHHPHQWZLWK$',/LPLWHGRI$XVWUDOLD ³$',´ DZKROO\
owned subsidiary of Thales Group, to allow the Company to PDQXIDFWXUH PDUNHW DQG VXSSRUW WKH %XVKPDVWHU DUPRUHG
vehicle for North American customers as well as countries eligLEOHIRU)RUHLJQ0LOLWDU\6DOHV7KH%XVKPDVWHURULJLQDOO\
GHYHORSHGE\$',LQFRQMXQFWLRQZLWKWKH$XVWUDOLDQ'HIHQFH)RUFHLVDPLQHEODVWUHVLVWDQWYHKLFOHGXHWRLWVYVKDSHGKXOO
and its armor provides improvised explosive device and ballistic protection to its occupants. The vehicle's mission profile
UHTXLUHVLWWRWUDYHOORQJGLVWDQFHVRYHUURXJKWHUUDLQDQGGHOLYHU its occupants to their destination as safely and comfortably
DV SRVVLEOH PDNLQJ WKHP PRUH HIIHFWLYe in a tactical environment. The CompDQ\ LV FXUUHQWO\ ZRUNLQJ RQ LQWHJUDWLQJ
components currently used on its military logistics vehicles LQWR WKH %XVKPDVWHU  7KLV will increase parts commonality
EHWZHHQWKH%XVKPDVWHUDQGYHKLFOHVFXUUHQWO\XVHGE\WKH 86PLOLWDU\PDNLQJLWHDVLHUDQGOHVVH[SHQVLYHIRUWKH86
PLOLWDU\WRVXSSO\ORJLVWLFVWRD%XVKPDVWHUIOHHW

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VREMHFWLYHLVWRFRQWLQXHWRGLYHUVLI\LQWRRWKHUDUHDVRIWKH86DQGLQWHUQDWLRQDOGHIHQVHWUXFNPDUNHWV
E\ H[SDQGLQJ DSSOLFDWLRQV XVHV DQG ERG\ VW\OHV RI LWV FXUUHQW KHDY\ DQG PHGLXPSD\ORDG WDFWLFDO WUXFN OLQHV  $V WKH
&RPSDQ\ HQWHUV WDFWLFDO WUXFN FRPSHWLWLRQV LQ WKH GHIHQVH PDUNHW VHJPHQW PDQDJHPHQW EHOLHYHV WKDW WKH &RPSDQ\ KDV
multiple competitive advantages, including:
x

x

x

x
x
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Truck engineering and testing'R'DQGLQWHUQDWLRQDOWUXFNFRQWUDFWFRPSHWLWLRQVUHTXLUHVLJQLILFDQWGHIHQVHWUXFN
HQJLQHHULQJH[SHUWLVHWRHQVXUHWKDWDFRPSDQ\¶VWUXFNH[FHOVXQGHUGHPDQGLQJWHVWFRQGLWLRQV7KH&RPSDQ\KDVD
WHDPRIDSSUR[LPDWHO\HQJLQHHUVDQGGUDIWVPHQDQGHQJDJHVFRQWUDFWHQJLQHHUVWRVXSSRUWFXUUHQWEXVLQHVVDQG
WUXFNFRQWUDFWFRPSHWLWLRQV7KHVHSHUVRQQHOKDYHVLJQLILFDQWH[SHUWLVHGHVLJQLQJQHZWUXFNVXVLQJVRSKLVWLFDWHG
computer-aided tools, supporting grueling testing programs at test sites and submitting detailed, comprehensive,
successful contract proposals.
Proprietary components  7KH &RPSDQ\¶V SDWHQWHG 7$. LQGHSHQGHQW VXVSHQVLRQ DQG SURSULHWDU\ WUDQVIHU FDVH
HQKDQFHLWVWUXFNV¶RIIURDGSHUIRUPDQFH ,QDGGLWLRQEHFDXVHWKHVHDUHWZo of the highest cost components in a
WUXFN WKH &RPSDQ\ KDV D FRPSHWLWLYH FRVWDGYDQWDJH EDVHG RQ WKH LQKRXVH PDQXIDFWXULQJ RI WKHVH WZR WUXFN
FRPSRQHQWV7KH&RPSDQ\¶V&RPPDQG=RQHWRRODOVRVLPSOLILHVPDLQWHQDQFHWURXEOHVKRRWLQJ
Past performance7KH&RPSDQ\KDVEHHQEXLOGLQJWUXFNVIRUWKH'R'IRURYHU\HDUV7KH&RPSDQ\EHOLHYHV
WKDWLWVSDVWVXFFHVVLQGHOLYHULQJUHOLDEOHKLJKTXDOLW\WUXFNVRQWLPHZLWKLQEXGJHWDQGPHHWLQJVSHFLILFDWLRQVLVD
FRPSHWLWLYH DGYDQWDJH LQ IXWXUH GHIHQVH WUXFN SURFXUHPent programs. The Company understands the special
contract procedures in use by the DoD and other foreign armies and has developed substantial expertise in contract
management and accounting.
Flexible manufacturing7KH&RPSDQ\¶VDELOLW\WRSURGXFHDYDULHW\RIWUXFNPRGHOVRQWKHVDPHPRYLQJDVVHPEO\
line permits it to avoid facilitation costs on most new contracts and maintain competitive manufacturing efficiencies.
Logistics7KH&RPSDQ\KDVJDLQHGVLJQLILFDQWH[SHULHQFHLQWKHGHYHORSPHQWRIRSHUDWRUV¶PDQXDOVDQGWUDLQLQJ
and in the delivery of parts and services worldwide in accordDQFH ZLWK WKH 'R'¶V H[SHFWDWLRQV ZKLFK GLIIHU
materially from commercial practices. The Company has logistics capabilities to permit the DoD to order parts,
receive invoices and remit payments electronically.

Commercial segment. Through McNeilus and the Geesink Norba Group, the Company is a leading North American and
European manufacturer of refuse vehicle bodies for the waste services industry. Through Oshkosh, McNeilus, London and
CON-E-CO, the Company is a leading manufacturer of front- and rear-discharge concrete mixers and portable and stationary
concrete batch plants for the concrete ready-mix industry throughout the Americas. Through IMT, the Company is a leading
North American manufacturer of field service vehicles and truck-mounted cranes for the mining and construction industries.
The Company believes its commercial segment vehicles and equipment have a reputation for efficient, cost effective,
dependable and low maintenance operation.
In March 2002, the Company introduced the rear-discharge Revolution concrete mixer drum, which is constructed of
lightweight composite materials. In fiscal 2006, the Company launched the sale of front-discharge Revolution drums. Since
the introduction of the first concrete mixer drum about 90 years ago, all commercially successful drums worldwide had been
produced utilizing steel until the launch of the Revolution. The Company believes the Revolution is the first composite
concrete mixer drum ever produced. The Revolution drum offers improved concrete payload on a vehicle and longer drum
OLIHZKLFKORZHUVWKHFRVWSHU\DUGRIFRQFUHWHGHOLYHUHG7KH&RPSDQ\¶VVWUDWHJ\KDVEHHQWRVHOOWKH5HYROXWLRQGUXPDVD
premium-priced product as the Company believes the Revolution drum yields a quick payback to customers through lower
operating costs. The Company is required to pay to its Australian partner royalty fees for each drum sold. The Company has
sold over 1,600 Revolution drums in the U.S. since the launch of the Revolution. The ramp-up of the production and sale of
5HYROXWLRQ GUXPV KDV SURFHHGHG DW D PXFK VORZHU SDFH WKDQ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V LQLWLDO H[SHFWDWLRQV DV WKH &RPSDQ\ KDV
addressed various technical design and production process control issues.
The Company, through OMFSP, an affiliated financial services partnership, offers three- to seven-year tax advantaged
lease financing to mixer and portable and stationary concrete batch plant customers and to commercial waste haulers in the
United States. Offerings include competitive lease financinJ UDWHV DQG WKH HDVH RI RQHVWRS VKRSSLQJ IRU FXVWRPHUV¶
equipment and financing.
Marketing, Sales, Distribution and Service
The Company believes it differentiates itself from many of its larger competitors by tailoring its distribution to the needs
of its specialty vehicle and body markets and from its smaller competitors with its national and global sales and service
FDSDELOLWLHV'LVWULEXWLRQSHUVRQQHOXVHGHPRQVWUDWLRQYHKLFOHVWRVKRZFXVWRPHUVKRZWRXVHWKH&RPSDQ\¶VYHKLFOHVDQG
YHKLFOH ERGLHV SURSHUO\  ,QDGGLWLRQ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V IOH[LEOH GLVWULEXWLRQ LV IRFXVHG RQ PHHWLQJ FXVWRPHUV RQ WKHLU WHUPV
whether on a jobsite, in an evening public meeting or at a mXQLFLSDOLW\¶VRIILFHVFRPSDUHGWRWKHVKRZURRPVDOHVDSSURDFK
of the typical dealers of large vehicle manufacturers. The Company backs all products by same-day parts shipment, and its
service technicians are available in person or by telephone to domestic customers 365 days a year. The Company believes its
dedication to keeping its products in-service in demanding conditions worldwide has contributed to customer loyalty.
The Company provides its salespeople, representatives and distributors with product and sales training on the operation
DQGVSHFLILFDWLRQVRILWVSURGXFWV7KH&RPSDQ\¶VHQJLQHHUV along with its product managers, develop operating manuals
and provide field support at vehicle delivery for some markets.
U.S. dealers and representatives, where used, enter into agreements with the Company that allow for termination by
either party generally upon 90 days notice. Dealers and representatives, except for those utilized by JerrDan, Medtec and
IMT, are generally not permitted to market and sell competitive products.
Fire and Emergency Segment. The Company believes the geographic breadth, size and quality of its Pierce fire
apparatus sales and service organization are competitive advantages in a market characterized by a few large manufacturers
DQGQXPHURXVVPDOOUHJLRQDOFRPSHWLWRUV3LHUFH¶VILUHDSSDUDtus are sold through over 30 sales and service organizations
with more than 280 sales representatives nationwide, which combine broad geographical reach with frequency of contact
with fire departments and municipal government officials. These sales and service organizations are supported by
approximately 95 product and marketing support professionals and contract administrators at Pierce. The Company believes
frequency of contact and local presence are important to cultivate major, and typically infrequent, purchases involving the
city or town council and fire department, purchasing, finance, and mayoral offices, among others, that may participate in a
fire apparatus bid and selection. After WKH VDOH 3LHUFH¶V QDWLRQZLGH ORFDO SDUWV DQG VHUYLFH FDSDELOLW\ LV DYDLODEOH WR KHOS
municipalities maintain peak readiness for this vital municipal service.
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The Company markets its Oshkosh branded ARFF vehicles through a combination of three direct sales representatives
domestically and 36 representatives and distributors in international markets. Certain of these international representatives
and distributors also handle Pierce products. In addition, the Company has 22 full-time sales and service representatives and
distributor locations with over 40 sales people focused on the sale of snow removal vehicles, principally to airports, but also
to municipalities, counties and other governmental entities in the U.S. and Canada. In addition, the Company has opened an
office in Beijing, China to support ARFF sales in China and Southeast Asia.
Medtec sells ambulances through over 20 distributor organizations with more than 75 representatives focused on sales to
the ambulance market. Eighteen of these distributor organizations are common to Pierce. JerrDan markets its carriers and
wreckers through its worldwide network of 93 independent distributors, supported by JerrDan’s direct sales force. AK
markets its mobile medical trailers and broadcast vehicles through 28 in-house sales and service representatives in the U.S.
and three in-house sales and service representatives in Europe. BAI sells firefighting vehicles and equipment direct in the
Italian market. Internationally, BAI has agreements with a limited number of distributors and uses sales agents for “one-off”
sales in countries that do not buy in large quantities on a regular basis. Most of BAI’s international distribution is focused in
the Middle East, Eastern Europe and North Africa.
Defense Segment. The Company sells substantially all of its domestic defense products directly to principal branches of
the DoD. The Company maintains a liaison office in Washington, D.C. to represent its interests with the Pentagon, Congress
and the offices of the Executive Branch of the U.S. government. The Company also sells and services defense products to
approved foreign governments directly through a limited number of international sales offices, through dealers, consultants
and representatives and through the U.S. Foreign Military Sales (“FMS”) program.
The Company maintains a marketing staff and engages consultants to regularly meet with all branches of the Armed
Services, Reserves and National Guard and with representatives of key military bases to determine their vehicle requirements
and identify specialty truck variants and apparatus required to fulfill their missions.
In addition to marketing its current truck offerings and competing for new contracts in the medium-payload segment, the
Company actively works with the Armed Services to develop new applications for its vehicles and expand its services.
Logistics services are increasingly important to the DoD, especially following the commencement of Operation Iraqi
Freedom. The Company believes that its proven worldwide logistics capabilities and internet-based ordering, invoicing and
electronic payment systems have significantly contributed to the expansion of its defense parts and service business since
fiscal 2002, following the commencement of Operation Iraqi Freedom. The Company maintains a large parts distribution
warehouse in Milwaukee, Wisconsin to fulfill stringent parts delivery schedule requirements, as well as satellite facilities
near DoD bases in the U.S., Europe, Asia and the Middle East. The Company has been particularly active in recent years
performing maintenance and armoring services at areas near, or in, military conflicts including in the Middle East to support
Operation Iraqi Freedom.
Commercial Segment. The Company operates 20 distribution centers with over 100 in-house sales and service
representatives in the U.S. to sell and service refuse vehicle bodies, rear- and front-discharge concrete mixers and concrete
batch plants. These centers are in addition to sales and service activities at the Company’s manufacturing facilities and they
provide sales, service and parts distribution to customers in their geographic regions. Four of the distribution centers also
have paint facilities and provide significant additional paint and mounting services during peak demand periods. Two of the
centers also manufacture concrete mixer replacement drums. The Company also uses 18 independent sales and service
organizations to market its CON-E-CO branded concrete batch plants. The Company believes this network represents one of
the largest concrete mixer, concrete batch plant and refuse vehicle body distribution networks in the United States.
In Canada, the Company operates one distribution center with nine in-house sales and service representatives to sell and
service its rear-discharge concrete mixers.
In Europe, through the Geesink Norba Group, the Company operates 19 distribution centers with 155 in-house sales and
service representatives in nine countries to sell and service its refuse vehicle bodies and stationary compactors. Two of the
centers have paint facilities, and five of the centers provide mounting services. The Company also operates 83 roving service
vans throughout Europe. The Company believes this network represents one of the largest refuse vehicle body distribution
networks in Europe. The Geesink Norba Group also has sales and service agents in Europe and the Middle East.
The Company believes its direct distribution to customers is a competitive advantage in concrete and refuse markets,
particularly in the U.S. waste services industry where principal competitors distribute through dealers and to a lesser extent in
the ready mix concrete industry, where several competitors and the Company in part use dealers. The Company believes
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direct distribution permits a more focused sales force in U.S. refuse body markets, whereas dealers frequently offer a very
broad and mixed product line, and accordingly, the time dealers tend to devote to refuse body sales activities is limited.

:LWKUHVSHFWWRGLVWULEXWLRQWKH&RPSDQ\KDVEHHQDSSO\LQJ2VKNRVK¶VDQG3LHUFH¶VVDOHVDQGPDUNHWLQJH[SHUWLVHLQ
municipal markets to increase sales of McNeilus refuse vehicle bodies to municipal customers. While the Company believes
commercial customers represent a majority of the refuse vehicle body market, many municipalities purchase their own refuse
vehicles. The Company believes it is positioned to create an effective municipal distribution system in the refuse vehicle
body market by leveraging its existing commercial distribution capabilities and by opening service centers in major
metropolitan markets.
The Company also has established an extensive network of representatives and dealers throughout the Americas for the
sale of Oshkosh, McNeilus, CON-E-CO and London concrete mixers, concrete batch plants and refuse bodies. The
Company coordinates among its various businesses to respond to large international tenders with its most appropriate product
offering for the tender.
IMT distributes its products through approximately 85 dealers with a total of 115 locations worldwide, including
approximately 15 international dealers. International dealers are primarily located in Central and South America, Australia
and Asia and are primarily focused on mining. The Company believes this network represents one of the most extensive
networks in its market.
Manufacturing
As of November 16, 2006, the Company manufactures vehicles and vehicle bodies at 42 manufacturing facilities. To
reduce production costs, the Company maintains a continuing emphasis on the development of proprietary components, selfsufficiency in fabrication, just-in-time inventory management, improvement in production flows, interchangeability and
simplification of components among product lines, creation of jigs and fixtures to ensure repeatability of quality processes,
utilization of robotics, and performance measurement to assure progress toward cost reduction targets. The Company
encourages employee involvement to improve production processes and product quality. The Company also intends to adopt
lean manufacturing management practices across all facilities.
The Company focuses on achieving targeted synergies with each acquisition. The Company seeks to relocate activities
to the lowest cost facilities, install robotic and high speed manufacturing equipment, introduce lean production processes and
minimize material handling to enhance the operations of acquired businesses.
The Company recognizes the importance of maintaining efficient factories to be a low cost producer and to have the
capacity needed to meet customer demands. Accordingly, the Company has conducted numerous facility expansions in
recent years.
In fiscal 2005, Oshkosh purchased a 300,000 square foot manufacturing facility near its headquarters in Oshkosh,
Wisconsin for $5.5 million. The Company uses the facility for the remanufacturing of defense trucks, many of which are
returning from extensive service in Iraq. The Company invested an additional $4.0 million in upgrades in fiscal 2006,
including installation of an automated line for blast and paint operations, new cells for component disassembly and
refurbishing, new overhead cranes and a dedicated line for vehicle tear down.

,Q ILVFDO  WKH &RPSDQ\ FRPSOHWHG FRQVWUXFWLRQ RI DQ  PLOOLRQ  VTXDUH IRRW H[SDQVLRQ RI D 3LHUFH
PDQXIDFWXULQJ IDFLOLW\  7KLV H[SDQVLRQ LQFUHDVHG 3LHUFH¶V FDSDFity to produce rescue vehicles and custom fire chassis by
100% and 50%, respectively.
The Company educates and trains all employees at its facilities in quality principles. The Company encourages
employees at all levels of the Company to understand customer and supplier requirements, measure performance, develop
systems and procedures to prevent nonconformance with requirements and produce continuous improvement in all work
processes. ISO 9001 is a set of internationally accepted quality requirements established by the International Organization for
Standardization, which indicates that a company has established and follows a rigorous set of requirements aimed at
achieving customer satisfaction by preventing nonconformity in design, development, production, installation and servicing
RI SURGXFWV  2VKNRVK DFKLHYHG ,62  FHUWLILFDWLRQ LQ  3LHUFH DFKLHYHG ,62  FHUWLILFDWLRQ LQ  DQG ZDV
certified under the new ISO 9001:2000 standards in 2002. The Geesink Norba Group, BAI systems and the mobile medical
trailer manufacturing facilities of AK are also ISO 9001 certified. McNeilus achieved ISO 9001:2000 certification in 2003,
and Kewaunee achieved ISO 9001:2000 certification in 2004.
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Engineering, Research and Development
The Company believes its extensive engineering, research and development capabilities have been key drivers of the
&RPSDQ\¶V PDUNHWSODFH VXFFHVV  ,Q ILVFDO  WKH &RPSDQ\ WRRN RFFXSDQF\ RI D  PLOOLRQ  VTXDUH IRRW
H[SDQVLRQRILWV2VKNRVKQHZSURGXFWGHYHORSPHQWIDFLOLW\WRVXSSRUWLQFUHDVLQJGHIHQVHDQGFRUSRUDWHSURGXFWGHYHORSPHQW
SURMHFWV7KH&RPSDQ\PDLQWDLQVIRXUIDFLOLWLHVIRUQHZSURGXFWGHYHORSPHQWDQGWHVWLQJZLWKDVWDIIRIDSSUR[LPDWHO\
HQJLQHHUVDQGWHFKQLFLDQVZKRDUHUHVSRQVLEOHIRULPSURYLQJH[LVWLQJSURGXFWVDQGGHYHORSPHQWDQGWHVWLQJRIQHZYHKLFOHV
YHKLFOHERGLHVDQGFRPSRQHQWV7KH&RPSDQ\SUHSDUHVDQQXDOQHZSURGXFWGHYHORSPHQWDQGimprovement plans for each of
LWVPDUNHWVDQGPHDVXUHVSURJUHVVDJDLQVWWKRVHSODQVHDFKPRQWK

9LUWXDOO\ DOO RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V VDOHV RI ILUH DSSDUDWXV EURDGFDVW YHKLFOHV DQG PRELOH PHGLFDO WUDLOHUV UHTXLUH VRPH
FXVWRP HQJLQHHULQJ WR PHHW WKH FXVWRPHU¶V VSHFLILFDWLRQV DQG FKDQJLQJ LQGXVWU\ VWDQGDUGV  (QJLQHHULQJ LV DOVR D FULWLFDO
IDFWRULQGHIHQVHWUXFNPDUNHWVGXHWRWKHVHYHUHRSHUDWLQJFRQGLWLRQVXQGHUZKLFKWKH&RPSDQ\¶VYHKLFOHVDUHXWLOL]HGQHZ
FXVWRPHU UHTXLUHPHQWV DQG VWULQJHQW JRYHUQPHQW GRFXPHQWDWLRQ UHTXLUHPHQWV  ,Q WKH FRPPHUFLDO VHJPHQW SURGXFW
LQQRYDWLRQLVKLJKO\LPSRUWDQWWRPHHWFXVWRPHUV¶FKDQJLQJUHTXLUHPHQWV$FFRUGLQJO\WKHCompany maintains a permanent
VWDII RI RYHU  HQJLQHHUV DQG HQJLQHHULQJ WHFKQLFLDQV DQG LW UHJXODUO\ RXWVRXUFHV VLJQLILFDQW HQJLQHHULQJ DFWLYLWLHV LQ
FRQQHFWLRQZLWKQHZSURGXFWGHYHORSPHQWSURMHFWV

)RU ILVFDO   DQG  WKH &RPSDQ\ LQFXUUHG HQJLneering, research and develoSPHQW H[SHQGLWXUHV RI 
PLOOLRQPLOOLRQDQGPLOOLRQUHVSHFWLYHO\SRUWLRQVRIZKLFKZHUHUHFRYHUDEOHIURPFXVWRPHUVSULQFLSDOO\WKH
86JRYHUQPHQW
Competition

,Q DOO RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V VHJPHQWV FRPSHWLWRUV LQFOXGH VPDOOHU VSHFLDOL]HG PDQXIDFWXUHUV DV ZHOO DV ODUJH PDVV
SURGXFHUV  7KH &RPSDQ\ EHOLHYHV WKDW LQ LWV VSHFLDOW\ YHKLFOH DQG ERG\ PDUNHWV LW KDV EHHQ DEOH WR HIIHFWLYHO\ FRPSHWH
DJDLQVWODUJHPDVVSURGXFHUVGXHWRSURGXFWTXDOLW\IOH[LEOHPDQXIDFWXULQJDQGWDLORUHGGLVWULEXWLRQV\VWHPV7KH&RPSDQ\
EHOLHYHVWKDWLWVFRPSHWLWLYHFRVWVWUXFWXUHVWUDWHJLFJOREDOSXUFKDVLQJFDSDELOLWLHVHQJLQHHULQJH[SHUWLVHSURGXFWTXDOLW\and
JOREDOGLVWULEXWLRQDQGVHUYLFHV\VWHPVKDYHHQDEOHGLWWRFRPSHWHHIIHFWLYHO\

&HUWDLQRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFRPSHWLWRUVKDYHJUHDWHUILQDQFLDOPDUNHWLQJPDQXIDFWXULQJDQGGLVWULEXWLRQUHVRXUFHVWKDQ
WKH &RPSDQ\  7KHUH FDQ EH QR DVVXUDQFH WKDW WKH &RPSDQ\¶V SURGXFWV ZLOO FRQWLQXH WR FRPSHWH VXFFHVVIXOO\ ZLWK WKH
SURGXFWV RI FRPSHWLWRUV RU WKDW WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLOO EH DEOH WR UHWDLQ LWV FXVWRPHU EDVH RU WR LPSURYH RU PDLQWDLQ LWV SURILW
PDUJLQV RQ VDOHV WR LWV FXVWRPHUV DOO RI ZKLFK FRXOG KDYH D PDWHULDO DQG DGYHUVH DIIHFW RQ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V ILQDQFLDO
FRQGLWLRQUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVDQGFDVKIORZV
Fire and Emergency Segment7KH&RPSDQ\SURGXFHVDQGVHOOVFXVWRPDQGFRPPHUFLDOILUHYHKLFOHVLQWKH86XQGHU
WKH3LHUFHEUDQG&RPSHWLWRUVLQFOXGH(PHUJHQF\2QH,QF DVXEVLGLDU\RI)HGHUDO6LJQDO&RUSRUDWLRQ .RYDWFK0RELOH
(TXLSPHQW&RUSDQGQXPHURXVVPDOOHUUHJLRQDOPDQXIDFWXUHUV3ULQFLSDOPHWKRGVRIFRPSHWLWLRQLQFOXGHEUDQGDZDUHQHVV
VLQJOHVRXUFHFXVWRPHUVROXWLRQVSURGXFWTXDOLW\SURGXFWLQQRYDWLRQGHDOHUGLVWULEXWLRQVHUYLFHDQGVXSSRUWDQGSULFH7KH
&RPSDQ\ EHOLHYHV WKDW LWV FRPSHWLWLYH VWUHQJWKV LQFOXGH UHFRJQL]HG SUHPLXP EUDQG QDPH QDWLRQZLGH QHWZRUN RI
LQGHSHQGHQW 3LHUFH GHDOHUV H[WHQVLYHKLJK TXDOLW\ DQG LQQRYDWLYHSURGXFW RIIHULQJVZKLFK LQFOXGH VLQJOHVRXUFH FXVWRPHU
VROXWLRQV IRU DHULDOV SXPSHUV DQG UHVFXH XQLWV ODUJHVFDOH DQG KLJKHIILFLHQF\ FXVWRP PDQXIDFWXULQJ FDSDELOLWLHV DQG
SURSULHWDU\ WHFKQRORJLHV VXFK DV 7$. LQGHSHQGHQW VXVSHQVLRQ +HUFXOHV DQG +XVN\ IRDP V\VWHPV DQG &RPPDQG =RQH
HOHFWURQLFV

-HUU'DQ SURGXFHV FDUULHUV DQG ZUHFNHUV SULPDULO\ IRU VDOH LQ WKH 86 ZLWK OLPLWHG H[SRUW VDOHV  -HUU'DQ¶V SULQFLSDO
FRPSHWLWRULV0LOOHU,QGXVWULHV,QF3ULQFLSDOPHWKRGVRIFRPSHWLWLRQIRUFDUULHUVDQGZUHFNHUVLQFOXGHSURGXFWTXDOLW\DQG
LQQRYDWLRQSURGXFWSHUIRUPDQFHSULFHDQGVHUYLFH7KH&RPSDQ\EHOLHYHVLWVFRPSHWLWLYHVWUHQJWKVLQWKLVPDUNHWLQFOXGH
LWVKLJKTXDOLW\LQQRYDWLYHDQGKLJKSHUIRUPDQFHSURGXFWOLQHDQGLWVORZFRVWPDQXIDFWXULQJFDSDELOLWLHV

%$, PDQXIDFWXUHV ILUHILJKWLQJ YHKLFOHV $5)) YHKLFOHV DQG UHODWHG HTXLSPHQW SULPDULO\ IRU WKH ,WDOLDQ PDUNHW ZLWK
VLJQLILFDQWH[SRUWVDOHVLQWRWKH0LGGOH(DVW(DVWHUQ(XURSHDQG1RUWK$IULFD%$,¶VSULQFLSDOFRPSHWLWRUVLQFOXGH,YHFR
(XURILUH +ROGLQJ *PE+ DVXEVLGLDU\RI)LDW6S$ DQG5RVHQEDXHU,QWHUQDWLRQDO$*3ULQFLSDOPHWKRGVRIFRPSHWLWLRQIRU
%$,SURGXFWVLQFOXGHSURGXFWLQQRYDWLRQDQGSULFH7KH&RPSDQ\EHOLHYHVLWVFRPSHWLtive strengths in thHVHPDUNHWVLQFOXGH
LWVORZFRVWPDQXIDFWXULQJFDSDELOLW\GLVWULEXWLRQQHWZRUNDQGLQQRYDWLYHSURGXFWV
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0HGWHF LV D PDQXIDFWXUHU RI DPEXODQFHV  0HGWHF¶V SULQFLSDO FRPSHWLWLRQ IRU DPEXODQFH VDOHV LV IURP WKH +DOFRUH
*URXS ,QF RZQHG E\ 7UDQV2FHDQ &DSLWDO ,QF  :KHHOHG &RDFK ,QGXVWULHV D VXEVLGLDU\ RI &ROOLQV ,QGXVWULHV ,QF  DQG
0F&R\0LOOHU //&  3ULQFLSDO PHWKRGV RI FRPSHWLWLRQ DUH SULFH VHUYLFH DQG SURGXFW TXDOLW\  7KH &RPSDQ\ EHOLHYHV LWV
FRPSHWLWLYHVWUHQJWKVLQWKHDPEXODQFHPDUNHWLQFOXGHLWVKLJKTXDOLW\SURGXFWVDQGORZFRVWPDQXIDFWXULQJFDSDELOLWLHV

2VKNRVKPDQXIDFWXUHV$5))YHKLFOHVIRUVDOHLQWKH86DQGDEURDG2VKNRVK¶VSULQFLSDOFRPSHWLWRUVIRU$5))VDOHV
DUH 5RVHQEDXHU ,QWHUQDWLRQDO $* DQG (PHUJHQF\ 2QH ,QF D VXEVLGLDU\ RI )HGHUDO 6LJQDO &RUSRUDWLRQ   2VKNRVK DOVR
PDQXIDFWXUHVVQRZUHPRYDOYHKLFOHVSULQFLSDOO\IRU86DLUSRUWV7KH&RPSDQ\¶VSULQFLSDOFRPSHWLWRUVIRUVQRZUHPRYDO
YHKLFOHVDOHVDUH6FKPLGW(TXLSPHQW (QJLQHHULQJ DVXEVLGLDU\RI):'6HDJUDYH+ROGLQJV/3 DQG.RGLDN1RUWKZHVW
,QF3ULQFLSDO PHWKRGVRIFRPSHWLWLRQIRUDLUSRUWSURGXFWVDUHSURGXFWTXDOLW\DQGLQQRYDWLRQSURGXFWSHUIRUPDQFHSULFH
DQG VHUYLFH  7KH &RPSDQ\ EHOLHYHV LWV FRPSHWLWLYH VWUHQJWKV LQ WKHVH DLUSRUW PDUNHWV LQFOXGH LWV KLJKTXDOLW\ LQQRYDWLYH
SURGXFWVDQGORZFRVWPDQXIDFWXULQJFDSDELOLWLHV

$.LVDPDQXIDFWXUHURIPRELOHPHGLFDOWUDLOHUVDQGEURDGFDVWYHKLFOHV$.¶VSULQFLSDOFRPSHWLWLRQIRUPRELOHPHGLFDO
WUDLOHUVLVIURP0HG&RDFK//&$.¶VSULQFLSDOFRPSHWLWLRQIRUEURDGFDVWYHKLFOHVLVIURP:ROI&RDFK DVXEVLGLDU\RI/
&RPPXQLFDWLRQ +ROGLQJV ,QF   3ULQFLSDO PHWKRGV RI FRPSHWLWLRQ DUH SURGXFW TXDOLW\ DQG DYDLODELOLW\ SULFH DQG VHUYLFH
7KH &RPSDQ\ EHOLHYHV LWV FRPSHWLWLYH VWUHQJWKV LQ ERWK RI $.¶V PDUNHWV LQFOXGH LWV KLJKTXDOLW\ SURGXFWV H[FHOOHQW
UHODWLRQVKLSVZLWKPDQXIDFWXUHUVRIHTXLSPHQWLQVWDOOHGLQLWVYHKLFOHVDQGORZFRVWPDQXIDFWXULQJFDSDELOLWLHV
Defense Segment 7KH &RPSDQ\SURGXFHV KHDY\SD\ORDG DQG PHGLXPSD\ORDG WDFWLFDO ZKHHOHGYHKLFOHV IRU WKH86
DQG RWKHU PLOLWDULHV  &RPSHWLWLRQ IRU VDOHV RI WKHVH WDFWLFDO ZKHHOHG YHKLFOHV LV FXUUHQWO\ OLPLWHG WR D VPDOO QXPEHU RI
FRPSDQLHVLQFOXGLQJWKH0DQ*URXSSOF0HUFHGHV%HQ] DVXEVLGLDU\RI'DLPOHU&KU\VOHU$* 7KH9ROYR*URXS6WHZDUW
 6WHYHQVRQ 6HUYLFHV ,QF D VXEVLGLDU\ RI $UPRU +ROGLQJV ,QF  DQG ,QWHUQDWLRQDO 0LOLWDU\ DQG *RYHUQPHQW //& D
VXEVLGLDU\RI1DYLVWDU,QWHUQDWLRQDO &RUSRUDWLRQ 7KHSULQFLSDO PHWKRGRIFRPSHWLWLRQLQWKHGHIHQVHVHJPHQWLQYROYHVD
FRPSHWLWLYHELGWKDWWDNHVLQWRDFFRXQWIDFWRUVDVGHWHUPLQHGE\WKHDSSOLFDEOHPLOLWDU\VXFKDVSULFHSURGXFWSHUIRUPDQFH
SURGXFWTXDOLW\DGKHUHQFHWRELGVSHFLILFDWLRQVSURGXFWLRQFDSDELOLW\SDVWSHUIRUPDQFHDQGSURGXFWVXSSRUW8VXDOO\WKH
&RPSDQ\¶V WUXFN V\VWHPV PXVW DOVR SDVV H[WHQVLYH WHVWLQJ  7KH &RPSDQ\ EHOLHYHV WKDW LWV FRPSHWLWLYH VWUHQJWKV LQFOXGH
VWUDWHJLFJOREDOSXUFKDVLQJFDSDELOLWLHVOHYHUDJHGDFURVVPXOWLSOHEXVLQHVVVHJPHQWV H[WHQVLYHSULFLQJFRVWLQJDQGGHIHQVH
FRQWUDFWLQJ H[SHUWLVH D VLJQLILFDQW LQVWDOOHG EDVH RI YHKLFOHV FXUUHQWO\ LQ XVH WKURXJKRXW WKH ZRUOG ODUJHVFDOH DQG KLJK
HIILFLHQF\ PDQXIDFWXULQJ FDSDELOLWLHV SDWHQWHG DQGRU SURSULHWDU\ YHKLFOH FRPSRQHQWV VXFK DV 7$. LQGHSHQGHQW
VXVSHQVLRQ2VKNRVK WUDQVIHU FDVHV DQG &RPPDQG =RQHYHKLFOHGLDJQRVWLFV DELOLW\ WR GHYHORSQHZDQG LPSURYHGSURGXFW
FDSDELOLWLHVUHVSRQVLYHWRWKHQHHGVRILWVFXVWRPHUVSURGXFWTXDOLW\DQGDIWHUPDUNHWSDUWVVDOHVDQGVHUYLFHFDSDELOLWLHV
Commercial Segment  7KH &RPSDQ\ SURGXFHV IURQW DQG UHDUGLVFKDUJH FRQFUHWH PL[HUV DQG EDWFK SODQWV LQ 1RUWK
$PHULFD XQGHU WKH 2VKNRVK 0F1HLOXV &21(&2 DQG /RQGRQ EUDQGV  &RPSHWLWLRQ IRU FRQFUHWH PL[HU DQG EDWFK SODQW
VDOHVLVOLPLWHGWRDVPDOOQXPEHURIFRPSDQLHVLQFOXGLQJ7HUH[&RUSRUDWLRQ&RQWLQHQWDO0DQXIDFWXULQJ&RDQG6FKZLQJ
$PHULFD,QF3ULQFLSDOPHWKRGVRIFRPSHWLWLRQDUHVHUYLFHSURGXFWIHDWXUHVSURGXFWTXDOLW\SURGXFWDYDLODELOLW\DQGSULFH
7KH &RPSDQ\ EHOLHYHV LWV FRPSHWLWLYH VWUHQJWKV LQFOXGH VWURQJ EUDQG UHFRJQLWLRQ ODUJHVFDOH DQG KLJKHIILFLHQF\
PDQXIDFWXULQJ H[WHQVLYH SURGXFW RIIHULQJV KLJK SURGXFW TXDOLW\ D VLJQLILFDQW LQVWDOOHG EDVH RI PL[HUV LQ XVH LQ WKH
PDUNHWSODFHDQGLWVQDWLRQZLGH&RPSDQ\RZQHGQHWZRUNRIVDOHVDQGVHUYLFHFHQWHUV

0F1HLOXVSURGXFHVUHIXVHFROOHFWLRQYHKLFOHERGLHVLQWKH86&RPSHWLWRUVLQFOXGH7KH+HLO&RPSDQ\ DVXEVLGLDU\RI
'RYHU&RUSRUDWLRQ DQG/D%ULH(TXLSPHQW/WG,Q(XURSHWKH*HHVLQN1RUED*URXSSURGXFHVUHIXVHFROOHFWLRQERGLHVDQG
FRPSDFWRUVXQGHUWKH*HHVLQN1RUEDDQG.LJJHQEUDQGQDPHV7KHUHDUHDOLPLWHGQXPEHURI(XURSHDQFRPSHWLWRUVWKH
ODUJHVWRIZKLFKLVSULYDWHO\RZQHG)DXQ8PZHOWWHFKQLN*PE+ &R7KHSULQFLSDOPHWKRGVRIFRPSHWLWLRQLQWKH86DQG
(XURSHDUHVHUYLFHSURGXFWTXDOLW\SURGXFWSHUIRUPDQFHDQGSULFH,QFUHDVLQJO\WKH&RPSDQ\LVFRPSHWLQJIRUPXQLFLSDO
EXVLQHVV DQG ODUJH FRPPHUFLDO EXVLQHVV LQ WKH 86 DQG (XURSH ZKLFK LV EDVHG RQ ORZHVW TXDOLILHG ELG  7KH &RPSDQ\
EHOLHYHVWKDWLWVFRPSHWLWLYHVWUHQJWKVLQWKH86DQG(XURSHDQUHIXVHFROOHFWLRQPDUNHWVLQFOXGHVWURQJEUDQGUHFRJQLWLRQ
FRPSUHKHQVLYH SURGXFW RIIHULQJV D UHSXWDWLRQ IRU KLJK TXDOLW\ LQQRYDWLYH SURGXFWV ODUJHVFDOH DQG KLJKHIILFLHQF\
PDQXIDFWXULQJDQGH[WHQVLYHQHWZRUNVRI&RPSDQ\RZQHGVDOHVDQGVHUYLFHFHQWHUVORFDWHGWKURXJKRXWWKH86DQG(XURSH

,07LVDPDQXIDFWXUHURIILHOGVHUYLFHYHKLFOHVDQGWUXFNPRXQWHGFUDQHVIRUPLQLQJDQGFRQVWUXFWLRQLQGXVWULHV,07¶V
SULQFLSDOFRPSHWLWLRQIRUILHOGVHUYLFHYHKLFOHVLVIURP6WHOODU,QGXVWULHV,QF)OHHW(TXLSPHQW&RUSRUDWLRQDQG$XWR&UDQH
&RPSDQ\  ,07¶V SULQFLSDO FRPSHWLWLRQ IRU WUXFN PRXQWHG FUDQHV LV IURP )DVVL *URXS 3DOILQJHU $* +LDE 2\ 6WHOODU
,QGXVWULHV ,QF DQG $XWR &UDQH &RPSDQ\  3ULQFLSDO PHWKRGV RI FRPSHWLWLRQ DUH SURGXFW TXDOLW\ SULFH DQG VHUYLFH  7KH
&RPSDQ\EHOLHYHVLWVFRPSHWLWLYHVWUHQJWKVLQERWKRI,07¶VPDUNHWVLQFOXGHLWVKLJKTXDOLW\SURGXFWVQDWLRQDOGLVWULEXWLRQ
QHWZRUNDQGORZFRVWPDQXIDFWXULQJFDSDELOLWLHV
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Customers and Backlog

6DOHV WR WKH 86 JRYHUQPHQW FRPSULVHG DSSUR[LPDWHO\  RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V QHW VDOHV LQ ILVFDO   1R RWKHU
VLQJOH FXVWRPHU DFFRXQWHGIRU PRUH WKDQRI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V QHWVDOHV IRU WKLVSHULRG $ VXEVWDQWLDO PDMRULW\ RI WKH
&RPSDQ\¶VQHWVDOHVDUHGHULYHGIURPFXVWRPHURUGHUVSULRUWRFRPPHQFLQJSURGXFWLRQ

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VEDFNORJDVRI6HSWHPEHUGHFUHDVHGWRPLOOLRQFRPSDUHGWRPLOOLRQDW
6HSWHPEHU    )LUH DQG HPHUJHQF\ VHJPHQW EDFNORJ LQFUHDVHG  WR  PLOOLRQ DW 6HSWHPEHU  
FRPSDUHGWRPLOOLRQDW6HSWHPEHUGXHWRLPSURYLQJGRPHVWLFPXQLFLSDOPDUNHWVPDUNHWVKDUHJDLQVDQGWKH
LQFOXVLRQ RI  PLOOLRQ RI EDFNORJ UHODWHG WR $. ZKLFK ZDV DFTXLUHG LQ ILVFDO   7KH GHIHQVH VHJPHQW EDFNORJ
GHFUHDVHGWRPLOOLRQDW6HSWHPEHUFRPSDUHGWRPLOOLRQDW6HSWHPEHUGXHWRWLPLQJ
RI)+79FRQWUDFWUHQHZDOFRQWLQXHGSURGXFWLRQXQGHU8.ZKHHOHGWDQNHUFRQWUDFWDQGDVORZGRZQLQVDOHVRISDUWVDQG
services for the DoD. The Company anticipates that its defensHVHJPHQWEDFNORJZLOOULVHRYHUWKHQH[WVL[PRQWKVDV'R'
contracts are executed against recent federaOEXGJHWELOOV&RPPHUFLDOVHJPHQWEDFNORJLQFUHDVHGWRPLOOLRQDW
6HSWHPEHU   FRPSDUHG WR  PLOOLRQ DW 6HSWHPEHU    2UGHUV FRQWLQXHG WR UHPDLQ VWURQJ LQ 1RUWK
$PHULFDLQDGYDQFHRIGLHVHOHQJLQHHPLVVLRQVVWDQGDUGVFKDQJHVHIIHFWLYH-DQXDU\8QLWEDFNORJIRUUHIXVHSDFNHUV
ZDV XS  GRPHVWLFDOO\  8QLW EDFNORJ IRU IURQWGLVFKDUJH DQG UHDUGLVFKDUJH FRQFUHWH PL[HUV ZDV XS  DQG
 UHVSHFWLYHO\  8QLW EDFNORJ IRU UHIXVH SDFNHUV ZDV GRZQ  LQ (XURSH DV D UHVXOW RI VORZ RUGHU LQWDNH LQ WKH
8QLWHG.LQJGRP DQG FKDVVLV VXSSO\ LVVXHV LQ )UDQFH  $SSUR[LPDWHO\  PLOOLRQ RI WKHRYHUDOO LQFUHDVH LQ FRPPHUFLDO
VHJPHQW EDFNORJ UHODWHG WR ,07 ZKLFK WKH &RPSDQ\ DFTXLUHG LQ ILVFDO   $SSUR[LPDWHO\  RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V
6HSWHPEHUEDFNORJLVQRWH[SHFWHGWREHILOOHGLQILVFDO

5HSRUWHG EDFNORJ H[FOXGHV SXUFKDVH RSWLRQV DQG DQQRXQFHG RUGHUV IRU ZKLFK GHILQLWLYH FRQWUDFWV KDYH QRW EHHQ
H[HFXWHG  $GGLWLRQDOO\ EDFNORJ H[FOXGHV XQIXQGHG SRUWLRQV RI WKH )+79 0795 ,',4 DQG /965 FRQWUDFWV  $V RI
6HSWHPEHURQO\PLOOLRQRIWKHDQWLFLSDWHG/965FRQWUDFWKDVEHHQIXQGHGDQGLQFOXGHGLQEDFNORJ%DFNORJ
LQIRUPDWLRQDQGFRPSDULVRQVWKHUHRIDVRIGLIIHUHQWGDWHVPD\QRWEHDFFXrate indicators of future sales or the ratio of the
&RPSDQ\¶VIXWXUHVDOHVWRWKH'R'YHrsus its sales to other customers.
Government Contracts

$SSUR[LPDWHO\  RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V QHW VDOHV IRU ILVFDO  ZHUH PDGH WR WKH 86 JRYHUQPHQW D VXEVWDQWLDO
PDMRULW\ RI ZKLFK ZHUH XQGHU ORQJWHUP FRQWUDFWV DQG SURJUDPV LQ WKH GHIHQVH WUXFN PDUNHW  $FFRUGLQJO\ D VLJQLILFDQW
SRUWLRQRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VVDOHVDUHVXEMHFWWRULVNVVSHFLILFWRGRLQJEXVLQHVVZLWKWKH86JRYHUQPHQWLQFOXGLQJXQFHUWDLQW\
RI HFRQRPLF FRQGLWLRQV FKDQJHV LQ JRYHUQPHQW SROLFLHV DQG UHTXLUHPHQWV WKDW PD\ UHIOHFW UDSLGO\ FKDQJLQJ PLOLWDU\ DQG
SROLWLFDO GHYHORSPHQWV WKH DYDLODELOLW\ RI IXQGV DQG WKH DELOLW\ WR PHHW VSHFLILHG SHUIRUPDQFH WKUHVKROGV  /RQJWHUP
FRQWUDFWV PD\ EH FRQGLWLRQHG XSRQ FRQWLQXHG DYDLODELOLW\ RI FRQJUHVVLRQDO DSSURSULDWLRQV  9DULDQFHV EHWZHHQ DQWLFLSDWHG
EXGJHWDQGFRQJUHVVLRQDODSSURSULDWLRQVPD\UHVXOWLQDGHOD\UHGXFWLRQRUWHUPLQDWLRQRIWKHVHFRQWUDFWV

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VVDOHVLQWRGHIHQVHWUXFNPDUNHWVDUHVXEVWDQWLDOO\GHSHQGHQWXSRQSHULRGLFDZDUGVRIQHZFRQWUDFWVDQG
WKH SXUFKDVH RI EDVH YHKLFOH TXDQWLWLHV DQG WKH H[HUFLVH RI RSWLRQV XQGHU H[LVWLQJ FRQWUDFWV  7KH &RPSDQ\¶V H[LVWLQJ
FRQWUDFWVZLWKWKH'R'PD\EHWHUPLQDWHG at any time for the convenience of the JRYHUQPHQW8SRQVXFKWHUPLQDWLRQWKH
&RPSDQ\ZRXOGJHQHUDOO\EHHQWLWOHGWRUHLPEXUVHPHQWRILWVLQFXUUHGFRVWVDQGLQJHQHUDOWRSD\PHQWRIDUHDVRQDEOHSURILW
IRUZRUNDFWXDOO\SHUIRUPHG

8QGHU ILUP IL[HG SULFH FRQWUDFWV ZLWK WKH JRYHUQPHQW WKH SULFH SDLG WR WKH &RPSDQ\ LV JHQHUDOO\ QRW VXEMHFW WR
DGMXVWPHQW WR UHIOHFW WKH &RPSDQ\¶V DFWXDO FRVWV H[FHSW FRVWV LQFXUUHG DV D UHVXOW RI FRQWUDFW FKDQJHV RUGHUHG E\ WKH
JRYHUQPHQW7KH&RPSDQ\JHQHUDOO\DWWHPSWVWRQHJRWLDWHZLWKWKHJRYHUQPHQWWKHDPRXQWRILQFUHDVHGFRPSHQVDWLRQWR
ZKLFK WKH &RPSDQ\ LV HQWLWOHG IRU JRYHUQPHQWRUGHUHG FKDQJHV WKat result in higher costs.  ,I WKH &RPSDQ\ LV XQDEOH WR
negotiate a satisfactory agreement to proviGHVXFKLQFUHDVHGFRPSHQVDWLRQWKHQWKe Company may file anDSSHDOZLWKWKH
$UPHG 6HUYLFHV %RDUG RI &RQWUDFW $SSHDOs or the U.S. Claims Court. The Company has no such appeals pending. The
&RPSDQ\ VHHNV WR PLWLJDWH ULVNV ZLWK UHVSHFW WR IL[HG SULFH FRQWUDFWV E\ H[HFXWLQJ ILUP IL[HG SULFH FRQWUDFWV ZLWK D
VXEVWDQWLDOPDMRULW\RILWVVXSSOLHUVIRUWKHGXUDWLRQRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFRQWUDFWV

7KH&RPSDQ\DVD86JRYHUQPHQWFRQWUDFWRULVVXEMHFWWRILQDQFLDODXGLWVDQGRWKHUUHYLHZVE\WKH86JRYHUQPHQW
RI SHUIRUPDQFH RI DQG WKH DFFRXQWLQJ DQG JHQHUDO SUDFWLFHV UHODWLQJ WR 86 JRYHUQPHQW FRQWUDFWV  /LNH PRVW ODUJH
JRYHUQPHQW FRQWUDFWRUV WKH &RPSDQ\ LV DXGLWHG DQG UHYLHZHG E\ WKH JRYHUQPHQW RQ D FRQWLQXDO EDVLV &RVWV DQG SULFHV
XQGHU VXFK FRQWUDFWV PD\ EH VXEMHFW WR DGMXVWPHQW EDVHG XSRQ WKH UHVXOWV RI VXFK DXGLWV DQG UHYLHZV  $GGLWLRQDOO\ VXFK
DXGLWVDQGUHYLHZVFDQDQGKDYHOHGWRFLYLOFULPLQDORUDGPLQLVWUDWLYHSURFHHGLQJV6XFKSURFHHGLQJVFRXOGLQYROYHFODLPV
E\WKHJRYHUQPHQWIRUILQHVSHQDOWLHVFRPSHQVDWRU\DQGWUHEOHGDPDJHVUHVWLWXWLRQDQGRUIRUIHLWXUHV8QGHUJRYHUQPHQW
UHJXODWLRQVDFRPSDQ\RURQHRUPRUHRILWVVXEVLGLDULHVFDQDOVREHVXVSHQGHGRUGHEDUUHGIURPJRYHUQPHQWFRQWUDFWVRU
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lose its export privileges based on the results of such proceedings. The Company believes, based on all available
information, that the outcome of all such audits, reviews and proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on its
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
Suppliers
The Company is dependent on its suppliers and subcontractors to meet commitments to its customers, and many
components are procured or subcontracted on a sole-source basis with a number of domestic and foreign companies.
&RPSRQHQWVIRUWKH&RPSDQ\¶VSURGXFWVDUHJHQHUDOO\DYDLODEOHIUom a number of suppliers, although the transition to a new
supplier may require several months to conclude. The Company purchases chassis components, such as vehicle frames,
engines, transmissions, radiators, axles and tires, and vehicle body options, such as cranes, cargo bodies and trailers, from
WKLUGSDUW\VXSSOLHUV7KHVHERG\RSWLRQVPD\EHPDQXIDFWXUHGVSHFLILFWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶VUHTXLUHPHQWVKRZHYHUPRVWRI
the body options could be manufactured by other suppliers or the Company itself. Through reliance on this supply network
for the purchase of certain components, the Company is able to reduce many of the preproduction and fixed costs associated
with the manufacture of these components and vehicle body options. The Company purchases a large amount of fabrications
and outsources certain manufacturing services, each generally from small companies located near its facilities. While
providing low-cost services and product surge capability, such companies often require additional management attention
during difficult economic conditions or contract start-up. The Company also purchases complete vehicle chassis from truck
chassis suppliers in its commercial segment and, to a lesser extent, in its fire and emergency segment. The Company
maintains an extensive qualification, on-site inspection, assistance and performance measurement system to control risks
associated with reliance on suppliers. The Company occasionally experiences problems with supplier and subcontractor
performance and availability and must identify alternate sources of supply and/or address related warranty claims from
customers.
While the Company purchases many costly components such as engines, transmissions and axles, it manufactures certain
proprietary components. These components include the Revolution composite concrete mixer drum, front drive and steer
axles, transfer cases, cabs, the ALL-STEER electronic all-wheel steering system, TAK-4 independent suspension, the SkyArm articulating aerial ladder, the McNeilus Auto Reach arm, the Hercules compressed air foam system, the Command Zone
vehicle control and diagnostic system technology, body structures and many smaller parts which add uniqueness and value to
WKH&RPSDQ\¶VSURGXFWV7KH&RPSDQ\EHlieves internal production of these components provides a significant competitive
advantage and also serves to reduce the manuIDFWXULQJFRVWVRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VSURGXFWV
A surge in over-the-road truck sales has created shortages of certain components utilized by the Company, especially
FHUWDLQHQJLQHVXWLOL]HGLQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VGHIHQVHEXVLQHVV7Ke shortages have also caused periodic delays or limitations on
the receipt of chassis scheduled for mRXQWLQJ RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V WUXFN ERGLHV across both its fire and emergency and
commercial segments. It is likely that some or all of such shortages could diminish during fiscal 2007 due to new diesel
engine emissions standards taking effect on January 1, 2007, but such conditions could re-occur later in fiscal 2007 or fiscal
2008 as customers resume their normal procurement patterns.
Intellectual Property

3DWHQWVDQGOLFHQVHVDUHLPSRUWDQWLQWKHRSHUDWLRQRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VEXVLQHVVDVRQHRIPDQDJHPHQW¶VNH\REMHFWLYHVLV
GHYHORSLQJSURSULHWDU\FRPSRQHQWVWRSURYLGHWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFXVWRPHUVZLWKDGYDQFHGWHFKQRORJLFDOVROXWLRQVDWDWWUDFWLYH
prices. The Company holds in excess of 200 active domestic and foreign patents. The Company believes patents for allwheel steer and TAK-4 independent suspension systems, which have remaining lives of 3 to 14 years, provide the Company
with a competitive advantage in the fire and emergency segment. In the defense segment, the TAK-4 independent suspension
V\VWHP ZDV DGGHG WR WKH 86 0DULQH &RUSV¶ 0795 DQG /965 SURJUDPV ZKLFK WKH &RPSDQ\ EHOLHYHV SURYLGHG D
performance and cost advantage in the successful competition for the production contracts. The TAK-4 independent
VXVSHQVLRQ LV DOVR LQWHJUDO WR WKH &RPSDQ\¶V VWUDWHJ\ ZLWK UHVSHFW WR VHYHUDO LQWHUQDWLRQDO GHIHQVH ELGV  7KH &RPSDQ\
believes that patents for certain components of its ProPulse hybrid electric drive system and Command Zone electronics offer
potential competitive advantages to product lines across all its segments. To a lesser extent, other proprietary components
SURYLGHWKH&RPSDQ\DFRPSHWLWLYHDGYDQWDJHLQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VVHJPHQWV
In fiscal 2002, the Company introduced the Revolution composite concrete mixer drum in the U.S. The Company has
purchased exclusive, renewable licenses for the rights to manufacture and market this technology in the Americas and
Europe. This license requires the Company to make royalty fee payments to its Australian partner for each Revolution drum
sold. The Company believes that this license creates an important competitive advantage over competitors that manufacture
steel concrete mixer drums. The Revolution composite drum is substantially lighter than a comparable steel drum permitting
greater payload capacity and is easier to clean, which together lower the cost of delivered concrete. The Company sells the
Revolution composite drum at prices substantially higher than prices for steel drums.
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7KH&RPSDQ\KROGVWUDGHPDUNVIRU³2VKNRVK´³3LHUFH´³0F1HLOXV´³5HYROXWLRQ´³0HGWHF´³-HUU'DQ´³&21(
&2´ ³/RQGRQ´ ³%$,´ ³*HHVLQN´ ³1RUED´ ³.LJJHQ´ ³)URQWOLQH´ ³$.´ ³60,7´ DQG ³,07´ DPRQJ RWKHUV  7KHVH
WUDGHPDUNVDUHFRQVLGHUHGWREHLPSRUWDQWWRWKHIXWXUHVXFFHVVRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VEXVLQHVV
Employees
$VRI6HSWHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\KDGHPSOR\HHV7KH8QLWHG$XWR:RUNHUV ³8$:´ XQLRQUHSUHVHQWHG
 SURGXFWLRQ HPSOR\HHV DW WKH &RPSDQ\¶V 2VKNRVK :LVFRQVLQ IDFLOLWLHV WKH %RLOHUPDNHUV ,URQ 6KLSEXLOGHUV
%ODFNVPLWKV DQG )RUJHUV 8QLRQ ³%RLOHUPDNHUV´  UHSUHVHQWHG  HPSOR\HHV DW WKH &RPSDQ\¶V .HZDXQHH :LVFRQVLQ
IDFLOLWLHVDQGWKH,QWHUQDWLRQDO%URWKHUKRRGRI7HDPVWHUV8QLRQ ³7HDPVWHUV´ UHSUHVHQWHGHPSOR\HHVDWWKH&RPSDQ\¶V
*DUQHU,RZDIDFLOLWLHV7KH&RPSDQ\¶VILYH\HDUDJUHHPHQWZLWKWKH8$:XQLRQH[WHQGVWKURXJK6HSWHPEHUDQGWKH
&RPSDQ\¶VDJUHHPHQWZLWKWKH%RLOHUPDNHUVXQLRQH[WHQGVWKURXJK0D\7KH&RPSDQ\¶VWKUHH\HDUDJUHHPHQWZLWK
WKH7HDPVWHUVH[WHQGVWKURXJK2FWREHU,QDGGLWLRQWKH&DQDGLDQ$XWR:RUNHUVXQLRQUHSUHVHQWHGHPSOR\HHVDW
/RQGRQDQGHPSOR\HHVDWWKH*HHVLQN1RUED*URXSDUHUHSUHVHQWHGE\VHSDUDWHZRUNVFRXQFLOV7KH&RPSDQ\EHOLHYHV
LWVUHODWLRQVKLSZLWKHPSOR\HHVLVVDWLVIDFWRU\
Industry Segments

)LQDQFLDOLQIRUPDWLRQFRQFHUQLQJWKH&RPSDQ\¶VLQGXVWU\VHJPHQWVLVLQFOXGHGLQ1RWHWRWKH&RQVROLGDWHG)LQDQFLDO
6WDWHPHQWVFRQWDLQHGLQ,WHPRIWKLV)RUP.
Foreign and Domestic Operations and Export Sales

)LQDQFLDOLQIRUPDWLRQFRQFHUQLQJWKH&RPSDQ\¶VIRUHLJQDQGGRPHVWLFRSHUDWLRQVDQGH[SRUWVDOHVLVLQFOXGHGLQ1RWH
WRWKH&RQVROLGDWHG)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWVFRQWDLQHGLQ,WHPRIWKLV)RUP.
Available Information

7KH&RPSDQ\PDLQWDLQVDZHEVLWHZLWKWKHDGGUHVVZZZRVKNRVKWUXFNFRUSRUDWLRQFRP7KH&RPSDQ\LVQRWLQFOXGLQJ
WKHLQIRUPDWLRQFRQWDLQHGRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VZHEVLWHDVDSDUWRIRULQFRUSRUDWLQJLWE\UHIHUHQFHLQWRWKLV$QQXDO5HSRUWRQ
)RUP.7KH&RPSDQ\PDNHVDYDLODEOHIUHHRIFKDUJH RWKHUWKDQDQLQYHVWRU¶VRZQ,QWHUQHWDFFHVVFKDUJHV WKURXJKLWV
ZHEVLWHLWV$QQXDO5HSRUWRQ)RUP.TXDUWHUO\UHSRUWVRQ)RUP4DQGFXUUHQWUHSRUWVRQ)RUP.DQGDPHQGPHQWV
WR WKHVH UHSRUWV DV VRRQ DV UHDVRQDEO\ SUDFWLFDEOH DIWHU WKH &RPSDQ\ HOHFWURQLFDOO\ ILOHV VXFK PDWHULDOV ZLWK RU IXUQLVKHV
VXFKPDWHULDOVWRWKH6(&

ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS


7KH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVDQGFDVKIORZVDUHVXEMHFWWRYDULRXVULVNVPDQ\RIZKLFKDUH
QRW H[FOXVLYHO\ ZLWKLQ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V FRQWURO WKDW PD\ FDXVH DFWXDO SHUIRUPDQFH WR GLIIHU PDWHULDOO\ IURP KLVWRULFDO RU
SURMHFWHGIXWXUHSHUIRUPDQFH,QIRUPDWLRQLQWKLV)RUP.VKRXOGEHFRQVLGHUHGFDUHIXOO\E\LQYHVWRUVLQOLJKWRIWKHULVN
IDFWRUVGHVFULEHGEHORZDQGWKHLQIRUPDWLRQVHWIRUWKXQGHUWKHFDSWLRQ³0DQDJHPHQW¶V'LVFXVVLRQDQG$QDO\VLVRI)LQDQFLDO
&RQGLWLRQDQG5HVXOWVRI2SHUDWLRQV&HUWDLQ$VVXPSWLRQV´
Our markets are highly cyclical and a decline in these markets could have a material adverse effect on our operating
performance.

$GHFOLQHLQRYHUDOOFXVWRPHUGHPDQGLQRXUF\FOLFDOFRPPHUFLDODQGILUHDQGHPHUJHQF\PDUNHWVFRXOGKDYHDPDWHULDO
DGYHUVHHIIHFWRQRXURSHUDWLQJSHUIRUPDQFH7KHUHDG\PL[FRQFUHWHPDUNHWWKDWZHVHUYHLVKLJKO\F\FOLFDODQGLPSDFWHGE\
WKHVWUHQJWKRIWKHHFRQRP\JHQHUDOO\E\SUHYDLOLQJPRUWJDJHDQGRWKHULQWHUHVWUDWHVE\WKHQXPEHURIKRXVLQJVWDUWVDQGE\
RWKHUIDFWRUVWKDWPD\KDYHDQHIIHFWRQWKHOHYHORIFRQFUHWHSODFHPHQWDFWLYLW\HLWKHUUHJLRQDOO\RUQDWLRQDOO\'RPHVWLFDQd
(XURSHDQUHIXVHPDUNHWVDUHDOVRKLJKO\F\FOLFDODQGLPSDFWHGE\WKHVWUHQJWKRIWKHHFRQRP\JHQHUDOO\DQGPXQLFLSDOWD[
UHFHLSWV)LUHDQGHPHUJHQF\PDUNHWVDUHPRGHVWO\F\FOLFDODQGDUHLPSDFWHGE\WKHHFRQRP\JHQHUDOO\DQGPXQLFLSDOWD[
UHFHLSWV,IWKHVHPDUNHWVIDFHGRZQWXUQVWKHQWKHUHFRXOGEHDPDWHULDODGYHUVHHIIHFWRQRXUQHWVDOHVILQDQFLDOFRQGLWLRQ
SURILWDELOLW\DQGRUFDVKIORZV)XUWKHUPRUHRXUFRPPHUFLDOEXVLQHVVVDZDQLQFUHDVHLQRUGHUVLQILVFDODVFXVWRPHUV
SUHSXUFKDVHGWUXFNFKDVVLVLQDQWLFLSDWLRQRIFKDQJHVLQGLHVHOHQJLQHHPLVVLRQVVWDQGDUGVHIIHFWLYH-DQXDU\ZKLFK
ZHEHOLHYHLVOLNHO\WRUHVXOWLQDUHGXFWLRQLQVDOHVLQ
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Additionally, the recent surge in our defense business is due in significant part to demand for defense trucks, replacement
parts and services and truck remanufacturing arising from the conflict in Iraq. Events such as this are unplanned, and we
cannot predict how long this conflict will last or the demand for our products that will arise out of such an event.
Accordingly, we cannot provide any assurance that the increased defense business as a result of this conflict will continue.
Finally, JLG operates in a highly cyclical market impacted by the strength of the economy generally, by prevailing
PRUWJDJHDQGRWKHULQWHUHVWUDWHVE\QRQUHVLGHQWLDOFRQVWUXFWLRQVSHQGLQJDQGE\RWKHUIDFWRUV,QDGGLWLRQ-/*¶VEXVLQHVV
is highly seasonal with the majority of its sales occurring in the spring and summer months, which constitute the traditional
construction season. If we complete the acquisition of JLG as anticipated in December 2006, then we will be subject to the
ULVNRIDGRZQWXUQLQ-/*¶VF\FOLFDOPDUNHW
We may not be able to complete or successfully integrate the acquisition of JLG, which may have a material adverse
impact on our future growth and operating performance.
Although we anticipate closing the acquisition of JLG in December 2006, the merger agreement is subject to standard
closing conditions and terminations provisions. We may not be able to complete the acquisition of JLG, which could
adversely affect our future growth. If we complete the acquisition of JLG, realization of the benefits and synergies of the
DFTXLVLWLRQZLOOUHTXLUHLQWHJUDWLRQRI-/*¶VVDOHVDQGPDUNHWLng, distribution, manufacturing, engineering and administrative
organizations. The successful integration of JLG will require substantial attention from our management team. The diversion
of management attention, as well as any other difficulties we may encounter in the integration process, could have a material
adverse effect on our net sales, financial condition, profitability and/or cash flows. We cannot provide any assurance that we
will be able to integrate the operations of JLG successfully, that we will be able to realize anticipated synergies from the
acquisition or that we will be able to operate the JLG business as profitably as anticipated after the acquisition.
Our high leverage and debt service obligations could increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry
conditions and limit our ability to obtain future financing.
As a result of financing the JLG acquisition, we will be highly leveraged, which will cause us to incur additional interest
expense. After the completion of the acquisition of JLG, we expect to have approximately $3.3 billion of debt outstanding,
and we may increase debt in the future to fund operations. Our ability to make required payments of principal and interest on
our debt will depend on our future performance, which, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial,
competitive and other factors that are beyond our control. Based upon our current level of operations, we believe that cash
flow from operations, available cash and available borrowings under the new credit facilities we plan to enter into in
connection with the acquisition of JLG will be adequate to meet our future liquidity needs. However, we cannot provide any
assurance that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations or that future borrowings will be available
under our credit facilities in an amount sufficient to enable us to service our indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity needs.
In addition, our new credit facilities will contain financial and restrictive covenants that may limit our ability to, among other
things, borrow additional funds or take advantage of business opportunities. Our failure to comply with such covenants could
result in an event of default that, if not cured or waived, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations and debt service capability.
Our high level of debt and the covenants contained in our credit facilities could have important consequences for our
operations, including:
- Increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions and detract from our ability to
withstand successfully a downturn in our markets or the economy generally;
- Require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to required payments on debt, thereby
reducing the availability of such cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, research and development
and other general corporate activities;
- Limit our ability to obtain additional financing in the future to fund working capital, capital expenditures and other
general corporate requirements;
- Limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the markets we serve;
- Place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to less leveraged competitors; and
- Make us vulnerable to increases in interest rates because debt under our credit facilities may be at variable rates.
Our dependency on contracts with U.S. and foreign government agencies subjects us to a variety of risks that could
materially reduce our revenues or profits.
We are dependent on U.S. and foreign government contracts for a substantial portion of our business. That business is
subject to the following risks, among others, that could have a material adverse effect on our operating performance:
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Our business is susceptible to changes in the U.S. defense budget, which may reduce revenues that we expect from
our defense business.
The U.S. government may not appropriate funding that we expect for our U.S. government contracts, which may
prevent us from realizing revenues under current contracts or receiving additional orders that we anticipate we will
receive.
Most of our government contracts are fixed-price contracts, and our actual costs may exceed our projected costs,
which could result in lower profits or net losses under these contracts.
We are required to spend significant sums on product development and testing, bid and proposal activities and precontract engineering, tooling and design activities in competitions to have the opportunity to be awarded these
contracts.
Competitions for the award of defense truck contracts are intense, and we cannot provide any assurance that we will
be successful in the defense truck procurement competitions in which we participate.
Certain of our government contracts could be suspended or terminated and all such contracts expire in the future and
may not be replaced, which could reduce expected revenues from these contracts.
Our defense products undergo rigorous testing by the customer and are subject to highly technical requirements.
Any failure to pass these tests or to comply with these requirements could result in unanticipated retrofit costs,
delayed acceptance of trucks or late or no payments under such contracts.
Our government contracts are subject to audit, which could result in adjustments of our costs and prices under these
contracts.
Our defense truck contracts are large in size and require significant personnel and production resources, and when
such contracts end, we must make adjustments to personnel and production resources.
We are also currently experiencing difficulties with sourcing sufficient vehicle carcasses to maintain our defense
truck remanufacturing schedule, which creates uncertainty for this area of our business in the short-term.

If we are unable to successfully turnaround the profitability of our Geesink Norba Group, then we may be required to
record a non-cash impairment charge for Geesink Norba Group goodwill.
During fiscal 2004 and 2005, the Geesink Norba Group operated at a loss due to the weak European economy, declines
in selling prices in its markets, operational inefficiencies and increased material, labor and warranty costs related to the
launch of a new Geesink-branded rear loader. Although the Geesink Norba Group operated at a profit in fiscal 2006 and we
have taken steps to turn around the business of the Geesink Norba Group, including reducing its work force, installing new
executive leadership, implementing lean manufacturing practices, introducing new products and outsourcing components to
lower cost manufacturing sites, we cannot provide any assurance that the Geesink Norba Group will continue to operate
profitably or that such activities will be successful. In fiscal 2007, we anticipate that slowing demand in the United Kingdom
and chassis supply issues in France will delay the Geesink Norba Group turnaround. In addition, we may incur costs to
continue to implement any such turnaround beyond our current expectations for such costs. Further, if we are unable to
continue to turnaround the business of the Geesink Norba Group, then we may be required to record a non-cash impairment
charge for Geesink Norba Group goodwill, and there could be other material adverse effects on our net sales, financial
condition, profitability and/or cash flows.
If we are unable to successfully introduce or produce the Revolution composite concrete mixer drum, then the revenues
and earnings of our commercial segment may be adversely impacted.
We have made and will continue to make significant investments in technology and manufacturing facilities relating to
the Revolution composite concrete mixer drum product, and we anticipate that this product will contribute to growth in
revenues and earnings of our commercial segment. However, we cannot provide any assurance that such growth will result.
Without limitation:
- The Revolution drum is a new product in the concrete placement market that uses new technology, and we cannot
provide any assurance that the concrete placement market will broadly accept this product.
- Even if market demand for the Revolution drum meets our expectations, we may not be able to sustain high volume
production of this product at projected costs and on projected delivery schedules, which could result in lower profits
or net losses relating to this product.
- Our plans include taking additional actions and making additional investments to introduce different versions of the
Revolution drum and to introduce the product in markets outside the United States, and there will be additional risks
associated with these efforts.
- We cannot provide any assurance that competitors will not offer products in the future that compete with the
Revolution drum, which would impact our ability to sell this product at targeted prices.
- Because the Revolution drum is a new product, we have experienced and may continue to experience higher costs
for warranty and other product related claims.
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We have expanding international operations, the conduct of which subject us to risks that may have a material adverse
effect on our business.
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, approximately 17.7% of our net sales were attributable to products sold
outside of the United States, and expanding international sales, including through the pending acquisition of JLG, which had
$610.7 million of revenues from outside of the United States in its fiscal year ended July 31, 2006, is a part of our growth
strategy. International operations and sales are subject to various risks, including political, religious and economic instability,
local labor market conditions, the imposition of foreign tariffs and other trade barriers, the impact of foreign government
regulations and the effects of income and withholding taxes, governmental expropriation and differences in business
practices. We may incur increased costs and experience delays or disruptions in product deliveries and payments in
connection with international manufacturing and sales that could cause loss of revenues and earnings. Unfavorable changes in
the political, regulatory and business climate could have a material adverse effect on our net sales, financial condition,
profitability and/or cash flows.
We are subject to fluctuations in exchange rates and other risks associated with our non-U.S. operations that could
adversely affect our results of operations and may significantly affect the comparability of our results between financial
periods.
The results of operations and financial condition of our subsidiaries that conduct operations in foreign countries are
reported in the relevant foreign currencies and then translated into U.S. dollars at the applicable exchange rates for inclusion
in our consolidated financial statements, which are stated in U.S. dollars. In addition, we have certain firm orders in backlog
that are denominated in U.K. Pounds Sterling and certain agreements with subcontractors denominated in U.K. Pounds
Sterling and Euros, which will subject us to foreign currency transaction risk to the extent they are not hedged. The
completion of our pending acquisition of JLG will increase our exposure to foreign currency transaction risk as JLG
generates a portion of its revenues in foreign currencies, including Euros, U.K. Pounds Sterling and Australian Dollars. The
exchange rates between many of these currencies and the U.S. dollar have fluctuated significantly in recent years and may
fluctuate significantly in the future. Such fluctuations, in particular those with respect to the Euro and the U.K. Pound
Sterling, may have a material effect on our net sales, financial condition, profitability and/or cash flows and may significantly
affect the comparability of our results between financial periods.
Competition in our industries is intense and we may not be able to continue to compete successfully.
We operate in highly competitive industries. Several of our competitors have greater financial, marketing, manufacturing
and distribution resources than us and we are facing competitive pricing from new entrants in certain markets. Our products
may not continue to compete successfully with the products of competitors, and we may not be able to retain or increase our
customer base or to improve or maintain our profit margins on sales to our customers, all of which could adversely affect our
net sales, financial condition, profitability and/or cash flows.
A disruption or termination of the supply of parts, materials, components and final assemblies from third-party suppliers
could delay sales of our vehicles and vehicle bodies.
We have experienced, and may in the future experience, significant disruption or termination of the supply of some of
our parts, materials, components and final assemblies that we obtain from sole source suppliers or subcontractors or incur a
significant increase in the cost of these parts, materials, components or final assemblies. Such disruptions, terminations or
cost increases could delay sales of our vehicles and vehicle bodies and could result in a material adverse effect on our net
sales, financial condition, profitability and/or cash flows. A recent surge in over-the-road vehicle sales has created shortages
of certain components we utilize. The shortages have also caused periodic delays or limitations on the receipt of chassis
scheduled for mounting of our vehicle bodies across both our fire and emergency and commercial segments. It is likely that
some or all of such shortages could diminish during fiscal 2007 due to new diesel engine emissions standards taking effect on
January 1, 2007, but such conditions could re-occur later in fiscal 2007 or fiscal 2008 as customers resume their normal
procurement patterns.

ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES


0DQDJHPHQWEHOLHYHVWKH&RPSDQ\¶VHTXLSPHQWDQGEXLOGLQJVDUHPRGHUQZHOOPDLQWDLQHGDQGDGHTXDWHIRULWVSUHVHQW
DQGDQWLFLSDWHGQHHGV$VRI1RYHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\RSHUDWHGLQPDQXIDFWXULQJIDFLOLWLHV7KHORFDWLRQVL]H
DQGIRFXVRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VIDFLOLWLHVDUHSURYLGHGLQWKHWDEOHEHORZ

Location (# of facilities)
2VKNRVK:LVFRQVLQ  
$SSOHWRQ:LVFRQVLQ  
'RGJH&HQWHU0LQQHVRWD  
'H[WHU0LQQHVRWD  
%UDGHQWRQ)ORULGD  
(PPHORRUG+ROODQG  
.HZDXQHH:LVFRQVLQ  
*UHHQFDVWOH3HQQV\OYDQLD  
5LFHYLOOH,RZD  
%UHVFLD,WDO\  
*RVKHQ,QGLDQD  
0DDUKHH]H+ROODQG  
%ORPVWHUPDOD6ZHGHQ  
.DOPDU6ZHGHQ  
:KLWH3LJHRQ0LFKLJDQ  
.HQVHWW,RZD  
0F,QWLUH,RZD  
%ODLU1HEUDVND  
$XGXERQ,RZD  
/RQGRQ&DQDGD  
:H\DXZHJD:LVFRQVLQ  
2QWDULR&DOLIRUQLD  
9LOOD5LFD*HRUJLD  
&ROWRQ&DOLIRUQLD  
/ODQWULVDQW8QLWHG.LQJGRP  
0HGLDV5RPDQLD  
*DUQHU,RZD  
:HVWERURXJK0DVVDFKXVHWWV  
&DOXPHW&LW\,OOLQRLV  
+DUYH\,OOLQRLV  
2XG%HLMHUODQG+ROODQG  
&OHDUZDWHU)ORULGD  
5LYHUVLGH&DOLIRUQLD  

Approximate
Square Footage
Principal
Owned
Leased
Products Manufactured

 'HIHQVH7UXFNV)URQW'LVFKDUJH0L[HUV6QRZ
5HPRYDO9HKLFOHV$5))9HKLFOHV

)LUH$SSDUDWXV

 Rear'LVFKDUJH0L[HUV5HIXVH9HKLFOH%RGLHV
3RUWDEOH%DWFK3ODQWV
 5HYROXWLRQ&RPSRVLWH&RQFUHWH0L[HU'UXPV

)LUH$SSDUDWXV$PEXODQFHV

5HIXVH9HKLFOH%RGLHV

$HULDO'HYLFHVDQG+HDY\6WHHO)DEULFDWLRQ

 &DUULHUVDQG:UHFNHUV

&RPSRQHQWVIRU5HDU'LVFKDUJH0L[HUV&RQFUHWH
%DWFK3ODQWVDQG5HIXVH9HKLFOH%RGLHV

 )LUH$SSDUDWXV$5))9HKLFOHV

$PEXODQFHV

0RELOHDQG6WDWLRQDU\&RPSDFWRUV5HIXVH7UDQVIHU
6WDWLRQVDQG&RPSDFWRUV
 5HIXVH9HKLFOH%RGLHV
 3DLQWIDFLOLW\IRU5HIXVH9HKLFOH%RGLHV

$PEXODQFHV

5HIXVH%RG\&RPSRQHQWV

&RPSRQHQWVIRU5HDU'LVFKDUJH0L[HUVDQG5HIXVH
9HKLFOH%RGLHV

 &RQFUHWH%DWFK3ODQWV

&RPSRQHQWVIRU&RQFUHWH%DWFK3ODQWV
 5HDU'LVFKDUJH0L[HUV

5HIXUELVKHG)LUH$SSDUDWXV
 5HIXUELVKHG)LUH$SSDUDWXV
 5HSODFHPHQW'UXPVIRU5HDU'LVFKDUJH0L[HUV

5HSODFHPHQW'UXPVIRU5HDU'LVFKDUJH0L[HUV

5HIXVH9HKLFOH%RGLHV
 5HIXVH9HKLFOH%RGLHV

)LHOG6HUYLFH9HKLFOHVDQG$UWLFXODWLQJ&UDQHV
 )LHOG6HUYLFH9HKLFOHVDQG$UWLFXODWLQJ&UDQHV

0RELOH0HGLFDO7UDLOHUV

0RELOH0HGLFDO7UDLOHUV
 0RELOH0HGLFDO7UDLOHUV
 %URDGFDVW(TXLSPHQW
 &RPPDQG9HKLFOHV


7KH&RPSDQ\¶VPDQXIDFWXULQJIDFLOLWLHVJHQHUDOO\RSHUDWHILYHGD\VSHUZHHNRQRQHRUWZRVKLIWVH[FHSWIRUVHDVRQDO
VKXWGRZQV IRU RQH WR WKUHH ZHHN SHULRGV  0DQDJHPHQW EHOLHYHV WKH &RPSDQ\¶V PDQXIDFWXULQJ FDSDFLW\ FRXOG EH
VLJQLILFDQWO\LQFUHDVHGZLWKOLPLWHGFDSLWDOVSHQGLQJE\ZRUNLQJDQDGGLWLRQDOVKLIWDWHDFKIDFLOLW\
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In addition, the Company performs contract maintenance services out of multiple warehousing and service facilities
owned and/or operated by the U.S. government and third parties, including locations in the United States, Japan, Kuwait,
Iraq, and multiple other countries in Europe and the Middle East.

,QDGGLWLRQWRVDOHVDQGVHUYLFHDFWLYLWLHVDWWKH&RPSDQ\¶VPDQXIDFWXULQJIDFLOLWLHVWKH&RPSDQ\PDLQWDLQVVDOHVDQG
service centers in the United States. The Company owns such facilities in Commerce City, Colorado; Villa Rica, Georgia;
Hutchins, Texas; Morgantown, Pennsylvania; and Gahanna, Ohio. The Company leases such facilities in Stockton,
California; East Puyallup, Washington; Salt Lake City, Utah; Sugar Grove, Illinois; Fairfield, Ohio; East Granby,
Connecticut; Houston, Texas; Fort Wayne, Indiana; Lakeland, Florida; Grand Rapids, Michigan; Milwaukee, Wisconsin;
Phoenix, Arizona; and Buffalo, New York. These facilities range in size from approximately 3,000 square feet to
approximately 37,000 square feet and are used primarily for sales and service of concrete mixers and refuse bodies. The
Company leases approximately 20,000 square feet in Las Vegas, Nevada for mounting carriers and wreckers.
In addition to sales and service activities at the GeesinN 1RUED *URXS¶V PDQXIDFWXULQJ IDFLOLWLHV WKH *HHVLQN 1RUED
*URXSPDLQWDLQVVDOHVDQGVHUYLFHFHQWers in Europe. The Geesink Norba Group owns such facilities in St. Albans, UK
and Karlslunde, Denmark; and leases facilities in London, Lancaster, Reading, and Oldham, UK; Paris and Mions, France;
Hunxe, Germany; Pabianice, Poland; Milan, Italy; Vallentuna, Sweden; Amsterdam, Duiven, and Emmeloord, The
1HWKHUODQGVDQG0DGULG6HYLOOHDQG%DUFHORQD6SDLQ7KHVHIDFLOLWLHVUDQJHLQVL]HIURPDSSUR[LPDWHO\VTXDUHIHHW
to 25,000 square feet.

ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As part of its routine business operations, the Company disposes of and recycles or reclaims certain industrial waste
materials, chemicals and solvents at third party disposal and recycling facilities which are licensed by appropriate
governmental agencies. In some instances, these facilities have been and may be designated by the United States
(QYLURQPHQWDO 3URWHFWLRQ $JHQF\ ³(3$´  or a state environmental agency for remediation. Under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act and similar state lawsHDFKSRWHQWLDOO\UHVSRQVLEOHSDUW\ ³353´ 
that contributed hazardous substances may be jointly and severally liable for the costs associated with cleaning up the sites.
Typically, PRPs negotiate a resolution with the EPA and/or the state environmental agencies. PRPs also negotiate with each
other regarding allocation of the cleanup cost. The Company has been named a PRP with regard to three multiple-party sites.
Based on current estimates, the Company believes its liability at these sites will not be material and any responsibility of the
Company is adequately covered through established reserves.

7KH &RPSDQ\ LV DGGUHVVLQJ D UHJLRQDO WULFKORURHWK\OHQH ³7&(´  JURXQGZDWHU SOXPH RQ WKH VRXWK VLGH RI 2VKNRVK
:LVFRQVLQ7KH&RPSDQ\EHOLHYHVWKHUHPD\EHPXOWLSOHVRXUFHVRI7&(LQWKHDUHD7&(ZDVGHWHFWHGDWWKH&RPSDQ\¶V
North Plant facility with testing showing the highest concentrations in a monitoring well located near the upgradient property
line. Because the investigation process is still ongoing, it is not possible for the Company to estimate its long-term total
liability associated with this issue at this time. Also, as part of the regional TCE groundwater investigation, the Company
conducted a groundwater investigation of a former landfill located on Company property. The landfill, acquired by the
&RPSDQ\LQLVDSSUR[LPDWHO\DFUHVLQVL]HDQGLVEHOLHYHGWRKDYHEHHQXVHGIRUWKHGLVSRVDORIKRXVHKROGZDVWH
Based on the investigation, the Company does not believe the landfill is one of the sources of the TCE contamination. Based
upon current knowledge, the Company believes its liability associated with the TCE issue will not be material and is
adequately covered through reserves established by the Company. However, this may change as investigations proceed by
the Company, other unrelated property owners, and the government.
The Company has identified potential soil and groundwater contamination impacts from solvents and/or metals at three
RILWVPDQXIDFWXULQJVLWHVUHODWHGWRWKH*HHVLQN1RUED*URXS'XULQJWKHIRXUWKTXDUWHURIILVFDOVWXGLHVRIWKHVHVLWHs
were completed. The results from two of the sites indicated that no further action was necessary. Based on the study of the
third site, the Company reached an agreement with the environmental authorities that no further action was necessary for a
portion of the site. The Company is conducting an evaluation of the remaining portion of the site to identify if any action is
required. Based on current estimates, the Company believes its liability at these sites will not be material and any
responsibility of the Company is adequately covered through reserves established by the Company.
The Company had reserves of $5.2 million for environmental PDWWHUVDW6HSWHPEHUfor losses that are probable
and estimable. The amount recorded for identified contingent liabilities is based on estimates. Amounts recorded are
reviewed periodically and adjusted to reflect additional technical and legal information that becomes available. Actual costs
to be incurred in future periods may vary from the estimates, given the inherent uncertainties in evaluating certain exposures.
Subject to the imprecision in estimating future contingent liability costs, the Company does not expect that any sum it may
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have to pay in connection with these matters in excess of the amounts recorded will have a materially adverse effect on its
financial position, results of operations or liquidity.
The Company is subject to other environmental matters and legal proceedings and claims, including patent, antitrust,
product liability, warranty and state dealership regulation compliance proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of
EXVLQHVV,Q0D\$UPRU+ROGLQJV,QF ³$UPRU+ROGLQJV´ DQQRXQFHGWKDWLWZDVFRQVLGHULQJILOLQJDODZVXLWDJDLQVW
the Company alleging, among other things, that the Company tortiously interfered with a merger agreement between Armor
Holdings and Stewart & Stevenson Services, Inc. The Company believes that any such potential claim is without merit and
intends to vigorously defend any such action should it be filed. Although the final results of all such matters and claims
cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that the ultimate resolution of all such matters and claims will not
KDYHDPDWHULDODGYHUVHHIIHFWRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOFRQGLWLRn, results of operations or cash flows. Actual results could
vary, among other things, due to the uncertainties involved in litigation.
At September 30, 2006, the Company had available warranty reserves of $56.9 million and product and general liability
reserves of $14.2 million. See Notes 9 and 18 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Although the final results
of all such matters and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that the ultimate resolution of all such
matters and claims, after taking into account the liabilities accrued with respect to all such matters and claims of $71.1
million at September 30, 2006, will not have a material adversHHIIHFWRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFRQVROLGDWHGILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
Actual results could vary, among other things, due to the uncertainties involved in litigation.

ITEM 4.

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the three months ended September 30, 2006.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
The following table sets forth certaiQ LQIRUPDWLRQ DVRI1RYHPEHU FRQFHUQLQJ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V H[HFXWLYH
officers. All of the Compan\¶VRIILFHUVVHUYHWHUPVRIRQH\HDUDQGXQtil their successors are elected and qualified.
Name
Robert G. Bohn.................
Bryan J. Blankfield ...........
Thomas D. Fenner ............
Joseph H. Kimmitt............
Mark A. Meaders..............
John W. Randjelovic.........
William J. Stoddart ...........
Charles L. Szews ..............
Donald H. Verhoff............
Michael J. Wuest ..............
Matthew J. Zolnowski ......

Age
53
45
50
56
48
62
61
49
60
47
53

Title.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Vice President, Chief Procurement Officer and General Manager Airport Business
Executive Vice President, Government Operations and Industry Relations
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, Pierce Manufacturing Inc.
Executive Vice President and President, Pierce Manufacturing Inc.
Executive Vice President and President, Defense Business
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Executive Vice President, Technology
Executive Vice President and President, McNeilus Companies, Inc.
Executive Vice President, Chief Administration Officer

Robert G. Bohn. Mr. Bohn joined the Company in 1992 as Vice President-Operations. He was appointed President and
Chief Operating Officer in 1994. He was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer in October 1997 and Chairman of
the Board in January 2000. Mr. Bohn was elected a Director of the Company in June 1995. He is a director of Graco, Inc.
and Menasha Corporation.
Bryan J. Blankfield. Mr. Blankfield joined the Company in June 2002 as Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
and was appointed to his current position in February 2003. He previously served as in-house legal counsel and consultant
for Waste Management, Inc., a waste services company, and its predecessors from 1990 to 2002. He was appointed
Associate General Counsel and Assistant Secretary of Waste Management, Inc. in 1995 and Vice President in 1998.
Thomas D. Fenner. Mr. Fenner joined the Company in January 1982 as a scheduler and has served in various
DVVLJQPHQWV LQFOXGLQJ 3ODQW 0DQDJHU 9LFH 3UHVLGHQW ± 0DQXIDFWXULQJ RI 0F1HLOXV 9LFH 3UHVLGHQW ± 0DQXIDFWXULQJ
Operations and Vice President and General Manager of Operations of Pierce Manufacturing Inc. Mr. Fenner was appointed
to his present position in May 2004.
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Joseph H. Kimmitt. Mr. Kimmitt joined the Company in June 2001 as Vice President, Government Operations and was
appointed to his current position in September 2006. He previously served as a Professional Staff Member of the U.S. House
and Senate Appropriations Committees from 1984 to 2001. He was appointed Deputy Staff Director of the Senate
Appropriations Committee in 1997.
Mark A. Meaders. Mr. Meaders joined Pierce Manufacturing Inc. in September 1996 as Purchasing Manager and has
served in various assignments, including Vice President Operations and Corporate Purchasing, Materials and Logistics,
Executive Vice President and General Manager of European Operations and Executive Vice President, Marketing, Sales and
Dealer Distribution, Pierce Manufacturing Inc. Mr. Meaders was appointed to his current position in July 2004.
John W. Randjelovic. Mr. Randjelovic joined the Company in October 1992 as Vice President and General Manager in
charge of the Bradenton, Florida Division. In September 1996, he was appointed Vice President of Manufacturing,
Purchasing and Materials for Pierce. In October 1997, Mr. Randjelovic was appointed Vice President and General Manager,
Pierce Manufacturing Inc. and was appointed to his current position in February 1999.
William J. Stoddart0U6WRGGDUWMRLQHGWKH&RPSDQ\¶V'HIHQVHXQLWLQ6HSWHPEHUDV*HQHUDO0DQDJHU0HGLXP
Vehicles. In January 1999, he was appointed Vice President, Defense Programs and he was appointed to his present position
in October 2001.
Charles L. Szews. Mr. Szews joined the Company in March 1996 as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and he
was appointed to his present position in October 1997.
Donald H. Verhoff. Mr. Verhoff joined the Company in May 1973 and has served in various assignments, including
Director Test and Development/New Product Development, Director Corporate Engineering and Vice President of
Technology. Mr. Verhoff was appointed to his present position in September 1998.
Michael J. Wuest. Mr. Wuest joined the Company in November 1981 as an analyst and has served in various
assignments, including Senior Buyer, Director of Purchasing, Vice President - Manufacturing Operations, Vice President and
General Manager of Operations of Pierce Manufacturing Inc. and Executive Vice President, Chief Procurement Officer and
General Manager, Airport Business. Mr. Wuest was appointed to his present position in May 2004.
Matthew J. Zolnowski. Mr. Zolnowski joined the Company as Vice President-Human Resources in January 1992, was
appointed Vice President, Administration in February 1994 and was appointed to his present position in February 1999.
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The information relating to dividends included in Notes 13 and 21 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
contained herein under Item 8 and the information relating to dividends per share contained herein under Item 6 are hereby
incorporated by reference in answer to this item.

,Q-XO\WKH&RPSDQ\¶V%RDUGRI'LUHFWRUVDXWKRUL]HGWKHUHSXUFKDVHRIXSWRVKDUHVRI&RPPRQ6WRFN
7KH &RPSDQ\ GLG QRW UHSXUFKDVH DQ\ VKDUHV XQGHU WKLV DXWKRUL]DWLRQ GXULQJ ILVFDO   $V RI 6HSWHPEHU   WKH
&RPSDQ\KDGUHSXUFKDVHGVKDUHVXQGHUWKLVSURJUDPDWDFRVWRIPLOOLRQOHDYLQJWKH&RPSDQ\ZLWKDXWKRULW\
WRUHSXUFKDVHVKDUHVRI&RPPRQ6WRFNXQGHUWKLVSURJUDP7KHDXWKRUL]DWLRQGRHVQRWH[SLUH
'LYLGHQGVDQG&RPPRQ6WRFN3ULFH
'XULQJILVFDOWKH%RDUGRI'LUHFWRUVRIWKH&RPSDQ\LQFUHDVHGWKHTXDUWHUO\ dividend rate twice, resulting in an
LQFUHDVHLQWKHGLYLGHQGIURPSHUVKDUHRI&RPPRQ6WRFNWRSHUVKDUH2Q-DQXDU\WKH%RDUG
RI'LUHFWRUVRIWKH&RPSDQ\LQFUHDVHGWKHTXDUWHUO\GLYLGHQGUDWHIURPSHUVKDUHRI&RPPRQ6WRFNWRSHU
share.
,WLVWKH&RPSDQ\¶VLQWHQWLRQWRGHFODUHDQGSD\GLYLGHQGVRQDUHJXODUEDVLV+RZHYHUWKHSD\PHQWRIIXWXUHGLYLGHQGV
LVDWWKHGLVFUHWLRQRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶V%RDUGRI'LUHFWRUVDQGwill depend upon, among other things, future earnings, capital
UHTXLUHPHQWV WKH &RPSDQ\¶V JHQHUDO ILQDQFLDO FRQGLWLRQ JHQHral business conditions and other factors. The agreements
JRYHUQLQJ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V UHYROYLQJ FUHGLW IDFLOLW\ GR QRW UHVWULFW WKH &RPSDQ\¶V DELOLW\ WR SD\ GLYLGHQGV RQ LWV FRPPRQ
VWRFNH[FHSWWKDWWKH\SURYLGHWKDWWKH&RPSDQ\PXVWPDLQWDLQDPLQLPXPQHWZRUWKRIPLOOLRQSOXVWKHQHWSURFHHGV
RI DOO HTXLW\ LVVXDQFHV DQG  RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V SRVLWLYH QHW LQFRPH  )XUWKHU WKHVH EDQN DJUHHPHQWV SURYLGH WKDW WKH
&RPSDQ\¶VOHYHUDJHUDWLR DVGHILQHG VKDOOQRWH[FHHGWRDQGWKDWWKH&RPSDQ\VKDOOQRWSHUPLWLWVGRPHVWLFHDUQLQJV
EHIRUHLQWHUHVWWD[HVGHSUHFLDWLRQDQGDPRUWL]DWLRQ DVGHILQHG WREHOHVVWKDQPLOOLRQ

$VVXPLQJ FRPSOHWLRQ RI WKH SHQGLQJ -/* DFTXLVLWLRQ WKH &RPSDQ\ H[SHFWV RQO\ WR PDNH PRGHVW FKDQJHV WR LWV
GLYLGHQG SUDFWLFHV LI DQ\ XQWLO LW DGHTXDWHO\ UHGXFHV GHEW IROORZLQJ WKH DFTXLVLWLRQ  ,Q FRQMXQFWLRQ ZLWK WKH SODQQHG
DFTXLVLWLRQRI-/*WKH&RPSDQ\LQWHQGVWRHQWHULQWRDQHZVHQLRUVHFXUHGFUHGLWIDFLOLW\WRIXQGWKH-/*DFTXLVLWLRQWKDW
ZLOO IXUWKHU UHVWULFW WKH &RPSDQ\¶V DELOLW\ WR SD\ GLYLGHQGV WKURXJK WLJKWHU ILQDQFLDO FRYHQDQWV  6HH ³0DQDJHPHQW¶V
'LVFXVVLRQ DQG $QDO\VLV RI )LQDQFLDO &RQGLWLRQ DQG 5HVXOWV RI 2SHUDWLRQV ± /LTXLGLW\ DQG &DSLWDO 5HVRXUFHV´ IRU D
description of these covenants.

7KH&RPPRQ6WRFNLVOLVWHGRQWKH1HZ<RUN6WRFN([FKDQJH ³1<6(´ XQGHUWKHV\PERO26.$VRI1RYHPEHU
WKHUHZHUHKROGHUVRIUHFRUGRIWKH&RPPRQ6WRFN7KHIROORZLQJWDEOHVHWVIRUWKSULFHVUHIOHFWLQJDFWXDOVDOHVRI
WKH&RPPRQ6WRFNDVUHSRUWHGRQWKH1<6(

4XDUWHU(QGHG
6HSWHPEHU
-XQH
0DUFK
'HFHPEHU
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ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Fiscal Year
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Net sales
Operating income
Net income (1)
Per share assuming dilution
Dividends per share:

(1)

Class A Common Stock (2)
Common Stock
Total assets
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment
Depreciation
Amortization of goodwill, purchased intangible
assets, deferred financing costs and
stock-based compensation
Net working capital (deficit) (3) (4) (5) (6)
Long-term debt (including current maturities) (7)
Shareholders' equity
Book value per share
Backlog

2006 (4)
$ 3,427,388
325,928

2005 (5) (8) (9)
$ 2,959,900
267,202

2004 (6) (8) (9)
$ 2,262,305
180,410

2003 (8) (9)
$ 1,926,010
129,199

2002 (8) (9)
$ 1,743,592
111,118

205,529

160,205

112,806

75,620

59,598

2.76

2.18

1.57

1.08

0.86

0.3675
2,110,908
56,020
28,832

0.0750
0.2213
1,718,303
43,174
23,750

0.1250
0.1450
1,452,414
29,950
19,632

0.0875
0.1006
1,083,132
24,673
18,333

0.0750
0.0863
1,024,329
15,619
17,527

19,756

10,949

8,329

7,787

7,865

121,320

178,845

31,026

(1,436)

33,964

2,859
1,061,905
14.40
1,914,000

3,149
818,670
11.16
1,944,000

3,851
636,093
9.00
1,551,000

1,735
518,863
7.44
1,205,000

149,958
409,760
6.03
908,000

(1)

Fiscal 2003 results included a $3,945 after-tax charge ($0.06 per share) related to the payment of the call premium and
related costs and the write-off of capitalized deferred financing costs due to the September 19, 2003 early retirement of
WKH&RPSDQ\¶VRIôVHQLRUVXERUGLQDWHGQRWHVGXH0DUFK)LVFDOUHVXOWVDOVRLQFOXGHGD
reduction in income tax expense and corresponding increase in net income and related per share amounts ($0.05 per
share) as a result of the September 2003 favorable settlement of an income tax audit covering fiscal 1999 through 2001.

(2)

,Q 0D\  D VXIILFLHQW QXPEHU RI VKDUHKROGHUV RI XQOLVWHG &ODVV $ &RPPRQ 6WRFN FRQYHUWHG WKHLU VKDUHV WR 1HZ
<RUN6WRFN([FKDQJH±OLVWHG&RPPRQ6WRFNRQDVKDUHIRUVKDUHEDVLVZKLFKUHVXOWHGLQWKHUHPDLQLQJ&ODVV$VKDUHV
automatically converting into shares of Common Stock on the same basis. As a result of this conversion to a single class
of stock, shares of Common Stock that previously had limited voting rights now carry full voting rights.

(3)

,QILVFDOWKH&RPSDQ\SUHSDLGLWVRIôVHQLRUVXERUGLQDWHGQRWHVGXH0DUFKZLWKERUURZLQJV
under its bank credit facility and from available cash. Fiscal 2002 cash from operating activities, including an $86,300
performance-based payment received on September 30, 2002 onWKH&RPSDQ\¶V0795FRQWUDFWZDVSULQFLSDOO\XVHGWR
prepay long-term debt. See (7).

(4)

On July 31, 2006, the Company acquired all of the equity interests of AK for $142,049 in cash. On August 14, 2006, the
&RPSDQ\ DFTXLUHG IRU  LQ FDVK DOO RI WKH LVVXHG DQG RXWVWDQGLQJ FDSLWDO VWRFN RI ,07  $PRXQWV LQFOXGH
acquisition costs and are net of cash acquired. Fiscal 2006 results included sales of $32,406 and operating income of
 UHODWHG WR $. DQG ,07 IROORZLQJ WKHLU DFTXLVLWLRQ UHspectively. See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

(5)

On November 1, 2004, the Company acquired for $19,912 in cash all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of
&21(&2  2Q 0DUFK   WKH &RPSDQ\ DFTXLUHG IRU  LQ FDVK DOO RI WKH LVVXHG DQG RXWVWDQGLQJ FDSLWDO
stock of London. Amounts include acquisition costs and are net of cash acquired. Fiscal 2006 and 2005 results included
sales of $98,378 and $54,545 and operating income of $9,379 and $2,371, respectively, related to CON-E-CO and
London following their acquisition. See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(6)

On July 8, 2004, the Company acquired for $79,854 in cash all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of JerrDan.
2Q-XO\WKH&RPSDQ\DFTXLUHGIRU¼  LQFDVKSOXVGHEWDVVXPHGRI¼  RI
the outstanding quotas (ownership interests) of BAI. Amounts include acquisition costs and are net of cash acquired.
Fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 results included sales of $183,652, $174,731 and $35,408 and operating income of $16,308,
$13,009 and $1,189, respectively, related to JerrDan and BAI following their acquisition.
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(7)

In fiscal 2002, the Company prepaid $6,000 of its term loan A and $126,250 of its term loan B from cash generated from
operating activities. See (3).

(8)

In fiscal 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
6WDQGDUGV ³6)$6´  1R  UHYLVHG   ³6KDUHí%DVHG 3D\PHQW´ UHTXLULQJ WKH &RPSDQ\ WR UHFRJQL]H H[SHQVH
UHODWHGWRWKHIDLUYDOXHRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VVWRFNíEDVHGFRPSHQVDWLRQDZDUGV+DG6)$61R 5 EHHQLQHIIHFWIRU
WKH HDUOLHVW SHULRG SUHVHQWHG UHVXOWV ZRXOG KDYH EHHQ DV IROORZV IRU ILVFDO    DQG  UHVSHFWLYHO\
RSHUDWLQJ LQFRPH     DQG  QHW LQFRPH     DQG
QHWLQFRPHSHUVKDUHDVVXPLQJGLOXWLRQDQG

(9)

,QILVFDODQGWKH&RPSDQ\UHFRUGHG cumulative life-to-date adjustments to increase the overall
PDUJLQ SHUFHQWDJH RQ WKH 0795 EDVH FRQWUDFW E\   1.2 and 1.0 percentage points, respectively, as a result of
contract modifications and favorable cost performance compared to previous estimates. These changes in estimates,
recorded as cumulative life-to-date adjustments, increased operating income, net income and net income per share by
DQGLQILVFDODQGLQILVFDODQGLQILVFDO
 DQG  DQG  LQ ILVFDO  UHVSHFWLYHO\ LQFOXGLQJ DQG LQ ILVFDO
  DQG  LQ ILVFDO    and $0.05 in fiscal 2003 and $1,700, $1,000 and $0.02 in
2002, respectively, relating to prior year revenues.

,7(0 0$1$*(0(17¶6 ',6&866,21 $1' $1$/<6,6 2) ),1$1&,$/ &21',7,21 $1' 5(68/76
2)23(5$7,216
General
The Company is a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of a wide range of specialty vehicles and vehicle bodies,
LQFOXGLQJ ILUH DQG HPHUJHQF\ YHKLFOHV GHIHQVH WUXFNV DQG FRQFUHWH PL[HUV DQG UHIXVH ERGLHV  8QGHU WKH ³3LHUFH´ EUDQG
name, the Company is among the leading domestic manufacturers of fire apparatus assembled on both custom and
FRPPHUFLDOFKDVVLV8QGHUWKH³-HUU'DQ´EUDQGQDPHWKH&RPSDQ\LVDOHDGLQJdomestic manufacturer and marketer of
WRZLQJ DQG UHFRYHU\ HTXLSPHQW  8QGHU WKH ³%$,´ EUDQG QDme, the Company is a manufacturer and marketer of fire
apparatus, aircraft rescue and firefighting vehicles and equipment to municiSDOLWLHV DQG DLUSRUWV LQ ,WDO\ DQG H[SRUWV LQWR
(XURSH WKH 0LGGOH (DVW DQG 1RUWK $IULFD The Company manufactures aircraft rescue and firefighting and airport snow
UHPRYDO YHKLFOHV XQGHU WKH ³2VKNRVK´ EUDQG QDPH DQG DPEXODQFHV XQGHU WKH ³0HGWHF´ EUDQG QDPH  7KH &RPSDQ\
PDQXIDFWXUHVPRELOHPHGLFDOWUDLOHUVXQGHUWKH³$.6SHFLDOW\9HKLFOHV´DQG³60,7´EUDQGQDPHV8QGHUWKH³)URQWOLQH´
brand name, the Company is a leading domestic manufacturer and marketer of broadcast vehicles. The Company also
PDQXIDFWXUHVGHIHQVHWUXFNVXQGHUWKH³2VKNRVK´EUDQGQDPHDQGLVWKHOHDGLQJPDQXIDFWXUHURIVHYHUHGXW\KHDY\SD\ORDG
WDFWLFDO WUXFNV IRU WKH 'R' 8QGHU WKH ³0F1HLOXV´ ³2VKNRVK´ ³/RQGRQ´ DQG ³&21(&2´ EUDQG QDPHV WKH &RPSDQ\
PDQXIDFWXUHV UHDU DQG IURQWGLVFKDUJH FRQFUHWH PL[HUV DQG SRUWDEOH DQG VWDWLRQDU\ FRQFUHWH EDWFK SODQWV  8QGHU WKH
³0F1HLOXV´³*HHVLQN´³1RUED´DQG³.LJJHQ´EUDQGQDPHVWKe Company manufactures a wide range of automated, rear,
front, side and top loading refuse vehicle bodies and mobile and stationary refuse compactors and transfer systems. Under
WKH³,07´EUDQGQDPHWKH&RPSDQ\LVDOHDGLQJGRPHVWLFPDQXIDFWXUHURIILHOGVHUYLFHYHKLFOHVDQGWUXFNPRXQWHGFUDQHV
Major products manufactured and maUNHWHGE\HDFKRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶Vbusiness segments are as follows:

)LUH DQG HPHUJHQF\ ± FRPPHUFLDO DQG FXVWRP ILUH YHKLFOHV and equipment, aircraft rescue and firefighting vehicles,
snow removal vehicles, ambulances, wreckers, carriers and other emergency vehicles primarily sold to fire departments,
DLUSRUWVRWKHUJRYHUQPHQWDOXQLWVDQGWRZLQJFRPSDQLHVLQWKH86DQGDEURDGPRELOHPHGLFDOWUDLOHUVVROGWRKRVSLWDOVDQG
WKLUGSDUW\PHGLFDOVHUYLFHSURYLGHUVLQWKH86DQG(XURSHDQGEURDGFDVWYHKLFOHVVROGWREURDGFDVWHUVDQG79VWDWLRQVLQ
1RUWK$PHULFDDQGDEURDG

'HIHQVH±KHDY\DQGPHGLXPSD\ORDGWDFWLFDOWUXFNVDQGVXSSO\SDUWVDQGVHUYLFHVVROGWRWKH86PLOLWDU\DQGWRRWKHU
militaries around the world.

&RPPHUFLDO±FRQFUHWHPL[HUV\VWHPVUHIXVHYHKLFOHERGLHV, mobile and stationary compactors and waste transfer units,
SRUWDEOH DQG VWDWLRQDU\ FRQFUHWH EDWFK SODQWV DQG YHKLFOH FRPSRQHQWV VROG WR UHDG\PL[ FRPSDQLHV DQG FRPPHUFLDO DQG
PXQLFLSDO ZDVWH KDXOHUV LQ 1RUWK $PHULFD (XURSH DQG RWKHU LQWHUQDWLRQDO PDUNHWV DQG ILHOG VHUYLFH YHKLFOHV DQG WUXFN
PRXQWHGFUDQHVVROGWRPLQLQJDQGFRQVWUXFWLRQFRPSDQLHVLQWKH86DQGDEURDG

$OO HVWLPDWHV UHIHUUHG WR LQ WKLV ³0DQDJHPHQW¶V 'LVFXVVLRQ DQG $QDO\VLV RI )LQDQFLDO &RQGLWLRQ DQG 5HVXOWV RI
2SHUDWLRQV´ UHIHU WR WKH &RPSDQ\¶V HVWLPDWHV DV RI 2FWREHU   ZKHQ WKH &RPSDQ\ FRQGXFWHG D FRQIHUHQFH FDOO LQ
FRQQHFWLRQ ZLWK LWV DQQRXQFHPHQW RI LWV HDUQLQJV IRU WKH IRXUWK TXDUWHU DQG ILVFDO \HDU HQGHG 6HSWHPEHU   DQG LWV
UHYLVHGRXWORRNIRUILVFDO
Acquisition History

6LQFHWKH&RPSDQ\KDVVHOHFWLYHO\SXUVXHGVWUDWHJLFDFTXLVLWLRQVWRHQKDQFHLWVSURGXFWRIIHULQJVDQGGLYHUVLI\LWV
business. The Company has focused its acquisition strategy on providing a full range of products to customers in specialty
vehicle and body markets that are growing and where it can develop strong market positions and achieve acquisition
V\QHUJLHV,GHQWLILHGEHORZLVLQIRUPDWLRQZLWKUHVSHFWWRWKese acquisitions, all of which have been accounted for using the
SXUFKDVHPHWKRGRIDFFRXQWLQJDQGKDYHEHHQLQFOXGHGLQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVIURPWKHGDWHRIDFTXLVLWLRQ

2Q 6HSWHPEHU   WKH &RPSDQ\ DFTXLUHG IRU FDVK DOO RI WKH LVVXHG DQG RXWVWDQGLQJ FDSLWDO VWRFN RI 3LHUFH IRU
PLOOLRQLQFOXGLQJDFTXLVLWLRQFRVWVDQGQHWRIFDVKDFTXLred. The acquisition was financed from borrowings under a
SUHYLRXVEDQNFUHGLWIDFLOLW\3LHUFHLVDOHDGLQJPDQXIDFWXUHUand marketer of fire vehicles and other emergency apparatus.

2Q 'HFHPEHU   3LHUFH DFTXLUHG FHrtain inventory, machinery and equipment, and intangible assets of Nova
4XLQWHFKDGLYLVLRQRI1RYD%XV&RUSRUDWLRQIRUPLOOLRQ1RYD4XLQWHFKZDVHQJDJHGLQWKHPDQXIDFWXUHDQGVDOHRI
aerial devices for fire trucks.
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On February 26, 1998, the Company acquired for cash all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of McNeilus and
entered into related non-compete and ancillary agreements for $217.6 million, including acquisition costs and net of cash
acquired. McNeilus is a leading manufacturer and marketer of rear-discharge concrete mixers and portable concrete batch
plants for the concrete placement industry and refuse vehicle bodies for the waste services industry in the U.S. The
acquisition was financed from borrowings under a previous senior credit facility and the issuance of senior subordinated
notes. The senior subordinated notes were retired in fiscal 2003.
On November 1, 1999, the Company acquired the manufacturing assets of Kewaunee for $5.5 million in cash plus the
assumption of certain liabilities aggregating $2.2 million. KeZDXQHH PDQXIDFWXUHV DOO RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶VUHTXLUHPHQWV IRU
aerial devices in its fire and emergency segment.
On April 28, 2000, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Viking, a distributor of frontdischarge concrete mixers, for $1.7 million, including acquisition costs and net of cash acquired.
On October 30, 2000, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Medtec and an affiliate
and certain related assets for $14.5 million in cash, including acquisition costs and net of cash acquired. Medtec is a U.S.
manufacturer of custom ambulances. The acquisition was financed from available cash and borrowings under a previous
senior credit facility.
On March 6, 2001, the Company acquired certain machinery and equipment, parts inventory and certain intangible assets
from TEMCO, a division of Dallas-based Trinity Industries, Inc. TEMCO, a manufacturer of concrete mixers, batch plants
and concrete mixer parts, had discontinued its business. Consideration for the purchase was valued at $15.7 million and
included cash of $8.1 million and credits to the seller valued at $7.6 million for future purchase of certain concrete placement
products from the Company over the next six years. The acquisition was financed from borrowings under a previous senior
credit facility.
On July 25, 2001, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of the Geesink Norba Group for $137.6
million, including acquisition costs, and net of cash acquired. The Geesink Norba Group is a leading European manufacturer
of refuse collection vehicle bodies, mobile and stationary compactors and transfer stations. The acquisition was financed
from the proceeds of a term loan under a previous senior credit facility.
On July 8, 2004, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of JerrDan for $79.9 million,
including acquisition costs and net of cash acquired. JerrDan is a leading manufacturer and marketer of towing and recovery
equipment in the U.S. The acquisition was financed from borrowings under a previous senior credit facility.

2Q-XO\WKH&RPSDQ\DFTXLUHGRIWKHRXWVWDQGLQJTXRWDV RZQHUVKLSLQWHUHVWV RI%$,IRU¼PLOOLRQ
($7.6 million) in cash, including acquisition costs and net of FDVK DFTXLUHG SOXV GHEW DVVXPHG RI ¼ PLOOLRQ 
million). BAI is a manufacturer and marketer of fire apparatus, aircraft rescue and firefighting vehicles and equipment to
municipalities and airports in Italy and exports into Europe, the Middle East and North Africa. The acquisition was financed
from borrowings under a previous senior credit facility.
On November 1, 2004, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of CON-E-CO for $19.9
million in cash, including post-closing working capital adjustments. CON-E-CO is a leading manufacturer and marketer of
portable and stationary concrete batch plants in the U.S. The acquisition was financed from borrowings under the
&RPSDQ\¶VUHYROYLQJFUHGLWIDFLOLW\
On March 9, 2005, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of London for $11.2 million, including
acquisition costs and net of cash acquired. London is a manufacturer and marketer of rear-discharge concrete mixers for the
concrete placement market with sales throughout the Americas. The acquisition was financed from available cash and
ERUURZLQJVXQGHUWKH&RPSDQ\¶VUHYROYLQJFUHGLWIDFLOLW\
On July 31, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the equity interests of AK for $142.0 million,
including acquisition costs and net of cash acquired. AK is a leading manufacturer of mobile medical, homeland security
command and communications, and broadcast vehicles with sales throughout the Americas and Europe. The acquisition was
financed from available cash.
On August 14, 2006, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of IMT for $130.8 million, including
acquisition costs and net of cash acquired. IMT is a leading North American manufacturer of field service vehicles and
truck-mounted articulating cranes for niche markets. The acquisition was financed from available cash and borrowings under
WKH&RPSDQ\¶VUHYROYLQJFUHGLWIDFLOLW\

54

Executive Overview

7KH &RPSDQ\¶V ILQDQFLDO SHUIRUPDQFH LQ ILVFDO  FRPSDUHG WR ILVFDO  DQG LWV H[SHFWDWLRQV IRU LWV ILQDQFLDO
SHUIRUPDQFHLQILVFDO\HDUIROORZ

6DOHV
2SHUDWLQJLQFRPH
1HWLQFRPH
(DUQLQJVSHUVKDUHDVVXPLQJGLOXWLRQ
(1)

3HUFHQWDJH,QFUHDVHYV3ULRU<HDU
)LVFDO
)LVFDO
(VWLPDWH(1)










&RPSDQ\HVWLPDWHVDVRI2FWREHU(VWLPDWHVDUHH[FOXVLYHRIWKHHVWLPDWHGLPSDFWRIDFTXLULQJ-/*


7KH&RPSDQ\H[SHULHQFHGVDOHVDQGRSHUDWLQJLQFRPHJURZWKLQDOOWKUHHRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VVHJPHQWVIRUILVFDODV
EXVLQHVV FRQGLWLRQV ZHUH IDYRUDEOH LQ DOO VHJPHQWV  7KHVH UHVXOWV ZHUH SDUWLDOO\ RIIVHW E\ VXEVWDQWLDOO\ KLJKHU FRUSRUDWH
H[SHQVHVUHODWHGWRKLJKHUDFTXLVLWLRQLQYHVWLJDWLRQDQGUHODWHGFRVWVDVWKH&RPSDQ\SXUVXHGDWUDQVIRUPDWLRQDODFTXLVLWLRQ
VWUDWHJ\KLJKHUSHUVRQQHOFRVWVLQFOXGLQJFRVWVUHODWHGWRWKHDGRSWLRQRI6)$61R 5 DQGFRVWVWRVWDUWXSDQRIILFHLQ
&KLQD

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VILUHDQGHPHUJHQF\VHJPHQWH[SHULHQFHGVDOHVJURZWKRILQILVFDODQGDQRSHUDWLQJLQFRPH
LQFUHDVHRI7KH&RPSDQ\EHOLHYHVWKDWPDUNHWVVHUYHGLQWKLVVHJPHQWH[KLELWHGVORZVWHDG\JURZWKLQILVFDO
DQGWKDWPDUNHWVKDUHJDLQVODUJHO\FRQWULEXWHGWRWKHGRXEOHGLJLWSHUFHQWDJHJURZWKLQVDOHVLQILVFDO

6LQFHWKHRQVHWRI2SHUDWLRQ,UDTL)UHHGRPLQLQFOXGLQJILVFDOWKH&RPSDQ\¶VGHIHQVHVHJPHQWKDVEHQHILWHG
VXEVWDQWLDOO\IURPLQFUHDVLQJ86'HSDUWPHQWRI'HIHQVH ³'R'´ UHTXLUHPHQWVIRUQHZWUXFNVSDUWVVHUYLFHDUPRULQJDQG
UHPDQXIDFWXULQJRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VGHIHQVHYHKLFOHVRSHUDWHGLQ,UDT'XULQJILVFDOWKH&RPSDQ\¶VGHIHQVHVHJPHQW
FRQWLQXHGWRRXWSHUIRUPWKHSULRU\HDUDVDUHVXOWRILQFUHDVLQJUHTXLUHPHQWVIRUKHDY\SD\ORDGDQGUHPDQXIDFWXUHGWUXFNV
ODUJHO\ DULVLQJ IURP FRQIOLFWV LQ ,UDT DQG $IJKDQLVWDQ  7KHVH IDFWRUV FDXVHG WKH &RPSDQ\¶V GHIHQVH VDOHV DQG RSHUDWLQJ
LQFRPHWRLQFUHDVHDQGUHVSHFWLYHO\GXULQJILVFDOFRPSDUHGWRWKHSULRU\HDU2SHUDWLQJLQFRPHPDUJLQV
LQILVFDOEHQHILWHGIURPDGMXVWPHQWVWRWDOLQJPLOOLRQUHODWHGWRDQLQFUHDVHLQWKHPDUJLQRQWKH0HGLXP7DFWLFDO
9HKLFOH5HSODFHPHQW ³0795´ EDVHFRQWUDFWDQGWKHUHFRYHU\RISUHFRQWUDFWFRVWVSUHYLRXVO\H[SHQVHGRQDQDUPRULQJ
FRQWUDFW7KHVHFRQWUDFWVZHUHFRQFOXGHGLQILVFDO

6DOHV LQ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V FRPPHUFLDO VHJPHQW LQFUHDVHG  LQ ILVFDO  DQG RSHUDWLQJ LQFRPH LQFUHDVHG 
7KHLQFUHDVHLQVDOHVZDVODUJHO\DWWULEXWDEOHWRVWURQJGHPDQGDWWKH&RPSDQ\¶V1RUWK$PHULFDQEXVLQHVVHVLQDGYDQFHRI
GLHVHOHQJLQHHPLVVLRQVVWDQGDUGVFKDQJHVHIIHFWLYH-DQXDU\IRUGLHVHOHQJLQHVLQWKHFODVVHVRIFKDVVLVWKH&RPSDQ\
VHOOVDQGRUXWLOL]HVIRUPRXQWLQJRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VYHKLFOHERGLHVDQGKLJKHUXQLWVDOHVDWWKH&RPSDQ\¶V(XURSHDQUHIXVH
EXVLQHVVRIIVHWLQSDUWE\DORZHUPL[RISDFNDJHVDOHVLQYROYLQJERWKDFRPPHUFLDOYHKLFOHFKDVVLVDQGYHKLFOHERG\7KH
LQFUHDVHLQRSHUDWLQJLQFRPHZDVSULPDULO\GULYHQE\KLJKHUXQLWYROXPHLPSURYHGSULFLQJDQGLPSURYHGSURGXFWPL[LQWKH
&RPSDQ\¶V1RUWK$PHULFDQRSHUDWLRQVDQGWKHUHWXUQWRSURILWDELOLW\RIWKH&RPSDQ\¶V(XURSHDQUHIXVHEXVLQHVVLQILVFDO
DVFRPSDUHGWRDQRSHUDWLQJORVVRIPLOOLRQLQWKHFRPSDUDEOHSHULRGLQWKHSULRU\HDU7KHSULRU\HDU¶VRSHUDWLQJ
ORVV LQFOXGHG D  PLOOLRQ FKDUJH IRU ZRUNIRUFH UHGXFWLRQV DW WKH &RPSDQ\¶V (XURSHDQ UHIXVH IDFLOLWLHV  7KH UHPDLQLQJ
LPSURYHPHQWLQRSHUDWLQJLQFRPHIRUWKH(XURSHDQUHIXVHRSHUDWLRQZDVSULPDULO\WKHUHVXOWRILQFUHDVHGVDOHVYROXPHFRVW
UHGXFWLRQDFWLYLWLHVDQGWKHUHVWUXFWXULQJRIWKDWEXVLQHVVLQILVFDOWRUHGXFHFRVWV'RPHVWLFRUGHUVZLWKLQWKHVHJPHQW
ZHUH SDUWLFXODUO\ VWURQJ LQ ILVFDO  GXH WR D SUHEX\ LQ DGYDQFH RI WKH HPLVVLRQV VWDQGDUGV FKDQJH  $W 6HSWHPEHU 
WKH&RPSDQ\¶VEDFNORJLQLWVFRPPHUFLDOVHJPHQWZDVXSDVFRPSDUHGWR6HSWHPEHU

,Q ILVFDO  WKH &RPSDQ\ HVWLPDWHV WKDW LWV VDOHV RQ D VWDQGDORQH EDVLV H[FOXGLQJ WKH LPSDFW RI WKH SHQGLQJ -/*
DFTXLVLWLRQZLOOLQFUHDVHWRELOOLRQDQGWKDWLWVHDUQLQJSHUVKDUHZLOOLQFUHDVHWRSHUVKDUH7he
&RPSDQ\EHOLHYHVWKDWLWVGHIHQVHVHJPHQWVDOHVDQGRSHUDWLQJLQFRPHZLOOLQFUHDVHLQILVFDORYHUILVFDOGHVSLWH
WKHVFKHGXOHGFRPSOHWLRQRIWKHSURGXFWLRQSKDVHRIWKH8.ZKHHOHGWDQNHUFRQWUDFWLQWKHILUVWTXDUWHURIILVFDOJLYHQ
WKHGXUDWLRQDQGLQWHQVLW\RI2SHUDWLRQ,UDTL)UHHGRPDQGWKH86$UP\¶VPRGXODULW\LQLWLDWLYHZKLFKDPRQJRWKHUWKLQJV
DUHH[SHFWHGWRLQFUHDVHWKH'R'¶VUHTXLUHPHQWVIRUWKH&RPSDQ\¶VWDFWLFDOWUXFNVDQGIRUWKHUHPDQXIDFWXULQJRIVXFKWUXFNV
GDPDJHG LQ WKH FRQIOLFW  7KH &RPSDQ\ OLNHZLVH H[SHFWV LWV RSHUDWLQJ LQFRPH WR LQFUHDVH LQ LWV ILUH DQG HPHUJHQF\ DQG
FRPPHUFLDOVHJPHQWVLQILVFDOGXHWRWKHEHQHILWVRIWKHILVFDODFTXLVLWLRQVRI$.DQG,07DQGLWVSULFHLQFUHDVH
DQG FRVW UHGXFWLRQ LQLWLDWLYHV ZKLFK WKH &RPSDQ\ H[SHFWV ZLOO PRUH WKDQ RIIVHW WKH LPSDFW RI DQ\ GHPDQG GHFUHDVHV
H[SHFWHGLQILVFDOIURPWKHHIIHFWVRIWKHGLHVHOHQJLQHHPLVVLRQVVWDQGDUGVFKDQJHV
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The Company expects the completion of its acquisition of JLG for $3.2 billion to significantly transform its business in
fiscal 2007 and set the foundation for future growth prospects. The Company expects the transaction to close in December
2006. However, the Company cannot provide any assurance that it will complete the transaction. JLG had sales of $2.29
billion and operating income of $263.0 million, including a $14.6 million gain on the sale of certain assets, in its fiscal year
ended July 31, 2006. JLG estimated on September 25, 2006 that its sales would grow by 20% to 25% in its fiscal year ending
July 31, 2007. Accordingly, JLG is a large acquisition reODWLYH WR 2VKNRVK¶V VWDQGDORQH VDOHV DQG RSHUDWLQJ LQFRPH
estimates for its fiscal year ended September 30, 2007 of $3.65 to $3.75 billion and $373.0 to $385.0 million, respectively.
The Company agreed to acquire JLG to:
x
x
x
x

Support its sales and earnings growth rate objective of 15% or more;
Diversify to complement its defense business and balance the economic and geopolitical cycles faced by the
Company;
Provide scale in procurement and global reach to better compete in its markets; and
([HFXWHZLWKLQLWVORQJWHUPDFTXLVLWLRQVWUDWHJ\ZKLFKVHeks to acquire market leaders in growing markets with
the objective of earning superior returns for shareholders.


7KH&RPSDQ\DQWLFLSDWHVWKDWWKHLQWHJUDWLRQRI-/*¶VEXVLness and practices with Oshkosh will be a major effort that
ZLOOFRQVXPHPXFKRILWVPDQDJHPHQW¶VWLPHIRUDERXWWZR\HDUV7KHDFTXLVLWLRQZLOOVXEVWDQWLDOO\LQFUHDVHWKH&RPSDQ\¶V
ILQDQFLDOOHYHUDJHDQGH[SRVHWKH&RPSDQ\WRQRQUHVLGHQWLDOFRQVWUXFWLRQVSHQGLQJF\FOHV7KH&RPSDQ\XQGHUVWDQGVWKH
integration, leverage and other risks of the pending acquisition, but believes that the JLG acquisition offers a unique
RSSRUWXQLW\WRFDSLWDOL]HRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VHVWLPDWHRIVWURQJQRQUHVLGHQWLDOFRQVWUXFWLRQVSHQGLQJLQDQGDQG
synergy opportunities, to diversify and balance its business segments and to provide the scale needed for the Company to
sustain growth. The Company further believes that the current strength in its own defense business and in its estimates for
WKHQHDUWHUPRXWORRNIRU-/*¶VEXVLQHVVVLJQLILFDQWO\PLWLJDWHWKHILQDQFLDOOHYHUDJHULVNVRIWKHDFTXLVLWLRQDQGZLOOSHUPLW
the Company to substantially reduce its financial leverage over the next few years.
The Company estimates that the JLG acquisition will be modeVWO\ DFFUHWLYH WR LWV ILVFDO  VWDQGDORQH HVWLPDWHG
earnings and anticipates higher accretion for the acquisition in fiscal 2008. The Company expects to provide further detailed
estimates regarding the impact of the JLG acquisition in FeEUXDU\  DW WKH WLPH RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V QH[W HDUQLQJV
conference call, which follows the expected closing for the acquisition.
Results of Operations
$QDO\VLVRI&RQVROLGDWHG1HW6DOHV±7KUHH<HDUV(QGHG6HSWHPEHU
The following table presents net sales (see definition of net sales contained in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements) by business segment (in millions):

)LVFDO<HDU(QGHG6HSWHPEHU




Net sales:
Fire and emergency
Defense
Commercial
Intersegment
Consolidated

$

$

961.5
1,317.2
1,190.3
(41.6)
3,427.4

$

$

841.5
1,061.1
1,085.7
(28.4)
2,959.9

$

$

599.7
774.1
907.3
(18.8)
2,262.3

The following table presents net sales by geographic region based on product shipment destination (in millions):

)LVFDO<HDU(QGHG6HSWHPEHU




Net sales:
United States
Other North America
Europe and Middle East
Other
Consolidated
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$

$

2,820.6
76.3
431.8
98.7
3,427.4

$

$

2,500.4
35.9
384.2
39.4
2,959.9

$

$

1,884.2
13.2
300.1
64.8
2,262.3

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005
Consolidated net sales increased 15.8% to $3.43 billion in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005. Net sales were up in all
segments. The acquisitions of AK and IMT contributed $32.4 million of the sales increase in fiscal 2006.
Fire and emergency segment net sales increased 14.3% to $961.5 million in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005. The
acquisition of AK contributed $16.5 million to the increase in fiscal 2006 net sales. Sales in the remaining businesses in the
segment rose 12.3%, reflecting strong order rates for fire apparatus, ambulances and airport products.
Defense segment net sales increased 24.1% to $1,317.2 million in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005. The sales
increase arose from increased sales of new and remanufactured heavy-payload trucks to the DoD to support Operation Iraqi
Freedom and higher shipments of wheeled tankers under the U.K. MoD contract. Parts and service sales in fiscal 2006 were
up slightly as armor sales offset a decrease in other parts and service sales.
Commercial segment net sales increased 9.6% to $1,190.3 million in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005. The
acquisition of IMT contributed $15.9 million to the increase in fiscal 2006 net sales. Concrete placement sales were up
11.8% primarily due to strong demand in advance of diesel engine emissions standards changes effective January 1, 2007
offset by a lower mix of package sales involving a truck chassis and body. Domestic refuse sales were 0.8% higher due to an
increase in shipments to large U.S. commercial waste haulers offset by a decrease in package sales. European refuse sales
increased 8.4% in U.S. dollars due to higher unit volumes and higher pricing offset in part by unfavorable currency
translation adjustments as a result of the increased strength of the U.S. dollar compared to the Euro.
Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004
Consolidated net sales increased 30.8% to $2,959.9 million in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. Net sales were up in
all segments. The acquisitions of JerrDan, BAI, CON-E-CO and London contributed $193.9 million of the sales increase in
fiscal 2005.
Fire and emergency segment net sales increased 40.3% to $841.5 million in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. The
acquisitions of JerrDan and BAI contributed $139.3 million to the increase in fiscal 2005 net sales. Sales in the remaining
businesses in the segment rose 18.1%, reflecting strong order rates for fire apparatus and higher airport product sales.
Defense segment net sales increased 37.1% to $1,061.1 million in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. The sales
increase arose from a near doubling in parts and service sales and higher sales of new and remanufactured heavy-payload
trucks to the DoD to support Operation Iraqi Freedom.
Commercial segment net sales increased 19.7% to $1,085.7 million in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. The
acquisitions of CON-E-CO and London contributed $54.6 million to fiscal 2005 net sales. Concrete placement sales, other
than sales by CON-E-CO and London, were up 9.8% primarily due to higher unit sales volumes as industry order levels
began to improve following a two-year downturn and an increased mix of package sales. Domestic refuse sales were 31.2%
higher due to increased shipments to large U.S. commercial waste haulers. European refuse sales increased 3.2% in U.S.
dollars due to favorable currency translation adjustments as a result of the increased strength of the Euro compared to the
U.S. dollar offset in part by lower unit volumes and lower pricing in some end markets.
Analysis of Consolidated Operating IncoPH±7KUHH<HDUV(QGHG6HSWHPEHU
The following table presents operating income by business segment (in millions):

)LVFDO<HDU(QGHG6HSWHPEHU




Operating income (expense):
Fire and emergency
Defense
Commercial
Corporate and other
Consolidated

$

$

90.0
242.3
66.2
(72.6)
325.9

$

$

79.6
210.2
23.8
(46.4)
267.2

$

$

55.0
127.9
34.8
(37.3)
180.4
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Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005
Consolidated operating income increased 22.0% to $325.9 million, or 9.5% of sales, in fiscal 2006 compared to $267.2
million, or 9.0% of sales, in fiscal 2005. The increase in income as a percentage of sales was generally due to the margin
improvements within the commercial segment and a disproportionate increase in defense sales, which generally has higher
margins than the fire and emergency and commercial segments, offset in part by higher corporate expenses.
Fire and emergency segment operating income increased 13.0% to $90.0 million, or 9.4% of sales, in fiscal 2006
compared to $79.6 million, or 9.5% of sales, in fiscal 2005. Operating income at AK was break-even for fiscal 2006 due to
the impact of purchase accounting adjustments. The increase in operating income in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005 was
primarily due to the higher sales and a lower mix of towing equipment package sales. The decrease in operating income
margin as a percent of sales in fiscal 2006 was the result of a write-off of inventory and other charges totaling $4.0 million, or
 RI VDOHV DW WKH &RPSDQ\¶V DPEXODQFH IDFLOLW\ RI ZKich approximately $2.5 million arose out of intentional
misstatements of accounting records by a former employee.
Defense segment operating income increased 15.2% to $242.3 million, or 18.4% of sales, compared to $210.2 million, or
19.8% of sales, in fiscal 2005. The increase in operating income in fiscal 2006 was the result of higher sales of new and
remanufactured heavy-payload trucks offset in part by a decrease in sales of higher margin parts and services. Fiscal 2005
operating income also benefited from cumulative margin adjustments totaling $24.7 million to the MTVR base contract that
increased operating income margins for the segment by 2.3%. The MTVR base contract was accounted for under the
percentage-of-completion method of accounting and was completed in June 2005.
Commercial segment operating income increased 177.7% to $66.2 million, or 5.6% of sales, in fiscal 2006 compared to
operating income of $23.8 million, or 2.2% of sales, in fiscal 2005. The acquisition of IMT contributed $1.7 million of
operating income in fiscal 2006. Operating income for the other businesses in the segment grew 170.8% in fiscal 2006
compared to fiscal 2005 due to higher pricing and much higher body-only unit volume in North America and the
DFKLHYHPHQWRIDSURILWDWWKH&RPSDQ\¶V(XURSHDQUHIXVHRSHUDWLRQVRIPLOOLRQLQILVFDOFRPSDUHGWRDORVVRI
PLOOLRQLQILVFDO7KHLPSURYHPHQWLQRSHUDWLQJLQFRPHIRUWKH(XURSHDQUHIXVHRSHUDWLRQZDVSULPDULO\WKHUHVXOW
of the restructuring of that business in fiscal 2004 and 2005 to reduce costs.
Corporate operating expenses and inter-segment profit eliminations increased $26.2 million to $72.6 million in fiscal
2006 compared to fiscal 2005 due to increases in personnel costs related to new hires, restricted stock awards and incentive
bonuses, an $8.0 million increase in acquisition investigation and related costs, an additional $6.5 million related to the
H[SHQVLQJRIVWRFNRSWLRQVGXHWRWKHDGRSWLRQRI6)$61R 5 DQGPLOOLRQUHODWHGWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶VQHZRIILFHLQ
China. Favorable settlements of product liability matters aggregating $4.2 million also benefited the prior year results.
Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses increased to 8.2% of sales in fiscal 2006 compared to 7.7% of
sales in fiscal 2005 as a result of the increase in corporate operating expenses.
Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004
Consolidated operating income increased 48.1% to $267.2 million, or 9.0% of sales, in fiscal 2005 compared to $180.4
million, or 8.0% of sales, in fiscal 2004. The increase in income as a percentage of sales was generally due to efficiencies
realized from the substantially higher sales during the period and a disproportionate increase in fire and emergency and
defense sales, which generally have higher margins than the commercial segment.
Fire and emergency segment operating income increased 44.9% to $79.6 million, or 9.5% of sales, in fiscal 2005
compared to $55.0 million, or 9.2% of sales, in fiscal 2004. The acquisitions of JerrDan and BAI contributed $11.8 million
of the increase in operating income in fiscal 2005. Operating income for the other businesses in the segment grew 23.9% in
fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004 due to higher sales and a substantially improved sales mix of custom pumpers, aerials
and airport products.
Defense segment operating income increased 64.4% to $210.2 million, or 19.8% of sales, compared to $127.9 million, or
16.5% of sales, in fiscal 2004. The largest contributor to the increase in operating income in fiscal 2005 was the near
doubling of relatively higher-margin parts and service sales arising from DoD requirements to support Operation Iraqi
Freedom. Substantially higher sales of relatively higher-margin new and remanufactured heavy-payload trucks also
contributed to the increase in operating income in fiscal 2005. (DUQLQJVLQILVFDOIXUWKHUEHQHILWHGIURPFXPXODWLYHOLIHto-date adjustments totaling $24.7 million to increase MTVR base contract margins from 7.6% to 10.1%, including $23.1
million related to prior year revenues. The MTVR margin adjustments resulted from lower than expected material cost
escalation and better than expected overhead absorption related to higher defense production volumes resulting from the
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requirements of Operation Iraqi Freedom. Fiscal 2004 operating income benefited from $19.5 million of MTVR base
contract margin adjustments.
Commercial segment operating income decreased 31.6% to $23.8 million, or 2.2% of sales, in fiscal 2005 compared to
operating income of $34.8 million, or 3.8% of sales, in fiscal 2004. The acquisitions of CON-E-CO and London contributed
$2.4 million of operating income in fiscal 2005. Operating income margins were lower in fiscal 2005 principally due to an
 PLOOLRQ RSHUDWLQJ ORVV IRU WKH &RPSDQ\¶V (XURSHDQ UHIXVH RSHUDWLRQV DQ LQFUHDVH RI  PLOOLRQ FRPSDUHG WR ILVFDO
2004. The operating loss arose from a $3.7 million workforce reduction charge, lower unit volumes, lower pricing in many
end markets and increased material, labor and warranty costs associated with the launch of a new Geesink-branded rear
loader. Operating income of concrete placement and domestic refuse operations in the segment, other than CON-E-CO and
London, was down 17.9% in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. This decrease in operating income was the result of
relatively flat pricing at a time of higher steel and component costs which offset the overhead absorption benefits of higher
unit volumes.
Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses decreased to 7.7% of sales in fiscal 2005 compared to 8.1% of
sales in fiscal 2004. Such expenses as a percentage of sales declined due to cost control in a period of rapidly rising sales.
Corporate operating expenses and inter-segment profit eliminations increased $9.1 million to $46.4 million in fiscal 2005
compared to fiscal 2004 due to increases in personnel costs related to new hires, restricted stock awards granted in late fiscal
2004, employee termination costs and higher incentive bonuses, which more than offset a $4.2 million favorable product
liability settlement in the first quarter of fiscal 2005.
Analysis of Non-Operating Income StatemenW,WHPV±7KUHH<HDUV(nded September 30, 2006
Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005
Interest expense net of interest income decreased $4.4 million to $0.7 million in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005.
Fiscal 2006 results reflected lower average borrowings outstanding for most of fiscal 2006 until the Company acquired AK
and IMT for cash and incurred debt totaling $272.8 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006.
Other miscellaneous loss of $0.2 million in fiscal 2006 relates primarily to foreign currency transaction losses.
The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2006 was 37.3% compared to 39.3% in fiscal 2005. The decrease related to the
impact of a new manufacturing deduction, higher income tax credits and higher earnings in relatively low-tax rate states.
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, net of income taxes, of $2.3 million in fiscal 2006 and $2.9 million in
ILVFDOUHSUHVHQWHGWKH&RPSDQ\¶VHTXLty interest in OMFSP and in a concrete mixer and refuse packer manufacturer in
Mexico.
Minority interest in earnings of $0.5 million represented the 25.0% interest in BAI held by BAI management
shareholdings.
Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004
Interest expense net of interest income increased $0.9 million to $5.2 million in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004.
Fiscal 2005 results reflected higher average borrowings as a result of acquisitions and increased working capital requirements
DVVRFLDWHGZLWKWKH&RPSDQ\¶VU.K. wheeled tanker contract.
Other miscellaneous loss of $1.9 million in fiscal 2005 relates primarily to foreign currency transaction losses.
The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2005 was 39.3% compared to 37.3% in fiscal 2004. The increase related to an
increase in a valuation allowance for certain net operating loss carryforwards in The Netherlands and increased state income
taxes associated with higher earnings in relatively higher-tax rate states.
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, net of income taxes, of $2.9 million in fiscal 2005 and $2.2 million in
ILVFDOUHSUHVHQWHGWKH&RPSDQ\¶VHTXLty interest in OMFSP and in a concrete mixer and refuse packer manufacturer in
Mexico.
Minority interest in earnings of $0.6 million represented the 25.0% interest in BAI held by BAI management
shareholdings.
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Financial Condition
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2006
During fiscal 2006, cash and cash equivalents decreased by $105.5 million to $22.0 million at September 30, 2006. Cash
provided from operating activities of $177.4 million, net borrRZLQJVXQGHUWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFUedit facilities of $64.4 million
and proceeds of stock option exercises of $3.5 million were used to acquire AK and IMT for $272.8 million, fund capital
expenditures of $56.0 million and pay dividends of $27.1 million. Cash provided from operations during fiscal 2006
decreased compared to fiscal 2005 due to a decrease in customer advances, largely from the DoD, and an increase in
inventories. In fiscal 2006, the Company purchased additional inventory in advance of the diesel engine emissions standards
changes effective January 2007. Also, cash provided from operations in fiscal 2005 included $25.3 million in tax benefits
related to stock option exercises. In fiscal 2006, certain tax benefits related to stock option exercises is reported as a
financing item in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R).
Cash paid for income taxes was $136.0 million in fiscal 2006 compared to $81.4 million in fiscal 2005. Cash paid for
income taxes increased due to the higher level of earnings and lower deductions related to stock options exercises.


7KH&RPSDQ\¶VGHEWWRWRWDOFDSLWDOUDWLRDW6HSWHPEHU2006 was 7.8% compared to 2.9% at September 30, 2005.

Assuming completion of the pending JLG acquisition, the Company will enter into a new senior secured credit facility to
fund the JLG acquisition. The Company expects the acquisition ZLOOVXEVWDQWLDOO\LQFUHDVHWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOOHYHUDJH
DQGH[SRVHWKH&RPSDQ\WRQRQUHVLGHQWLDOFRQVWUXFWLRQVSHQGLQJF\FOHV7KH&RPSDQ\H[SHFWVLWVGHEWWRWRWDOFDSLWDOUDWLR
to be over 75% immediately after the pending acquisition of JLG. The Company believes that the current strength in its own
defense business and in its estimates for the near term outlook IRU-/*¶VEXVLQHVVPLWLJDWHWKHILQDQFLDOOHYHUDJHULVNVRIWKH
acquisition and will permit the Company to substantially reduce its financial leverage over the next two years.

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2005
During fiscal 2005, cash and cash equivalents increased by $97.4 million to $127.5 million at September 30, 2005. Cash
provided from operating activities of $212.3 million (which included $25.3 million in tax benefits related to the exercise of
VWRFNRSWLRQV DQGFDVKSURFHHGVIURPWKHH[HUFLVHRIVWRFNRSWLRQVRIPLOOLRQIXQGHGWKHDFTXLVLWLRQVRI&21(&2
and London for $31.3 million, repayments of borrowings of $51.6 million, capital expenditures of $43.2 million and
dividends of $16.0 million. Cash provided from operations during fiscal 2005 increased compared to fiscal 2004 due to the
increase in net income and proportionately higher increases in customer advances, largely from the DoD, than in operating
assets required to support the CompDQ\¶VILVFDOVDOHVLQFUHDVH
In fiscal 2005, inventories increased sharply to support higher sales levels, including production under the U.K. wheeled
WDQNHUFRQWUDFW&XVWRPHUDGYDQFHVUHSUHVHQWHGDVLJQLILFDQWVRXUFHRIFDVKLQILVFDOGXHWRKLJKHUSHUIRUPDQFHEDVHG
payments from the DoD and higher advances associated with fire apparatus orders compared to prior year levels.
Cash paid for income taxes was $81.4 million in fiscal 2005 compared to $46.4 million in fiscal 2004. Cash paid for
income taxes increased due to the higher level of earnings offset in part by increased deductions in fiscal 2005 for the tax
benefits of stock option exercises and pension contributions.
At September 30, 2005, the Company had repaid all of its revolving credit facility borrowings, with the exception of
¼PLOOLRQGHVLJQDWHGDVDKHGJHRILWVLQYHVWPHQWLQ%$,
Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company had cash and cash equivalents of $22.0 million and $408.2 million of unused availability under the terms
of its revolving credit facility as of SeptHPEHU7KH&RPSDQ\¶VSULPDU\FDVKUHTXLUHPHQWVLQFOXGHZRUNLQJFDSLWDO
capital expenditures, dividends, interest and principal payments on indebtedness and, potentially, future acquisitions. In
6HSWHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\REWDLQHGDQHZXQVHFXUHGPLOOLRQVHQLRUUHYROYLQJFUHGLWIDFLOLW\ ³UHYROYLQJFUHGLW
IDFLOLW\´ H[SLULQJLQ6HSWHPEHU$YDLODELOLW\XQGHUWKHrevolving credit facility was reduced by borrowings of $71.4
million and outstanding letters of credit of $20.4 million at September 30, 2006. The Company could seek to increase the
revolving credit facility up to an aggregate maximum outstanding amount of $750.0 million, subject to the satisfaction of
certain conditions, including the Company not being in default under terms of its revolving credit facility and the
identification of lenders willing to provide additional commitments. The Company expects its primary sources of cash to be
cash flow from operations, cash and cash equivalents on hand at September 30, 2006 and borrowings.
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7KH&RPSDQ\¶VFDVKIORZIURPRSHUDWLRQVKDVIOXFWXDWHGDQGZLOOOLNHO\FRQWLQXHWRIOXFWXDWHVLJQLILFDQWO\IURPTXDUWHU
WRTXDUWHUGXHWRFKDQJHVLQZRUNLQJFDSLWDOUHTXLUHPHQWVDULVLQJSULQFLSDOO\IURPVHDVRQDOIOXFWXDWLRQVLQVDOHVWKHVWDUWXp
RUFRQFOXVLRQRIODUJHGHIHQVHFRQWUDFWVDQGWKHWLPLQJRIUHFHLSWRILQGLYLGXDOO\ODUJHSHUIRUPDQFHEDVHGSD\PHQWVIURPWKH
DoD.

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VFXUUHQWUHYROYLQJFUHGLWIDFLOLW\FRQWDLQVYDULRXVUHVWULFWLRQVDQGFRYHQDQWVLQFOXGLQJ  UHTXLUHPHQWV
WKDWWKH&RPSDQ\PDLQWDLQFHUWDLQILQDQFLDOUDWLRVDWSUHVFULEHGOHYHOVDQG  UHVWULFWLRQVRQWKHDELOLW\RIWKH&RPSDQ\DQG
FHUWDLQRILWVVXEVLGLDULHVWRFRQVROLGDWHRUPHUJHFUHDWHOLHQVLQFXUDGGLWLRQDOLQGHEWHGQHVVDQGGLVSRVHRIDVVHWV)XUWKHU
WKHVH EDQN DJUHHPHQWV SURYLGH WKDW WKH &RPSDQ\¶V OHYHUDJH UDWLR DV GHILQHG  VKDOO QRW H[FHHG  WR  DQG WKDW WKH
&RPSDQ\VKDOOQRWSHUPLWLWVGRPHVWLFHDUQLQJVEHIRUHLQWHUHVWWD[HVGHSUHFLDWLRQDQGDPRUWL]DWLRQ DVGHILQHG WREHOHVV
WKDQ  PLOOLRQ  7KH &RPSDQ\¶V FXUUHQW UHYROYLQJ FUHGLW IDFLOLW\ GRHV QRW UHVWULFW WKH &RPSDQ\¶V DELOLW\ WR SD\
GLYLGHQGV DV ORQJ DV WKH &RPSDQ\ PDLQWDLQV D PLQLPXP QHW ZRUWK RI  PLOOLRQ SOXV WKH QHW SURFHHGV RI DOO HTXLW\
LVVXDQFHVDQGRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VSRVLWLYHQHWLQFRPHIURPWKHGDWHRIWKHFXUUHQWUHYROYLQJFUHGLWIDFLOLW\

,QWHUHVWUDWHVRQERUURZLQJVXQGHUWKH&RPSDQ\¶VUHYROYLQJFXUUHQWFUHGLWIDFLOLW\DUHYDULDEOHDQGDUHHTXDOWRWKH³%DVH
5DWH´ ZKLFKLVHTXDOWRWKHKLJKHURIDEDQN¶VUHIHUHQFHUDWHDQGWKHIHGHUDOIXQGVUDWHSOXV RUWKH³2IIVKRUH5DWH´
ZKLFKLVDEDQN¶VLQWHUEDQNRIIHUHGUDWHIRU86GROODUVLQRIIVKRUHPDUNHWV SOXVDPDUJLQRIIRU2IIVKRUH5DWH
ORDQVXQGHUWKH&RPSDQ\¶VUHYROYLQJFUHGLWIDFLOLW\DVRI6HSWHPEHU7KHPDUJLQVDUHVXEMHFWWRDGMXVWPHQWXSRU
GRZQEDVHGRQZKHWKHUFHUWDLQILQDQFLDOFULWHULDDUHPHW7KHZHLJKWHGDYHUDJHLQWHUHVWUDWHRQWKHUHYROYLQJFUHGLWIDFLOLW\
ERUURZLQJVRXWVWDQGLQJDW6HSWHPEHUZDV7KH&RPSDQ\SUHVHQWO\KDVQRWHQWHUHGLQWRLQWHUHVWUDWHVZDS
DUUDQJHPHQWVUHODWLYHWRLWVFXUUHQWUHYROYLQJFUHGLWIDFLOLW\WROLPLWH[SRVXUHWRIXWXUHLQFUHDVHVLQLQWHUHVWUDWHV

%DVHG XSRQ FXUUHQW DQG DQWLFLSDWHG IXWXUH RSHUDWLRQV DQG H[FOXGLQJ WKH LPSDFW RI WKH -/* DFTXLVLWLRQ WKH &RPSDQ\
EHOLHYHV WKDW WKHVH FDSLWDO UHVRXUFHV ZLOO EH DGHTXDWH WR PHHW IXWXUH ZRUNLQJ FDSLWDO GHEW VHUYLFH DQG RWKHU FDSLWDO
UHTXLUHPHQWVIRUILVFDO

,Q 2FWREHU  WKH &RPSDQ\ HQWHUHG LQWR D GHILQLWLYH DJUHHPHQW WR DFTXLUH -/* IRU WRWDO FRQVLGHUDWLRQ LQFOXGLQJ
WUDQVDFWLRQFRVWVDQGDVVXPHGGHEWRIDSSUR[LPDWHO\ELOOLRQ7KH&RPSDQ\LQWHQGVWRILQDQFHWKHDFTXLVLWLRQZLWKWKH
SURFHHGVRIVHQLRUVHFXUHGUHYROYLQJDQGWHUPFUHGLWIDFLOLWLHVLQDQDJJUHJDWHSULQFLSDODPRXQWRIELOOLRQDUUDQJHGE\
%DQNRI$PHULFD1$DQG-30RUJDQ&KDVH%DQN1$ZKLFKZLOOUHSODFHWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFXUUHQWUHYROYLQJFUHGLWIDFLOLW\
DQGUHILQDQFHPRVWRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VDQG-/* VFXUUHQWO\RXWVWDQGLQJGHEW7KH&RPSDQ\H[SHFWVWKHQHZFUHGLWIDFLOLWLHVWR
FRQVLVWRIDPLOOLRQILYH\HDUUHYROYLQJFUHGLWIDFLOLW\D PLOOLRQILYH\HDUWHUPORDQIDFLOLW\GXHLQTXDUWHUO\
LQVWDOOPHQWVRIPLOOLRQSOXVLQWHUHVWZLWKDEDOORRQSD\PHQWGXHDW PDWXULW\DQGDELOOLRQVHYHQ\HDUWHUP ORDQ
IDFLOLW\ GXH LQ TXDUWHUO\ LQVWDOOPHQWV RI  PLOOLRQ SOXV LQWHUHVW ZLWK D EDOORRQ SD\PHQW GXH DW PDWXULW\  7KH &RPSDQ\
DQWLFLSDWHV WKDW FHUWDLQ PDWHULDO VXEVLGLDULHV RI WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLOO JXDUDQWHH WKH FUHGLW IDFLOLWLHV DQG WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLOO
JXDUDQWHHWKHREOLJDWLRQVRILWVVXEVLGLDULHVGHVLJQDWHGDVERUURZHUVXQGHUWKHFUHGLWIDFLOLWLHV7KH&RPSDQ\DOVRDQWLFLSDWHV
WKH FUHGLW IDFLOLWLHV WR EH VHFXUHGE\ D ILUVWSULRULW\ SHUIHFWHG OLHQ DQG VHFXULW\ LQWHUHVWV LQ DOO RI WKHHTXLW\ LQWHUHVWV RI WKH
&RPSDQ\¶VPDWHULDOGRPHVWLFVXEVLGLDULHVRIWKHHTXLW\LQWHUHVWVRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VGLUHFWPDWHULDOIRUHLJQVXEVLGLDULHV
RUDQ\JXDUDQWRUVXEMHFWWRFHUWDLQFXVWRPDU\SHUPLWWHGOLHQH[FHSWLRQVDOORWKHUSHUVRQDOSURSHUW\RIWKH&RPSDQ\DQGWKH
JXDUDQWRUVDQGDOOSURFHHGVWKHUHRI

7KH&RPSDQ\H[SHFWVWKHQHZDJUHHPHQWWRFRQWDLQYDULRXVUHVWULFWLRQVDQGFRYHQDQWVLQFOXGLQJ  UHTXLUHPHQWVWKDW
WKH &RPSDQ\ PDLQWDLQ FHUWDLQ ILQDQFLDO UDWLRV DW SUHVFULEHG OHYHOV DQG   UHVWULFWLRQV RQ WKH DELOLW\ RI WKH &RPSDQ\ DQG
FHUWDLQ RI LWV VXEVLGLDULHV WR FRQVROLGDWH RU PHUJH FUHDWH OLHQV LQFXU DGGLWLRQDO LQGHEWHGQHVV DQG GLVSRVH RI DVVHWV  7KH
&RPSDQ\ DQWLFLSDWHV WKH QHZ FUHGLW DJUHHPHQW ZLOO UHTXLUH PDLQWHQDQFH RQ D UROOLQJ IRXU TXDUWHU EDVLV RI D PD[LPXP
OHYHUDJHUDWLR DVGHILQHG RI[WKURXJK-XQHUHGXFLQJWR[RQ6HSWHPEHU[RQ'HFHPEHU
[RQ'HFHPEHUDQG[RQ'HFHPEHUDQGDPLQLPXPLQWHUHVWFRYHUDJHUDWLR DVGHILQHG RI
[LQHDFKFDVHWHVWHGDVRIWKHODVWGD\RIHDFKILVFDOTXDUWHU7KH&RPSDQ\H[SHFWVWKHQHZFUHGLWDJUHHPHQWWROLPLW
WKHDPRXQWRILWVGLYLGHQGVDQGRWKHUW\SHVRIGLVWULEXWLRQVWRPLOOLRQGXULQJDQ\ILVFDO\HDUSOXVWKHSRVLWLYHUHVXOWRI
[ RIWKHFXPXODWLYHQHWLQFRPHRIWKH&RPSDQ\DQGLWVFRQVROLGDWHGVXEVLGLDULHVIRUDOOILVFDOTXDUWHUVHQGLQJDIWHUWKH
HIIHFWLYHGDWHRIWKHQHZFUHGLWDJUHHPHQWPLQXV \ WKHFXPXODWLYHDPRXQWRIDOOGLYLGHQGVDQGRWKHUW\SHVRIGLVWULEXWLRQV
PDGHLQDQ\ILVFDO\HDUHQGLQJDIWHUVXFKHIIHFWLYHGDWHWKDWH[FHHGHGPLOOLRQ

7KH&RPSDQ\H[SHFWVLQWHUHVWUDWHVRQERUURZLQJVXQGHUWKHQHZFUHGLWIDFLOLWLHVWREHYDULDEOHEHDULQJLQWHUHVWDWDUDWH
HTXDOWR/,%25SOXVDVSHFLILHGPDUJLQRUIRU86GROODUGHQRPLQDWHGORDQVRQO\WKHEDVHUDWH GHILQHGDVWKHKLJKHURID
EDQN¶VSULPHUDWHDQGWKHIHGHUDOIXQGVUDWHSOXV SOXVDVSHFLILHGPDUJLQLQHDFKFDVHZKLFKPD\EHDGMXVWHGXSZDUG
RUGRZQZDUGGHSHQGLQJRQZKHWKHUFHUWDLQFULWHULDDUHVDWLVILHG7KH&RPSDQ\SUHVHQWO\LQWHQGVWRHQWHULQWRLQWHUHVWUDWH
VZDSDUUDQJHPHQWVUHODWLYHWRWKHQHZFUHGLWIDFLOLWLHVWROLPLWH[SRVXUHWRIXWXUHLQFUHDVHVLQLQWHUHVWUDWHV
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Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

)ROORZLQJLVDVXPPDU\RIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFRQWUDFWXDOREOLJDWLRQVDQGSD\PHQWVGXHE\SHULRGIROORZLQJ6HSWHPEHU
 LQPLOOLRQV 
Payments Due by Period
Less Than
More Than
Total
1 Year
<HDUV
<HDUV
<HDUV
Contractual Obligations

/RQJWHUPGHEW 

$

/HDVHV
Capital
Operating

 

14.2

3XUFKDVHREOLJDWLRQV 
2WKHUORQJWHUPOLDELOLWLHV
)DLUYDOXHRIIRUHLJQFXUUHQF\
IRUZDUGFRQWUDFWV
Other
7RWDOFRQWUDFWXDOREOLJDWLRQV

2.7    



19.2  

  

 
 



$
 $
 $



 $



 $

-







 7KH&RPSDQ\DOVRKDVIORDWLQJUDWHGHEWRXWVWDQGLQJXQGHULWVUHYROYLQJFUHGLWIDFLOLW\6HH1RWHRIWKH1RWHVWR
&RQVROLGDWHG)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV



 7KH &RPSDQ\ XWLOL]HV EODQNHW SXUFKDVH RUGHUV WR FRPPXQLFDWH H[SHFWHG DQQXDO UHTXLUHPHQWV WR PDQ\ RI LWV
VXSSOLHUV RU FRQWUDFWRUV  5HTXLUHPHQWV XQGHU EODQNHW SXUFKDVH RUGHUV JHQHUDOO\ GR QRW EHFRPH ILUP XQWLO IRXU
ZHHNV SULRU WR WKH &RPSDQ\ V VFKHGXOHG XQLW SURGXFWLRQ  7KH SXUFKDVH REOLJDWLRQV DPRXQW LQFOXGHG DERYH
UHSUHVHQWVWKHYDOXHRIFRPPLWPHQWVFRQVLGHUHGILUPSOXVWKHYDOXHRIDOORXWVWDQGLQJVXEFRQWUDFWV


2Q2FWREHUWKH&RPSDQ\VLJQHGDGHILQLWLYHDJUHHPHQWWRDFTXLUH-/*IRUSHUVKDUH7RWDOFRQVLGHUDWLRQ
LQFOXGLQJ WUDQVDFWLRQ FRVWV DQG DVVXPHG GHEW LV  ELOOLRQ LQ FDVK  7KH DFTXLVLWLRQ KDV EHHQ DSSURYHG E\ WKH %RDUG RI
'LUHFWRUVRIHDFKFRPSDQ\DQGLVVXEMHFWWRFXVWRPDU\FORVLQJFRQGLWLRQVLQFOXGLQJDSSURYDOXQGHUWKH+DUW6FRWW5RGLQR
$FW DQG VLPLODU ODZV RXWVLGH WKH 86 DQG WKH DSSURYDO E\ WKH VKDUHKROGHUV RI -/*  7KH GHILQLWLYH DJUHHPHQW LQFOXGHV D
EUHDNXSIHHRIPLOOLRQ
The following is a summary RIWKH&RPSDQ\ VFRPPHUFLDOFRPPLWPHQWV LQPLOOLRQV 

Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period
Less Than
More Than
Total
1 Year
<HDUV
<HDUV
<HDUV

Commercial Commitments
&XVWRPHUOHDVHJXDUDQWHHVWRWKLUGSDUWLHV
6WDQGE\OHWWHUVRIFUHGLW
Corporate guarantees
7RWDOFRPPHUFLDOFRPPLWPHQWV

$

$

14.1    $
 
1.1 

9.2

29.1 $
 $
2.4 $
 $

9.1




0F1HLOXVKDVDPLOOLRQLQYHVWPHQWLQDQXQFRQVROLGDWHGJHQHUDOSDUWQHUVKLS20)63ZKLFKRIIHUVOHDVHILQDQFLQJ
WRFXVWRPHUVRIWKH&RPSDQ\0F1HLOXVDQGDQXQDIILOLDWHGWKLUGSDUW\%$/HDVLQJ &DSLWDO&RUSRUDWLRQ ³%$/&$3´D
VXEVLGLDU\RI%DQNRI$PHULFD&RUSRUDWLRQ DUHJHQHUDOSDUWQHUVLQ20)63(DFKRIWKHWZRJHQHUDOSDUWQHUVKDVLGHQWLFDO
YRWLQJSDUWLFLSDWLQJDQGSURWHFWLYHULJKWVDQGUHVSRQVLELOLWLHVLQ20)636HH1RWHRIWKH1RWHVWR&RQVROLGDWHG)LQDQFLDO
6WDWHPHQWV
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Certain Assumptions
The expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, in particular those
with respect to projected sales, costs, earnings and debt levels, are based in part on certain assumptions made by the
Company, some of which are referred to in, or as part of, the forward-looking statements. These assumptions include, without
limitation, that the Company will be able to close and integrate JLG as well as integrate AK and IMT and achieve targeted
V\QHUJLHVIRUHDFKDFTXLVLWLRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VDELOLW\WRWXUQDURXnd the Geesink Norba Group business sufficiently to support
its current valuation resulting in no non-cash impairment chDUJHIRU*HHVLQN1RUED*URXSJRRGZLOOWKH&RPSDQ\¶VDELOLW\
to grow its operating income despite anticipated lower industry demand for several of its businesses resulting from changes to
diesel engine emissions standards effective January 1, 2007; WKH &RPSDQ\¶V HVWLPDWHV IRU WKH OHYHO RI FRQFUHWH SODFHPHQW
activity, housing starts, non-residential construction spending and mortgage rates; the performance of the U.S. and European
HFRQRPLHV JHQHUDOO\ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V H[SHFWDWLRQV DV WR WLPLQJof receipt of sales orders and payments and execution and
IXQGLQJ RI GHIHQVH FRQWUDFWV WKH &RPSDQ\¶V DELOLW\ WR DFKLHYH cost reductions and operating efficiencies, in particular at
JLG, McNeilus and the Geesink Norba Group; the anticipated level of production and margins associated with the Family of
Heavy Tactical Vehicles contract, the Indefinite Demand/Indefinite Quantity truck remanufacturing contract, the MTVR
follow-on contract, the LVSR contract and international defense truck contracts; the expected level and timing of DoD
procurement of replacement parts and services and funding thHUHRI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V HVWLPDWHs for capital expenditures of
UHQWDO FRPSDQLHV IRU -/*¶V SURGXFWV RI PXQLFLSDOLWLHV IRU ILUH and emergency and refuse products, of airports for aircraft
rescue and snow removal products and of large commercial waste haulers generally and with the Company; federal funding
levels for Department of Homeland Security and spending by governmental entities on homeland security apparatus; the
availability of chassis components, including engines and coPPHUFLDOFKDVVLVJHQHUDOO\WKH&RPSDQ\¶VSODQQHGVSHQGLQJRQ
product development and bid and proposal activities with respect to defense truck procurement competitions and the outcome
RI VXFK FRPSHWLWLRQV WKH H[SHFWHG OHYHO RI FRPPHUFLDO ³SDFNDJH´ ERG\ DQG SXUFKDVHG FKDVVLV VDOHV FRPSDUHG WR ³ERG\
RQO\´ VDOHV WKH &RPSDQ\¶V HVWLPDWHV RI WKH LPSDFW RI FKDQJLQJ fuel prices and credit availability on capital spending of
towing operators; anticipated levels of capital expenditures;WKH&RPSDQ\¶VHVWLPDWHVIRUFRVWVUHODWLQJWROLWLJDWLRQSURGXFW
warranty, product liability, insurance, stock options and restricted stock awards, peUVRQQHODQGUDZPDWHULDOVWKH&RPSDQ\¶V
estimates for debt levels, interest rates, working capital needs and effective tax rates; and that the Company does not
complete any further acquisition other than JLG. The Company cannot provide any assurance that the assumptions referred
to in the forward-looking statements or otherwise are accurate or will prove to have been correct. Any assumptions that are
inaccurate or do not prove to be correct could have a material adverse effectRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VDELOLW\to achieve the results
that the forward-looking statements contemplate.
Fiscal 2007 Outlook
The Company estimates that fiscal 2007 consolidated net sales will range between $3.65 billion and $3.75 billion, an
increase from fiscal 2006 net sales of 6.5% to 9.4%. The Company estimates the acquisitions of AK and IMT will add $213
million to sales in fiscal 2007 because fiscal 2006 results only included their results, including sales of of $32.4 million since
the dates of acquisition. All estimates and comparisons are to fiscal 2006 and exclude the impact of the anticipated JLG
acquisition.
The Company expects the fire and emergency segment sales growth percentage to be in the mid-teens in fiscal 2007, as a
result of an estimated mid-single digit organic growth and the addition of AK. The Company estimates the acquisition of AK
will add $114 million to segment sales in fiscal 2007 because fiscal 2006 results only included its operation, including sales
of $16.5 million since the date of acquisition. The organic growth reflects lower industry demand following the diesel engine
emissions standards changes effective January 2007 as well as anticipated price increases and some market share gains.
The Company projects defense segment sales to increase by $125 million to $175 million in fiscal 2007 due to additional
IHGHUDOIXQGLQJZKLFKLQFOXGHVUHTXLUHPHQWVIRUQHZWUXFNVWRPHHWWKH'R'¶VUHTXLUHPHQWVIRU2SHUDWLRQ,UDTL)UHHGRP
while it projects defense parts and service sales to approximate fiscal 2006 sales.

7KH &RPSDQ\ HVWLPDWHV WKH FRPPHUFLDO VHJPHQW¶V VDOHV WR GHFUHDVH LQWKH ORZ VLQJOH GLJLW SHUFHQWDJH UDQJH LQ ILVFDO
2007 due to lower industry demand for concrete mixers and refuse packers in the U.S. subsequent to the diesel engine
emissions standards changes effective January 2007, partially offset by the addition of IMT. The Company estimates the
acquisition of IMT will add $99 million to segment sales in fiscal 2007 because fiscal 2006 results only included its
operation, including sales of $15.9 million since the date of acquisition. The Company projects that demand for concrete
placement and domestic refuse products in calendar 2007 will decline about 10% to 20% due to the diesel engine emissions
VWDQGDUGVFKDQJHV6LQFHWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILscal year straddles the effective date of the standards changes, the Company does
not expect the decline to affect it until sometime after the first quarter of fiscal 2007. The Company expects that Geesink
Norba Group refuse product sales will also be down slightly in fiscal 2007 due to slow demand in the United Kingdom and
the lack of available chassis in France.
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The Company is projecting consolidated operating income to be up between 14.4% and 18.1% in fiscal 2007 resulting in
operating income of between $373 million and $385 million.
The Company is projecting fire and emergency segment margins to be up 50 basis points in fiscal 2007 as compared to
fiscal 2006, reflecting benefits of cost reduction initiatives. 7KH&RPSDQ\H[SHFWVWKDW$.¶VRSHUDWLQJLQFRPHPDUJLQVZLOO
exceed 10.0% in fiscal 2007.
The Company is projecting defense segment operating income margins to remain relatively flat in fiscal 2007 as
compared to fiscal 2006.
In the commercial segment, the Company projects operating income margins to be up over 100 basis points in fiscal
2007 as a result of the acquisition of IMT, continued profitabilityDWWKH&RPSDQ\¶V(XURSHDQUHIXVHEXVLQHVVDQGWKHEHQHILWV
of cost reduction initiatives. The Company expects that IMT operating income margins will exceed 10.0% in fiscal 2007.
The Company estimates that corporate operating expenses and inter-segment profit eliminations will increase $7.5
million to approximately $80.0 million in fiscal 2007. The increase reflects the addition of a new data center and investment
in additional staff. The Company estimates that interest expense net of interest income and other expenses will increase $4.8
million to $5.5 million in fiscal 2007 due to indebtedness incurred to fund the AK and IMT acquisitions.
The Company estimates that in fiscal 2007 its effective income tax rate will decrease approximately 0.3% to 37.0%,
equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates will approximate $1.8 million and minority interest in earnings will
approximate $0.8 million.
These estimates result in the &RPSDQ\¶VHVWLPDWHRIILVFDOQHWLQFRPHEHWZHHQPLOOLRQDQGPLOOLRQDQG
earnings per share between $3.05 and $3.15 per share. The Company expects its earnings per share to be down in the first
quarter of fiscal 2007 to $0.50 to $0.55 per share compared to $0.72 per share in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 due to a tough
comparison quarter in the prior year and the later timing of estimated new and remanufactured defense truck sales. The
Company estimates that about 60.0% of its estimated annual earnings per share in fiscal 2007 will be realized in its third and
fourth quarters.
Critical Accounting Policies
The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
LQWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVRI$PHULFD ³86*$$3´ 3UHSDUDWLRQRIILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWK86*$$3UHTXLUHV
management to make estimates and judgments that affect reported amounts and related disclosures. Actual results could
differ from those estimates. The Company considers the following policies to be the most critical in understanding the
MXGJPHQWVWKDWDUHLQYROYHGLQWKHSUHSDUDWLRQRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFRQVROLGDWHGILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDQGWKHXQFHUWDLQWLHVWKDW
FRXOGLPSDFWWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOFRQGLWLRQUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVDQGFDVKIORZV
Revenue Recognition: The Company recognizes revenue on equipment and parts sales when contract terms are met,
collectibility is reasonably assured and a product is shipped or risk of ownership has been transferred to and accepted by the
customer. Revenue from service agreements is recognized as earned, when services have been rendered.
The Company records revenues under certain long-term, fixed-price defense contracts using the percentage-ofcompletion method of accounting, generally using either the cost-to-cost or units accepted method as the measurement basis
IRU HIIRUW DFFRPSOLVKHG  3URILWV H[SHFWHGto be realized on contracts are based on management estimates of total contract
VDOHVYDOXHDQGFRVWVDWFRPSOHWLRQ(VWLPDWHGDPRXQWVIRUFRQWUDFWFKDQJHVDQGFODLPVDUHLQFOXGHGLQFRQWUDFWVDOHVRQO\
when realization is estimated to be probable. Assumptions used for recording sales and earnings are recognized as a
cumulative life-to-date adjustment in the period of change to reflect revisions in contract value and estimated costs. In the
period in which it is determined that a loss will be incurred on a contract, the entire amount of the estimated loss is charged to
cost of sales.
The complexity of the estimation process and all issues related to assumptions, risks, and uncertainties inherent with the
DSSOLFDWLRQRIWKHFRVWWRFRVWPHWKRGRIDFFRXQWLQJDIIHFWWKHDPRXQWVUHSRUWHGLQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV$
number of internal and external factors affect the cost of sales estimates, including labor rate and efficiency variances,
overhead rate estimates, revised estimates of warranty costs, estimated future material prices, and customer specification
changes. If business conditions were different, or if the Company had used different assumptions in the application of this
and other accounting policies, it is likely that materially different amounts would be reported in the financial statements. Bid
and proposal costs are expensed as incurred.
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In fiscal 2005, following completion of contractually-required performance testing, the Company began initial deliveries
of wheeled tanker systems (comprised of a truck chassis and water or fuel tank trailer) under a multi-year requirements
contract with the U.K. MoD. The contract, valued at 160.5 million British Sterling ($250.4 million), calls for delivery of 357
wheeled tanker systems over a 22 month period beginning in February 2005. The contract provides that the Company is paid
within 30 days of delivery of the wheeled tanker systems to the U.K. MoD. The U.K. MoD has up to 90 days following
system delivery to reject the delivered wheeled tanker systems. Wheeled tanker systems remainLQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VLQYHQWRU\
and cash received in payment for these systems is recorded as deferred revenue until the earlier of the date that the wheeled
tanker system has been accepted by the customer or the date the rejection right lapses (generally 90 days from system
delivery) at which time the Company recognizes revenue. Sales in fiscal 2006 under this contract totaled $126.3 million.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets: In conformity with U.S. GAAP, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets
are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be
impaired. Indicators of potential impairment include situations involving significant adverse changes in business climate,
adverse actions by regulators, unanticipated competition, loss of key personnel, changes in technology or markets and
operating losses, among others. The Company performs its annual review in the fourth quarter of each year.
Recoverability of goodwill is evaluated using a two-step process. The first step involves a comparison of the fair value
of a reporting unit with its carrying value. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the second step of
the process involves a comparison of the implied fair value and carrying value of the goodwill of that reporting unit. If the
carrying value of the goodwill of a reporting unit exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is
recognized in an amount equal to the excess. Reporting units are business components at or one level below the operating
segment level for which discrete financial information is available.

7KH &RPSDQ\ SHUIRUPV LPSDLUPHQW UHYLHZV IRU LWV UHSRUWLQJ XQLWV XVLQJ D IDLUYDOXH PHWKRG EDVHG RQ PDQDJHPHQW¶V
judgments and assumptions. The fair value represents the amount at which a reporting unit could be bought or sold in a
current transaction between willing parties on an arms-length basis. The estimated fair value is then compared with the
carrying amount of the reporting unit, including recorded goodwill. The Company is subject to financial statement risk to the
extent that goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets become impaired. Any impairment review is, by its nature, highly
judgmental as estimates of future sales, earnings and cash flows are utilized to determine fair values. However, the Company
believes that it has conducted thorough and competent valuations of its goodwill and other intangible assets annually,
UHVXOWLQJLQQRLPSDLUPHQWRIJRRGZLOO6HH³&ULWLFDO$FFRXQWLQJ(VWLPDWHV´
Warranty:6DOHVRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VSURGXFWVJHQHUDOO\FDUU\W\SLFDOH[SOLFLWPDQXIDFWXUHUV¶ZDUUDQWLHVEDVHGRQWHUPV
that are generally accepted in the Compan\¶V PDUNHWSODFHV  7KH &RPSDQ\ UHFRUGV provisions for estimated warranty and
other related costs at the time of sale based on historical warranty loss experience and periodically adjusts these provisions to
reflect actual experience. Certain warranty and other related claims involve matters of dispute that ultimately are resolved by
negotiation, arbitration or litigation. At times, warranty issues arise ZKLFKDUHEH\RQGWKHVFRSHRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VKLVWRULFDO
experience. The Company provides for any such warranty issues as they become known and estimable. It is reasonably
possible that from time to time additional warranty and other related claims could arise from disputes or other matters beyond
WKHVFRSHRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VKLVWRULFDOH[SHULHQFH
Product Liability:'XHWRWKHQDWXUHRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VSURGXFWVWKH&RPSDQ\LVVXEMHFWWRSURGXFWOLDELOLW\FODLPVLQ
the normal course of business. A substantial portion of these claims and lawsuits involve thH&RPSDQ\¶VFRQFUHWHSODFHPHQW
and domestic refuse businesses, while such lawsuits in thH &RPSDQ\¶V GHIHQVH DQG ILUH DQG HPHUJHQF\ EXVLQHVVHV KDYH
historically been limited. To the extent permitted under applicable law, the Company maintains insurance to reduce or
eliminate risk to the Company. Most insurance coverage includes self-insured retentions that vary by business segment and
by year. As of September 30, 2006, the Company maintained self-insured retentions of $1.0 million per claim for each of its
businesses.
The Company establishes product liability reserves for its self-insured retention portion of any known outstanding
PDWWHUV EDVHG RQ WKH OLNHOLKRRG RI ORVV DQG WKH &RPSDQ\¶V DELOLW\ to reasonably estimate such loss. There is inherent
uncertainty as to the eventual resolution of unsettled matters due to the unpredictable nature of litigation. The Company
PDNHV HVWLPDWHV EDVHG RQ DYDLODEOH LQIRUPDWLRQ DQG WKH &RPSDQ\¶V EHVW MXGJPHQW DIWHU FRQVXOWDWLRQ ZLWK DSSURSULDWH
experts. The Company periodically revises estimates based upon changes to facts or circumstances. The Company also
utilizes actuarial methodologies to calculate reserves required for estimated incurred but not reported claims as well as to
estimate the effect of the adverse development of claims over time.
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Critical Accounting Estimates
Management of the Company has discussed the development and selection of the following critical accounting estimates
ZLWK WKH $XGLW &RPPLWWHH RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V %RDUG RI 'LUHFWRUV DQG WKH $XGLW &RPPLWWHH KDV UHYLHZHG WKH &RPSDQ\¶V
GLVFORVXUHVUHODWLQJWRVXFKHVWLPDWHVLQWKLV0DQDJHPHQW¶V'LVFXVVLRQDQG$QDO\VLVRI)LQDQFLDO&RQGLWLRQDQG5HVXOWVRI
Operations.
Warranty7KH&RPSDQ\¶VSURGXFWVJHQHUDOO\FDUU\H[SOLFLWZDUUDQWLHVWKDWH[WHQGIURPVL[PRQWKVWRILYH\HDUVEDVHG
on terms that are generally accepted in the marketplace. Selected components included in the &RPSDQ\¶VHQGSURGXFWV VXFK
DVHQJLQHVWUDQVPLVVLRQVWLUHVHWF PD\LQFOXGHPDQXIDFWXUHUV¶ZDUUDQWLHV7KHVHPDQXIDFWXUHUV¶ZDUUDQWLHVDUHJHQHUDOO\
SDVVHGRQWRWKHHQGFXVWRPHURIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VSURGXFWVDQGWKHFXVWRPHUZRXOGJHQHUDOO\GHDOGLUHFWO\ZLWKWKHFRPSRQHQW
manufacturer.

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VSROLF\LVWRUHFRUGDOLDELOLW\IRUWKHH[SHFWHGFRVWRIZDUUDQW\UHODWHGFODLPVDWWKHWLPHRIWKHVDOH7KH
DPRXQWRIZDUUDQW\OLDELOLW\DFFUXHGUHIOHFWVPDQDJHPHQW¶VEHVWHVWLPDWHRIWKHH[Sected future cost of honoring Company
REOLJDWLRQVXQGHUWKHZDUUDQW\SODQV7KH&RPSDQ\EHOLHYHVWKDWWKHZDUUDQW\DFFRXQWLQJHVWLPDWHLVD³FULWLFDODFFRXQWLQJ
HVWLPDWH´EHFDXVHFKDQJHVLQWKHZDUUDQW\SURYLVLRQFDQPDWHULally affect net income; the estimate requires management to
IRUHFDVWHVWLPDWHGSURGXFWXVDJHOHYHOVE\FXVWRPHUVLQWKHFDVHRIQHZPRGHOVFRPSRQHQWVRUWHFKQRORJ\WKHUHPD\EHD
GLIIHUHQW KLJKHU OHYHO RI ZDUUDQW\ FODLPV H[SHULHQFH WKDQ ZLWK H[LVWLQJ PDWXUH SURGXFWV DQG FHUWDLQ ZDUUDQW\ DQG RWKHU
UHODWHGFODLPVLQYROYHPDWWHUVRIGLVSXWHWKDWXOWLPDWHO\DUHUHVROYHGE\QHJRWLDWLRQDUELWUDWLRQRUOLWLJDWLRQ7KHHVWLPDWH for
ZDUUDQW\REOLJDWLRQVLVDFULWLFDO accounting estimate for each of WKH&RPSDQ\¶VRSHUDWLQJVHJPHQWV

+LVWRULFDOO\WKHFRVWRIIXOILOOLQJWKH&RPSDQ\¶VZDUUDQW\REOLJDWLRQVKDVSULQFLSDOO\LQYROYHGUHSODFHPHQWSDUWVODERU
and sometimes travel for any field retrofit campaigns. Over the past three yeDUV WKH &RPSDQ\¶V ZDUUDQW\ FRVW DV D
SHUFHQWDJHRIVDOHVKDVUDQJHGIURPRIVDOHVWRRIVDOHV:DUUDQW\FRVWVWHQGWREHKLJKHUVKRUWO\DIWHUQHZ
SURGXFW LQWURGXFWLRQV HVSHFLDOO\ WKRVH LQWURGXFWLRQV LQYROYLQJ QHZ WHFKQRORJLHV ZKHQ ILHOG ZDUUDQW\ FDPSDLJQV PD\ EH
QHFHVVDU\WRFRUUHFWRUUHWURILWFHUWDLQLWHPV$FFRUGLQJO\WKH&RPSDQ\PXVWPDNHDVVXPSWLRQVDERXWWKHQXPEHUDQGFRVW
of anticipated field warranty campaigns.  7KH &RPSDQ\¶V HVWLPDWHV DUH EDVHG RQ KLVWRULFDO H[SHULHQFH WKH H[WHQW RI SUH
SURGXFWLRQWHVWLQJWKHQXPEHURIXQLWVLQYROYHGDQGWKHH[WHQWRIQHZIHDWXUHVFRPSRQHQWVLQFOXGHGLQQHZSURGXFWPRGHOV

(DFKTXDUWHUWKH&RPSDQ\UHYLHZVDFWXDOZDUUDQW\FODLPVH[SHULHQFHWRGHWHrmine if there are any systemic defects that
ZRXOG UHTXLUH D ILHOG FDPSDLJQ  $OVR EDVHG XSRQ KLVWRULFDO H[SHULHQFH ZDUUDQW\ SURYLVLRQ UDWHV RQ QHZ SURGXFW
LQWURGXFWLRQV DUH HVWDEOLVKHGDW KLJKHU WKDQVWDQGDUG UDWHVWR UHIOHFW LQFUHDVHG H[SHFWHGZDUUDQty costs associated with any
new product introduction.

$WWLPHVZDUUDQW\LVVXHVFDQDULVHZKLFKDUHEH\RQGWKHVFRSHRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VKLVWRULFDOH[SHULHQFH,IWKHHVWLPDWH
of warranty costs in fiscal 2006 increaseGRUGHFUHDVHGE\WKH&RPSDQ\¶VDFFUXHGZDUUDQW\FRVWVFRVWVRIVDOHVDQG
RSHUDWLQJLQFRPHZRXOGHDFKFKDQJHE\PLOOLRQRUDQGUHVSHFWLYHO\
Business Combinations.7KHDOORFDWLRQRISXUFKDVHSULFHIRUEXVLQHVVFRPELQDWLRQVUHTXLUHVPDQDJHPHQWHVWLPDWHVDQG
MXGJPHQW DV WR H[SHFWDWLRQV IRU IXWXUH FDVK IORZV RI WKH DFTXLUHG EXVLQHVV DQG WKH DOORFDWLRQ RI WKRVH FDVK IORZV WR
LGHQWLILDEOH LQWDQJLEOH DVVHWV LQ GHWHUPLQLQJ WKH HVWLPDWHG IDLU YDOXH IRU SXUFKDVH SULFH DOORFDWLRQ SXUSRVHV ,I WKH DFWXDO
results differ from the estimates and judgments used in these HVWLPDWHV WKH DPRXQWV UHFRUGHG LQ WKH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV
FRXOGUHVXOWLQDSRVVLEOHLPSDLUPHQWRIWKHLQWDQJLEOHDVVHWVDQGJRRGZLOORUUHTXLUHDFFHOHUDWLRQRIWKHDPRUWL]DWLRQH[SHQVH
RI ILQLWHOLYHG LQWDQJLEOH DVVHWV  7R DLG LQ HVWDEOLVKLQJ WKH YDOXH RI JRRGZLOO DQG RWKHU LQWDQJLEOH DVVHWV DW WKH WLPH RI
DFTXLVLWLRQWKH&RPSDQ\W\SLFDOO\LQYROYHs a professional appraisal company.
Goodwill,QHYDOXDWLQJWKHUHFRYHUDELOLW\RIJRRGZLOOLWLVQHFHVVDU\WRHVWLPDWHWKHIDLUYDOXHRIWKHUHSRUWLQJXQLWV,Q
PDNLQJWKLVDVVHVVPHQWPDQDJHPHQWHVWLPDWHVGLVFRXQWHGDQWLFLSDWHGFDVKIORZVRIDUHSRUWLQJXQLWEDVHGRQDQXPEHURI
IDFWRUVLQFOXGLQJKLVWRULFDORSHUDWLQJUHVXOWVEXVLQHVVSODQVDQGPDUNHWFRQGLWLRQV5DWHVXVHGWRGLVFRXQWFDVKIORZVDUH
dependent upon interest rates and the CompDQ\¶VHVWLPDWHGFRVWRIFDSLWDODWDSRLQWin time. There are inherent uncertainties
UHODWHGWRWKHVHIDFWRUVDQGPDQDJHPHQW¶VMXGJPHQWLQDSSO\LQJWKHPWRWKHDQDO\VLVRIJRRGZLOOLPSDLUPHQW,WLVSRVVLEOH
that assumptions underlying the impairment analysis will change in such a manner that impairment in value may occur in the
future.

:KLOHWKH&RPSDQ\¶V*HHVLQN1RUED*URXSUHSRUWHGRSHUDWLQJLQFRPHRIPLOOLRQLQILVFDOLWVIRXUWKTXDUWHU
SHUIRUPDQFH UHVXOWHG LQ D ORVV  ,Q DGGLWLRQ LWV EDFNORJ ZDV GRZQ  DV RI 6HSWHPEHU   GXH WR D GHFUHDVH LQ
RUGHUV LQ WKH 8QLWHG .LQJGRP DQG )UDQFH  $V D UHVXOW RI WKLV ORVV DQG GHFUHDVH LQ EDFNORJ WKH &RPSDQ\ FRQWLQXHG WR
PRQLWRUZKHWKHUDQLPSDLUPHQWRIWKH*HHVLQN1RUED*URXSJRRGZLOOKDGRFFXUUHG*RRGZLOODVVRFLDWHGZLWKWKH*HHVLQN
1RUED*URXSZKLFKZDVUHFRUGHGLQFRQQHFWLRQZLWKWKHDFTXLVLWLRQRIWKLVEXVLQHVVLQ-XO\WRWDOHG¼PLOOLRQDV
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of September 30, 2006 ($136.5 million based on the exchange rate as of September 30, 2006). Most of the European refuse
markets served by the Geesink Norba Group have been in a recession since 2001. While experiencing a slight improvement
in fiscal 2005 and 2006, the Company believes that refuse collection vehicle market sales volumes in Europe declined by
more than 20% from fiscal 2001 levels to fiscal 2004 levels and that pricing in several of its markets declined by 5% to 10%
over this period. During fiscal 2004, the Company launched a new Geesink-branded, smooth-sided, rear loader refuse
FROOHFWLRQYHKLFOHDQGWKH9DOX¼3DNYDOXHSULFHGUHIXVHFROOHFWLRQYHKLFOHLQWRWKH(XURSHDQUHIXVHPDUNHWWRVSXUGHPDQG
IRU WKH &RPSDQ\¶V SURGXFWV  )ROORZLQJ WKH ODXQFK RI WKH QHZ Geesink-branded rear loader, its product cost substantially
H[FHHGHGWKH&RPSDQ\¶VHVWLPDWHG product cost and initial production units involved substantial warranty claims until certain
design changes were made in fiscal 2005 and 2006. These issues caused the Geesink Norba Group to begin reporting
operating losses in the business in the quarter ended June 30, 2004. The Company made a management change and assigned
its lean team to the business in early fiscal 2005 to resolve the product design issues and to substantially reduce the
manufacturing costs of the Geesink-branded rear loader. As a result of these initiatives, the Company recorded a $3.7 million
workforce reduction charge in fiscal 2005 to rightsize its workforce in The Netherlands and to commence a strategy to
outsource certain activities to lower cost manufacturing sites. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005 and the first three quarters
of fiscal 2006, the Geesink Norba Group returned to profitability. During the fourth quarter, the United Kingdom market
EHJDQWRGHFOLQHDVDUHVXOWRIDGHFUHDVHLQJRYHUQPHQWIXQGLQJDQGWKHFRQVROLGDWLRQRIWZRRI*HHVLQN¶VSULPDU\FXVWRPHUV
LQWKDWFRXQWU\,QDGGLWLRQOLPLWHGFKDVVLVDYDLODELOLW\LQ)UDQFHUHGXFHGRUGHUVLQWKDWFRXQWU\7KH&RPSDQ\H[SHFWVWKDW
the business will incur operating losses through the first two quarters of fiscal 2007, but that the business will be modestly
profitable in fiscal 2007. The Company believes that profitability will continue to improve in fiscal 2008 following the
LPSURYHPHQW RI WKH PDUNHWV LQ WKH 8QLWHG .LQJGRP DQG )UDQFH DGGLWLRQDO FRVW UHGXFWLRQ DFWLYLWLHV DQG RWKHU SODQQHG
DFWLRQV%DVHGODUJHO\RQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VHVWLPDWHGEHQHILWVRILWVFRVWUHGXFWLRQLQLWLDWLYHVLQILVFDODQGDQGWKH
improvement in the end markets, the Company developed long-term projections of estimated cash flows from the Geesink
Norba Group to assess the fair value of the business. As a result, the Company determined that the fair value of the Geesink
Norba Group exceeded its carrying value at September 30, 2006, and therefore determined that the goodwill recorded in
connection with the acquisition of the Geesink Norba Group was not impaired. Although any assessment of goodwill is
dependent on projections of future operating results, the Company believes that it conducted a thorough and competent
valuation of the Geesink Norba Group at September 30, 2006 in support of its assessment. The Company intends to continue
to review the results of its initiatives and to monitor the valuation of its investment in the Geesink Norba Group as
appropriate during fiscal 2007.
To the extent that the Geesink Norba Group is not able to achieve expected sales and operating income performance in
fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2008, the Company could be required to record a goodwill impairment charge. The range of potential
charge would be based on a number of factors, including the speed of the European economic recovery, the results of the
&RPSDQ\¶V FRVW UHGXFWLRQ DFWLYLWLHV *HHVLQN 1RUED *URXS¶V RSerating performance, competition, required future capital
expenditures, interest rates and long-term growth assumptions. The Company cannot provide any assurance that future
goodwill impairment tests will not result in a charge to earnings.
Deferred Income Tax Assets: The Company records deferred income tax assets and liabilities for differences between
the book basis and tax basis of the related net assets. The Company records a valuation allowance, when appropriate, to
adjust deferred tax asset balances to the amount management expects to realize. Management considers, as applicable, the
amount of taxable income available in carryback years, future taxable income and potential tax planning strategies in
assessing the need for a valuation allowance. The Company will require future taxable income in The Netherlands in order to
fully realize the net deferred tax asset in that jurisdiction. At September 30, 2006, a valuation allowance has been established
to reserve for the net deferred tax asset related to tax loss carryforwards in The Netherlands.
Benefit Plans:7KHSHQVLRQEHQHILWREOLJDWLRQDQGUHODWHGSHQVLRQLQFRPHDUHFDOFXODWHGLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWK6)$61R
 ³(PSOR\HU¶V $FFRXQWLQJ IRU 3HQVLRQV´ DQG DUH LPSDFWHG E\ FHUWDLQ DFWXDULDO DVVXPSWLRQV including the discount rate
and the expected rate of return on plan assets. These rates are evaluated on an annual basis considering such factors as market
interest rates and historical asset performance. Actuarial valuations at September 30, 2006 used a discount rate of 5.75% and
an expected rate of return on plan assets of 8.25%. A 0.5% decrease in the discount rate would increase annual pension
expense by approximately $1.4 million. A 0.5% decrease in the expected return on plan assets would increase our annual
pension expense by approximately $0.7 million.

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VRWKHUSRVWUHWLUHPHQWEHQHfits obligation and related expense are FDOFXODWHGLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWK6)$61R
 ³(PSOR\HUV¶ $FFRXQWLQJ IRU 3RVWUHWLUHPHQW %HQHILWV 2WKHU 7KDQ 3HQVLRQV´ DQG DUH LPSDFWHG E\ FHUWDLQ DFWXDULDO
assumptions, including health care trend rates. An increase of one percentage point in health care costs would increase the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by $3.4 million and would increase the annual service and interest cost by
$0.5 million. A corresponding decrease of one percentage point, would decrease the accumulated postretirement benefit by
$3.1 million and decrease the annual service and interest cost by $0.4 million.
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7KH&RPSDQ\¶VEHQHILWSODQDVVXPSWLRQVDUHGHWHUPLQHGE\XVLQJDEHQFKPDUNDSSURDFKDVZHOODVFXUUHQWO\DYDLODEOH
DFWXDULDOGDWD
New Accounting Standards
Accounting Changes: ,Q 0D\  WKH )LQDQFLDO $FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV %RDUG ³)$6%´  LVVXHG 6)$6 1R 
³$FFRXQWLQJ&KDQJHVDQG(UURU&RUUHFWLRQVDUHSODFHPHQWRI$3%2SLQLRQ1RDQG)$6%6WDWHPHQW1R´3UHYLRXVO\
$3% 2SLQLRQ 1R  ³$FFRXQWLQJ &KDQJHV´ DQG )$6% 6WDWHPHQW 1R  ³5HSRUWLQJ $FFRXQWLQJ &KDQJHV LQ ,QWHULP
)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV´UHTXLUHGWKHLQFOXVLRQRIWKHFXPXODWLYHHIIHFWRIFKDQJHVLQDFFRXQWLQJSULQFLSOHLQQHWLQFRPHRIWKH
SHULRGRIWKHFKDQJH6)$61RUHTXLUHVFRPSDQLHVWRUHFRJQL]HDFKDQJHLQDFFRXQWLQJSULQFLSOHLQFOXGLQJDFKDQJH
UHTXLUHG E\ D QHZ DFFRXQWLQJ SURQRXQFHPHQW ZKHQ WKH SURQRXQFHPHQW GRHV QRW LQFOXGH VSHFLILF WUDQVLWLRQ SURYLVLRQV
UHWURVSHFWLYHO\WRSULRUSHULRGILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV6)$61RLVHIIHFWLYHIRUWKH&RPSDQ\EHJLQQLQJ2FWREHU
$GRSWLRQ RI 6)$6 1R  LV QRW H[SHFWHG WR KDYH D PDWHULDO LPSDFW RQ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V ILQDQFLDO FRQGLWLRQ UHVXOWV RI
RSHUDWLRQVRUFDVKIORZV
Hybrid Financial Instruments:  ,Q )HEUXDU\  WKH )$6% LVVXHG 6)$6 1R  ³$FFRXQWLQJ IRU &HUWDLQ +\EULG
)LQDQFLDO,QVWUXPHQWV´ZKLFKDPHQGV6)$61R³$FFRXQWLQJIRU'HULYDWLYH,QVWUXPHQWVDQG+HGJLQJ$FWLYLWLHV´DQG
6)$61R³$FFRXQWLQJIRU7UDQVIHUVDQG6HUYLFLQJRI)LQDQFLDO$VVHWVDQG([WLQJXLVKPHQWVRI/LDELOLWLHV´6)$61R
SURYLGHVJXLGDQFHWRVLPSOLI\WKHDFFRXQWLQJIRUFHUWDLQK\EULGLQVWUXPHQWVE\SHUPLWWLQJIDLUYDOXHUHPHDVXUHPHQWIRU
DQ\ K\EULG ILQDQFLDO LQVWUXPHQW WKDW FRQWDLQV DQ HPEHGGHG GHULYDWLYH DV ZHOO DV WR FODULI\ WKDW EHQHILFLDO LQWHUHVWV LQ
VHFXULWL]HGILQDQFLDODVVHWVDUHVXEMHFWWR6)$61R,QDGGLWLRQ6)$61RHOLPLQDWHVDUHVWULFWLRQRQWKHSDVVLYH
GHULYDWLYHLQVWUXPHQWVWKDWDTXDOLI\LQJVSHFLDOíSXUSRVHHQWLW\PD\KROGXQGHU6)$61R6)$61RLVHIIHFWLYHIRU
WKH &RPSDQ\ IRU DOO ILQDQFLDO LQVWUXPHQWV DFTXLUHG LVVXHG RU VXEMHFW WR D QHZ EDVLV RFFXUULQJ DIWHU 6HSWHPEHU  
$GRSWLRQ RI 6)$6 1R  LV QRW H[SHFWHG WR KDYH D PDWHULDO LPSDFW RQ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V ILQDQFLDO FRQGLWLRQ UHVXOWV RI
RSHUDWLRQVRUFDVKIORZV
Servicing of Financial Assets:,Q0DUFKWKH)$6%LVVXHG6)$61R³$FFRXQWLQJIRU6HUYLFLQJRI)LQDQFLDO
$VVHWV´ZKLFKDPHQGV6)$61R6)$61RSURYLGHVJXLGDQFHZKLFKDGGUHVVHVWKHUHFRJQLWLRQDQGPHDVXUHPHQW
RI VHSDUDWHO\ UHFRJQL]HG VHUYLFLQJ DVVHWV DQG OLDELOLWLHV FRPPRQ ZLWK PRUWJDJH VHFXULWL]DWLRQ DFWLYLWLHV DQG SURYLGHV DQ
DSSURDFK WR VLPSOLI\ HIIRUWV WR REWDLQ KHGJH DFFRXQWLQJ WUHDWPHQW  6)$6 1R  LV HIIHFWLYH IRU WKH &RPSDQ\ IRU DOO
VHSDUDWHO\UHFRJQL]HGVHUYLFLQJDVVHWVDQGOLDELOLWLHVDFTXLUHGRULVVXHGDIWHU6HSWHPEHU$GRSWLRQRI6)$61R
LVQRWH[SHFWHGWRKDYHDPDWHULDOLPSDFWRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOFRQGLWLRQUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVRUFDVKIORZV
Uncertainty in Income Taxes:  ,Q -XQH  WKH )$6% LVVXHG )$6% ,QWHUSUHWDWLRQ 1R ³),1´   ³$FFRXQWLQJ IRU
8QFHUWDLQW\LQ,QFRPH7D[HV´DQLQWHUSUHWDWLRQRI)$6%6WDWHPHQW1R),1SURYLGHVJXLGDQFHIRUWKHUHFRJQLWLRQ
GHUHFRJQLWLRQDQGPHDVXUHPHQWLQILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVRIWD[SRVLWLRQVWDNHQLQSUHYLRXVO\ILOHGWD[UHWXUQVRUWD[SRVLWLRQV
H[SHFWHGWREHWDNHQLQWD[UHWXUQV),1UHTXLUHVDQHQWLW\WRUHFRJQL]HWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWLPSDFWRIDWD[SRVLWLRQ
ZKHQ LW LV PRUH OLNHO\ WKDQ QRW WKDW WKH SRVLWLRQ ZLOO EH VXVWDLQHG XSRQ H[DPLQDWLRQ  ,I WKH WD[ SRVLWLRQ PHHWV WKH
PRUHíOLNHO\íWKDQíQRWUHFRJQLWLRQWKUHVKROGWKHWD[HIIHFWLVUHFRJQL]HGDWWKHODUJHVWDPRXQWRIWKHEHQHILWWKDWLVJUHDWHU
WKDQILIW\SHUFHQWOLNHO\RI EHLQJUHDOL]HGXSRQXOWLPDWHVHWWOHPHQW7KH&RPSDQ\ZLOOEHUHTXLUHGWRDGRSW),1DVRI
2FWREHU   ZLWK DQ\ FXPXODWLYH HIIHFW RI WKH FKDQJH LQ DFFRXQWLQJ SULQFLSOH UHFRUGHG DV DQ DGMXVWPHQW WR RSHQLQJ
UHWDLQHGHDUQLQJV7KH&RPSDQ\LVFXUUHQWO\HYDOXDWLQJWKHLPSDFWRI),1RQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOFRQGLWLRQUHVXOWV
RIRSHUDWLRQVDQGFDVKIORZV
Fair Value Measurements:  ,Q 6HSWHPEHU  WKH )$6% LVVXHG 6)$6 1R  ³)DLU 9DOXH 0HDVXUHPHQWV´ ZKLFK
GHILQHVIDLUYDOXHHVWDEOLVKHVDIUDPHZRUNIRUPHDVXULQJIDLUYDOXHDQGH[SDQGVGLVFORVXUHVDERXWIDLUYDOXHPHDVXUHPHQWV
6)$61RFODULILHVWKHGHILQLWLRQRIH[FKDQJHSULFHDVWKHSULFHEHWZHHQPDUNHWSDUWLFLSDQWVLQDQRUGHUO\WUDQVDFWLRQWR
VHOODQDVVHWRUWUDQVIHUDOLDELOLW\LQWKHPDUNHWLQZKLFKWKHUHSRUWLQJHQWLW\ZRXOGWUDQVDFWIRUWKHDVVHWRUOLDELOLW\WKDWLV
WKHSULQFLSDORUPRVWDGYDQWDJHRXVPDUNHWIRUWKHDVVHWRUOLDELOLW\7KH&RPSDQ\ZLOOEHUHTXLUHGWRDGRSW6)$61RDV
RI2FWREHU7KH&RPSDQ\LVFXUUHQWO\HYDOXDWLQJWKHLPSDFWRI6)$61RRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOFRQGLWLRQ
UHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVDQGFDVKIORZV
Pension Accounting:,Q6HSWHPEHUWKH)$6%LVVXHG6)$61R³(PSOR\HUV¶$FFRXQWLQJIRU'HILQHG%HQHILW
3HQVLRQDQG2WKHU3RVWUHWLUHPHQW3ODQV²DQDPHQGPHQWRI)$6%6WDWHPHQWV1RDQG 5 ´ZKLFKUHTXLUHV
WKH HPSOR\HU WR UHFRJQL]H WKH RYHUIXQGHG RU XQGHUIXQGHG VWDWXV RI D GHILQHG EHQHILW SRVWUHWLUHPHQW SODQ DV DQ DVVHW RU
OLDELOLW\LQLW¶VVWDWHPHQWRIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQDQGWRUHFRJQL]HFKDQJHVLQWKDWIXQGHGVWDWXVLQWKH\HDULQZKLFKWKHFKDQJHV
RFFXUWKURXJKFRPSUHKHQVLYHLQFRPH7KH&RPSDQ\ZLOOEHUHTXLUHGWRDGRSW6)$61RDVRI6HSWHPEHU7KH
&RPSDQ\LVFXUUHQWO\HYDOXDWLQJWKHLPSDFWRI6)$61RRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOFRQGLWLRQUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVDQG
FDVKIORZV
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Customers and Backlog

6DOHV WR WKH 86 JRYHUQPHQW FRPSULVHG DSSUR[LPDWHO\  RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V QHW VDOHV LQ ILVFDO   1R RWKHU
VLQJOH FXVWRPHU DFFRXQWHGIRU PRUH WKDQRI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V QHWVDOHV IRU WKLVSHULRG $ VXEVWDQWLDO PDMRULW\ RI WKH
&RPSDQ\¶VQHWVDOHVDUHGHULYHGIURPFXVWRPHURUGHUVSULRUWRFRPPHQFLQJSURGXFWLRQ

7KH &RPSDQ\¶V EDFNORJ DW 6HSWHPEHU   GHFUHDVHG  WR  PLOOLRQ FRPSDUHG WR  PLOOLRQ DW
6HSWHPEHU    )LUH DQG HPHUJHQF\ VHJPHQW EDFNORJ LQFUHDVHG  WR  PLOOLRQ DW 6HSWHPEHU  
FRPSDUHGWRPLOOLRQDW6HSWHPEHUGXHWRLPSURYLQJGRPHVWLFPXQLFLSDOPDUNHWVPDUNHWVKDUHJDLQVDQGWKH
LQFOXVLRQ RI  PLOOLRQ RI EDFNORJ UHODWHG WR $. ZKLFK ZDV DFTXLUHG LQ ILVFDO   7KH GHIHQVH VHJPHQW EDFNORJ
GHFUHDVHGWRPLOOLRQDW6HSWHPEHUFRPSDUHGWRPLOOLRQDW6HSWHPEHUGXHWRWLPLQJ
RI)+79FRQWUDFWUHQHZDOFRQWLQXHGSURGXFWLRQXQGHU8.ZKHHOHGWDQNHUFRQWUDFWDQGDVORZGRZQLQVDOHVRISDUWVDQG
services for the DoD. The Company anticipates that its defensHVHJPHQWEDFNORJZLOOULVHRYHUWKHQH[WVL[PRQWKVDV'R'
contracts are executed against recent federaOEXGJHWELOOV&RPPHUFLDOVHJPHQWEDFNORJLQFUHDVHGWRPLOOLRQDW
6HSWHPEHU   FRPSDUHG WR  PLOOLRQ DW 6HSWHPEHU    2UGHUV FRQWLQXHG WR UHPDLQ VWURQJ LQ 1RUWK
$PHULFDLQDGYDQFHRIGLHVHOHQJLQHHPLVVLRQVVWDQGDUGVFKDQJHVHIIHFWLYH-DQXDU\8QLWEDFNORJIRUUHIXVHSDFNHUV
ZDV XS  GRPHVWLFDOO\  8QLW EDFNORJ IRU IURQWGLVFKDUJH DQG UHDUGLVFKDUJH FRQFUHWH PL[HUV ZDV XS  DQG
 UHVSHFWLYHO\  8QLW EDFNORJ IRU UHIXVH SDFNHUV ZDV GRZQ  LQ (XURSH DV D UHVXOW RI VORZ RUGHU LQWDNH LQ WKH
8QLWHG.LQJGRP DQG FKDVVLV VXSSO\ LVVXHV LQ )UDQFH  $SSUR[LPDWHO\  PLOOLRQ RI WKHRYHUDOO LQFUHDVH LQ FRPPHUFLDO
VHJPHQW EDFNORJ UHODWHG WR ,07 ZKLFK WKH &RPSDQ\ DFTXLUHG LQ ILVFDO   $SSUR[LPDWHO\  RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V
6HSWHPEHUEDFNORJLVQRWH[SHFWHGWREHILOOHGLQILVFDO

5HSRUWHG EDFNORJ H[FOXGHV SXUFKDVH RSWLRQV DQG DQQRXQFHG RUGHUV IRU ZKLFK GHILQLWLYH FRQWUDFWV KDYH QRW EHHQ
H[HFXWHG  $GGLWLRQDOO\ EDFNORJ H[FOXGHV XQIXQGHG SRUWLRQV RI WKH )+79 0795 ,',4 DQG /965 FRQWUDFWV  $V RI
6HSWHPEHURQO\PLOOLRQRIWKHDQWLFLSDWHG/965FRQWUDFWKDVEHHQIXQGHGDQGLQFOXGHGLQEDFNORJ%DFNORJ
LQIRUPDWLRQDQGFRPSDULVRQVWKHUHRIDVRIGLIIHUHQWGDWHVPD\QRWEHDFFXrate indicators of future sales or the ratio of the
&RPSDQ\¶VIXWXUHVDOHVWRWKH'R'YHrsus its sales to other customers.
Financial Market Risk

7KH&RPSDQ\LVH[SRVHGWRPDUNHWULVNIURPFKDQJHVLQIRUHLJQH[FKDQJHUDWHVLQWHUHVWUDWHVDQGFHUWDLQFRPPRGLW\
SULFHV7RUHGXFHWKHULVNIURPFKDQJHVLQIRUHLJQH[FKDQJHUDWHVWKH&RPSDQ\VHOHFWLYHO\XVHVILQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWV7KH
Company does not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes.
Interest Rate Risk

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VLQWHUHVWH[SHQVHLVVHQVLWLYHWRFKDQJHVLQWKHLQWHUHVWUDWHVLQWKH86DQGRIIVKRUHPDUNHWV,QWKLV
UHJDUGFKDQJHVLQ86DQGRIIVKRUHLQWHUHVWUDWHVDIIHFWLQWHUHVWSD\DEOHRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VERUURZLQJVXQGHULWVUHYROYLQJ
credit facility. The Company has not historically utilized derivaWLYHVHFXULWLHVWRIL[YDULDEOHUDWHLQWHUHVWREOLJDWLRQVRU to
PDNHIL[HGUDWHLQWHUHVWREOLJDWLRQVYDULDEOH,IVKRUWWHUPLQWHUHVWUDWHVDYHUDJHGWZRSHUFHQWDJHSRLQWVKLJKHULQILVFDO
WKDQ LQ ILVFDO  WKHQ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V LQWHUHVW H[SHQVH ZRXOG LQFUHDVH DQG SUHWD[ LQFRPH ZRXOG GHFUHDVH E\
DSSUR[LPDWHO\PLOOLRQ7KHVHDPRXQWVDUHGHWHUPLQHGE\FRQVLGHULQJWKHLPSDFWRIWKHK\SRWKHWLFDOLQWHUHVWUDWHVRQWKH
&RPSDQ\¶VERUURZLQJFRVWEXWGRQRWFRQVLGer the effects of the reduced level of overall economic activity that could exist
LQ VXFK DQ HQYLURQPHQW  )XUWKHU LQ WKH HYHQW RI D FKDQJH RI VXFK PDJQLWXGH PDQDJHPHQW ZRXOG OLNHO\ WDNH DFWLRQV WR
PLWLJDWHWKH&RPSDQ\¶VH[SRVXUHWRWKHFKDQJH+RZHYHUGXHWRWKHXQFHUWDLQW\RIWKHVSHFLILFDFWLRQVWKDWZRXOGEHWDNHQ
DQGWKHLUSRVVLEOHHIIHFWVWKHIRUHJRLQJVHQVLWLYLW\DQDO\VLVDVVXPHVQRFKDQJHVLQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOVWUXFWXUHRWKHU
than as noted.
Commodity Risk
The Company is a purchaser of certain FRPPRGLWLHV LQFOXGLQJ VWHHO DOXPLQXP DQG FRPSRVLWHV  ,Q DGGLWLRQ WKH
Company is a purchaser of components anG SDUWV FRQWDLQLQJ YDULRXV FRPPRGLWLHV LQFOXGLQJ VWHHO DOXPLQXP UXEEHU DQG
RWKHUV ZKLFK DUH LQWHJUDWHG LQWR WKH &RPSDQ\¶V HQG SURGXFWV  7KH &RPSDQ\ JHQHUDOO\ EX\V WKHVH FRPPRGLWLHV DQG
FRPSRQHQWVEDVHGXSRQPDUNHWSULFHVWKDWDUHHVWDEOLVKHGZLWK the vendor as part of the purchase process. The Company
does not use commodity financial instruments to hedge commodity prices.
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The Company generally obtains firm quotations from its suppliers for a significant portion of its orders under firm fixedSULFH FRQWUDFWV LQ LWV GHIHQVH VHJPHQW  ,Q WKH &RPSDQ\¶s fire and emergency and commercial segments, the Company
generally attempts to obtain firm pricing from most of its suppliers, consistent with backlog requirements and/or forecasted
annual sales. To the extent that commodity prices increase and the Company does not have firm pricing from its suppliers, or
its suppliers are not able to honor such prices, then the Company may experience margin declines to the extent it is not able
to increase selling prices of its products.
Foreign Currency Risk

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VRSHUDWLRQVFRQVLVWRIPDQXIDFWXULQJLQWKH86&DQDGD7KH1HWKHUODQGVWKH8QLWHG.LQJGRP,WDO\
6ZHGHQ 0H[LFR DQG 5RPDQLD DQG VDOHV and limited vehicle body mounting activitieV WKURXJKRXW WKH 86 DQG LQ YDULRXV
European jurisdictions. International sales were approximately 17.7% of overall net sales in fiscal 2006, including
DSSUR[LPDWHO\RIRYHUDOOQHWVDOHVLQILVFDOWKDWLQYROYHGH[SRUWVDOHVIURPWKH867KHPDMRULW\RIH[SRUWVDOHV
LQ ILVFDO  ZHUH GHQRPLQDWHG LQ 86 GROODUV  )RU WKH &RPSDQ\¶V 86 RSHUations, the Company generally purchases
PDWHULDOV DQG FRPSRQHQW SDUWV WKDW DUH GHQRPLQDWHG LQ 86 GROODUV DQG VHHNV FXVWRPHU SD\PHQW LQ 86 GROODUV IRU ODUJH
multi-unit sales contracts, which span several months or years.

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VFRQWUDFWWRSURYLGHZKHHOHGWDQNHUVWRWKH8.0R'SURYLGHVWKDWWKH&RPSDQ\VKDOOLQYRLFHDQGEH
SDLGLQ%ULWLVK6WHUOLQJ7KH&RPSDQ\¶VFRVWVXQGHUWKLVFRQWUDFWDUHSD\DEOHLQ86GROODUV%ULWLVK6WHUOLQJDQG(XUR7KH
Company has instituted a hedging program by entering into a series of forward foreign exchange contracts to sell British
6WHUOLQJ DQG (XUR DQG SXUFKDVH%ULWLVK 6WHUOLQJ DQG (XUR WR KHGJH D SRUWLRQ RI WKH UHODWHG 86 GROODU HTXLYDOHQW RI WKHVH
DPRXQWV6KRXOGVLJQLILFDQWFKDQJHVRFFXr in the actual timing of forecasted BritisK6WHUOLQJUHFHLSWVXQGHUWKH8.ZKHHOHG
tanker contract, the underlying forward foreign exchange contracts which have been designated as a hedge of such forecasted
receipts may become partially ineffective which could lead to unintended earnings volatility.

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VHDUQLQJVDUHDIIHFWHGE\IOXFWXDWLRQVLQWKHYDOXHRIWKH86GROODUDJDLQVWIRUHLJQFXUUHQFLHVSULPDULO\
as a result of the effects of the translaWLRQRIWKH*HHVLQN1RUED*URXS%$,DQG/RQGon earnings from source currencies into
86GROODUVDQG(XURGHQRPLQDWHGSXUFKDVHVRIWDQNERGLHVDQGWDQNSXPSLQJV\VWHPVLQWKHGHIHQVHVHJPHQWDQGKHGJLQJ
FXVWRPHU RUGHUV GHQRPLQDWHG LQ FXUUHQFLHV RWKHU WKDQ WKH 86 GROODU  7KH &RPSDQ\ PD\ XVH IRUZDUG IRUHLJQ H[FKDQJH
FRQWUDFWV WR SDUWLDOO\ KHGJH DJDLQVW WKH HDUQLQJV HIIHFWV RI VXFK IOXFWXDWLRQV LQ H[FKDQJH UDWHV RQ QRQ86 GROODU
GHQRPLQDWHGVDOHVDQGSXUFKDVHV$W6HSWHPEHUWKe Company had outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts
WRSXUFKDVHPLOOLRQ(XUR PLOOLRQEDVHGRQWKHH[FKDQJHUDWHDVRI6HSWHPEHU IRUVHWWOHPHQWGXULQJWKH
SHULRG IURP 2FWREHU  WKURXJK -DQXDU\   $W 6HSWHPEHU   WKH &RPSDQ\ KDG RXWVWDQGLQJ IRUZDUG IRUHLJQ
H[FKDQJHFRQWUDFWVWRVHOOPLOOLRQ%ULWLVK6WHUOLQJ PLOOLRQEDVHGRQWKHH[FKDQJHUDWHDVRI6HSWHPEHU 
IRUVHWWOHPHQWGXULQJWKHSHULRGIURP2FWREHUWKURXJK1RYHPEHUWRKHGJHRXWVWDQGLQJILUPVDOHVFRPPLWPHQWV
$ K\SRWKHWLFDO  VWUHQJWKHQLQJ RU ZHDNHQLQJ RI WKH 86 GROODU UHODWLYH WR DOO RWKHU FXUUHQFLHV ZRXOG QRW KDYH KDG D
PDWHULDO LPSDFW RQ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V ILVFDO  HDUQLQJV RU FDVh flows. However, to a certain extent, foreign currency
H[FKDQJHUDWHPRYHPHQWVPD\DOVRDIIHFWWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFRPSetitive position, as exchange rate changes may affect business
SUDFWLFHV WKH &RPSDQ\¶V FRVW VWUXFWXUH FRPSDUHG WR LWV FRPSHWLWRUV¶ FRVW VWUXFWXUHV DQGRU SULFLQJ VWUDWHJLHV RI QRQ86
based competitors.

)OXFWXDWLRQVLQFXUUHQF\H[FKDQJHUDWHVPD\DOVRLPSDFWWKH&RPSDQ\¶VVKDUHKROGHUV¶HTXLW\$PRXQWVLQYHVWHGLQWKH
&RPSDQ\¶VQRQ86VXEVLGLDULHVDUHWUDQVODWHGLQWR86GROODUVDWWKHH[FKDQJHUDWHVLQHIIHFWDW\HDUHQG7KHUHVXOWLQJ
translation adjustments are UHFRUGHG LQ VKDUHKROGHUV¶ HTXLW\ DV FXPXODWLYHtranslation adjustments. In connection with the
&RPSDQ\¶V DFTXLVLWLRQ RI %$, LQ -XO\  WKH &RPSDQ\ ERUURZHG ¼ PLOOLRQ XQGHU LWV EDQN FUHGLW IDFLOLW\ DQG
GHVLJQDWHGVXFKERUURZLQJDVDKHGJHRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VQHWLQYHVWPHQWLQ%$,$VVXFKWKHLPSDFWRIIOXFWXDWLRQVLQWKH
86 GROODU HTXLYDOHQW RI WKH ¼ PLOOLRQ (XURGHQRPLQDWHG GHEW LV FKDUJHG RU FUHGLWHG GLUHFWO\ WR VKDUHKROGHUV¶ HTXLW\
RIIVHWWLQJLQSDUWDGMXVWPHQWVWRVKDUHKROGHUV¶HTXLW\WRUHFRUGWKHFXPXODWLYHWUDQVODWLRQRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VLQYHVWPHQWLQ
%$,7KHFXPXODWLYHWUDQVODWLRQDGMXVWPHQWVFRPSRQHQWRIVKDUHKROGHUV¶HTXLW\LQFUHDVHGPLOOLRQLQILVFDO QHW
RIWKHPLOOLRQDGMXVWPHQWUHODWHGWRWKH%$,QHWLQYHVWPHQWKHGJH 8VLQJWKH\HDUHQGH[FKDQJHUDWHVWKHWRWDODPRXQW
LQYHVWHGLQQRQ86VXEVLGLDULHVDW6HSWHPEHUZDVDSSUR[LPDWHO\PLOOLRQ
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The following table quantifies firmly committed sales contracts and forecasted purchase requirements which are
denominated in foreign currencies and related outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts intended to hedge those
foreign currency exposures. Sales and purchase commitments are expressed in U.S. dollars based on the applicable currency
exchange rate as of September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The Company has no exposure in, or commitments for,
fiscal year 2008 or thereafter.

(Dollars in Millions)
As of September 30, 2006
As of September 30, 2005
Principal/
Principal/
Notional
Notional
Amount
Amount
Fair Value
Fair Value
(USD/Foreign Currency)
Firmly Committed Sales Contracts
British Sterling
Related Forward Contracts to Sell
Foreign Currencies for U.S. $
British Sterling
Notional amount
Average contract rate
Euro
Notional amount
Average contract rate
Forecasted Purchases
Euro
Related Forward Contracts to Buy
Foreign Currencies for U.S. $
Euro
Notional amounts
Average contract rate

ITEM 7A.

$

62.7

$

22.6
0.681

$

-

$

13.2

$

13.2
0.816

$

165.3

$

(6.2)

$

141.0
0.647

$

(19.2)

$

-

$

1.6
0.816

$

-

$

48.5

$

48.5
0.843

$

1.3

$

0.5

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK


7KH LQIRUPDWLRQ XQGHU WKH FDSWLRQ ³0DQDJHPHQW¶V 'LVFXVVLon and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
2SHUDWLRQV±)LQDQFLDO0DUNHW5LVN´FRQWDLQHGLQ,WHPRIWKLV)RUP.LVKHUHE\LQFRUSRUDWHGE\UHIHUHQFHLQDQVZHUWR
this item.
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ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Oshkosh Truck Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Oshkosh Truck Corporation and subsidiaries (the
³&RPSDQ\´ DVRI6HSWHPEHUDQGDQGWKHUHODWHGFRQVROLGDWHGVWDWHPHQWVRILQFRPHVKDUHKROGHUV HTXLW\DQG
cash flows for each of the three years in WKH SHULRG HQGHG 6HSWHPEHU    2Xr audits also included the financial
statement schedule listed in the Table of CoQWHQWVDW,WHP7KHVHILQDQFLDOVWDWements and financial statement schedule are
WKHUHVSRQVLELOLW\RIWKH&RPSDQ\ VPDQDJHPHQW2XUUHVSRQVLELOLW\LVWRH[SUHVVDQRSLQLRQRQWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDQG
ILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVFKHGXOHEDVHGRQRXUDXGLWV
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
6WDWHV   7KRVH VWDQGDUGV UHTXLUH WKDW ZH SODQ DQG SHUIRUP the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
ILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDUHIUHHRIPDWHULDOPLVVWDWHPHQW$QDXGLWLQFOXGHVH[DPLQLQJRQDWHVWEDVLVHYLGHQFHVXSSRUWLQJWKH
DPRXQWV DQG GLVFORVXUHV LQ WKH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV  $Q DXGLW DOVR LQFOXGHV DVVHVVLQJ WKH DFFRXQWLQJ SULQFLSOHV XVHG DQG
VLJQLILFDQW HVWLPDWHV PDGH E\ PDQDJHPHQW DVZHOO DV HYDOXDWLQJ WKHRYHUDOO ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQW SUHVHQWDWLRQ :H EHOLHYH
WKDWRXUDXGLWVSURYLGHDUHDVRQDEOHEDVLVIRURXURSLQLRQ
,Q RXU RSLQLRQ VXFK FRQVROLGDWHG ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV SUHVHQWV IDLUO\ LQ DOO PDWHULDO UHVSHFWV WKH ILQDQFLDO SRVLWLRQ RI
2VKNRVK7UXFN&RUSRUDWLRQDQGVXEVLGLDULHVDVRI6HSWHPEHUDQGDQGWKHUHVXOWVRIWKHLURSHUDWLRQVDQGWKHLU
cash flows for each of the three years in WKH SHULRG HQGHG 6HSWHPEHU   LQ conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of AmHULFD$OVRLQRXURSLQLRQVXFKILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVFKHGXOHZKHQFRQVLGHUHG
LQ UHODWLRQ WR WKH EDVLF FRQVROLGDWHG ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV WDNHQ DV D ZKROH SUHVHQW IDLUO\ LQ DOO PDWHULDO UHVSHFWV WKH
LQIRUPDWLRQVHWIRUWKWKHUHLQ
$VGLVFXVVHGLQ1RWHVDQGWRWKHFRQVROLGDWHGILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVHIIHFWLYH2FWREHUWKH&RPSDQ\FKDQJHGLWV
PHWKRGRIDFFRXQWLQJIRUVKDUHEDVHGFRPSHQVDWLRQWRDGRSW6WDWHPHQWRI)LQDQFLDO$FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGV1R UHYLVHG
 ³6KDUH%DVHG3D\PHQW´
:HKDYHDOVRDXGLWHGLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWKWKHVWDQGDUGVRIWKH3XEOLF&RPSDQ\$FFRXQWLQJ2YHUVLJKW%RDUG 8QLWHG6WDWHV 
WKHHIIHFWLYHQHVVRIWKH&RPSDQ\ VLQWHUQDOFRQWURORYHUILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJDVRI6HSWHPEHUEDVHGRQWKHFULWHULD
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
7UHDGZD\ &RPPLVVLRQ DQG RXU UHSRUW GDWHG 1RYHPEHU   H[SUHVVHG DQ XQTXDOLILHG RSLQLRQ RQ PDQDJHPHQW V
DVVHVVPHQWRIWKHHIIHFWLYHQHVVRIWKH&RPSDQ\ VLQWHUQDOFRQWURORYHUILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJDQGDQXQTXDOLILHGRSLQLRQRQWKH
HIIHFWLYHQHVVRIWKH&RPSDQ\ VLQWHUQDOFRQWURORYHUILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJ

/S/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
0LOZDXNHH:LVFRQVLQ
1RYHPEHU
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OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Income
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006
2005
2004
Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross income

$

3,427,388
2,819,107
608,281

$

2,959,900
2,465,130
494,770

$

2,262,305
1,898,636
363,669

Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Amortization of purchased intangibles
Total operating expenses

273,988
8,365
282,353

219,875
7,693
227,568

175,951
7,308
183,259

Operating income

325,928

267,202

180,410

(7,354)
6,607
(243)
(990)

(8,235)
3,052
(1,898)
(7,081)

324,938
121,194

260,121
102,267

176,548
65,892

203,744

157,854

110,656

2,284
(499)
205,529

2,920
(569)
160,205

2,219
(69)
112,806

Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Interest income
Miscellaneous, net

Income before provision for income taxes,
equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
and minority interest
Provision for income taxes
Income before equity in earnings of unconsolidated
affiliates and minority interest
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, net
of income taxes of $1,415, $1,714 and $1,360
Minority interest, net of income taxes of $224, $340 and $37
Net income
Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted

$

$

2.81
2.76

$

$

2.22
2.18

(5,549)
1,235
452
(3,862)

$

$

1.62
1.57

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
September 30,
2005

2006
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net
Inventories, net
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets

$

Total current assets
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill, net
Purchased intangible assets, net
Prepaid pension
Other long-term assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Revolving credit facility and current maturities of long-term debt
Customer advances
Floor plan notes payable
Payroll-related obligations
Income taxes payable
Accrued warranty
Deferred revenue
Other current liabilities

22,012
317,920
589,770
53,183
20,509
1,003,394
19,273
231,895
558,724
219,239
63,304
15,079

954,384
20,280
193,026
399,875
128,525
22,213

2,110,908

$

1,718,303

$

236,455
87,516
266,705
48,441
59,386
12,849
56,929
35,355
78,438

$

226,768
21,521
303,090
21,332
47,460
11,571
39,546
25,457
78,794

882,074
2,176
100,032
60,963

775,539
2,589
55,443
62,917

3,758

3,145

-

-

738
205,239
797,773
59,185
(1,030)

Total shareholders' equity

733
192,153
619,290
12,550
(6,056)
818,670

1,061,905

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

127,507
280,247
489,997
36,618
20,015

$

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Minority interest
Shareholders' equity:
Preferred stock ($.01 par value; 2,000,000 shares authorized;
none issued and outstanding)
Common Stock ($.01 par value; 300,000,000 shares authorized;
73,771,802 and 73,376,914 issued, respectively)
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Unearned compensation
Common Stock in treasury, at cost (20,551 shares in 2006; none in 2005)
$

2,110,908

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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$

$

1,718,303

OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
&RQVROLGDWHG6WDWHPHQWVRI6KDUHKROGHUV¶(TXLW\
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Additional
3DLG,Q
Capital

&RPPRQ
Stock
Balance at September 30, 2003
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Change in fair value of derivative instruments,
net of tax of $6,478
Gains reclassified into earnings from other
comprehensive income, net of tax of $25
Minimum pension liability adjustment,
net of tax of $1,040
Currency translation adjustments

$

712 $

5HWDLQHG
(DUQLQJV

129,507 $

Unearned
Compensation
RQ5HVWULFWHG
Stock

$FFXPXODWHG
Other
&RPSUHKHQVLYH
Income (Loss)

369,407

$

26,398 $

Common
Stock in
7UHDVXU\
at Cost

(3,401) $

&RPSUHKHQVLYH
Income

(3,760)

-

-

112,806

-

-

- $

112,806

-

-

-

(11,119)

-

-

(11,119)

-

-

-

(347)

-

-

(347)

-

-

-

-

-

1,683
12,556

1,683
12,556

Total comprehensive income
Cash dividends:
Class A Common Stock ($0.1250 per share)
Common Stock ($0.1450 per share)
Purchase of Common Stock
Issuance of restricted stock
Amortization of unearned compensation
Exercise of stock options
Tax benefit related to stock options exercised
Balance at September 30, 2004
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Change in fair value of derivative instruments,
net of tax of $1,921
Losses reclassified into earnings from other
comprehensive income, net of tax of $2,778
Minimum pension liability adjustment,
net of tax of $9,807
Currency translation adjustments

Balance at September 30, 2005
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Change in fair value of derivative instruments,
net of tax of $1,210
Losses reclassified into earnings from other
comprehensive income, net of tax of $5,222
Minimum pension liability adjustment,
net of tax of $18,069
Currency translation adjustments

160,205

3,213
2,893
6,486

(202)
(9,986)
-

-

(3,460)
779
-

(18)
247
1,699
-

712

142,099

472,025

29,171

(6,082)

(1,832)

-

-

160,205

-

-

- $

-

-

-

(2,755)

-

-

(2,755)

-

-

-

4,696

-

-

4,696

-

-

-

(15,584)
(2,978)

-

-

(15,584)
(2,978)
$

143,584

205,529

21
-

2,349
22,404
25,301

(60)
(12,880)
-

-

(2,961)
2,987
-

(612)
612
1,832
-

733

192,153

619,290

12,550

(6,056)

-

-

-

205,529

-

-

- $

-

-

-

(2,061)

-

-

(2,061)

-

-

-

8,802

-

-

8,802

-

-

-

28,673
11,221

-

-

28,673
11,221

5
-

3,457
4,564
-

(27,046)
-

-

-

-

-

11,121

-

-

-

-

6,056

Total comprehensive income

$

Cash dividends ($0.3675 per share)
Exercise of stock options
Tax benefit related to stock-based compensation
Purchase of Common Stock
Stock-based compensation and award of
restricted shares
Reclassification of unearned compensation to
additional paid-in capital upon the adoption of
Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123(R) - See Note 2
Balance at September 30, 2006

115,579

-

Total comprehensive income
Cash dividends:
Class A Common Stock ($0.0375 per share)
Common Stock ($0.1775 per share)
Purchase of Common Stock
Issuance of restricted stock
Amortization of unearned compensation
Exercise of stock options
Tax benefit related to stock options exercised

$

$

-

(6,056)

738 $

205,239 $

797,773 $

59,185 $

- $

252,164

(1,030)
-

(1,030)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006
2005
2004
Operating activities:
Net income
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Deferred income taxes
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
Minority interest
Loss on sales of assets
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Foreign currency transaction (gains) losses
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables, net
Inventories, net
Other current assets
Other long-term assets
Accounts payable
Customer advances
Floor plan notes payable
Payroll-related obligations
Income taxes
Accrued warranty
Deferred revenue
Other current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

205,529
37,467
11,121
(19,604)
(594)
724
78
(801)

$

160,205
31,712
2,987
3,974
(4,634)
569
310
1,646

112,806
27,182
779
(32)
(3,579)
69
315
325
(71)

(8,770)
(48,947)
17
(15,486)
(8,328)
(44,435)
27,109
6,838
1,641
12,872
6,698
5,876
8,402
177,407

(20,666)
(110,874)
512
(25,812)
21,760
92,281
(4,509)
2,695
19,174
3,580
25,457
(4,704)
16,648
212,311

(56,320)
(94,404)
(1,030)
(9)
55,985
44,685
7,111
6,175
19,513
5,320
8,310
1,786
134,916

(272,842)
(56,020)
798
1,601
(867)
(327,330)

(31,286)
(43,174)
204
5,747
(68,509)

(87,489)
(29,950)
172
(11,149)
(128,416)

64,434
3,462
(1,030)
(586)
4,096
(27,122)
43,254

(51,613)
24,257
(612)
(656)
(16,022)
(44,646)

10,063
4,592
(18)
965
(1,927)
(1,342)
(9,106)
3,227

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

1,174
(105,495)
127,507
$ 22,012

(1,730)
97,426
30,081
$ 127,507

$

Supplemental disclosures:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

$

$

$

Investing activities:
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sales of assets
Distribution of capital from unconsolidated affiliates
(Increase) decrease in other long-term assets
Net cash used by investing activities
Financing activities:
Net borrowings (repayments) under revolving credit facility
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Purchase of Common Stock
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Debt issuance costs
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Dividends paid
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities

6,890
135,995

7,446
81,409

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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$

1,109
10,836
19,245
30,081
5,095
46,378

OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
1.

Nature of Operations


2VKNRVK 7UXFN &RUSRUDWLRQ DQG LWV VXEVLGLDULHV WKH ³&RPSDQ\´  LV D OHDGLQJ PDQXIDFWXUHU RI D ZLGH YDULHW\ RI
VSHFLDOW\ YHKLFOHV DQG YHKLFOH ERGLHV SUHGRPLQDWHO\ IRU WKH 1RUWK $PHULFDQ DQG (XURSHDQ PDUNHWV  ³2VKNRVK´ UHIHUV WR
2VKNRVK 7UXFN &RUSRUDWLRQ QRW LQFOXGLQJ LWV VXEVLGLDULHV  7KH &RPSDQ\ VHOOV LWV SURGXFWV LQWR WKUHH SULQFLSDO YHKLFOH
PDUNHWV ± ILUH DQG HPHUJHQF\ GHIHQVH DQG FRPPHUFLDO  7KH &RPSDQ\¶V ILUH DQG HPHUJHQF\ EXVLQHVV LV SULQFLSDOO\
FRQGXFWHG WKURXJK LWV ZKROO\RZQHG VXEVLGLDULHV 3LHUFH 0DQXIDFWXULQJ ,QF ³3LHUFH´  WKH DLUSRUW SURGXFWV GLYLVLRQ RI
2VKNRVK -HUU'DQ &RUSRUDWLRQ ³-HUU'DQ´  .HZDXQHH )DEULFDWLRQV //& ³.HZDXQHH´  0HGWHF $PEXODQFH &RUSRUDWLRQ
³0HGWHF´ $.6SHFLDOW\9HKLFOHV//&$OXPLQXP%RG\&RUSRUDWLRQDQG3ULPH0HGLFDO0DQXIDFWXULQJ//&DQGWKHLU
ZKROO\RZQHGVXEVLGLDULHV WRJHWKHU³$.´ DQGWKH&RPSDQ\¶VRZQHGVXEVLGLDU\%$,%UHVFLD$QWLQFHQGL,QWHUQDWLRQDO
6UO ³%$,´ 7KHGHIHQVHEXVLQHVVLVFRQGXFWHGWKURXJKWKHRSHUDWLRQVRI2VKNRVK7KH&RPSDQ\¶VFRPPHUFLDOEXVLQHVV
LVSULQFLSDOO\FRQGXFWHGWKURXJKLWVZKROO\RZQHGVXEVLGLDULHV0F1HLOXV&RPSDQLHV,QF ³0F1HLOXV´ 9LNLQJ7UXFNDQG
(TXLSPHQW,QF ³9LNLQJ´ &RQFUHWH(TXLSPHQW&RPSDQ\,QFDQGLWVZKROO\RZQHGVXEVLGLDU\ ³&21(&2´ /RQGRQ
0DFKLQHU\,QFDQGLWVZKROO\RZQHGVXEVLGLDU\ ³/RQGRQ´ *HHVLQN*URXS%91RUED$%DQG*HHVLQN1RUED/LPLWHG
DQGWKHLUZKROO\RZQHGVXEVLGLDULHV WRJHWKHUWKH³*HHVLQN1RUED*URXS´ ,RZD0ROG7RROLQJ&R,QF ³,07´ DQGWKH
FRPPHUFLDO GLYLVLRQ RI 2VKNRVK  0F1HLOXV LV RQH RI WZR JHQHUDO SDUWQHUV LQ 2VKNRVK0F1HLOXV )LQDQFLDO 6HUYLFHV
3DUWQHUVKLS ³20)63´ ZKLFKSURYLGHVOHDVHILQDQFLQJWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFRPPHUFLDOFXVWRPHUV0F1HLOXVRZQVD
LQWHUHVWLQ0H]FODGRUHV7UDLOHUVGH0H[LFR6$GH&9 ³0H]FODGRUHV´ ZKLFKPDQXIDFWXUHVDQGPDUNHWVFRQFUHWHPL[HUV
FRQFUHWHEDWFKSODQWVDQGUHIXVHSDFNHUVLQ0H[LFR

2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Presentation±7KHFRQVROLGDWHGILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVLQFOXGHWKHDFFRXQWVRI2VKNRVK
DQGDOORILWVPDMRULW\RZQHGRUFRQWUROOHGVXEVLGLDULHVDQGDUHSUHSDUHGLQFRQIRUPLW\ZLWKJHQHUDOO\DFFHSWHGDFFRXQWLQJ
SULQFLSOHVLQWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVRI$PHULFD ³86*$$3´ 7KHKLVWRULFDOERRNYDOXHRI%$,DWGDWHRIDFTXLVLWLRQ
DQGRIVXEVHTXHQWRSHUDWLQJUHVXOWVUHODWHGWRWKDWSRUWLRQRI%$,QRWRZQHGE\WKH&RPSDQ\KDYHEHHQUHIOHFWHGDV
PLQRULW\LQWHUHVWRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFRQVROLGDWHGEDODQFHVKHHWVDQGFRQVROLGDWHGVWDWHPHQWVRILQFRPHUHVSHFWLYHO\7KH
&RPSDQ\DFFRXQWVIRULWVYRWLQJLQWHUHVWLQ20)63DQGLWVLQWHUHVWLQ0H]FODGRUHVXQGHUWKHHTXLW\PHWKRG
(DFKRIWKHWZRJHQHUDOSDUWQHUVRI20)63KDVLGHQWLFDOYRWLQJSDUWLFLSDWLQJDQGSURWHFWLYHULJKWVDQGUHVSRQVLELOLWLHVDQG
DV VXFK WKH &RPSDQ\ GRHV QRW KDYH YRWLQJ LQWHUHVW FRQWURO  $OO VLJQLILFDQW LQWHUFRPSDQ\ DFFRXQWV DQG WUDQVDFWLRQV KDYH
EHHQHOLPLQDWHG
Use of Estimates ± 7KH SUHSDUDWLRQ RI ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV LQ FRQIRUPLW\ ZLWK 86 *$$3 UHTXLUHV PDQDJHPHQW WR
PDNHHVWLPDWHVDQGDVVXPSWLRQVWKDWDIIHFWWKHUHSRUWHGDPRXQWVRIDVVHWVDQGOLDELOLWLHVDQGGLVFORVXUHRIFRQWLQJHQWDVVHWV
DQGOLDELOLWLHVDWWKHGDWHRIWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDQGWKHUHSRUWHGDPRXQWVRIUHYHQXHVDQGH[SHQVHVGXULQJWKHUHSRUWLQJ
SHULRG$FWXDOUHVXOWVFRXOGGLIIHUIURPWKRVHHVWLPDWHV
Fair Value of Financial Instruments ± %DVHG RQ &RPSDQ\ HVWLPDWHV WKH FDUU\LQJ DPRXQWV RI FDVK HTXLYDOHQWV
UHFHLYDEOHVDFFRXQWVSD\DEOHDFFUXHGOLDELOLWLHVDQGYDULDEOHUDWHGHEWDSSUR[LPDWHGIDLUYDOXHDVRI6HSWHPEHUDQG

Cash and Cash Equivalents±7KH&RPSDQ\FRQVLGHUVDOOKLJKO\OLTXLGLQYHVWPHQWVZLWKDPDWXULW\RIWKUHHPRQWKVRU
OHVVZKHQSXUFKDVHGWREHFDVKHTXLYDOHQWV&DVKHTXLYDOHQWVDW6HSWHPEHUFRQVLVWHGSULQFLSDOO\RIPRQH\PDUNHW
LQVWUXPHQWV
Receivables±5HFHLYDEOHVFRQVLVWRIDPRXQWVELOOHGDQGFXUUHQWO\GXHIURPFXVWRPHUVDQGXQELOOHGFRVWVDQGDFFUXHG
SURILWV UHODWHG WR UHYHQXHV RQ ORQJWHUP FRQWUDFWV WKDW KDYH EHHQ UHFRJQL]HG IRU DFFRXQWLQJ SXUSRVHV EXW QRW \HW ELOOHG WR
FXVWRPHUV  7KH &RPSDQ\ H[WHQGV FUHGLW WR FXVWRPHUV LQ WKH QRUPDO FRXUVH RI EXVLQHVV DQG PDLQWDLQV DQ DOORZDQFH IRU
HVWLPDWHG ORVVHV UHVXOWLQJ IURP WKH LQDELOLW\ RU XQZLOOLQJQHVV RI FXVWRPHUV WR PDNH UHTXLUHG SD\PHQWV   7KH DFFUXDO IRU
HVWLPDWHG ORVVHV LV EDVHG RQ LWV KLVWRULFDO H[SHULHQFH H[LVWLQJ HFRQRPLF FRQGLWLRQV DQG DQ\ VSHFLILF FXVWRPHU FROOHFWLRQ
LVVXHVWKH&RPSDQ\KDVLGHQWLILHG
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Inventories±,QYHQWRULHVDUHVWDWHGDWWKHORZHURIFRVWRUPDUNHW&RVWKDVEHHQGHWHUPLQHGXVLQJWKHODVWLQILUVWRXW
³/,)2´ PHWKRGIRUDSSUR[LPDWHO\RIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VLQYHQWRULHVDW6HSWHPEHUDQGDW6HSWHPEHU
  )RU WKH UHPDLQLQJ LQYHQWRULHV FRVW KDV EHHQ GHWHUPLQHG XVLQJ WKH ILUVWLQ ILUVWRXW ³),)2´  PHWKRG  ,I WKH ),)2
LQYHQWRU\ YDOXDWLRQ PHWKRG KDG EHHQ XVHG H[FOXVLYHO\ LQYHQWRULHV ZRXOG KDYH LQFUHDVHG E\  DQG  DW
6HSWHPEHUDQGUHVSHFWLYHO\
Property, Plant and Equipment±3URSHUW\SODQWDQGHTXLSPHQWDUHUHFRUGHGDWFRVW'HSUHFLDWLRQLVSURYLGHGRYHU
WKH HVWLPDWHG XVHIXO OLYHV RI WKH UHVSHFWLYH DVVHWV XVLQJ DFFHOHUDWHG DQG VWUDLJKWOLQH PHWKRGV  7KH HVWLPDWHG XVHIXO OLYHV
UDQJHIURPWR\HDUVIRUEXLOGLQJVDQGLPSURYHPHQWVIURPWR\HDUVIRUPDFKLQHU\DQGHTXLSPHQWDQGIURPWR
\HDUV IRU FDSLWDOL]HG VRIWZDUH DQG UHODWHG FRVWV  7KH &RPSDQ\ FDSLWDOL]HV LQWHUHVW RQ ERUURZLQJV GXULQJ WKH DFWLYH
FRQVWUXFWLRQSHULRGRIPDMRUFDSLWDOSURMHFWV&DSLWDOL]HGLQWHUHVWLVLPPDWHULDOIRUDOOSHULRGVSUHVHQWHGDQGKDVEHHQDGGHG
WRWKHFRVWRIWKHXQGHUO\LQJDVVHWVDQGLVDPRUWL]HGRYHUWKHXVHIXOOLYHVRIWKHDVVHWV
Goodwill ± *RRGZLOO UHIOHFWV WKH FRVW RI DQ DFTXLVLWLRQ LQ H[FHVV RI WKH IDLU YDOXHV DVVLJQHG WR LGHQWLILDEOH QHW DVVHWV
DFTXLUHG  *RRGZLOO LV QRW DPRUWL]HG KRZHYHU LW LV DVVHVVHG IRU LPSDLUPHQW DW OHDVW DQQXDOO\ DQG DV WULJJHULQJ HYHQWV RU
³LQGLFDWRUV RI SRWHQWLDO LPSDLUPHQW´ RFFXU  7KH &RPSDQ\ SHUIRUPV LWV DQQXDO LPSDLUPHQW WHVW LQ WKH IRXUWK TXDUWHU RI LWV
ILVFDO\HDU,QGLFDWRUVRISRWHQWLDOLPSDLUPHQWLQFOXGHVLWXDWLRQVLQYROYLQJVLJQLILFDQWDGYHUVHFKDQJHVLQEXVLQHVVFOLPDWH
DGYHUVH DFWLRQV E\ UHJXODWRUV XQDQWLFLSDWHG FRPSHWLWLRQ ORVV RI NH\ SHUVRQQHO FKDQJHV LQ WHFKQRORJ\ RU PDUNHWV DQG
RSHUDWLQJORVVHVDPRQJRWKHUV5HFRYHUDELOLW\RIJRRGZLOOLVHYDOXDWHGXVLQJDWZRVWHSSURFHVV7KHILUVWVWHSLQYROYHVD
FRPSDULVRQRIWKHIDLUYDOXHRIDUHSRUWLQJXQLWZLWKLWVFDUU\LQJYDOXH,IWKHFDUU\LQJYDOXHRIWKHUHSRUWLQJXQLWH[FHHGVLWV
IDLUYDOXHWKHVHFRQGVWHSRIWKHSURFHVVLVSHUIRUPHGZKLFKLQYROYHVDFRPSDULVRQRIWKHLPSOLHGIDLUYDOXHDQGFDUU\LQJ
YDOXHRIWKHJRRGZLOORIWKDWUHSRUWLQJXQLW,IWKHFDUU\LQJYDOXHRIWKHJRRGZLOORIDUHSRUWLQJXQLWH[FHHGVWKHLPSOLHGIDLU
YDOXH RI WKDW JRRGZLOO DQ LPSDLUPHQW ORVV LV UHFRJQL]HG LQ DQ DPRXQW HTXDO WR WKH H[FHVV  5HSRUWLQJ XQLWV DUH EXVLQHVV
FRPSRQHQWVDWRURQHOHYHOEHORZWKHRSHUDWLQJVHJPHQWOHYHOIRUZKLFKGLVFUHWHILQDQFLDOLQIRUPDWLRQLVDYDLODEOH

,QHYDOXDWLQJWKHUHFRYHUDELOLW\RIJRRGZLOOLWLVQHFHVVDU\WRHVWLPDWHWKHIDLUYDOXHRIWKHUHSRUWLQJXQLWV,QPDNLQJ
WKLV DVVHVVPHQW PDQDJHPHQW GLVFRXQWV HVWLPDWHG FDVK IORZV RI D UHSRUWLQJ XQLW EDVHG RQ D QXPEHU RI IDFWRUV LQFOXGLQJ
KLVWRULFDO RSHUDWLQJ UHVXOWV EXVLQHVV SODQV DQG PDUNHW FRQGLWLRQV  5DWHV XVHG WR GLVFRXQW FDVK IORZV DUH GHSHQGHQW XSRQ
LQWHUHVW UDWHV DQG WKH FRVW RI FDSLWDO DW D SRLQW LQ WLPH  7KHUH DUH LQKHUHQW XQFHUWDLQWLHV UHODWHG WR WKHVH IDFWRUV DQG
PDQDJHPHQW¶VMXGJPHQWLQDSSO\LQJWKHPWRWKHDQDO\VLVRIJRRGZLOOLPSDLUPHQW,WLVSRVVLEOHWKDWDVVXPSWLRQVXQGHUO\LQJ
WKHLPSDLUPHQWDQDO\VLVZLOOFKDQJHLQVXFKDPDQQHUWKDWLPSDLUPHQWLQYDOXHPD\RFFXULQWKHIXWXUH
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets±3URSHUW\SODQWDQGHTXLSPHQWDQGRWKHUSXUFKDVHGLQWDQJLEOHDVVHWVDUHUHYLHZHG
IRULPSDLUPHQWZKHQHYHUHYHQWVRUFKDQJHVLQFLUFXPVWDQFHVLQGLFDWHWKDWWKHFDUU\LQJDPRXQWPD\QRWEHUHFRYHUDEOH,I
WKHVXPRIWKHH[SHFWHGXQGLVFRXQWHGFDVKIORZVLVOHVVWKDQWKHFDUU\LQJYDOXHRIWKHUHODWHGDVVHWRUJURXSRIDVVHWVDORVV
LV UHFRJQL]HG IRU WKH GLIIHUHQFH EHWZHHQ WKH IDLU YDOXH DQG FDUU\LQJ YDOXH RI WKH DVVHW RU JURXS RI DVVHWV  6XFK DQDO\VHV
QHFHVVDULO\LQYROYHVLJQLILFDQWMXGJPHQW
Other Long-Term Assets ± 2WKHU ORQJWHUP DVVHWV LQFOXGH GHIHUUHG ILQDQFLQJ FRVWV ZKLFK DUH DPRUWL]HG XVLQJ WKH
LQWHUHVWPHWKRGRYHUWKHWHUPRIWKHGHEWSUHSDLGIXQGLQJRISHQVLRQFRVWVDQGFHUWDLQLQYHVWPHQWV$PRUWL]DWLRQH[SHQVH
ZDVDQG H[FOXGLQJRIDPRUWL]DWLRQUHODWHGWRHDUO\GHEWUHWLUHPHQWZKLFKLVLQFOXGHGLQRWKHUQRQ
RSHUDWLQJH[SHQVH LQILVFDODQGUHVSHFWLYHO\
Floor Plan Notes Payable±)ORRUSODQQRWHVSD\DEOHUHSUHVHQWOLDELOLWLHVUHODWHGWRWKHSXUFKDVHRIFRPPHUFLDOYHKLFOH
FKDVVLVXSRQZKLFKWKH&RPSDQ\PRXQWVLWVPDQXIDFWXUHGYHKLFOHERGLHV)ORRUSODQQRWHVSD\DEOHDUHQRQLQWHUHVWEHDULQJ
IRU WHUPV UDQJLQJ IURP  WR  GD\V DQG PXVW EH UHSDLG XSRQ WKH VDOH RI WKH YHKLFOH WR D FXVWRPHU  7KH &RPSDQ\¶V
SUDFWLFHLVWRUHSD\DOOIORRUSODQQRWHVIRUZKLFKWKHQRQLQWHUHVWEHDULQJSHULRGKDVH[SLUHGZLWKRXWVDOHRIWKHYHKLFOHWRD
FXVWRPHU
Customer Advances ± &XVWRPHU DGYDQFHV FRQVLVW RI DPRXQWV UHFHLYHG LQ DGYDQFH RI WKH FRPSOHWLRQ RI ILUH DQG
HPHUJHQF\ DQG FRPPHUFLDO YHKLFOHV  0RVW RI WKHVH DGYDQFHV EHDU LQWHUHVW DW YDULDEOH UDWHV DSSUR[LPDWLQJ WKH SULPH UDWH
$GYDQFHVDOVRLQFOXGHDQ\SHUIRUPDQFHEDVHGSD\PHQWVUHFHLYHGIURPWKH86'HSDUWPHQWRI'HIHQVH ³'R'´ LQH[FHVVRI
WKH YDOXH RI UHODWHG LQYHQWRU\  $GYDQFHV IURP WKH 'R' DUH QRQLQWHUHVW EHDULQJ  6HH GLVFXVVLRQ RQ SHUIRUPDQFHEDVHG
SD\PHQWVWKDWIROORZV
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Performance-Based Payments±7KH&RPSDQ\¶VFRQWUDFWVZLWKWKH'R'WRGHOLYHUKHDY\SD\ORDGYHKLFOHV )DPLO\RI
+HDY\7DFWLFDO9HKLFOHRU³)+79´ DQGPHGLXPSD\ORDGYHKLFOHV 0HGLXP7DFWLFDO9HKLFOH5HSODFHPHQWRU³0795´ DV
ZHOODVFHUWDLQRWKHUGHIHQVHUHODWHGFRQWUDFWVLQFOXGHUHTXLUHPHQWVIRU³SHUIRUPDQFHEDVHGSD\PHQWV´7KHSHUIRUPDQFH
EDVHG SD\PHQW SURYLVLRQV LQ WKH FRQWUDFWV UHTXLUH WKH 'R' WR SD\ WKH &RPSDQ\ EDVHG RQ WKH FRPSOHWLRQ RI FHUWDLQ SUH
GHWHUPLQHGHYHQWVLQFRQQHFWLRQZLWKWKHSURGXFWLRQXQGHUWKHVHFRQWUDFWV3HUIRUPDQFHEDVHGSD\PHQWVUHFHLYHGDUHILUVW
DSSOLHGWRUHGXFHRXWVWDQGLQJUHFHLYDEOHVIRUXQLWVDFFHSWHGLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWKFRQWUDFWXDOWHUPVZLWKDQ\UHPDLQLQJDPRXQW
UHFRUGHGDVDQRIIVHWWRLQYHQWRU\WRWKHH[WHQWRIUHODWHGLQYHQWRU\RQKDQG$PRXQWVUHFHLYHGLQH[FHVVRIUHFHLYDEOHVDQG
LQYHQWRULHVDUHLQFOXGHGLQOLDELOLWLHVDVFXVWRPHUDGYDQFHV
Revenue Recognition±7KH&RPSDQ\UHFRJQL]HVUHYHQXHRQHTXLSPHQWDQGSDUWVVDOHVZKHQFRQWUDFWWHUPVDUHPHW
FROOHFWLELOLW\LVUHDVRQDEO\DVVXUHGDQGDSURGXFWLVVKLSSHGRUULVNRIRZQHUVKLSKDVEHHQWUDQVIHUUHGWRDQGDFFHSWHGE\WKH
FXVWRPHU  5HYHQXH IURP VHUYLFH DJUHHPHQWV LV UHFRJQL]HG DV HDUQHG ZKHQ VHUYLFHV KDYH EHHQ UHQGHUHG   7KH &RPSDQ\
UHFRUGVUHYHQXHVXQGHUORQJWHUPIL[HGSULFHGHIHQVHFRQWUDFWVXVLQJWKHSHUFHQWDJHRIFRPSOHWLRQPHWKRGRIDFFRXQWLQJ
JHQHUDOO\ XVLQJ HLWKHU WKH FRVWWRFRVW RU XQLWV DFFHSWHG PHWKRG DV WKH PHDVXUHPHQW EDVLV IRU HIIRUW DFFRPSOLVKHG  7KH
&RPSDQ\LQFOXGHVDPRXQWVUHSUHVHQWLQJFRQWUDFWFKDQJHRUGHUVFODLPVRURWKHULWHPVLQVDOHVRQO\ZKHQWKH\FDQEHUHOLDEO\
HVWLPDWHGDQGUHDOL]DWLRQLVSUREDEOH&KDQJHVLQHVWLPDWHVIRUUHYHQXHVFRVWWRFRPSOHWHDQGSURILWPDUJLQVDUHUHFRJQL]HG
DV D FXPXODWLYH OLIHWRGDWH DGMXVWPHQW LQ WKH SHULRG LQ ZKLFK WKH\ DUH UHDVRQDEO\ GHWHUPLQDEOH  7KH &RPSDQ\ FKDUJHV
DQWLFLSDWHGORVVHVRQFRQWUDFWVRUSURJUDPVLQSURJUHVVWRHDUQLQJVZKHQLGHQWLILHG%LGDQGSURSRVDOFRVWVDUHH[SHQVHGDV
LQFXUUHG

,QILVFDOIROORZLQJFRPSOHWLRQRIFRQWUDFWXDOO\UHTXLUHGSHUIRUPDQFHWHVWLQJWKH&RPSDQ\EHJDQLQLWLDOGHOLYHULHV
RI ZKHHOHG WDQNHU V\VWHPV FRPSULVHG RI D WUXFN FKDVVLV DQG ZDWHU RU IXHO WDQN WUDLOHU  XQGHU D PXOWL\HDU UHTXLUHPHQWV
FRQWUDFW ZLWK WKH 8QLWHG .LQJGRP 0LQLVWU\ RI 'HIHQFH ³8. 0R'´   7KH FRQWUDFW YDOXHG DW  %ULWLVK 6WHUOLQJ
  FDOOV IRU GHOLYHU\ RI  ZKHHOHG WDQNHU V\VWHPV RYHU D  PRQWK SHULRG EHJLQQLQJ LQ )HEUXDU\   7KH
FRQWUDFWSURYLGHVWKDWWKH&RPSDQ\LVSDLGZLWKLQGD\VRIGHOLYHU\RIWKHZKHHOHGWDQNHUV\VWHPVWRWKH8.0R'7KH
8. 0R' KDV XS WR  GD\V IROORZLQJ V\VWHP GHOLYHU\ WR UHMHFW WKH GHOLYHUHG ZKHHOHG WDQNHU V\VWHPV  :KHHOHG WDQNHU
V\VWHPVUHPDLQLQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VLQYHQWRU\DQGFDVKUHFHLYHGLQSD\PHQWIRUWKHVHV\VWHPVLVUHFRUGHGDVGHIHUUHGUHYHQXH
XQWLOWKHHDUOLHURIWKHGDWHWKDWWKHZKHHOHGWDQNHUV\VWHPKDVEHHQDFFHSWHGE\WKHFXVWRPHURUWKHGDWHWKHUHMHFWLRQULJKW
ODSVHV JHQHUDOO\GD\VIURPV\VWHPGHOLYHU\ DWZKLFKWLPHWKH&RPSDQ\UHFRJQL]HVUHYHQXH,QILVFDODQG
VDOHV XQGHU WKLV FRQWUDFW WRWDOHG  DQG  UHVSHFWLYHO\  $W 6HSWHPEHU   DQG  GHIHUUHG UHYHQXH
UHODWHGWRWKLVFRQWUDFWZDVDQGUHVSHFWLYHO\

7KH 8. ZKHHOHG WDQNHU FRQWUDFW SURYLGHV IRU DSSUR[LPDWHO\ D IRXU SHUFHQW LQFUHDVH WR WKH V\VWHP VDOHV SULFH LI WKH
&RPSDQ\FDQGHPRQVWUDWHWKHHTXLSPHQWLVHOHFWURPDJQHWLFFRPSDWLEOH ³(0&´ DVGHILQHGXQGHUWKHWHUPVRIWKHFRQWUDFW
7KH &RPSDQ\ FXUUHQWO\ EHOLHYHV WKDW LW KDV D VROXWLRQ WR PHHW WKH (0& UHTXLUHPHQWV  ,I WKH &RPSDQ\ UHFHLYHV WKH 8.
0R'¶VDFFHSWDQFHRIDFKLHYHPHQWRIWKH(0&UHTXLUHPHQWVWKHQWKH&RPSDQ\DQGWKH8.0R'ZRXOGQHHGWRDPHQGWKH
ZKHHOHG WDQNHU FRQWUDFW WR HQDEOH WKH &RPSDQ\ WR UHWURILW WKH ZKHHOHG WDQNHU V\VWHPV DOUHDG\ GHOLYHUHG  5HFRJQLWLRQ RI
UHYHQXH IRU WKLV FRQWUDFW DPHQGPHQW ZRXOG RFFXU RQFH WKH UHWURILW ZDV SHUIRUPHG DQG DFFHSWHG E\ WKH FXVWRPHU  7KH
&RPSDQ\EHOLHYHVWKDWDFKLHYHPHQWRI(0&UHTXLUHPHQWVQHWRIH[SHFWHGFRVWVFRXOGUHVXOWLQLQFUHPHQWDOSUHWD[HDUQLQJV
RIDSSUR[LPDWHO\IRUZKHHOHGWDQNHUV\VWHPVDFFHSWHGDVRI6HSWHPEHUDOWKRXJKWKHDJUHHPHQWLVVXEMHFWWR
ILQDOQHJRWLDWLRQDQGFRQWUDFWPRGLILFDWLRQ

6DOHV DQG DQWLFLSDWHG SURILWV XQGHU WKH 0795 ORQJWHUP IL[HGSULFH EDVH SURGXFWLRQ FRQWUDFW ZHUH UHFRUGHG RQ D
SHUFHQWDJHRIFRPSOHWLRQEDVLVXVLQJXQLWVDFFHSWHGDVWKHPHDVXUHPHQWEDVLVIRUHIIRUWDFFRPSOLVKHG(VWLPDWHGFRQWUDFW
SURILWV ZHUH WDNHQ LQWR HDUQLQJV LQ SURSRUWLRQ WR UHFRUGHG VDOHV EDVHG RQ HVWLPDWHG DYHUDJH FRVW GHWHUPLQHG XVLQJ WRWDO
FRQWUDFW XQLWV XQGHU RUGHU  0DUJLQV UHFRUGHG RQ WKH 0795 EDVH FRQWUDFW ZHUH VXEMHFW WR FKDQJH EDVHG RQ D QXPEHU RI
IDFWRUVLQFOXGLQJDFWXDOFRVWSHUIRUPDQFHDQGSURGXFWZDUUDQW\H[SHULHQFHFRPSDUHGWRHVWLPDWHGDPRXQWVDQGFKDQJHVRU
FRQWUDFW PRGLILFDWLRQV DJUHHG WR E\ WKH &RPSDQ\ DQG LWV FXVWRPHU  ,Q ILVFDO  WKH &RPSDQ\ LQFUHDVHG WKH PDUJLQ
SHUFHQWDJH UHFRJQL]HG RQ WKH 0795 EDVH FRQWUDFW E\  SHUFHQWDJH SRLQWV WR  DV D UHVXOW RI ORZHU PDWHULDO FRVWV
IDYRUDEOHZDUUDQW\H[SHULHQFHDQGLPSURYHGRYHUKHDGDEVRUSWLRQ7KLVFKDQJHLQHVWLPDWHLQFUHDVHGILVFDORSHUDWLQJ
LQFRPH E\  QHW LQFRPH E\  DQG HDUQLQJV SHU VKDUH E\  LQFOXGLQJ   DQG 
UHVSHFWLYHO\UHODWLQJWRSULRU\HDUUHYHQXHV,QILVFDOWKH&RPSDQ\LQFUHDVHGWKHPDUJLQSHUFHQWDJHUHFRJQL]HGRQWKH
0795 FRQWUDFW E\  SHUFHQWDJH SRLQWV WR  DV D UHVXOW RI IDYRUDEOH FRVW SHUIRUPDQFH FRPSDUHG WR HVWLPDWHV  7KLV
FKDQJH LQ HVWLPDWH LQFUHDVHG ILVFDO  RSHUDWLQJ LQFRPH E\  QHW LQFRPH E\  DQG HDUQLQJV SHU VKDUH E\
LQFOXGLQJDQGUHVSHFWLYHO\UHODWLQJWRSULRU\HDUUHYHQXHV7KLVFRQWUDFWZDVFRPSOHWHGLQ
ILVFDO
Net Sales±6DOHV DUHUHFRUGHGQHWRIDPRXQWVLQYRLFHGIRUWD[HVLPSRVHGRQWKHFXVWRPHUVXFKDVH[FLVHRUYDOXHDGGHG
WD[HV
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Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs - Revenue received from shipping and handling fees is reflected in net sales.
Shipping and handling fee revenue was not significant for all periods presented. Shipping and handling costs are included in
cost of sales.
Research and Development and Similar Costs ± ([FHSW IRU FXVWRPHU VSRQVRUHG UHVHDUFK DQG GHYHORSPHQW FRVWV
LQFXUUHGSXUVXDQWWRFRQWUDFWVUHVHDUFKDQGGHYHORSPHQWFRVWVDUHH[SHQVHGDVLQFXUUHGDQGLQFOXGHGDVSDUWRIFRVWRIVDOHV
5HVHDUFKDQGGHYHORSPHQWFRVWVFKDUJHGWRH[SHQVHDPRXQWHGWRDQGGXULQJILVFDODQG
UHVSHFWLYHO\&XVWRPHUVSRQVRUHGresearch and development costs incurred pursuant to contracts are accounted for as
contract costs.
Warranty±3URYLVLRQVIRUHVWLPDWHGZDUUDQW\DQGRWKHUUHODWHGFRVWVDUHUHFRUGHGLQFRVWRIVDOHVDWWKHWLPHRIVDOHDQG
DUHSHULRGLFDOO\DGMXVWHGWRUHIOHFWDFWXDOH[SHULHQFH7KHDPRXQWRIZDUUDQW\OLDELOLW\DFFUXHGUHIOHFWVPDQDJHPHQW¶VEHVW
HVWLPDWH RI WKH H[SHFWHG IXWXUH FRVW RI KRQRULQJ &RPSDQ\ REOLJDWLRQV XQGHU WKH ZDUUDQW\ SODQV  +LVWRULFDOO\ WKH FRVW RI
IXOILOOLQJWKH&RPSDQ\¶VZDUUDQW\REOLJDWLRQVKDVSULQFLSDOO\LQYROYHGUHSODFHPHQWSDUWVODERUDQGVRPHWLPHVWUDYHOIRUDQ\
ILHOGUHWURILWFDPSDLJQV7KH&RPSDQ\¶VHVWLPDWHVDUHEDVHGRQKLVWRULFDOH[SHULHQFHWKHH[WHQWRISUHSURGXFWLRQWHVWLQJ
WKH QXPEHU RI XQLWV LQYROYHG DQG WKH H[WHQW RI IHDWXUHVFRPSRQHQWV LQFOXGHG LQ SURGXFW PRGHOV $OVR HDFK TXDUWHU WKH
&RPSDQ\ UHYLHZV DFWXDO ZDUUDQW\ FODLPV H[SHULHQFH WR GHWHUPLQH LI WKHUH DUH V\VWHPLF GHIHFWV WKDW ZRXOG UHTXLUH D ILHOG
campaign.
Environmental Remediation Costs ± 7KH &RPSDQ\ DFFUXHV IRU ORVVHV DVVRFLated with environmental remediation
REOLJDWLRQV ZKHQ VXFK ORVVHV DUH SUREDEOH DQG UHDVRQDEO\ HVWLPDEOH  7KH OLDELOLWLHV DUH GHYHORSHG EDVHG RQ FXUUHQWO\
available information and reflect the participation of other poteQWLDOO\UHVSRQVLEOHSDUWLHVGHSHQGLQJRQWKHSDUWLHV¶ILQDQFLal
FRQGLWLRQDQGSUREDEOHFRQWULEXWLRQ7KHDFcruals are recorded at undiscounted amounts and are reflected as liabilities on the
DFFRPSDQ\LQJFRQVROLGDWHGEDODQFHVKHHWV Recoveries of environmental remediation costs from other parties are recorded
DVDVVHWVZKHQWKHLUUHFHLSWLVGHHPHGSUREDEOH7KHDFFUXDOVDUHDGMXVWHGDVIXUWKHULQIRUPDtion develops or circumstances
change.
Advertising ± $GYHUWLVLQJ FRVWV DUH LQFOXGHG LQ VHOOLQJ JHQHUDO DQG DGPLQLVWUDWLYH H[SHQVH DQG DUH H[SHQVHG DV
LQFXUUHG7KHVHH[SHQVHVWRWDOHGDQGLQILVFDODQGUHVSHFWLYHO\
StockíBased Compensation±3ULRUWR2FWREHUWKH&RPSDQ\DSSOLHG$FFRXQWLQJ3ULQFLSOHV%RDUG ³$3%´ 
2SLQLRQ 1R  ³$FFRXQWLQJ IRU 6WRFN ,VVXHG WR (PSOR\HHV´ DQG UHODWHG LQWHUSUHWDWLRQV  6HH 1RWH  RI WKH 1RWHV WR
&RQVROLGDWHG)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWVIRULQIRUPDWLRQUHJDUGLQJWKH&RPSDQ\¶VVWRFNíbased incentive plan, options outstanding
DQGRSWLRQVH[HUFLVDEOH1RVWRFNíEDVHGFRPSHQVDWLRQH[SHQVHZDVUHFRJQL]HGLQWKH&RPSDQ\¶V&RQVROLGDWHG6WDWHPHQWV
RI,QFRPHSULRUWRILVFDOIRUVWRFNRSWLRQJUDQWVDVWKHH[HUFLVHSULFHZDVHTXDOWRWKHPDUNHWSULFHRIWKHXQGHUO\LQJ
VWRFNRQWKHGDWHRIJUDQW,QDGGLWLRQSUHYLRXVO\WKH&RPSDQ\UHFRUGHGXQHDUQHGVWRFNíbased compensation for nonvested
UHVWULFWHGVWRFNDZDUGVDV³XQHDUQHGFRPSHQVDWLRQ´LQWKH&RPSDQ\¶V&RQVROLGDWHG6WDWHPHQWRI6KDUHKROGHUV¶(TXLW\

2Q2FWREHUWKH&RPSDQ\DGRSWHGWKHIDLUYDOXHUHFRJQLWLRQSURYLVLRQVRI6WDWHPHQWRI)LQDQFLDO$FFRXQWLQJ
6WDQGDUGV ³6)$6´ 1R UHYLVHG ³6KDUHí%DVHG3D\PHQW´UHTXLULQJWKH&RPSDQ\WRUHFRJQL]HH[SHQVHUHODWHG
WR WKH IDLU YDOXH RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V VWRFNíEDVHG FRPSHQVDWLRQ DZDUGV  7KH &RPSDQ\ HOHFWHG WKH PRGLILHG SURVSHFWLYH
WUDQVLWLRQPHWKRGDVSHUPLWWHGE\6)$61R 5 8QGHUWKLVWUDQVLWLRQPHWKRGVWRFNíEDVHGFRPSHQVDWLRQH[SHQVHIRU
ILVFDOLQFOXGHG D FRPSHQVDWLRQH[SHQVHUHODWHGWRDOOUHVWULFWHGVWRFNDZDUGVDQGDOOVWRFNRSWLRQVJUDQWHGSULRUWR
EXW QRW \HW YHVWHG DV RI 2FWREHU   EDVHG RQ WKH JUDQW GDWH IDLU YDOXH HVWLPDWHG LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK WKH RULJLQDO
SURYLVLRQV RI 6)$6 1R  ³$FFRXQWLQJ IRU 6WRFNí%DVHG &RPSHQVDWLRQ´ DQG E  FRPSHQVDWLRQ H[SHQVH IRU DZDUGV
JUDQWHGVXEVHTXHQWWR6HSWHPEHUEDVHGRQWKHJUDQWídate fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of
6)$61R 5 ,QDFFRUGDQFHwith the modified prospective transition metKRGRI6)$61R 5 ILQDQFLDOUHVXOWVIRU
prior periods have not been restated.

,QDFFRUGDQFHZLWK6)$61R 5 FDVKIORZVIURPLQFRPHWD[EHQHILWVUHVXOWLQJIURPWD[GHGXFWLRQVLQH[FHVVRIWKH
FRPSHQVDWLRQFRVWUHFRJQL]HGIRUVWRFNíEDVHGDZDUGV ³H[FHVVWD[EHQHILWV´ KDYHEHHQFODVVLILHGDVILQDQFLQJFDVKIORZV
SURVSHFWLYHO\ IURP 2FWREHU    3ULRU WR WKH DGRSWLRQ RI 6)$6 1R  5  VXFK H[FHVV LQFRPH WD[ EHQHILWV ZHUH
presented as operating cash flows.
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For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of options is amortized over the option vesting period.
The following table illustrates the effect on net income and income per share if the Company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 prior to October 1, 2005:

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2005
2004
Net income, as reported
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense
recorded for restricted stock awards, net of related
tax effects
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under fair value based method
for all awards, net of related tax effects

$

160,205

$

112,806

Pro forma net income

$

Earnings per share:
Basic - as reported
Basic - pro forma

$

2.22
2.17

$

1.62
1.57

$

2.18
2.13

$

1.57
1.52

2,987

Diluted - as reported
Diluted - pro forma

779

(6,503)
(3,516)
156,689

$

(4,017)
(3,238)
109,568

The weighted-average fair value for stock option grants during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 were $18.23, $12.08 and
$8.50, respectively, and were estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average
assumptions:

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006
2005
2004

Options Granted During
Assumptions:
Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
Expected term (in years)

4.73%
33.7%
0.75%
5.40

4.00%
31.0%
0.67%
4.27

3.28%
31.2%
0.62%
4.58

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income±&RPSUHKHQVLYHLQFRPHLVDPRUHLQFOXVLYHILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJPHWKRG
that includes disclosure of financial information that historically has not been recognized in the calculation of net income.
The Company has chosen to report Comprehensive Income and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) which
encompasses net income, cumulative translation adjustments, unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives and minimum pension
liability adjustments in the Consolidated Statements of ShDUHKROGHUV¶ (TXLW\  7KH FRPponents of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss) are as follows:

Balance at September 30, 2003
Fiscal year change
Balance at September 30, 2004
Fiscal year change
Balance at September 30, 2005
Fiscal year change
Balance at September 30, 2006

Cumulative
Translation
Adjustments

Minimum
Pension
Liability
Adjustments

Gains (Losses)
on Derivatives

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

$

$

$

$

$

45,086
12,556
57,642
(2,978)
54,664
11,221
65,885

$

(15,792)
1,683
(14,109)
(15,584)
(29,693)
28,673
(1,020)

$

(2,896)
(11,466)
(14,362)
1,941
(12,421)
6,741
(5,680)

$

26,398
2,773
29,171
(16,621)
12,550
46,635
59,185
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The Company funded a portion of the BAI purchase utilizing proceeds of a Euro-denominated debt obligation. This debt
obligation has been designated as a hedge of the Company’s net investment in BAI. To the extent that this debt obligation
remains as an effective hedge, changes in value of the debt obligation due to changes in foreign currency are recorded within
currency translation adjustments in other comprehensive income. Net unrealized gains (losses) of $(960), $424 and $(314)
related to this hedge have been recorded as part of the cumulative translation adjustment during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.
Foreign Currency Translation – All balance sheet accounts have been translated into U.S. dollars using the exchange
rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Income statement amounts have been translated using the average exchange rate
during the period in which the transactions occurred. Resulting translation adjustments are included in “accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss).” The Company recorded net foreign currency transaction gains (losses) of $(608), $(343) and
$157 in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, related to unhedged inter-company transactions.
Income Taxes – Deferred income taxes are provided to recognize temporary differences between the financial reporting
basis and the income tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax rates and laws. Valuation
allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. In assessing
the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of
future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers
the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this
assessment.
Income taxes are provided on financial statement earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries expected to be repatriated. The
Company determines annually the amount of undistributed non-U.S. earnings to invest indefinitely in its non-U.S. operations.
As a result of anticipated cash requirements in the foreign subsidiaries, the Company currently believes that all future
earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries will be reinvested indefinitely to finance foreign activities. Accordingly, no deferred
income taxes have been provided for the repatriation of those earnings.
Concentration of Credit Risk – Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to significant
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, OMFSP lease receivables and
guarantees of certain customers’ obligations under deferred payment contracts and lease purchase agreements.
The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents, and other financial instruments, with various major financial
institutions. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit standing of these financial institutions and
limits the amount of credit exposure with any institution.
Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade accounts and leases receivable is limited due to the large number of
customers and their dispersion across many geographic areas. However, a significant amount of trade and lease receivables
are with the U.S. government, with companies in the ready-mix concrete industry, municipalities and with several large waste
haulers in the United States. The Company does not currently foresee a significant credit risk associated with these
receivables.
Derivative Financial Instruments – The Company recognizes all derivative financial instruments, such as foreign
exchange contracts, in the consolidated financial statements at fair value regardless of the purpose or intent for holding the
instrument. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are either recognized periodically in income or in
shareholders’ equity as a component of comprehensive income depending on whether the derivative financial instrument
qualifies for hedge accounting, and if so, whether it qualifies as a fair value hedge or cash flow hedge. Generally, changes in
fair values of derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges are recorded in income along with the portions of the changes in
the fair values of the hedged items that relate to the hedged risks. Changes in fair values of derivatives accounted for as cash
flow hedges, to the extent they are effective as hedges, are recorded in other comprehensive income, net of deferred taxes.
Changes in fair value of derivatives not qualifying as hedges are reported in income. Cash flows from derivatives that are
accounted for as cash flow or fair value hedges are included in the consolidated statements of cash flows in the same category
as the item being hedged.
Reclassifications – Certain reclassifications have been made to the fiscal 2005 financial statements to conform to the
fiscal 2006 presentation.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements ± ,Q 0D\  WKH )LQDQFLDO $FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV %RDUG ³)$6%´  LVVXHG
6)$61R³$FFRXQWLQJ&KDQJHVDQG(UURU&RUUHFWLRQVDUHSODFHPHQWRI$3% 2SLQLRQ1RDQG)$6%6WDWHPHQW
1R ´ 3UHYLRXVO\ $3% 2SLQLRQ 1R  ³$FFRXQWLQJ &KDQJHV´ DQG )$6% 6WDWHPHQW 1R  ³5HSRUWLQJ $FFRXQWLQJ
&KDQJHVLQ,QWHULP)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV´UHTXLUHGWKHLQFOXVLRQRIWKHFXPXODWLYHHIIHFWRIFKDQJHVLQDFFRXQWLQJSULQFLSOH
LQQHWLQFRPHRIWKHSHULRGRIWKHFKDQJH6)$61RUHTXLUHVFRPSDQLHVWRUHFRJQL]HDFKDQJHLQDFFRXQWLQJSULQFLSOH
LQFOXGLQJ D FKDQJH UHTXLUHG E\ D QHZ DFFRXQWLQJ SURQRXQFHPHQW ZKHQ WKH SURQRXQFHPHQW GRHV QRW LQFOXGH VSHFLILF
WUDQVLWLRQ SURYLVLRQV UHWURVSHFWLYHO\ WR SULRU SHULRG ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV  6)$6 1R  LV HIIHFWLYH IRU WKH &RPSDQ\
EHJLQQLQJ2FWREHU$GRSWLRQRI6)$61RLVQRWH[SHFWHGWRKDYHDPDWHULDOLPSDFWRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDO
FRQGLWLRQUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVRUFDVKIORZV

,Q-XQHWKH)$6%LVVXHG)$6%,QWHUSUHWDWLRQ1R ³),1´ ³$FFRXQWLQJIRU8QFHUWDLQW\LQ,QFRPH7D[HV´DQ
LQWHUSUHWDWLRQRI)$6%6WDWHPHQW1R),1SURYLGHVJXLGDQFHIRUWKHUHFRJQLWLRQGHUHFRJQLWLRQDQGPHDVXUHPHQWLQ
ILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVRIWD[SRVLWLRQVWDNHQLQSUHYLRXVO\ILOHGWD[UHWXUQVRUWD[SRVLWLRQVH[SHFWHGWREHWDNHQLQWD[UHWXUQV
),1UHTXLUHVDQHQWLW\WRUHFRJQL]HWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWLPSDFWRIDWD[SRVLWLRQZKHQLWLVPRUHOLNHO\WKDQQRWWKDWWKH
SRVLWLRQZLOOEHVXVWDLQHGXSRQH[DPLQDWLRQ,IWKHWD[SRVLWLRQPHHWVWKHPRUHíOLNHO\íWKDQíQRWUHFRJQLWLRQWKUHVKROGWKH
WD[ HIIHFW LV UHFRJQL]HG DW WKH ODUJHVW DPRXQW RI WKH EHQHILW WKDW LV JUHDWHU WKDQ ILIW\ SHUFHQW OLNHO\ RI EHLQJ UHDOL]HG XSRQ
XOWLPDWHVHWWOHPHQW7KH&RPSDQ\ZLOOEHUHTXLUHGWRDGRSW),1DVRI2FWREHUZLWKDQ\FXPXODWLYHHIIHFWRIWKH
FKDQJHLQDFFRXQWLQJSULQFLSOHUHFRUGHGDVDQDGMXVWPHQWWRRSHQLQJUHWDLQHGHDUQLQJV7KH&RPSDQ\LVFXUUHQWO\HYDOXDWLQJ
WKHLPSDFWRI),1RQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOFRQGLWLRQUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVDQGFDVKIORZV

,Q6HSWHPEHUWKH)$6%LVVXHG6)$61R³)DLU9DOXH0HDVXUHPHQWV´ZKLFKGHILQHVIDLUYDOXHHVWDEOLVKHVD
IUDPHZRUN IRU PHDVXULQJ IDLU YDOXH DQG H[SDQGV GLVFORVXUHV DERXW IDLU YDOXH PHDVXUHPHQWV  6)$6 1R  FODULILHV WKH
GHILQLWLRQRIH[FKDQJHSULFHDVWKHSULFHEHWZHHQPDUNHWSDUWLFLSDQWVLQDQRUGHUO\WUDQVDFWLRQWRVHOODQDVVHWRUWUDQVIHUD
OLDELOLW\ LQ WKH PDUNHW LQ ZKLFK WKH UHSRUWLQJ HQWLW\ ZRXOG WUDQVDFW IRU WKH DVVHW RU OLDELOLW\ WKDW LV WKH SULQFLSDO RU PRVW
DGYDQWDJHRXVPDUNHWIRUWKHDVVHWRUOLDELOLW\7KH&RPSDQ\ZLOOEHUHTXLUHGWRDGRSW6)$61RDVRI2FWREHU
7KH &RPSDQ\ LV FXUUHQWO\ HYDOXDWLQJ WKH LPSDFW RI 6)$6 1R  RQ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V ILQDQFLDO FRQGLWLRQ UHVXOWV RI
RSHUDWLRQVDQGFDVKIORZV

,Q6HSWHPEHUWKH)$6%LVVXHG6)$61R³(PSOR\HUV¶$FFRXQWLQJIRU'HILQHG%HQHILW3HQVLRQDQG2WKHU
3RVWUHWLUHPHQW 3ODQV²DQ DPHQGPHQW RI )$6% 6WDWHPHQWV 1R    DQG  5 ´ ZKLFK UHTXLUHV WKH HPSOR\HU WR
UHFRJQL]HWKHRYHUIXQGHGRUXQGHUIXQGHGVWDWXVRIDGHILQHGEHQHILWSRVWUHWLUHPHQWSODQDVDQDVVHWRUOLDELOLW\LQLWVVWDWHPHQW
RI ILQDQFLDO SRVLWLRQ DQG WR UHFRJQL]H FKDQJHV LQ WKDW IXQGHG VWDWXV LQ WKH \HDU LQ ZKLFK WKH FKDQJHV RFFXU WKURXJK
FRPSUHKHQVLYHLQFRPH7KH&RPSDQ\ZLOOEHUHTXLUHGWRDGRSW6)$61RDVRI6HSWHPEHU7KH&RPSDQ\LV
FXUUHQWO\HYDOXDWLQJWKHLPSDFWRI6)$61RRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOFRQGLWLRQUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVDQGFDVKIORZV

3.

Acquisitions


2Q-XO\WKH&RPSDQ\FRPSOHWHGWKHDFTXLVLWLRQRIRIWKHRXWVWDQGLQJVWRFNDQGPHPEHULQWHUHVWVRI$.
IRU FDVK  $. KDV RSHUDWLRQV LQ WKH 86 DQG (XURSH DQG LV KHDGTXDUWHUHG LQ +DUYH\ ,OOLQRLV  $. LV D OHDGHU LQ PRELOH
PHGLFDOKRPHODQGVHFXULW\FRPPDQGDQGFRPPXQLFDWLRQVDQGEURDGFDVWYHKLFOHV7KH&RPSDQ\KDVLQFOXGHG$.LQLWV
ILUHDQGHPHUJHQF\EXVLQHVVVHJPHQW7KHSXUFKDVHSULFHIRUWKH$.DFTXLVLWLRQZDVLQFDVKLQFOXGLQJDFTXLVLWLRQ
FRVWVDQGQHWRIFDVKDFTXLUHG LQFOXGLQJFHUWDLQSRVWFORVLQJZRUNLQJFDSLWDODGMXVWPHQWV $OOWKHJRRGZLOOZDVDVVLJQHGWR
WKH&RPSDQ\¶VILUHDQGHPHUJHQF\VHJPHQW7KHDPRXQWRIJRRGZLOOZKLFKLVWD[GHGXFWLEOHLVGHSHQGHQWXSRQWKHILQDO
SXUFKDVHSULFHDOORFDWLRQ

2Q$XJXVWWKH&RPSDQ\FRPSOHWHGWKHDFTXLVLWLRQRIRIWKHRXWVWDQGLQJVWRFNRI,07IRUFDVK,07LV
D1RUWK$PHULFDQPDQXIDFWXUHURIILHOGVHUYLFHYHKLFOHVDQGDUWLFXODWLQJFUDQHVIRUQLFKHPDUNHWVZKLFKLVKHDGTXDUWHUHGLQ
*DUQHU ,RZD  7KH &RPSDQ\ KDV LQFOXGHG ,07 LQ LWV FRPPHUFLDO EXVLQHVV VHJPHQW  7KH SXUFKDVH SULFH IRU WKH ,07
DFTXLVLWLRQ ZDV  LQFOXGLQJ DFTXLVLWLRQ FRVWV DQG QHW RI FDVK DFTXLUHG $OO WKH JRRGZLOO ZDV DVVLJQHG WR WKH
&RPSDQ\¶VFRPPHUFLDOVHJPHQWDQGLVQRWGHGXFWLEOHIRUORFDOLQFRPHWD[SXUSRVHV

7KH &RPSDQ\ ILQDQFHG WKH $. DQG ,07 DFTXLVLWLRQV IURP DYDLODEOH FDVK DQG ERUURZLQJV XQGHU LWV UHYROYLQJ FUHGLW
IDFLOLW\
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Following is a summary of the recorded fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in fiscal 2006 of AK
and IMT as of the respective dates of acquisition:

Assets Acquired:
Current assets, excluding cash of $5,521
Property, plant and equipment
Other
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Total assets acquired

$ 77,490
11,323
76
98,470
151,743
339,102

Liabilities Assumed:
Current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities assumed
Net assets acquired

38,189
28,071
66,260
$ 272,842

The valuation of intangible assets for the AK and IMT acquisitions consists of $79,660 of assets subject to amortization
and $18,810 assigned to trademarks not subject to amortization. The intangible assets subject to amortization consist of
$10,260 in internally-developed technology with a nine year average life and $69,400 in customer-related assets with a 14
year average life.
The operating results of AK and IMT have been included inWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFRQVROLGDWHGVWDWHPHQWVRILQFRPHIURPWKH
respective dates of acquisition. The purchase prices, including acquisition costs and net of cash acquired, were allocated
based on the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the dates of acquisition with the excess
purchase prices of $79,882 and $71,861 recorded as goodwill at AK and IMT, respectively. These allocations were tentative
at September 30, 2006, pending finalization of purchase accounting within one year of the acquisition date.
On March 9, 2005, the Company acquired 100% of the stock of London. London is based in Ontario, Canada and is a
manufacturer and marketer of rear-discharge concrete mixers for the concrete placement market with sales throughout the
Americas. The purchase price, including acquisition costs and net of cash acquired, of $11,169, was allocated based on the
estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition with any excess purchase price
allocated to goodwill.
On November 1, 2004, the Company acquired 100% of the stock of CON-E-CO. CON-E-CO is a leading manufacturer
of portable and stationary concrete batch plants headquartered in Blair, Nebraska. The purchase price, including acquisition
costs and net of cash acquired, of $19,912, was allocated based on the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition with any excess purchase price allocated to goodwill.
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The following is a summary of the recorded fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in fiscal 2005 of
CON-E-CO and London as of the respective dates of acquisition:

Assets Acquired:
Current assets, excluding cash of $200
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Total assets acquired

$ 21,431
6,339
5,601
10,696
44,067

Liabilities Assumed:
Current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities assumed
Net assets acquired

10,135
2,851
12,986
$ 31,081

The valuation of intangible assets consists of $1,703 of assets subject to amortization and $3,898 assigned to tradenames
not subject to amortization for the CON-E-CO and London acquisitions. The intangible assets subject to amortization consist
of $1,096 in customer-related assets with a twenty-year average life and $607 of non-compete agreements with a five-year
life.

7KH RSHUDWLQJ UHVXOWV RI &21(&2 DQG /RQGRQ ZHUH LQFOXGHG LQ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V FRQVROLGated statements of income
from the respective dates of acquisition. The purchase prices, including acquisition costs, net of cash acquired, of the CONE-CO and London acquisitions were allocated based on the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
with the excess purchase price totaling $10,696 recorded as JRRGZLOO  $OO WKH JRRGZLOO ZDV DVVLJQHG WR WKH &RPSDQ\¶V
commercial segment and is not deductible for local income tax purposes.
Pro forma information on results of operations for fiscal 2006 and 2005, as if all of the fiscal 2006 and 2005 acquisitions
had occurred on October 1, 2004, are as follows (unaudited):

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006
2005
Net sales
Net income
Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted

$

3,606,725
211,740

$

3,166,659
154,561

$

2.89
2.85

$

2.14
2.10

The pro forma information is not necessarily indicative of what the results of operations would actually have been had
the acquisitions occurred on October 1, 2004.
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4.

Receivables

September 30,
2005
2006
U.S. government:
Amounts billed
Cost and profits not billed
Other trade receivables
Other receivables
Less allowance for doubtful accounts

$ 55,232
1,603
56,835
256,440
11,619
324,894
(6,974)
$ 317,920

$ 86,628
2,530
89,158
171,874
25,663
286,695
(6,448)
$ 280,247

Costs and profits not billed generally will become billable upon the Company achieving certain contract milestones.

5.

Inventories

September 30,
2006
2005
Raw materials
Partially finished products
Finished products
Inventories at FIFO cost
Less: Progress/performance-based payments on
U.S. government contracts
Excess of FIFO cost over LIFO cost

$ 255,088
274,654
173,564
703,306

$ 221,596
236,740
125,537
583,873

(77,716)
(35,820)
$ 589,770

(66,983)
(26,893)
$ 489,997

Title to all inventories related to government contracts, which provide for progress or performance-based payments,
vests with the government to the extent of unliquidated progress or performance based payments.
Inventory includes costs which are amortized to expense as sales are recognized under certain contracts. At September
30, 2006 and 2005, unamortized costs related to long-term contracts of $5,471 and $15,616, respectively, were included in
inventory.

6.

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates

The Company records its investments in, and share of earnings of, OMFSP and Mezcladores under the equity method of
accounting. Earnings, net of related income taxes, are reflected in Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates. The
Company received cash distributions from OMFSP of $6,968, $8,024 and $6,407 in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively,
and dividends of $490 from Mezcladores LQILVFDO7KH&RPSDQ\¶VLQYHVWPHnt in OMFSP was $16,923 and $18,466 at
September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectivel\  7KH &RPSDQ\¶V LQYHVWPHQW LQ 0ezcladores was $2,350 and $1,814 at
September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

2Q)HEUXDU\FRQFXUUHQWZLWKWKH&RPSDQ\¶VDFquisition of McNeilus, the Company and an unaffiliated third
SDUW\%$/HDVLQJ &DSLWDO&RUSRUDWLRQ ³%$/&$3´ IRUPHG20)63DJHQHUDOSDUWQHUVKLSIRUWKHSXUSRVHRIRIIHULQJ
lease financing to certain customers of the Company. Each partner contributed existing lease assets (and, in the case of the
Company, related notes payable to third party lenders which were secured by such leases) to capitalize the partnership.
Leases and related notes payable contributed by the Company were originally acquired in connection with the McNeilus
acquisition.
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OMFSP manages the contributed assets and liabilities and engages in new vendor lease business providing financing to
certain customers of the Company. The Company sells vehicles, vehicle bodies and concrete batch plants to OMFSP for
lease to user-customers. Company sales to OMFSP were $72,867, $72,994 and $58,182 in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Banks and other financial institutions lend to OMFSP a portion of the purchase price, with recourse solely to
OMFSP, secured by a pledge of lease payments due from the user-lessees. Each partner funds one-half of the equity portion
of the cost of the new vehicle and batch plant purchases, and each partner is allocated its proportionate share of OMFSP cash
flow and taxable income in accordance with the partnership agreement. Indebtedness of OMFSP is secured by the
underlying leases and assets of, and is with recourse to, OMFSP. However, all OMFSP indebtedness is non-recourse to the
Company or BALCAP.
Summarized financial information of OMFSP as of September 30, 2006 and 2005 and for the fiscal years ended
September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was as follows:

September 30,
2005
2006
Cash and cash equivalents
Lease assets, net
Other assets

$

3,546
198,887
603
$ 203,036

$

3,774
189,268
606
$ 193,648

Notes payable
Other liabilities
Partners' equity

$ 165,359
4,672
33,005
$ 203,036

$ 154,820
3,605
35,223
$ 193,648

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006
2005
2004
Interest income
Net interest income
Excess of revenues over expenses

7.

$

11,301
2,955
3,457

$

11,143
3,347
4,433

$

12,808
3,885
3,589

Property, Plant and Equipment

September 30,
2005
2006
Land and land improvements
Equipment on operating lease to others
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Construction in progress
Less accumulated depreciation

$ 26,208
951
143,547
241,443
4,654
416,803
(184,908)
$ 231,895

$ 20,319
1,731
116,660
206,829
9,802
355,341
(162,315)
$ 193,026

Depreciation expense was $28,832, $23,750 and $19,632 in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Capitalized
interest was insignificant in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004. Equipment on operating lease to others represents the cost of
vehicles sold to customers for which the Company has guaranteed the residual value. These transactions are accounted for as
operating leases with the related assets capitalized and depreciated over their estimated economic lives of 5 to 10 years. Cost
less accumulated depreciation for equipment on operating lease at September 30, 2006 and 2005 was $488 and $1,175,
respectively.
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8.

Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets

The Company is required to perform goodwill impairment tests on an annual basis and between annual tests in certain
circumstances. The Company performed the required impairment tests in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, and found no
LPSDLUPHQWRIJRRGZLOO,QFRQMXQFWLRQZLWKWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILVFDOUHYLHZIRUSRWHQWLDOLPSDLUPHQWRIJRRGZLOOWKH
&RPSDQ\ SHUIRUPHG H[WHQVLYH VWXGLHV DQG DQDO\VLV UHJDUGLQJ WKH HVWLPDWHG IDLU YDOXH RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V LQWHUHVW LQ WKH
Geesink Norba Group and determined that WKHIDLUYDOXHH[FHHGHGLWVFDUU\LQJYDOXe at September 30, 2006. The Company
WRRN DFWLRQV LQ ILVFDO  DQG WR WXUQ DURXQG WKLV EXVLQHVV  7KH &RPSDQ\¶V FDOFXODWLRQVRIIDLU YDOXH UHIOHFWHG WKH
&RPSDQ\¶VHVWLPDWHVRIWKHEHQHILWVWRIXWXUHHDUQLQJVRIVXFKLQLWLDWLYHVWRXSJUDGHWKH*HHVLQN1RUED*URXSSURGXFWOLQHV
DQGLPSURYHLWVPDQXIDFWXULQJHIILFLHQFLHV+RZHYHULISURILWVDWWKH*HHVLQN1RUED*URXSGRQRWUHWXUQWRH[SHFWHGOHYHOV
then the Company may be required to write down goodwill through a charge to future earnings. The Company cannot
SURYLGHDQ\DVVXUDQFHWKDWIXWXUHJRRGZLOOLPSDLUPHQW tests will not result in a charge to earnings.
Details of the Company's total purchased intangible assets are as follows:

September 30, 2006
Accumulated
Gross
Amortization

Weighted
Average Life
(Years)
Amortizable intangible assets:
Distribution network
Non-compete
Technology-related
Customer relationships
Other

39.1
14.0
14.5
14.6
12.0
20.5

Non-amortizable tradenames
Total

$

55,423
42,016
33,172
71,030
16,726
218,367
56,270
$ 274,637

Non-amortizable tradenames
Total

39.1
14.0
17.0
20.0
12.0
24.4

$

(13,557)
(24,647)
(10,396)
(884)
(5,914)
(55,398)
(55,398)

$

41,866
17,369
22,776
70,146
10,812
162,969
56,270
$ 219,239

September 30, 2005
Accumulated
Gross
Amortization

Weighted
Average Life
(Years)
Amortizable intangible assets:
Distribution network
Non-compete
Technology-related
Customer relationships
Other

$

Net

$

55,423
41,964
22,647
1,620
16,726
138,380
37,073
$ 175,453

$

$

(12,111)
(21,596)
(8,686)
(80)
(4,455)
(46,928)
(46,928)

Net

$

43,312
20,368
13,961
1,540
12,271
91,452
37,073
$ 128,525


,QFRQQHFWLRQZLWKWKHYDOXDWLRQRILQWDQJLEOHDVVHWVD\HDUOLIHZDVDVVLJQHGWRWKHYDlue of the Pierce distribution
QHWZRUN  7KH&RPSDQ\EHOLHYHV3LHUFHPDLQWDLQVWKHODUJHVW1RUWK$PHULFDQILUHDSSDUDWXVGLVWULEXWLRQQHWZRUN
DQGKDVH[FOXVLYHFRQWUDFWVZLWKHDFKGLVWULEXWRUUHODWHGWRWKHILUHDSSDUDWXVSURGXFt offerings manufactured by Pierce. The
useful life of the Pierce distribution network was based on a hiVWRULFDOWXUQRYHUDQDO\VLV$\HDUDYHUDJHOLIHZDVDVVLJQHd
to customer-related intangibles in connection with the AK and IMT acquisitions ($69,400). Non-compete intangible asset
OLYHVDUHEDVHGRQWHUPVRIWKHDSSOLFDEOHDJUHHPHQWV

7RWDODPRUWL]DWLRQH[SHQVHZDVDQGLQILVFDODQGUHVSHFWLYHO\7KHHVWLPDWHG
future amortization expense of purchased intangible assets foUWKHILYH\HDUVVXFFHHGLQJ6HSWember 30, 2006 are as follows:
2007 - $13,490; 2008 - $13,413; 2009 - $13,333; 2010 - $12,866 and 2011 - $12,812.
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The following tables present the changes in goodwill during fiscal 2006 and 2005 allocated to the reportable segments:

Segment
Commercial
Fire and emergency
Total

Balance at
September 30, 2005
$
$

253,315
146,560
399,875

Acquisitions

Translation
and Other

$

$

$

71,861
79,882
151,743

$

6,815
291
7,106

Balance at
September 30, 2006
$
$

331,991
226,733
558,724

Translation and other in fiscal 2006 included a $7,293 increase resulting from currency translation adjustments and a net
decrease of $187 related to tax adjustments in connection with the acquisition of London.

Segment
Commercial
Fire and emergency
Total

Balance at
September 30, 2004
$
$

245,389
139,674
385,063

Acquisitions

Translation
and Other

$

$

$

10,883
10,883

$

(2,957)
6,886
3,929

Balance at
September 30, 2005
$
$

253,315
146,560
399,875

Translation and other in fiscal 2005 included a $3,050 decrease resulting from currency translation adjustments and a net
increase of $6,979 related to adjustments of the preliminary valuation of intangible assets related to the acquisitions of
JerrDan and BAI following completion of appraisals and valuations.

9.

Warranty and Guarantee Arrangements


7KH&RPSDQ\¶VSURGXFWVJHQHUDOO\FDUU\H[SOLFLWZDUUDQWLHVWKDWH[WHQGIURPVL[PRQWKVWRILYH\HDUVEDVHGRQWHUPV
that are generally accepted in the marketplace. Selected components (such as engines, transmissions, tires, etc.) included in
WKH&RPSDQ\¶VHQGSURGXFWVPD\LQFOXGHPDQXIDFWXUHUV¶ZDUUDQWLHV7KHVHPDQXIDFWXUHUV¶ZDUUDQWLHVDUHJHQHUDOO\SDVVHG
RQ WR WKH HQG FXVWRPHU RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V SURGXFWV DQG WKH FXVWRPHU ZRXOG JHQHUDOO\ GHDO GLUHFWO\ ZLWK WKH FRPSRQHQW
manufacturer. Amounts expensed were $42,297, $24,999 and $21,028 in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.


&KDQJHVLQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VZDUUDQW\OLDELOLW\GXULQJILVFDODQGILVFDOZHUHDVIROORZV

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006
2005
Balance at beginning of year
Warranty provisions
Settlements made
Changes in liability for pre-existing warranties, net
Acquisitions
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Balance at end of year

$

$

39,546
33,707
(29,425)
8,590
4,251
260
56,929

$

$

35,760
27,982
(21,420)
(2,983)
319
(112)
39,546

In the fire and emergency segment, the Company provides guarantees of lease payments by customer-lessees to a thirdparty lessor of equipment purchased from the Company. The guarantee is limited to $1,000 per year in total and is supported
E\WKHUHVLGXDOYDOXHRIWKHUHODWHGHTXLSPHQW7KH&RPSDQ\¶s actual losses under these guarantees over the last ten years
KDYH EHHQ QHJOLJLEOH ,Q DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK ),1  ³*XDUDQWRU¶V $FFRXQWLQJ DQG 'LVFORVXUH 5HTXLUHPHQWV IRU *XDUDQWHHV
,QFOXGLQJ ,QGLUHFW *XDUDQWHHV RI ,QGHEWHGQHVV RI 2WKHUV´ no liabilities for pre-January 1, 2003 guarantees have been
recorded. For all such guarantees issued after January 1, 2003, the Company has recorded the fair value of the guarantee as a
liability and a reduction of the initial revenue recognized on the sale of equipment. Amounts recorded since January 1, 2003
were not significant.
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10. Operating Leases
Total rental expense for plant and equipment charged to operations under noncancelable operating leases was $13,709,
$10,483 and $8,269 in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Minimum rental payments due under operating leases for
subsequent fiscal years are: 2007 - $14,220; 2008 - $11,055; 2009 - $8,147; 2010 - $5,878; 2011 - $4,511 and $7,978
thereafter. Minimum rental payments include approximately $1,000 due annually under variable rate leases. Payments are
adjusted based on changes to the one-month LIBOR rate (4.63% at September 30, 2006).

11. Credit Agreements
The following table presents details of the Company's short-term borrowings:

September 30,
2005

2006
Revolving credit facility
Other short-term facilities
Current maturities of long-term debt

$

$

71,432
15,401
683
87,516

$

$

18,072
2,889
560
21,521

The Company has an unsecured revolving credit facility of $500,000, which expires in September 2009. The Company
may seek to increase the revolving credit facility up to an aggregate maximum outstanding amount of $750,000, subject to
the satisfaction of certain conditions, including the Company not being in default under the revolving credit facility and the
identification of lenders willing to provide the additional commitments. At September 30, 2006, bank borrowings of $71,432
and outstanding letters of credit of $20,347, reduced availaEOH FDSDFLW\ XQGHU WKH &RPSDQ\¶V UHYROYLQJ FUHGLW IDFLOLW\ WR
$408,221.

,QWHUHVWUDWHVRQERUURZLQJVXQGHUWKH&RPSDQ\¶VUHYROYLQJcredit facility are variable and DUHHTXDOWRWKH³%DVH5DWH´
(which is equal to the higher ofDEDQN¶VUHIHUHQFHUDWHDQGWKHIHGHUDOIXQGVUDte plus 0.50%) or the ³2IIVKRUH5DWH´ ZKLFK
LV D EDQN¶V LQWHUEDQN RIIHUHG UDWH IRU 86 GROODUV LQ RIIVKore markets) plus a margin of 0.70% for Offshore Rate loans
XQGHUWKH&RPSDQ\¶VUHYROYLQJFUHGLWIDFLOLW\DVRI6HSWHPEHU, 2006. The margins are subject to adjustment, up or down,
based on whether certain financial criteria are met.
The average interest rate on bank borrowings outstanding at
September 30, 2006 and 2005 was 6.22% and 2.82%, respectively.
The Company is charged a 0.125% to 0.300% annual commitment fee with respect to any unused balance under its
revolving credit facility, and a 0.525% to 1.500% annual fee with respect to commercial letters of credit issued under the
UHYROYLQJFUHGLWIDFLOLW\EDVHGRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VOHYHUDJHUDWLRDVGHILQHGXQGHUWKHWHUPVRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VUHYROYLQJFUHGLW
facility.
Restrictions and covenants under the revolving credit facility include: (1) requirements that the Company maintain
certain financial ratios at prescribed levels; and (2) restrictions on the ability of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries to
consolidate or merge, or create liens, incur additional indebtedness and dispose of assets. The Company believes that such
limitations should not impair its future operating activities. See Note 20 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
The Company was in compliance with all of its financial covenants under its credit agreements throughout fiscal 2006, 2005
and 2004.

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VZKROO\RZQHGVXEVLGLDU\LQ7KH1HWKHUODQGV Geesink Group B.V., and certain of its affiliates are party
WRD¼EDQNFUHGLWIDFLOLW\ WKH³(XURIDFLOLW\´ ZKLFKVXSSRUWVDFURVVERUGHUFDVKSRROLQJDUUDQJHPHQW7KHUHZHUHQR
ERUURZLQJVRXWVWDQGLQJXQGHUWKH(XURIDFLOLW\DW6HSWHPEHU

7KH &RPSDQ\¶V ZKROO\RZQHG VXEVLGLDU\ LQ &DQDGD /RQGRQ LV SDUW\ WR D  &$'   FUHGLW IDFLOLW\ ZKLFK
EHDUV LQWHUHVW DW D YDULDEOH UDWH EDVHG RQ D EDQN¶V SULPH UDte plus 0.50% (6.50% at September 30, 2006). There were no
borrowings outstanding under the London facility at September 30, 2006.

$W6HSWHPEHU%$,KDG ¼ LQERUURZLngs outstanding under various bank credit facilities. The
facilities, a portion of which are secured E\%$,¶VDFFRXQWVUHFHLYDEOHDOORZIRUERrrowings up to $28, ¼ DQG
bear interest at variable rates (3.80% at September 30, 2006).
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Other subsidiaries of the Company had other unsecured short-term debt outstanding of $725 with varying interest rates at
September 30, 2006.
The following table presents details of the Company's long-term borrowings:

September 30,
2005

2006
Mortgage notes payable
Other

$

Less current maturities of long-term debt
$

2,303
556
2,859
(683)
2,176

$

$

2,554
595
3,149
(560)
2,589


$W6HSWHPEHU%$,KDGRXWVWDQGLQJPRUWJDJHORDQVRI ¼ ZKLFKEHDULQWHUHVWDWDYDULDEOHUDWH
based on the three-month Euribor rate plus a margin of between 0.75% and 1.50%. The average interest rate on outstanding
mortgage loans at September 30, 2006 was 4.21%. Annual prLQFLSDODQGLQWHUHVWSD\PHQWVUDQJHIURP ¼ WR
¼ ZLWKPDWXULWLHVthrough November 2012.
At September 30, 2006, McNeilus had an unsecured note payable due to a third party of $402 with an effective interest
rate of 4.0%.

12. Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities
The Company uses forward foreign exchange contracts, or derivative contracts, to reduce the exchange rate risk of
specific foreign currency transactions. These contracts require the exchange of a foreign currency for U.S. dollars at a fixed
UDWH DW D IXWXUH GDWH  7KH &RPSDQ\¶V VWUDWHJLHV WR PDQDJH WKe risks associated with foreign currency transactions and the
HIIHFWRIWKHVHVWUDWHJLHVRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFonsolidated financial statements are as follows:
Fair Value Hedging Strategy ± 7KH &RPSDQ\ HQWHUV LQWR IRUZDUG IRUHLJQ H[FKDQJH FRQWUDFWV WR KHGJH FHUWDLQ ILUP
commitments denominated in foreign currencies, primarily thH (XUR  7KH SXUSRVH RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V IRUHLJQ FXUUHQF\
hedging activities is to protect the Company from risk that the eventual dollar-equivalent cash flows from the sale of products
to international customers will be adversely affected by changes in the exchange rates.
Cash Flow Hedging Strategy ± 7R SURWHFW DJDLQVW DQ LQFUHDVH LQ FRVW of forecasted purchases of foreign-sourced
component parts payable in Euro, the Company has a foreign currency cash flow hedging program. The Company hedges
portions of its forecasted purchases denominated in Euro with forward contracts. When the U.S. dollar weakens against the
Euro, increased foreign currency payments are offset by gains in the value of the forward contracts. Conversely, when the
U.S. dollar strengthens against the Euro, reduced foreign currency payments are offset by losses in the value of the forward
contracts.
To protect against the reduction in value of certain forecasted foreign currency cash flows associated with export sales
from October to November 2006 denominated in British Sterling and to protect against increases in the cost of purchases of
certain components from October through December 2006 which are payable in Euro, each in connection with the
&RPSDQ\¶V FRQWUDFW WR SURYLGH FHUWDLQ ZKHHOHG WDQNHU V\VWems to the U.K. MoD, the Company has instituted a foreign
currency cash flow hedging program. The Company hedges portions of its estimated foreign currency cash flows in
connection with the U.K. MoD contract.
Deferred Hedging Gains and Losses±$W6HSWHPEHUWKH86GROODUHTXLYDOHQWRIRXWVWDQGLQJIRUZDUGIRUHLJQ
exchange contracts totaled $49,872 in notional amounts, including $28,661 in contracts to sell British Sterling, $6,018 in
contracts to purchase British Sterling, $14,189 in contracts to purchase Euro and $1,004 in contracts to sell Euro. At
September 30, 2006, net unrealized losses (net of related tax effect of $3,336) related to foreign exchange forward contracts
totaling $5,680 have been included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). During fiscal 2007 all pre-tax losses
on derivative instruments are expected to be reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into earnings,
as amounts being hedged are reflected in earnings.
Net gains or losses related to hedge ineffectiveness included in income were insignificant for all years presented.
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Net Investment Hedging Strategy ± 7R UHGXFH YRODWLOLW\ DVVRFLDWHG ZLWK 86 GROODUWUDQVODWHG (XURGHQRPLQDWHG
HDUQLQJVRI%$,WKH&RPSDQ\KDVIXQGHGDSRUWLRQRIWKH%$,DFTXLVLWLRQSULFHZLWKD(XURGHQRPLQDWHGERUURZLQJ(XUR
GHQRPLQDWHG LQWHUHVW H[SHQVH RQ WKH (XURGHQRPLQDWHG ERUURZLQJ DQG WKH (XURGHQRPLQDWHG HDUQLQJV RI %$, DUH ERWK
WUDQVODWHGWR86GROODUVHDFKSHULRGWKHUHE\UHGXFLQJWKHLPSDFWRI%$,HDUQLQJVWUDQVODWLRQDGMXVWPHQWVWRWKH86GROODU
UHSRUWHGHDUQLQJVRIWKH&RPSDQ\

%HFDXVH WKH &RPSDQ\ KDV GHVLJQDWHG WKH (XURGHQRPLQDWHG ERUURZLQJV DV D QHW LQYHVWPHQW KHGJH IRUHLJQ FXUUHQF\
WUDQVODWLRQ DGMXVWPHQWV WR FRQYHUW WKH (XURGHQRPLQDWHG GHEW WR LWV 86 GROODU HTXLYDOHQW DW WKH HQG RI HDFK TXDUWHU DUH
UHFRUGHG QHW RI FXUUHQF\ WUDQVODWLRQ DGMXVWPHQWV LQ VKDUHKROGHUV¶ HTXLW\  ,QHIIHFWLYHQHVV UHFRUGHG RQ WKLV KHGJH ZDV
LQVLJQLILFDQWIRUDOO\HDUVSUHVHQWHG
Fair Market Value of Financial Instruments±7KHIDLUPDUNHWYDOXHRIDOORSHQGHULYDWLYHFRQWUDFWVDW6HSWHPEHU
DQGZDV  DQG  UHVSHFWLYHO\DQGUHFRUGHGLQWKH&RQVROLGDWHG%DODQFH6KHHWDVIROORZV

September 30,
2WKHUFXUUHQWDVVHWV
2WKHUORQJWHUPDVVHWV
2WKHUFXUUHQWOLDELOLWLHV
2WKHUORQJWHUPOLDELOLWLHV

2006

2005





 





 

 6KDUHKROGHUV¶(TXLW\

2Q0D\DVXIILFLHQWQXPEHURIVKDUHKROGHUVRIXQOLVWHG&ODVV$&RPPRQ6WRFNFRQYHUWHGWKHLUVKDUHVWR1HZ
<RUN 6WRFN ([FKDQJH ± OLVWHG &RPPRQ 6WRFNRQ D VKDUHIRUVKDUH EDVLV ZKLFK UHVXOWHG LQ WKH UHPDLQLQJ &ODVV $ VKDUHV
EHLQJ DXWRPDWLFDOO\ FRQYHUWHG LQWR VKDUHV RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN RQ WKH VDPH EDVLV SXUVXDQW WR WKH &RPSDQ\¶V $UWLFOHV RI
,QFRUSRUDWLRQ$VDUHVXOWRIWKHFRQYHUVLRQWKH&RPSDQ\QRZKDVDVLQJOHFODVVRIVWRFNDQGVKDUHVRI&RPPRQ6WRFNWKDW
SUHYLRXVO\KDGOLPLWHGYRWLQJULJKWVQRZFDUU\IXOOYRWLQJULJKWV

2Q )HEUXDU\   WKH %RDUG RI 'LUHFWRUV RI WKH &RPSDQ\ DGRSWHGD VKDUHKROGHUULJKWV SODQ DQG GHFODUHG D ULJKWV
GLYLGHQG RI RQHVL[WK RI RQH 3UHIHUUHG 6KDUH 3XUFKDVH 5LJKW ³5LJKW´  IRU HDFK VKDUH RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN RXWVWDQGLQJ RQ
)HEUXDU\DQGSURYLGHGWKDWRQHVL[WKRIRQH5LJKWZRXOGEHLVVXHGZLWKHDFKVKDUHRI&RPPRQ6WRFNWKHUHDIWHU
LVVXHG7KH5LJKWVDUHH[HUFLVDEOHRQO\LIDSHUVRQRUJURXSDFTXLUHVRUPRUHRIWKH&RPPRQ6WRFNRUDQQRXQFHVD
WHQGHURIIHUIRURUPRUHRIWKH&RPPRQ6WRFN(DFK5LJKWHQWLWOHVWKHKROGHUWKHUHRIWRSXUFKDVHIURPWKH&RPSDQ\
RQHRQHKXQGUHGWKVKDUHRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶V6HULHV$-XQLRU3DUWLFLSDWLQJ3UHIHUUHG6WRFNDWDQLQLWLDOH[HUFLVHSULFHRI
SHU RQH RQHKXQGUHGWK RI D VKDUH VXEMHFW WR DGMXVWPHQW  RU XSRQ WKH RFFXUUHQFH RI FHUWDLQ HYHQWV &RPPRQ 6WRFN RU
FRPPRQVWRFNRIDQDFTXLULQJFRPSDQ\KDYLQJDPDUNHWYDOXHHTXLYDOHQWWRWZRWLPHVWKHH[HUFLVHSULFH6XEMHFWWRFHUWDLQ
FRQGLWLRQV WKH 5LJKWV DUH UHGHHPDEOH E\ WKH %RDUG RI 'LUHFWRUV IRU  SHU 5LJKW DQG DUH H[FKDQJHDEOH IRU VKDUHV RI
&RPPRQ6WRFN7KH%RDUGRI'LUHFWRUVLVDOVRDXWKRUL]HGWR UHGXFHWKHWKUHVKROGVUHIHUUHGWRDERYHWRQRWOHVVWKDQ
7KH5LJKWVKDYHQRYRWLQJSRZHUDQGLQLWLDOO\H[SLUHRQ)HEUXDU\

,Q-XO\WKH&RPSDQ\DXWKRUL]HGWKHEX\EDFNRIXSWRVKDUHVRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶V&RPPRQ6WRFN$VRI
6HSWHPEHUDQGWKH&RPSDQ\KDGSXUFKDVHGVKDUHVRILWV&RPPRQ6WRFNDWDQDJJUHJDWHFRVWRI


 6WRFN2SWLRQV5HVWULFWHG6WRFNDQG&RPPRQ6WRFN5HVHUYHG

$W6HSWHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\KDGUHVHUYHGVKDUHVRI&RPPRQ6WRFNWRSURYLGHIRUWKHH[HUFLVHRI
RXWVWDQGLQJ VWRFN RSWLRQV DQG WKH LVVXDQFH RI &RPPRQ 6WRFN XQGHU LQFHQWLYH FRPSHQVDWLRQ DZDUGV  8QGHU WKH 
,QFHQWLYH6WRFNDQG$ZDUGV3ODQ ³WKH3ODQ´ ZKLFKUHSODFHGWKH,QFHQWLYH6WRFN3ODQDVDPHQGHG WKH³
3ODQ´  FROOHFWLYHO\³HTXLW\EDVHGFRPSHQVDWLRQSODQV´ RIILFHUVRWKHUNH\HPSOR\HHVDQGGLUHFWRUVPD\EHJUDQWHGRSWLRQV
WRSXUFKDVHVKDUHVRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶V&RPPRQ6WRFNDWQRWOHVVWKDQWKHIDLUPDUNHWYDOXHRIVXFKVKDUHVRQWKHGDWHRIJUDQW
3DUWLFLSDQWVPD\DOVREHDZDUGHGJUDQWVRIUHVWULFWHGVWRFNXQGHUWKH3ODQ7KH3ODQH[SLUHVRQ)HEUXDU\
2SWLRQV DQG UHVWULFWHG VWRFN DZDUGV JHQHUDOO\ EHFRPH H[HUFLVDEOH UDWDEO\ RQ WKH ILUVW VHFRQG DQG WKLUG DQQLYHUVDU\ RI WKH
GDWHRIJUDQW,QILVFDOWKH&RPSDQ\JUDQWHGFHUWDLQRIILFHUVVKDUHVRIUHVWULFWHG&RPPRQ6WRFNXQGHUWKH
3ODQZKLFKYHVWLQILVFDODIWHUDVL[\HDUUHWHQWLRQSHULRG7KHUHDUHQRYHVWLQJSURYLVLRQVWLHGWRSHUIRUPDQFH
FRQGLWLRQV IRU DQ\ RXWVWDQGLQJ RSWLRQV DQG UHVWULFWHG VWRFN DZDUGV  9HVWLQJ IRU DOO RXWVWDQGLQJ RSWLRQV RU UHVWULFWHG VWRFN
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awards is based solely on continued service as an employee of the Company and generally vest upon retirement. Options to
purchase shares expire not later than ten years and one month after the grant of the option.
The Company recognizes compensation expense for stock option and restricted stock awards over the requisite service
SHULRG IRU YHVWLQJ RI WKH DZDUG RU WR DQ HPSOR\HH¶V HOLJible retirement date, if earlier and applicable. Total stockíbased
compensation expense included in the CompDQ\¶V&RQVROLGDWHG6WDWHPHQWVRI,QFRme for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 was
$11,121 ($7,393 net of tax), $2,987 ($2,357 net of tax) and $779 ($682 net of tax), respectively.

$VDUHVXOWRIDGRSWLQJ6)$61R 5 RQ2FWREHUWKH&RPSDQ\¶VLQFRPHEHIRUHWD[HVQHWLQFRPHDQGEDVLF
and diluted earnings per share for fiscal 2006 were $6,507, $4,002 and $0.05 lower, respectively, than if the Company had
continued to account for stockíEDVHGFRPSHQVDWLRQXQGHU$3%2SLQLRQ1RIRUWKH&RPSDQ\¶VVWRFNRSWLRQJUDQWV

3ULRUWRWKHDGRSWLRQRI6)$61R 5 WKH&RPSDQ\UHSRrted all tax benefits resulting from the exercise of stock
RSWLRQVDQGWKHYHVWLQJRIUHVWULFWHGVWRFNDZDUGVDVRSHUDWLQJFDVKIORZVLQWKH&RPSDQ\¶V&RQVROLGDWHG6WDWHPHQWVRI&DVK
)ORZV ,Q DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK 6)$6 1R  5  the Company reported the excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock
options and the vesting of restricted stock awards as financiQJFDVKIORZVEHJLQQLQJLQILVFDO)RUILVFDORI
H[FHVV WD[ EHQHILWV ZHUH UHSRUWHG DV ILQDQFLQJ FDVK IORZV UDWKHU WKDQ RSHUDWLQJ FDVK IORZV )RU ILVFDO  DQG  WKH
excess tax benefits of $23,695 and $6,176, respectively, were included in operating cash flows.

1HWFDVKSURFHHGVIURPWKHH[HUFLVHRIVWRFNRSWLRQVZHUHDQGIRUILVFDODQG
respectively. The actual income tax benefit realized totaled $4,564, $25,301 and $6,486, respectively, for those same periods.


,QIRUPDWLRQUHODWHGWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶VHTXLW\EDVHGFRPSHQVDWLRQSODQVLQHIIHFWDVRI6HSWHPEHULVDVIROORZV

Number of
Securities
to Be Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding
Options

Plan Category
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders
Total



2,937,594

2,937,594

Weighted Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding
Options
$

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available
for Future Issuance
Under Equity
Compensation
Plans

25.30

25.30

$

2,994,274

2,994,274

$VXPPDU\RIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VVWRFNRSWLRQDFWLYLW\IRUWKHWKUHH\HDUVHQGHG6HSWHPEHULVDVIROORZV

2006

Options
Options outstanding, beginning of
the year
Options granted
Options forfeited
Options exercised
Options outstanding, end of the year
Options exercisable, end of the year

2,868,506
398,788

(329,700)
2,937,594
2,128,686

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2005
Weighted
Weighted
Average
Average
Exercise
Exercise
Price
Options
Price
$

$
$

20.16
50.02

10.50
25.30
18.43

5,087,608
425,700
(6,000)
(2,638,802)
2,868,506
1,851,264

$

$
$

12.75
40.75
19.75
9.19
20.16
14.35

2004

Options
5,519,508
407,800

(839,700)
5,087,608
3,665,128

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
$

10.48
28.50

5.47
$ 12.75
$
9.62
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The Company continues to use the BlackíScholes valuation model to value stock options. The Company used the
&RPSDQ\¶V KLVWRULFDO VWRFN SULFHV DV WKHEDVLV IRU WKH &RPSDQ\¶V YRODWLOLW\ DVVXPSWLRQ 7KH DVVXPHG ULVNíIUHH UDWHV ZHUH
EDVHG RQ 86 7UHDVXU\ UDWHV LQ HIIHFW DW WKH WLPH RI JUDQW 7KH H[SHFWHG RSWLRQ OLIH UHSUHVHQWV WKHSHULRGRI WLPH WKDW WKH
RSWLRQVJUDQWHGDUHH[SHFWHGWREHRXWVWDQGLQJDQGZHUHEDVHGRQKLVWRULFDOH[SHULHQFH

$VRI6HSWHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\KDGRIXQUHFRJQL]HGFRPSHQVDWLRQH[SHQVHUHODWHGWRRXWVWDQGLQJVWRFN
RSWLRQVZKLFKZLOOEHUHFRJQL]HGRYHUDZHLJKWHGíDYHUDJHSHULRGRI\HDUV


6WRFNRSWLRQVRXWVWDQGLQJDVRI6HSWHPEHUZHUHDVIROORZV

Price Range














Number
Outstanding

 





Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (in years)

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value



















 
 








6WRFNRSWLRQVH[HUFLVDEOHDVRI6HSWHPEHUZHUHDVIROORZV

Price Range
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Exercisable

 





Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (in years)

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value



















 
 









7KH DJJUHJDWH LQWULQVLF YDOXHV LQ WKH WDEOHV DERYH UHSUHVHQW WKH WRWDO SUHíWD[ LQWULQVLF YDOXH GLIIHUHQFH EHWZHHQ WKH
&RPSDQ\¶V FORVLQJ VWRFN SULFH RQ WKH ODVW WUDGLQJ GD\ RI ILVFDO  DQG WKH H[HUFLVH SULFH PXOWLSOLHG E\ WKH QXPEHU RI
inítheíPRQH\RSWLRQV WKDWZRXOGKDYHEHHQUHFHLYHGE\WKHRSWLRQKROGHUVKDGDOORSWLRQKROGHUVH[HUFLVHGWKHLURSWLRQVRQ
6HSWHPEHU7KLVDPRXQWFKDQJHVEDVHGRQWKHIDLUPDUNHWYDOXHRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VVWRFN7RWDOLQWULQVLFYDOXHRI
RSWLRQVH[HUFLVHGIRUILVFDODQGZDVDQGUHVSHFWLYHO\


$VXPPDU\RIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VUHVWULFWHGVWRFNDFWLYLW\IRUWKHWKUHH\HDUVHQGHG6HSWHPEHULVDVIROORZV
Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2005
Weighted
Weighted
Average
Number
Average
Grant Date
of
Grant Date
Fair Value
Shares
Fair Value

2006
Number
of
Shares
1RQYHVWHGEHJLQQLQJRI\HDU
*UDQWHG
)RUIHLWHG
Vested
1RQYHVWHGHQGRIWKH\HDU
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2004
Number
of
Shares

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value














Compensation expense related to restricted stock awards was $4,615, $2,987 and $779 in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. As of September 30, 2006, there was $4,921 of unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock
awards. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weightedíaverage period of 2.3 years.

15. Earnings Per Share

$V D UHVXOW RIWKH FRQYHUVLRQ RI DOO RI WKH&RPSDQ\¶V &ODVV $ &RPPRQ 6WRFN WR 1HZ<RUN 6WRFN([FKDQJH± OLVWHG
Common Stock, earnings per share for Class A Common Stock is no longer presented. The following table reconciles net
income to net income available to Common Stock holders for purposes of the computation of basic and diluted earnings per
share:

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006
2005
2004
Income available to Common Stock holders:
1HWLQFRPH
Class A Common Stock
Basic income available to Common Stock holders
Diluted income available to Common Stock holders

$
$

205,529 $
205,529 $

160,205 $
1,737
158,468 $

112,806
2,279
110,527

$

205,529 $

160,205 $

112,806

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted weighted average shares used in the denominator of
the per share calculations:

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006
2005
2004
Basic weighted average shares outstanding
(IIHFWRIGLOXWLYHVHFXULWLHV
Class A Common Stock
Stock options and incentive compensation awards
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding

73,159,887

71,293,745

68,387,994

1,239,991
74,399,878

944,541
1,383,566
73,621,852

1,624,878
1,964,884
71,977,756

Options to purchase 26,000, 395,200 and 407,800 shares of Common Stock were outstanding in fiscal 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the optioQV¶H[HUFLVHSULFH
was greater than the average market price of the Common Stock and, therefore, the effect would be anti-dilutive. An
additional 370,500 shares were outstanding during fiscal 2006, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings
per share because the effect would be anti-dilutive. Restricted stock awards of 11,000, 73,400 and 122,400 shares
outstanding in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, were not included in the computation of earnings per share since the
awards were anti-dilutive.

16. Employee Benefit Plans
The Company and certain of its subsidiaries sponsor multiple defined benefit pension plans and postretirement benefit
plans covering certain Oshkosh, Geesink and Pierce employees and certain Oshkosh and Kewaunee retirees and their
spouses, respectively. The pension plans provide benefits based on compensation, years of service and date of birth. The
SRVWUHWLUHPHQWEHQHILWSODQVSURYLGHKHDOWKEHQHILWVEDVHGRQ\HDUVRIVHUYLFHDQGGDWHRIELUWK7KH&RPSDQ\¶VSROLF\LVWR
IXQGWKHSHQVLRQSODQVLQDPRXQWVWKDWFRPSO\ZLWKFRQWULEXWLRQOLPLWVLPSRVHGE\ODZ5HTXLUHPHQWVRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶V
postretirement benefit plans are funded as benefit payments are made. The following provides a reconciliation of obligations,
SODQDVVHWVDQGIXQGHGVWDWXVRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VGHILQHGEHQHILWSHQVLRQSODQVDQGSRVWUHWLUHPHQWEHQHILWSODQV
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Pension Benefits
U.S. Plans
2006
Change in benefit obligations
Benefit obligations at October 1
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (gains) losses
Participant contributions
Plan amendments
Benefits paid
Currency translation adjustments
Benefit obligation at September 30
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at October 1
Actual return on plan assets
Company contributions
Participant contributions
Benefits paid
Currency translation adjustments
Fair value of plan assets at September 30
Reconciliation of funded status
Funded status of plan - over (under) funded
Unrecognized net actuarial losses
Unrecognized transition asset
Unamortized prior service cost
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost

2005

2006

132,939
7,962
7,019
(9,724)
589
(2,481)
-

$

102,503
5,812
5,956
20,015
959
(2,306)
-

$

11,171
778
563
2,012
142
(529)
814

$

$

136,304

$

132,939

$

14,951

$

$

112,663
6,406
24,100
(2,481)
-

$

80,619
9,850
24,500
(2,306)
-

$

$

140,688

$

112,663

$

$

4,384
52,622
6,298

$

(20,276)
62,292
(55)
6,270

$

63,304

$

$

63,304

Weighted-average assumptions as of September 30
Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase

5.75%
8.25%
4.50%

Health and Other

2005

$

Recognized in consolidated balance sheet at September 30
Prepaid benefit cost
$ 63,304
Intangible asset
Accrued benefit liability
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost

Postretirement
Non-U.S. Plans

9,147
1,346
486
142
(529)
627

8,784
736
498
1,854
146
(542)
(305)
11,171

2006

2005

$

28,763
1,719
1,492
(1,722)
(532)
-

$

19,207
1,061
1,139
8,028
(672)
-

$

29,720

$

28,763

532
(532)
-

$

672
(672)
-

$

7,453
1,841
492
146
(542)
(243)

$

11,219

$

9,147

$

$

(3,732)
2,294
-

$

(2,024)
954
-

$

(29,720)
9,050
-

$

(28,763)
11,313
-

48,231

$

(1,438)

$

(1,070)

$

(20,670)

$

(17,450)

$

6,270
(4,717)
46,678

$

(1,438)
-

$

(1,070)
-

$

(20,670)
-

$

(17,450)
-

$

48,231

$

(1,438)

$

(1,070)

$

(20,670)

$

(17,450)

5.25%
8.25%
4.50%

5.00%
6.00%
4.20%

-

5.00%
6.00%
3.80%

$

-

5.75%
n/a
n/a

5.25%
n/a
n/a

The following table summarizes the components of net periodic benefit cost for fiscal years ended September 30:
Pension Benefits
2006
Components of net periodic benefit cost
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of prior service cost
Amortization of transition asset
Amortization of net actuarial losses
Net periodic benefit cost
Weighted-average assumptions
Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase
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2005

Postretirement
Health and Other

Non-U.S. Plans

U.S. Plans
2004

2006

2005

2004

2006

2005

2004

$ 7,962 $ 5,812 $ 4,598
7,019
5,956
5,361
(9,682)
(7,622)
(6,420)
560
521
461
(55)
(67)
(67)
1,929
1,292
3,222

$

778 $
563
(565)
-

736 $
498
(501)
-

622
430
(396)
7

$ 1,719 $ 1,061 $ 913
1,492
1,139
1,038
541
147
52

$ 9,026 $ 6,529 $ 5,225

$

776 $

733 $

663

$ 3,752 $ 2,347 $ 2,003

5.25%
8.25%
4.50%

5.75%
8.25%
4.50%

6.25%
8.25%
4.50%

5.00%
6.00%
3.80%

5.60%
6.50%
3.90%

5.50%
7.00%
3.70%

5.25%
n/a
n/a

5.75%
n/a
n/a

6.25%
n/a
n/a

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $131,256 and $125,026 at September 30,
2006 and 2005, respectively.
The assumed health care cost trend rate used in measuring the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation for the
Company was 9.5% in fiscal 2006, declining to 5.5% in fiscal 2014. If the health care cost trend rate was increased by 1%,
the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at September 30, 2006 would increase by $3,412 and net periodic
postretirement benefit cost for fiscal 2007 would increase by $507. A corresponding decrease of 1% would decrease the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at September 30, 2006 by $3,060 and net periodic postretirement benefit cost
for fiscal 2007 would decrease by $436.
The Company maintains supplemental executive retirement SODQV ³6(53V´  IRU FHUWDLQ H[HFXWLYH RIILFHUV RI WKH
Company and its subsidiaries that are unfXQGHG([SHQVHUHODWHGWRWKHSODQVRIDQGZDVUHFRUGHGLQ
fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Amounts accrued as of6HSWHPEHUDQGUHODWHGWRWKH6(53VZHUH
DQGUHVSHFWLYHO\

7KH&RPSDQ\¶V%RDUGRI'LUHFWRUVKDVDSSRLQWHGDQ,QYHVWPHQW&RPPLWWHH ³&RPPLWWHH´ WRPDQDJHWKHLQYHVWPHQWRI
WKH &RPSDQ\¶V SHQVLRQ SODQ DVVHWV  7KH &RPPLWWHH KDV HVWDEOLVKHG DQG RSHUDWHV XQGHU DQ ,QYHVWPHQW 3ROLF\  7KH
Committee determines the asset allocation and target ranges based upon periodic asset/liability studies and capital market
projections. The Committee retains external investment managers to invest the assets and an advisor to monitor the
SHUIRUPDQFH RI WKH LQYHVWPHQW PDQDJHUV  7KH ,QYHVWPHQW 3ROLF\ SURKLELWV FHUWDLQ LQYHVWPHQW WUDQVDFWLRQV VXFK DV
commodity contracts, margin transactions and short selling, unless the Committee gives prior approval. The weightedDYHUDJHRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VDQGLWVVXEVLGLDULHVSHQVLRQSODQDVVHt allocations and target allocations at September 30, 2006 and
2005, by asset category, are as follows:
U.S. Plans
Target %
Asset Category
Fixed income
/DUJHFDSJURZWK
Large-cap value
Mid-cap value
Small-cap value
Venture capital

30% - 40%

5% - 15%
5% - 15%
5% - 15%
0% - 5%

2006

Non-U.S. Plans
Target %

2005

42%

10%
11%
11%
0%

39%

9%
12%
12%
0%

100%

100%

Asset Category
UK equities
1RQ8.HTXLWLHV
Government bonds
Corporate bonds

25%

35%
15%

2006

2005

25%

36%
14%
100%

26%

33%
14%
100%


7KH SODQV¶ LQYHVWPHQW VWUDWHJ\ LV EDVHG RQ DQ H[SHFWDWLRQ WKDW RYHU WLPH HTXLW\ VHFXUities will provide higher total
returns than debt securities. The plans primarily minimize the risk of large losses through diversification of investments by
asset class, by investing in different styles of investment management within the classes and by using a number of different
investment managers. The Committee monitors the asset allocation and investment performance monthly, with a more
comprehensive quarterly review with its advisor.

7KHSODQV¶H[SHFWHGUHWXUQRQDVVHWVLVEDVHGRQPDQDJHPHQW¶VDQGWKH&RPPLWWHH¶VH[SHFWations of long-term average
UDWHVRIUHWXUQWREHDFKLHYHGE\WKHSODQV¶LQYHVWPHQWV7KHVHH[SHFWDWLRQVDUHEDVHGRQWKHSODQV¶KLVWRULFDOUHWXUQVDQG
expected returns for the asset classes in which the plan is invested.
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7KH&RPSDQ\H[SHFWVWRFRQWULEXWHDSSUR[LPDWHO\WRLWVSHQVLRQSODQVLQILVFDO7KH&RPSDQ\¶V
estimated future benefit payments under Company sponsored plans follows:

Fiscal Year Ending
September 30,
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012-2016

U.S. Plans
$
2,206
2,464
2,805
3,200
3,665
28,251

Pension Benefits
Non-U.S. Plans
$
125
170
227
283
361
3,152

Non-Qualified
$
229
286
380
376
372
6,609

Other Postretirement Benefits
Retiree
Retiree
Medical
Life
$
1,471
$
9
1,720
10
1,732
11
1,750
12
1,967
13
9,764
89

The Company has defined contribution 401(k) plans covering substantially all employees. The plans allow employees to
defer 2% to 19% of their income on a pre-tax basis. Each employee who elects to participate is eligible to receive Company
matching contributions which are based on employee contributions to the plans, subject to certain limitations. Amounts
expensed for Company matching contributions were $3,794, $3,279 and $2,721 in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

17. Income Taxes
Pre-tax income (loss) from operations for the fiscal years ended September 30 was taxed in the following jurisdictions:
Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2005
2004
2006
Domestic
Foreign

$ 315,287
9,651
$ 324,938

$266,157
(6,036)
$260,121

$178,372
(1,824)
$176,548

Significant components of the provision (credit) for income taxes are as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006
2005
2004
Allocated to Income Before Equity in Earnings
of Unconsolidated Affiliates and Minority Interest
Current:
Federal
Foreign
State
Total current
Deferred:
Federal
Foreign
State
Total deferred

Allocated to Other Comprehensive Income
Deferred federal, state and foreign
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$ 123,027
5,382
12,389
140,798

$ 86,604
2,292
9,397
98,293

$ 60,315
336
5,273
65,924

(16,807)
(929)
(1,868)
(19,604)
$ 121,194

5,562
(2,569)
981
3,974
$102,267

2,133
(2,541)
376
(32)
$ 65,892

$

$ (10,119)

$ (4,833)

22,133

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory tax rates to income tax expense is:
Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006
2005
2004
Effective Rate Reconciliation
U.S. federal tax rate
State income taxes, net
Foreign taxes
Valuation allowance
Tax credits
Manufacturing deduction
Other, net

35.0%
3.3
(0.2)
0.5
(1.0)
(0.7)
0.4
37.3%

35.0%
4.1
(0.7)
1.1
(0.3)
0.1
39.3%

35.0%
3.1
(0.9)
(0.4)
0.5
37.3%

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following:
September 30,
2005
2006
Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
Deferred tax assets:
Other long-term liabilities
Accrued warranty
Other current liabilities
Payroll-related obligations
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Gross deferred tax assets
Less valuation allowance
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets
Investment in unconsolidated partnership
Property, plant and equipment
Other long-term assets
Other
Deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liability

$

21,198
19,150
12,865
10,222
2,280
7,299
12,787
85,801
(7,914)
77,887

60,024
20,062
19,441
24,962
247
124,736
$ (46,849)

$

17,663
13,884
13,441
8,017
1,229
552
10,419
65,205
(6,204)
59,001

34,268
21,736
17,830
3,116
876
77,826
$ (18,825)

The net deferred tax liability is classified in the consolidated balance sheet as follows:
September 30,
2006
2005
Current net deferred tax asset
Non-current net deferred tax liability

$

53,183
(100,032)
$ (46,849)

$

36,618
(55,443)
$ (18,825)

As of September 30, 2006, the Company had $41,060 of net operating loss carryforwards available to reduce future
taxable income of certain foreign subsidiaries. Such NOL carryforwards expire in accordance with provisions of applicable
tax laws and primarily have unlimited lives. The deferred tax asset for foreign NOL carryforwards aggregated $11,086 at
September 30, 2006 and is reviewed for recoverability based on historical taxable income, the expected reversals of existing
temporary differences, tax-planning strategies, and on projections of future taxable income. As a result of its analysis, the
Company has recorded valuation allowance of $7,914 at September 30, 2006.
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The Company does not provide for U.S. income taxes on undistributed earnings of its foreign operations that are
intended to be permanently reinvested. At September 30, 2006, these earnings amounted to approximately $11,675. If these
earnings were repatriated to the United States, income taxes the Company would be required to accrue and pay would be
immaterial.

18. Contingencies, Significant Estimates and Concentrations
As part of its routine business operations, the Company disposes of and recycles or reclaims certain industrial waste
materials, chemicals and solvents at third party disposal and recycling facilities, which are licensed by appropriate
governmental agencies. In some instances, these facilities have been and may be designated by the United States
(QYLURQPHQWDO 3URWHFWLRQ $JHQF\ ³(3$´  or a state environmental agency for remediation. Under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act and siPLODUVWDWHODZVHDFKSRWHQWLDOO\UHVSRQVLEOHSDUW\ ³353´ 
that contributed hazardous substances may be jointly and severally liable for the costs associated with cleaning up these sites.
Typically, PRPs negotiate a resolution with the EPA and/or the state environmental agencies. PRPs also negotiate with each
other regarding allocation of the cleanup cost. The Company has been named a PRP with regard to three multiple-party sites.
Based on current estimates, the Company believes its liability at these sites will not be material and any responsibility of the
Company is adequately covered through established reserves.

7KH &RPSDQ\ LV DGGUHVVLQJ D UHJLRQDO WULFKORURHWK\OHQH ³7&(´  JURXQGZDWHU SOXPH RQ WKH VRXWK VLGH RI 2VKNRVK
:LVFRQVLQ7KH&RPSDQ\EHOLHYHVWKHUHPD\EHPXOWLSOHVRXUFHVRI7&(LQWKHDUHD7&(ZDVGHWHFWHGDWWKH&RPSDQ\¶V
North Plant facility with testing showing the highest concentrations in a monitoring well located on the upgradient property
line. Because the investigation process is still ongoing, it is not possible for the Company to estimate its long-term total
liability associated with this issue at this time. Also, as part of the regional TCE groundwater investigation, the Company
conducted a groundwater investigation of a former landfill located on Company property. The landfill, acquired by the
Company in 1972, is approximately 2.0 acres in size and is believed to have been used for the disposal of household waste.
Based on the investigation, the Company does not believe the landfill is one of the sources of the TCE contamination. Based
XSRQ FXUUHQW NQRZOHGJH WKH &RPSDQ\ EHOLHYHV LWV OLDELOLW\ Dssociated with the TCE issue will not be material and is
adequately covered through reserves established by the Company. However, this may change as investigations proceed by
the Company, other unrelated property owners, and the government.
The Company has identified potential soil and groundwater contamination impacts from solvents and/or metals at three
RILWVPDQXIDFWXULQJVLWHVUHODWHGWRWKH*HHVLQN1RUED*URXS'XULQJWKHIRXUWKTXDUWHURIILVFDOVWXGLHVRIWKHVHVLWHs
were completed. The results from two of the sites indicated that no further action was necessary. Based on the study of the
third site, the Company reached an agreement with the environmental authorities that no further action was necessary for a
portion of the site. The Company is conducting an evaluation of the remaining portion of the site to identify if any action is
required. Based on current estimates, the Company believes its liability at these sites will not be material and any
responsibility of the Company is adequately covered through reserves established by the Company.
At September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company had reserves of $5,200 and $6,000, respectively, for losses related to
environmental matters that are probable and estimable. The amount recorded for identified contingent liabilities is based on
estimates. Amounts recorded are reviewed periodically and adjusted to reflect additional technical and legal information that
becomes available. Actual costs to be incurred in future periods may vary from the estimates, given the inherent uncertainties
in evaluating certain exposures. Subject to the imprecision in estimating future contingent liability costs, the Company does
not expect that any sum it may have to pay in connection with these matters in excess of the amounts recorded will have a
materially adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

7KH &RPSDQ\ KDV JXDUDQWHHG FHUWDLQ FXVWRPHUV¶ REOLJDWLRQV XQGHU GHIHUUHG SD\PHQW FRQWUDFWV DQG OHDVH SXUFKDVH
DJUHHPHQWV7KH&RPSDQ\¶VJXDUDQWHHLVOLPited to $1,000 per year during the period in which the customer obligations are
outstanding. The Company is also contingently liable under bid, performance and specialty bonds totaling approximately
 DQG RSHQ VWDQGE\ OHWWHUV RI FUHGLW LVVXHG E\ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V EDQNV LQ IDYRU RI WKLUG SDUWLHV WRWDOLQJ  DW
September 30, 2006.
Provisions for estimated warranty and other related costs are recorded at the time of sale and are periodically adjusted to
reflect actual experience. At September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company had reserved $56,929 and $39,546, respectively,
for warranty claims. Certain warranty and other related claims involve matters of dispute that ultimately are resolved by
negotiation, arbitration or litigation. At times, warranty issues arise ZKLFKDUHEH\RQGWKHVFRSHRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VKLVWRULFDO
experience. It is reasonably possible that additional warranty and other related claims could arise from disputes or other
matters beyond the scope of the CoPSDQ\¶VKLVWRULFDOH[SHULHQFH
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Product and general liability claims arise against the Company from time to time in the ordinary course of business. The
Company is generally self-insured for future claims up to $1,000 per claim. Accordingly, a reserve is maintained for the
estimated costs of such claims. At September 30, 2006 and 2005, the reserve for product and general liability claims was
$14,150 and $11,401, respectively, based on available information. There is inherent uncertainty as to the eventual resolution
of unsettled claims. Management, however, believes that any losses in excess of established reserves will not have a material
HIIHFWRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOFRQGLWLRQUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVRUFDVKIORZV
The Company is subject to other environmental matters and legal proceedings and claims, including patent, antitrust,
product liability, warranty and state dealership regulation compliance proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of
EXVLQHVV,Q0D\$UPRU+ROGLQJV,QF ³$UPRU+ROGLQJV´ DQQRXQFHGWKDWLWZDVFRQVLGHULQJILOLQJDODZVXLWDJDLQVW
the Company alleging, among other things, that the Company tortiously interfered with a merger agreement between Armor
Holdings and Stewart & Stevenson Services, Inc. The Company believes that any such potential claim is without merit and
intends to vigorously defend any such action should it be filed. Although the final results of all such matters and claims
cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that the ultimate resolution of all such matters and claims will not
KDYHDPDWHULDODGYHUVHHIIHFWRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOFRQGLWLRn, results of operations or cash flows. Actual results could
vary, among other things, due to the uncertainties involved in litigation.

$W 6HSWHPEHU   DSSUR[LPDWHO\  RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V ZRUNIRUFH ZDV FRYHUHG XQGHU FROOHFWLYH EDUJDLQLQJ
agreements.


7KH&RPSDQ\¶VGHIHQVHVHJPHQWGHULYHVDVLJQLILFDQWSRrtion of its revenue from the DoD, as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006
2005
2004
DoD
Export
Total Defense Sales

$ 1,129,404
187,833
$ 1,317,237

$

941,288
119,776
$ 1,061,064

$
$

696,028
78,031
774,059

DoD sales include $15,989, $2,431 and $51,961 in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, for products sold
internationally under the Foreign Military Sales Program. No other customer represented more than 10% of sales for fiscal
2006, 2005 and 2004.

,QKHUHQW LQ GRLQJ EXVLQHVV ZLWK WKH 'R' DUH FHUWDLQ ULVNV LQFOXGLQJ WHFKQRORJLFDO FKDQJHV DQG FKDQJHV LQ OHYHOV RI
defense spending. All DoD contracts contain a provision that they may be terminated at any time at the convenience of the
government. In such an event, the Company is entitled to recover allowable costs plus a reasonable profit earned to the date
of termination.
Major contracts for military systems are performed over extended periods of time and are subject to changes in scope of
ZRUNDQGGHOLYHU\VFKHGXOHV3ULFLQJQHJRWLDWLRQVRQFKDQJHVDQGVHWWOHPHQWRIFODLPVRIWHQH[WHQGRYHUSURORQJHGSHULRGV
of time. The Company's ultimate profitability on such contracts may depend on the eventual outcome of an equitable
VHWWOHPHQWRIFRQWUDFWXDOLVVXHVZLWKWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFXVWRPHUV
Because the Company is a relatively large defense contractor, the Company's government contract operations are subject
to extensive annual audit processes and to U.S. government investigations of business practices and cost classifications from
which legal or administrative proceedings can result. Based on government procurement regulations, under certain
circumstances a contractor can be fined, as well as suspended or debarred from government contracting. In that event, the
Company would also be prohibited from selling equipment or services to customers that depend on loans or financial
commitments from the Export Import BaQN 2YHUVHDV 3ULYDWH ,QYHVWPHQW &RUSRUation and similar government agencies
during a suspension or debarment.

19. Business Segment Information
The Company is organized into three reportable segments based on the internal organization used by management for
PDNLQJ RSHUDWLQJ GHFLVLRQV DQG PHDVXULQJ SHUIRUPDQFH DQG EDVHG RQ WKH VLPLODULW\ RI FXVWRPHUV VHUYHG FRPPRQ
management, common use of facilities and economic results attained. Segments are as follows:
Fire and emergency: This segment includes Pierce, JerrDan, Medtec, Kewaunee, BAI, AK and the aircraft rescue and
ILUHILJKWLQJ DQG VQRZ UHPRYDO GLYLVLRQV RI 2VKNRVK  7KHVH XQLWV PDQXIDFWXUH DQG PDUNHW FRPPHUFLDO DQG FXVWRP ILUH
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vehicles, broadcast vehicles and emergency vehicles primarily for fire departments, airports, other governmental units,
hospitals and other care providers, broadcast stations and towing companies in the U.S. and abroad.
Defense: This segment consists of a division of Oshkosh that manufactures heavy- and medium-payload tactical trucks
and supply parts and services for the U.S. military and for other militaries around the world.
Commercial: This segment includes McNeilus, the Geesink Norba Group, Viking, CON-E-CO, London, IMT and the
commercial division of Oshkosh. McNeilus, CON-E-CO, London, Viking and Oshkosh manufacture, market and distribute
concrete mixer systems, portable concrete batch plants and vehicle and body components. McNeilus and the Geesink Norba
Group manufacture, market and distribute refuse vehicle bodies and components and the Geesink Norba Group manufactures
and markets waste collection systems and components. IMT is a manufacturer of field service vehicles and articulating
cranes for niche markets. Sales are made primarily to commercial and municipal customers in the Americas and Europe.
The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources based on profit or loss from segment operations before
interest income and expense, income taxes and non-recurring items. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
the same as those described in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Summarized financial informaWLRQFRQFHUQLQJWKH&RPSDQ\¶VUHSRUWDEOHVHJPHQWVLVVKRZQLQWKHIROORZLQJWDEOH7KH
FDSWLRQ³&RUSRUDWHDQGRWKHU´LQFOXGHVFRUSRUDWHUHODWHGLWHPVUHVXOWVRILQVLJQLILFDQWRSHUDWLRQVLQWHUVHJPHQWHOLPLQDWLRQV
and income and expense not allocated to reportable segments.
Selected financial data by business segment is as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2005
2004
2006
Net sales to unaffiliated customers:
Fire and emergency
Defense
Commercial
Intersegment
Consolidated

$

961,467
1,317,237
1,190,323
(41,639)
$ 3,427,388

$

841,465
1,061,064
1,085,700
(28,329)
$ 2,959,900

$

599,734
774,059
907,309
(18,797)
$ 2,262,305

Intersegment sales are primarily from the fire and emergency segment to the defense segment.

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006
2005
2004
Operating income (expense):
Fire and emergency
Defense
Commercial
Corporate and other
Consolidated operating income
Interest expense net of interest income
Miscellaneous other income (expense)
Income before provision for income taxes,
equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
and minority interest

102

$

89,999
242,271
66,179
(72,521)
325,928
(747)
(243)

$

79,619
210,232
23,829
(46,478)
267,202
(5,183)
(1,898)

$

54,957
127,859
34,838
(37,244)
180,410
(4,314)
452

$

324,938

$

260,121

$

176,548

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006
2005
2004
Depreciation and amortization:
Fire and emergency
Defense
Commercial
Corporate and other
Consolidated
Capital expenditures:
Fire and emergency
Defense
Commercial
Consolidated

$

$

12,658
6,498
18,041
270
37,467

U.S. (a)
Other North America
Netherlands
Other European
Total Commercial
Corporate and other - U.S.
Consolidated
(a)

$

10,716
4,643
16,083
270
31,712

$

$

8,235
3,851
14,853
243
27,182

$

26,879
12,594
16,547

$

12,268
14,740
16,166

$

9,521
7,010
13,419

$

56,020

$

43,174

$

29,950

2006
Identifiable assets:
Fire and emergency:
U.S.
Europe
Total fire and emergency
Defense - U.S.
Commercial:

$

$

732,136
120,105
852,241
244,133

731,397
25,264
162,895
94,814
1,014,370
164
$ 2,110,908

September 30,
2005

$

516,656
59,187
575,843
275,663

497,874
21,376
165,453
82,854
767,557
99,240
$ 1,718,303

2004

$

489,926
58,454
548,380
183,955

470,609
848
157,614
89,022
718,093
1,986
$ 1,452,414

Includes investment in unconsolidated partnership.

The following table presents net sales by geographic region based on product shipment destination.

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006
2005
2004
Net sales:
United States
Other North America
Europe and Middle East
Other
Consolidated

$ 2,820,583
76,277
431,844
98,684
$ 3,427,388

$ 2,500,367
35,862
384,213
39,458
$ 2,959,900

$ 1,884,223
13,218
300,112
64,752
$ 2,262,305
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20. Subsequent Event
On October 15, 2006 the Company signed a definitive agreement to acquire 100% of the stock of JLG Industries, Inc.
³-/*´ DJOREDOOHDGHULQWKHVDOHRIDHULDOZRUNSODWIRUPVDQGWHOHKDQGOHUYHKLFOHVIRUSHUVKDUH7RWDOFRQVLGHUDWLRQ,
LQFOXGLQJ WUDQVDFWLRQ FRVWV DQG DVVXPHG GHEW LV HVWLPDWHG WR DSSUR[LPDWH  ELOOLRQ LQ FDVK  -/* SULPDULO\ VHUYHV WKH
FRQVWUXFWLRQPDUNHWZLWKFXVWRPHUVVXFKDVHTXLSPHQWUHQWDOFRPSDQLHVFRQVWUXFWLRQFRQWUDFWRUVDQGRWKHUPDQXIDFWXULQJ
RULQGXVWULDOFRPSDQLHV7KHDFTXLVLWLRQRI-/*ZLOOEHDFFRXQWHGIRUXVLQJWKHSXrchase accounting provisions of SFAS No.
 ³%XVLQHVV &RPELQDWLRQV´  $VVXPLQJ FRPSOHWLRQ RI WKH DFTXLVLWLRQ -/*µV RSHUDWLQJ UHVXOWV ZLOO EH LQFOXGHG LQ WKH
&RPSDQ\¶VFRQVROLGDWHGILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVIURPWKHGDWHRIDFTXLVLWLRQ7KHSXUFKDVHSULFHLQFOXGLQJDFTXLVLWLRQFRVWV
ZLOOEHDOORFDWHGEDVHGRQHVWLPDWHGIDLUYDOXHVRIWKHDVVHWVDFTXLUHGDQGOLDELOLWLHVDVVXPHGDWWKHGDWHRIDFTXLVLWLRQZLWK
DQ\H[FHVVSXUFKDVHSULFHDOORFDWHGWRJRRGZLOO

7KH&RPSDQ\LQWHQGVWRILQDQFHWKHWUDQVDFWLRQZLWKDELOOLRQVHQLRUVHFXUHGFUHGLWIDFLOLW\DUUDQJHGE\%DQNRI
$PHULFD1$DQG-30RUJDQ&KDVH%DQN1$DQGWRUHWLUHPRVWRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VDQG-/* VRXWVWDQGLQJGHEWDVRIWKH
DFTXLVLWLRQGDWH7KHDFTXLVLWLRQKDVEHHQDSSURYHGE\WKH%RDUd of Directors of each company and is subject to customary
FORVLQJFRQGLWLRQVLQFOXGLQJDSSURYDOXQGHUWKH+DUW6FRWW5RGLQR$FWDQGVLPLODUODZVRXWVLGHWKH86DQGWKHDSSURYDOE\
WKHVKDUHKROGHUVRI-/*7KH&RPSDQ\H[SHFWVWRFORVHWKe transaction in December 2006.

21. Unaudited Quarterly Results

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2006
4th Quarter
1HWVDOHV
Gross income
Net income
Earnings per share:
%DVLF
'LOXWHG
Dividends per share:
&ODVV$&RPPRQ6WRFN
Common Stock

UG4XDUWHU

2nd Quarter

1st Quarter

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2005
4th Quarter

UG4XDUWHU

2nd Quarter

1st Quarter

   

155,290  
49,210   

   
  
115,591
   

   
0.66   

   

0.52
0.52
0.56





0.10000
0.10000
0.10000 



 

0.06625 



,Q WKH WKLUG VHFRQG DQG ILUVW TXDUWHUV RI ILVFDO  the Company increased the estimated margin percentage on its
0795 ORQJWHUP EDVH SURGXFWLRQ FRQWUDFW E\  SHUFHQWDJH points, 1.4 percentage points and 0.9 percentage points,
UHVSHFWLYHO\  7KHVH FKDQJHV LQ HVWLPDWHV UHFRUGHG DV FXPXODWLYH OLIHWRGDWH DGMXVWPHQWV GXULng each respective quarter,
LQFUHDVHGQHWLQFRPHDQGQHWLQFRPHSHUVKDUHE\DQGDQGDQGDQGUHVSHFWLYHO\
LQFOXGLQJDQGDQGDQGDQGUHVSHFWLYHO\UHODWHGWRSULRU\HDUUHYHQXHV
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. In accordance with Rule 13a-15(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
 WKH³([FKDQJH$FW´ WKH&RPSDQ\¶VPDQDJHPHQWHYDOXDWHGZLWKWKHSDUWLFLSDWLRQRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶V&KDLUPDQRIWKH
%RDUG3UHVLGHQWDQG&KLHI([HFXWLYH2IILFHUDQG([HFXWLYH9LFH3UHVLGHQWDQG&KLHI)LQDQFLDO2IILFHUWKHHIIHFWLYHQHVVRI
WKH GHVLJQ DQG RSHUDWLRQ RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V GLVFORVXUH FRQWUROV DQG SURFHGXUHV DV GHILQHG LQ 5XOH D H  XQGHU WKH
([FKDQJH $FW  DV RI 6HSWHPEHU    %DVHG XSRQ WKHLU HYDOXDWLRQ RI WKHVH GLVFORVXUH FRQWUROV DQG SURFHGXUHV WKH
&KDLUPDQRIWKH%RDUG3UHVLGHQWDQG&KLHI([HFXWLYH2IILFHUDQGWKH([HFXWLYH9LFH3UHVLGHQWDQG&KLHI)LQDQFLDO2IILFHU
FRQFOXGHG WKDW WKH GLVFORVXUH FRQWUROV DQG SURFHGXUHV ZHUH HIIHFWLYH DV RI 6HSWHPEHU   WR HQVXUH WKDW LQIRUPDWLRQ
UHTXLUHG WREHGLVFORVHGE\ WKH &RPSDQ\ LQ WKHUHSRUWV LW ILOHVRU VXEPLWV XQGHU WKH ([FKDQJH$FW LV UHFRUGHG SURFHVVHG
VXPPDUL]HGDQGUHSRUWHGZLWKLQWKHWLPHSHULRGVSHFLILHGLQWKH6HFXULWLHVDQG([FKDQJH&RPPLVVLRQUXOHVDQGIRUPVDQG
WRHQVXUHWKDWLQIRUPDWLRQUHTXLUHGWREHGLVFORVHGE\WKH&RPSDQ\LQWKHUHSRUWVLWILOHVRUVXEPLWVXQGHUWKH([FKDQJH$FW
LVDFFXPXODWHGDQGFRPPXQLFDWHGWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶VPDQDJHPHQWLQFOXGLQJLWVSULQFLSDOH[HFXWLYHDQGSULQFLSDOILQDQFLDO
RIILFHUVDVDSSURSULDWHWRDOORZWLPHO\GHFLVLRQVUHJDUGLQJUHTXLUHGGLVFORVXUH
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.7KH&RPSDQ\¶VPDQDJHPHQWLVUHVSRQVLEOHIRU
HVWDEOLVKLQJDQGPDLQWDLQLQJDGHTXDWHLQWHUQDOFRQWURORYHUILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJDVVXFKWHUPLVGHILQHGLQ5XOHD I RI
WKH 6HFXULWLHV ([FKDQJH $FW RI   7KH &RPSDQ\¶V LQWHUQDO FRQWURO RYHU ILQDQFLDO UHSRUWLQJ LV GHVLJQHG WR SURYLGH
UHDVRQDEOHDVVXUDQFHUHJDUGLQJWKHUHOLDELOLW\RIILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJDQGWKHSUHSDUDWLRQRISXEOLVKHGILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVLQ
DFFRUGDQFHZLWKJHQHUDOO\DFFHSWHGDFFRXQWLQJSULQFLSOHV

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VPDQDJHPHQWZLWKWKHSDUWLFLSDWLRQRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶V&KDLUPDQ3UHVLGHQWDQG&KLHI([HFXWLYH2IILFHU
DQG([HFXWLYH9LFH3UHVLGHQWDQG&KLHI)LQDQFLDO2IILFHUKDVDVVHVVHGWKHHIIHFWLYHQHVVRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VLQWHUQDOFRQWURO
RYHU ILQDQFLDO UHSRUWLQJ EDVHG RQ WKH IUDPHZRUN LQ ,QWHUQDO &RQWURO,QWHJUDWHG )UDPHZRUN LVVXHG E\ WKH &RPPLWWHH RI
6SRQVRULQJ 2UJDQL]DWLRQV RI WKH 7UHDGZD\ &RPPLVVLRQ %DVHG RQ WKLV DVVHVVPHQW WKH &RPSDQ\¶V PDQDJHPHQW KDV
FRQFOXGHGWKDWDVRI6HSWHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\¶VLQWHUQDOFRQWUROVRYHUILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJZHUHHIIHFWLYHEDVHGRQ
WKDWIUDPHZRUN

%HFDXVH RI LWV LQKHUHQW OLPLWDWLRQV LQWHUQDO FRQWURO RYHU ILQDQFLDO UHSRUWLQJ PD\ QRW SUHYHQW RU GHWHFW PLVVWDWHPHQWV
$OVRSURMHFWLRQVRIDQ\HYDOXDWLRQRIWKHHIIHFWLYHQHVVWRIXWXUHSHULRGVDUHVXEMHFWWRWKHULVNWKDWWKHFRQWUROVPD\EHFRPH
LQDGHTXDWH EHFDXVH RI FKDQJHV LQ FRQGLWLRQV RU WKDW WKH GHJUHH RI FRPSOLDQFH ZLWK WKH SROLFLHV RU SURFHGXUHV PD\
deteriorate.

'HORLWWH  7RXFKH //3 WKH &RPSDQ\¶V LQGHSHQGHQW UHJLVWHUHG SXEOLF DFFRXQWLQJ ILUP LVVXHG DQ DXGLW UHSRUW RQ
PDQDJHPHQW¶VDVVHVVPHQWRIWKHHIIHFWLYHQHVVRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VLQWHUQDOFRQWURORYHUILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJDVRI6HSWHPEHU
ZKLFKLVLQFOXGHGKHUHLQ
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Oshkosh Truck Corporation
We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial ReportingWKDW2VKNRVK7UXFN&RUSRUDWLRQDQGVXEVLGLDULHV WKH³&RPSDQ\´ PDLQWDLQHGHIIHFWLYHLQWHUQDOFRQWURO
over financial reporting as of September 30, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company's management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assessment and an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
6WDWHV 7KRVHVWDQGDUGVUHTXLUHWKDWZH plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's
board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and proFHGXUHVWKDW  SHUWDLQWRWhe
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
WKHFRPSDQ\  SURYLGHUHDVRQDEOe assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company
DUH EHLQJ PDGH RQO\ LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK DXWKRUL]DWLRQV RI PDQDJHPHQW DQG GLUHFWRUV RI WKH FRPSDQ\ DQG   SURYLGH
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized DFTXLVLWLRQ XVH RU GLVSRVLWLRQ RI WKH
company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on
a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to
IXWXUHSHULRGVDUHVXEMHFWWRWKHULVNWKDWWKHFRQWUROVPD\EHFRPHLQDGHTXDWHEHFDXVHRIFKDQJHVLQFRQGLWLRQVRUWKDWWKH
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, management's assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as
of September 30, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
September 30, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of WKH3XEOLF&RPSDQ\$FFRXQWLQJ2YHUVLJKW%RDUG 8QLWHG6WDWHV 
the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedules as of and for the year ended September 30, 2006 of
the Company and our report dated November 14, 2006 expresseGDQXQTXDOLILHGRSLQLRQRQWKRVHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDQG
ILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVFKHGXOHDQGLQFOXGHGDQH[SODQDWRU\SDUDJUDSKUHJDUGLQJWKH&RPSDQ\¶VDGRSWLRQRIDQHZDFFRXQWLQJ
standard.

/S/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Milwaukee, Wisconsin
November 14, 2006
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Changes in internal control over financial reporting. McNeilus is in the process of a three-phase implementation to
upgrade its financial systems to an integrated enterprise resource planning system WKH³(536\VWHP´ 7KHLPSOHPHQWDWLRQ
included the installation in October 2005 and June 2006 of new hardware and software and resulted in certain changes to
business processes and internal controls impacting financial reporting. Additional major hardware and software changes are
scheduled for the first quarter of fiscal 2007. Management is taking the necessary steps to monitor and maintain appropriate
LQWHUQDOFRQWUROVGXULQJWKLVSHULRGRIFKDQJH7KHVHVWHSVLQFOXGHSURYLGLQJWUDLQLQJUHODWHGWREXVLQHVVSURFHVVFKDQJHVDQG
WKH(536\VWHPVRIWZDUHWRLQGLYLGXDOVXVLQJWKH(536\VWHPWRFDUU\RXWWKHLUMREUHVSRQVLELOLWLHVDVZHOODVWKRVHZKRUHO\
RQWKHILQDQFLDOLQIRUPDWLRQ2YHUVLJKWDFWLYLWLHVKDYHLQFUHDVed during the transition period and a support organization has
been established to monitor system operations, answer user questioQVUHVROYHLVVXHVLQDWLPHO\PDQQHUDQGUHSRUWWUHQGVWR
PDQDJHPHQW$OVRUHGXQGDQWFRQWUROVKDYHEHHQHVWDEOLVKHGLQNH\DUHDVWRDVVXUHWKHDFFXUDF\RIILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJ

7KHUHZHUHQRRWKHUFKDQJHVLQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VLQWHUQDOFRQWURORYHUILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJWKDWRFFXUUHGGXULQJWKHTXDUWHU
HQGHG6HSWHPEHUWKDWKDYHPDWHULDlly affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affHFWWKH&RPSDQ\¶VLQWHUQDO
FRQWURORYHUILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJ

ITEM 9B.


OTHER INFORMATION

7KH&RPSDQ\KDVQRRWKHULQIRUPDWLRQWRUHSRUWSXUVXDQWWR,WHP%
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PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT


7KH LQIRUPDWLRQ WR EH LQFOXGHG XQGHU WKH FDSWLRQV ³*RYHUQDQFH RI WKH &RPSDQ\ ± 7KH %RDUG RI 'LUHFWRUV´
³*RYHUQDQFHRIWKH&RPSDQ\±&RPPLWWHHVRIWKH%RDUGRI'LUHFWRUV±$XGLW&RPPLWWHH´DQG³6WRFN2ZQHUVKLS±6HFWLRQ
 D %HQHILFLDO2ZQHUVKLS5HSRUWLQJ&RPSOLDQFH´LQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VGHfinitive proxy statement foUWKHDQQXDOPHHWLQJRI
VKDUHKROGHUV RQ )HEUXDU\   WR EH ILOHG ZLWK WKH 6HFXULWLHV DQG ([FKDQJH &RPPLVVLRQ LV KHUHE\ LQFRUSRUDWHG E\
UHIHUHQFHLQDQVZHUWRWKLVLWHP5HIHUHQFHLVDOVRPDGH to the information under the hHDGLQJ³([HFXWLYH2IILFHUVRIWKH
5HJLVWUDQW´LQFOXGHGXQGHU3DUW,RIWKLVUHSRUW

7KH &RPSDQ\ KDV DGRSWHG WKH 2VKNRVK 7UXFN &RUSRUDWLRQ &RGH RI (WKLFV $SSOLFDEOH WR 'LUHFWRUV DQG 6HQLRU
([HFXWLYHV WKDW DSSOLHV WR WKH &RPSDQ\¶V 'LUHFWRUV &KDLUPDQ RI WKH %RDUG 3UHVLGHQW DQG &KLHI ([HFXWLYH 2IILFHU WKH
&RPSDQ\¶V([HFXWLYH9LFH3UHVLGHQWDQG&KLHI)LQDQFLDO2IILFHUWKH&RPSDQ\¶V9LFH3UHVLGHQWDQG&RQWUROOHUDQGRWKHU
SHUVRQVSHUIRUPLQJVLPLODUIXQFWLRQV7KH&RPSDQ\KDVSRVWHGDFRS\RIWKH2VKNRVK7UXFN&RUSRUDWLRQ&RGHRI(WKLFV
$SSOLFDEOH WR 'LUHFWRUV DQG 6HQLRU ([HFXWLYHV RQ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V ZHEVLWH DW ZZZRVKNRVKWUXFNFRUSRUDWLRQFRP DQG DQ\
VXFK&RGHRI(WKLFVLVDYDLODEOHLQSULQWWRDQ\VKDUHKROGHUZKRUHTXHVWVLWIURPWKH&RPSDQ\¶V6HFUHWDU\7KH&RPSDQ\
LQWHQGV WR VDWLVI\ WKHGLVFORVXUH UHTXLUHPHQWVXQGHU ,WHP RI)RUP  .UHJDUGLQJDPHQGPHQWV WRRU ZDLYHUV IURP WKH
2VKNRVK7UXFN&RUSRUDWLRQ&RGHRI(WKLFV$SSOLFDEOHWR'LUHFWRUVDQG6HQLRU([HFXWLYHVE\SRVWLQJVXFKLQIRUPDWLRQRQLWV
ZHEVLWHDWZZZRVKNRVKWUXFNFRUSRUDWLRQFRP

7KH&RPSDQ\LVQRWLQFOXGLQJWKHLQIRUPDWLRQFRQWDLQHGRQLWVZHEVLWHDVSDUWRIRULQFRUSRUDWLQJLWE\UHIHUHQFHLQWR
WKLVUHSRUW

ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION


7KH LQIRUPDWLRQ WR EH LQFOXGHG XQGHU WKH FDSWLRQV ³*RYHUQDQFH RI WKH &RPSDQ\ ± &RPSHQVDWLRQ RI 'LUHFWRUV´ DQG
³([HFXWLYH&RPSHQVDWLRQ´FRQWDLQHGLQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VGHILQLWLYHSUR[\VWDWHPHQWIRUWKHDQQXDOPHHWLQJRIVKDUHKROGHUVRQ
)HEUXDU\WREHILOHGZLWKWKH6HFXULWLHVDQG([FKDQJH&RPPLVVLRQLVKHUHE\LQFRUSRUDWHGE\UHIHUHQFHLQDQVZHUWR
WKLVLWHP

ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS


7KHLQIRUPDWLRQWREHLQFOXGHGXQGHUWKHFDSWLRQ³6WRFN2ZQHUVKLS±6WRFN2ZQHUVKLSRI'LUHFWRUV([HFXWLYH2IILFHUV
DQG 2WKHU /DUJH 6KDUHKROGHUV´ LQ WKH &RPSDQ\¶V GHILQLWLYH SUR[\ VWDWHPHQW IRU WKH DQQXDO PHHWLQJ RI VKDUHKROGHUV RQ
)HEUXDU\WREHILOHGZLWKWKH6HFXULWLHVDQG([FKDQJH&RPPLVVLRQLVKHUHE\LQFRUSRUDWHGE\UHIHUHQFHLQDQVZHUWR
WKLVLWHP
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Equity Compensation Plan Information


7KHIROORZLQJWDEOHSURYLGHVLQIRUPDWLRQDERXWWKH&RPSDQ\¶VHTXLW\FRPSHQVDWLRQSODQVDVRI6HSWHPEHU

3ODQFDWHJRU\

1XPEHURIVHFXULWLHVWREH
LVVXHGXSRQWKHH[HUFLVHRI
RXWVWDQGLQJRSWLRQVZDUUDQWV
and rights (1)

(TXLW\FRPSHQVDWLRQSODQV
DSSURYHGE\VHFXULW\
holders

(TXLW\FRPSHQVDWLRQSODQV
QRWDSSURYHGE\VHFXULW\
holders
Total





:HLJKWHGDYHUDJHH[HUFLVH
SULFHRIRXWVWDQGLQJRSWLRQV
warrants and rights









1XPEHURIVHFXULWLHV
remaining available for future
LVVXDQFHXQGHUHTXLW\
FRPSHQVDWLRQSODQV
H[FOXGLQJVHFXULWLHVUHIOHFWHG
LQWKHILUVWFROXPQ  





n/a














  5HSUHVHQWV RSWLRQV WR SXUFKDVH WKH &RPSDQ\¶V &RPPRQ 6WRFN JUDQWHG XQGHU WKH  ,QFHQWLYH 6WRFN 3ODQ DV
DPHQGHG DQG WKH &RPSDQ\¶V  ,QFHQWLYH 6WRFN DQG $ZDUGV 3ODQ ERWK RI ZKLFK ZHUH DSSURYHG E\ WKH
&RPSDQ\¶VVKDUHKROGHUV
  ([FOXGHVVKDUHVRIUHVWULFWHG&RPPRQ6WRFNVXEMHFWWRYHVWLQJDIWHUDVL[\HDUUHWHQWLRQSHULRGDQG
VKDUHVRIUHVWULFWHG&RPPRQ6WRFNVXEMHFWWRDWKUHH\HDUYHVWLQJSHULRGSUHYLRXVO\LVVXHGXQGHUWKH&RPSDQ\¶V
,QFHQWLYH6WRFN3ODQDVDPHQGHGDQGWKH&RPSDQ\¶V,QFHQWLYH6WRFNDQG$ZDUGV3ODQUHVSHFWLYHO\

ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS


7KH LQIRUPDWLRQ WR EH LQFOXGHG XQGHU WKH FDSWLRQ ³([HFXWLYH &RPSHQVDWLRQ ± ([HFXWLYH (PSOR\PHQW DQG 6HYHUDQFH
$JUHHPHQWVDQG2WKHU$JUHHPHQWV´LQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VGHILQLWLYHproxy statement for the annual meeting of shareholders on
)HEUXDU\WREHILOHGZLWKWKH6HFXULWLHVDQG([FKDQJH&RPPLVVLRQLVKHUHE\LQFRUSRUDWHGE\UHIHUHQFHLQDQVZHUWR
WKLVLWHP

ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES


7KHLQIRUPDWLRQWREHLQFOXGHGXQGHUWKHFDSWLRQ³*RYHUQDQFHRIWKH&RPSDQ\±5HSRUWRI$XGLW&RPPLWWHH´LQWKH
&RPSDQ\¶V GHILQLWLYH SUR[\ VWDWHPHQW IRU WKH DQQXDO PHHWLQJ RI VKDUHKROGHUV RQ )HEUXDU\   WR EH ILOHG ZLWK WKH
6HFXULWLHVDQG([FKDQJH&RPPLVVLRQLVKHUHE\LQFRUSRUDWHGE\UHIHUHQFHLQDQVZHUWRWKLVLWHP
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PART IV
ITEM 15.
(a) 1.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements: The following consolidated financial statements of the Company and the report of the
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm included in the Annual Report to Shareholders for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2006, are contained in Item 8:
Report of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2006 and 2005
&RQVROLGDWHG6WDWHPHQWVRI6KDUHKROGHUV¶(TXLW\IRUWKH\HDUVHQGHG6HSWHPEHUDQG
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.

Financial Statement Schedules:
6FKHGXOH,,±9DOXDWLRQ 4XDOLI\LQJ$FFRXQWV
All other schedules are omitted because they are not appOLFDEOH RU WKH UHTXLUHG LQIRUPDWLRQ LV LQFOXGHG LQ WKH
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.



 ([KLELWV
5HIHUWRWKH([KLELW,QGH[LQFRUSRUDWHGKHUHLQE\UHIHUHQFH(DFKPDQDJHPHQWFRQWUDFW or compensatory plan or
DUUDQJHPHQWUHTXLUHGWREHILOHGDVDQH[KLELWWRWKLVUHSRUWLVLGHQWLILHGLQWKH([KLELW,QGH[E\DQDVWHULVNIROORZLQJ
WKH([KLELW1XPEHU
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
November 16, 2006

By

/S/ Robert G. Bohn
Robert G. Bohn, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities on the dates indicated.
November 16, 2006

By

/S/ R. G. Bohn
R. G. Bohn, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

November 16, 2006

By

/S/ C. L. Szews
C. L. Szews, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

November 16, 2006

By

/S/ T. J. Polnaszek
T. J. Polnaszek, Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

November 16, 2006

By

/S/ J. W. Andersen
J. W. Andersen, Director

November 16, 2006

By

/S/ R. A. Cornog
R. A. Cornog, Director

November 16, 2006

By

/S/ R. M. Donnelly
R. M. Donnelly, Director

November 16, 2006

By

/S/ D. V. Fites
D. V. Fites, Director

November 16, 2006

By

/S/ F.M. Franks, Jr.
F.M. Franks, Jr. Director

November 16, 2006

By

/S/ M. W. Grebe
M. W. Grebe, Director

November 16, 2006

By

/S/ K. J. Hempel
K. J. Hempel, Director

November 16, 2006

By

/S/ H. N. Medvin
H. N. Medvin, Director

November 16, 2006

By

/S/ J. P. Mosling, Jr.
J. P. Mosling, Jr., Director

November 16, 2006

By

/S/ R. G. Sim
R. G. Sim, Director
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SCHEDULE II

OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Years Ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(In thousands)

Fiscal
Year

Balance at
Beginning of
Year

Acquisitions
of
Businesses

Additions
Charged to
Expense

Reductions*

Balance at
End of Year

2004

$4,090

$1,118

$2,081

$(369)

$6,920

2005

$6,920

$107

$646

$(1,225)

$6,448

2006

$6,448

$787

$295

$(556)

$6,974

* Represents amounts written off to the reserve, net of recoveries and foreign currency translation adjustments.

112

OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
EXHIBIT INDEX
2006 ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
2.1

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 15, 2006, by and among Oshkosh Truck Corporation, Steel
Acquisition Corp. and JLG Industries, Inc. (incorporated E\UHIHUHQFHWR([KLELWWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶V&XUUHQW
Report on Form 8-K, dated October 15, 2006 (File No. 1-31371)).

3.1

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Oshkosh Truck Corporation (incorporated by reference to
([KLELWWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶V&XUUHQW5HSRUWRQ)RUP.GDWHG$XJXVW )LOH1R 

3.2

By-Laws of Oshkosh Truck Corporation, as amended May 16, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
&RPSDQ\¶V4XDUWHUO\5HSRUWRQ)RUP4IRUWKHTXDUWHUHQGHG-XQH )LOH1R 

4.1

Credit Agreement, dated September 29, 2004, among Oshkosh Truck Corporation, the financial institutions party
thereto and Bank of America, N.A. as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to the
&RPSDQ\¶V&XUUHQW5HSRUWRQ)RUP.GDWHG6HSWHPEHU )LOH1R 


4.2

Rights Agreement, dated as of February 1, 1999, between Oshkosh Truck Corporation and Computershare Investor
Services, LLC (as successor to Firstar Bank, N.A.) (incorSRUDWHGE\ UHIHUHQFH WR ([KLELW  WR WKH&RPSDQ\¶V
Registration Statement on Form 8-A, dated as of February 1, 1999 (File No. 0-13886)).

4.3

First Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2002, between Oshkosh Truck Corporation, U.S.
Bank National Association and Computershare Investor Services, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8
WRWKH&RPSDQ\¶V$QQXDO5HSRUWRQ)RUP.IRUWKH\HDUHQGHG6HSWHPEHU )LOH1R 

10.1

Oshkosh Truck Corporation 1990 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
&RPSDQ\¶V$QQXDO5HSRUWRQ)RUP.IRUWKH\HDUHQGHG6HSWHPEHU )LOH1R  

10.2

Form of Oshkosh Truck Corporation 1990 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended, Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement
LQFRUSRUDWHG E\ UHIHUHQFH WR ([KLELW  WR WKH &RPSDQ\¶V 5HJLVWUDWLRQ 6WDWHPHQW RQ )RUP 6 5HJ 1R 
  

10.3

Form of Oshkosh Truck Corporation 1990 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended, Nonqualified Director Stock Option
$JUHHPHQW LQFRUSRUDWHGE\UHIHUHQFHWR([KLELWWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶V5HJLVWUDWLRQ6WDWHPHQWRQ)RUP6 5HJ
1R  

10.4

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 15, 1998 between Oshkosh Truck Corporation and Robert G. Bohn
LQFRUSRUDWHG E\ UHIHUHQFH WR ([KLELW  WR WKH &RPSDQ\¶V $QQXDO 5HSRUW RQ )RUP . IRU WKH \HDU HQGHG
6HSWHPEHU )LOH1R  

10.5

Oshkosh Truck Corporation Executive Retirement Plan, Amended and Restated effective October 1, 2004
LQFRUSRUDWHGE\UHIHUHQFHWR([KLELWWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶V&XUUHQW5HSRUWRQ)RUP.GDWHG2FWREHU
)LOH1R  

10.6

Form of Key Executive Employment and Severance Agreement between Oshkosh Truck Corporation and each of
Robert G. Bohn, Bryan J. Blankfield, Joseph H. Kimmitt, Mark A. Meaders, John W. Randjelovic, W. John
Stoddart, Charles L. Szews, Donald H. Verhoff, Michael J. Wuest and Matthew J. Zolnowski (each of the persons
identified have signed this form or a form substantially similar) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
&RPSDQ\¶V4XDUWHUO\5HSRUWRQ)RUP4IRUWKHTXDUWHUHQGHG-XQH )LOH1R  

10.7

Employment Agreement, dated September 16, 1996, between Pierce Manufacturing Inc. and John W. Randjelovic
LQFRUSRUDWHGE\UHIHUHQFHWR([KLELWWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶V$QQXDO5HSRUWRQ)RUP.IRUWKH\HDUHQGHG
6HSWHPEHU )LOH1R  

10.8

Amendment effective July 1, 2000 to Employment Agreement, dated as of October 15, 1998, between Oshkosh
7UXFN &RUSRUDWLRQ DQG 5REHUW * %RKQ LQFRUSRUDWHG E\ UHIHUHQFH WR ([KLELW  WR WKH &RPSDQ\¶V $QQXDO
5HSRUWRQ)RUP.IRUWKH\HDUHQGHG6HSWHPEHU )LOH1R  

113

10.9

Second Amendment effective December 31, 2000 to Employment Agreement, dated as of October 15, 1998,
between Oshkosh Truck Corporation and Robert G. Bohn (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the
&RPSDQ\¶V4XDUWHUO\5HSRUWRQ)RUP4IRUWKHTXDUWHUHQGHG'HFHPEHU )LOH1R  

10.10

Oshkosh Truck Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors and Executive Officers (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the CompDQ\¶V$QQXDO5HSRUWRQ)RUP.IRUthe fiscal year ended September 30,
 )LOH1R  

10.11

Oshkosh Truck Corporation 2004 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan (incorporated by reference to Attachment B to
WKH&RPSDQ\¶VGHILQLWLYHSUR[\VWDWHPHQWILOHGRQ6FKHGXOH$RQ'HFHPEHU )LOH1R  



)RUPRI2VKNRVK7UXFN&RUSRUDWLRQ,QFHQWLYH6WRFNDQG$ZDUGV3ODQ6WRFN2SWLRQ$JUHHPHQWIRUDZDUGV
SULRUWR6HSWHPEHU LQFRUSRUDWHGE\UHIHUHQFHWR([KLELWWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶V5HJLVWUDWLRQ6WDWHPHQWRQ
)RUP6 5HJ1R  



)RUPRI2VKNRVK7UXFN&RUSRUDWLRQ,QFHQWLYH6WRFNDQG$ZDUGV3ODQ6WRFN2SWLRQ$JUHHPHQWIRUDZDUGVRQ
DQG DIWHU 6HSWHPEHU   LQFRUSRUDWHG E\ UHIHUHQFH WR ([KLELW  WR WKH &RPSDQ\¶V $QQXDO 5HSRUW RQ
)RUP.IRUWKHILVFDO\HDUHQGHG6HSWHPEHU )LOH1R  



)RUPRI2VKNRVK7UXFN&RUSRUDWLRQ,QFHQWLYH6WRFNDQG$ZDUGV3ODQ1RQ(PSOR\HH'LUHFWRU6WRFN2SWLRQ
Award Agreement, for awards prior to September 19, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the
&RPSDQ\¶V5HJLVWUDWLRQ6WDWHPHQWRQ)RUP6 5HJ1R  

10.15

)RUPRI2VKNRVK7UXFN&RUSRUDWLRQ,QFHQWLYH6WRFNDQG$ZDUGV3ODQ1RQ(PSOR\HH'LUHFWRU6WRFN2SWLRQ
Award Agreement, for awards on and after September 19, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the
&RPSDQ\¶V$QQXDO5HSRUWRQ)RUP.IRUWKHILVFDO\HDUHQGHG6HSWHPEHU )LOH1R  



)RUP RI 2VKNRVK 7UXFN &RUSRUDWLRQ  ,QFHQWLYH 6WRFN DQG $ZDUGV 3ODQ 5HVWULFWHG 6WRFN $ZDUG $JUHHPHQW
LQFRUSRUDWHGE\UHIHUHQFHWR([KLELWWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶V&XUUHQW5HSRUWRQ)RUP.GDWHG6HSWHPEHU
 )LOH1R  



)RUP RI 2VKNRVK 7UXFN &RUSRUDWLRQ  ,QFHQWLYH 6WRFN DQG $ZDUGV 3ODQ 1RQ(PSOR\HH 'LUHFWRU 5HVWULFWHG
6WRFN$ZDUG$JUHHPHQW LQFRUSRUDWHGE\UHIHUHQFHWR([KLELWWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶V&XUUHQW5HSRUWRQ)RUP
.GDWHG)HEUXDU\ ILOH1R  

 6XPPDU\ RI &DVK &RPSHQVDWLRQ IRU 1RQ(PSOR\HH 'LUHFWRUV LQFRUSRUDWHG E\ UHIHUHQFH WR ([KLELW  WR WKH
&RPSDQ\¶V$QQXDO5HSRUWRQ)RUP.IRUWKHILVFDO\HDUHQGHG6HSWHPEHU )LOH1R  
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)RUPRI.H\([HFXWLYH(PSOR\PHQWDQG6HYHUDQFH$JUHHPHQWEHWZHHQ2VKNRVK7UXFN&RUSRUDWLRQDQG7KRPDV
')HQQHU 



&RPSXWDWLRQ RI SHU VKDUH HDUQLQJV FRQWDLQHG LQ 1RWH  RI ³1RWHV WR &RQVROLGDWHG )LQDQFLDO 6WDWHPHQWV´ RI WKH
&RPSDQ\¶V$QQXDO5HSRUWRQ)RUP.IRUWKHILVFDO\HDUHQGHG6HSWHPEHU 

21.

Subsidiaries of Registrant.

23.

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

31.1

Certification by the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes2[OH\$FWGDWHG1RYHPEHU



&HUWLILFDWLRQE\WKH([HFXWLYH9LFH3UHVLGHQWDQG&KLHI)LQDncial Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes2[OH\$FWGDWHG1RYHPEHU

32.1

Written Statement of the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, dated
November 16, 2006.

32.2

Written Statement of the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350,
dated November 16, 2006.

*Denotes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

115

Exhibit 21
Subsidiaries of the Company
The Company owns all of the stock of the following corporations:

Name
Pierce Manufacturing Inc.
McNeilus Companies, Inc.
Kewaunee Fabrications, L.L.C.
Oshkosh Unipower Limited
Total Mixer Technologies, L.L.C.
Summit Performance Systems, L.L.C.
Oshkosh Logistics Corporation
Oshkosh Asia Holdings Limited

State or Other Jurisdiction
of Incorporation or Organization
Wisconsin
Minnesota
Wisconsin
United Kingdom
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Mauritius

Pierce Manufacturing Inc. owns all of the stock of the following corporations:

Name
Pierce Manufacturing International, Inc.
Pierce Western Region Refurbishment Center, Inc.

State or Other Jurisdiction
of Incorporation or Organization
Barbados
California

McNeilus Companies, Inc. owns all of the stock of the following corporations:

Name
McNeilus Truck and Manufacturing, Inc.
Iowa Contract Fabricators, Inc.
McIntire Fabricators, Inc.
Kensett Fabricators, Inc.
McNeilus Financial Services, Inc.
Medtec Ambulance Corporation
JerrDan Corporation
Concrete Equipment Company, Inc.
London Machinery Inc.
AK Acquisition Corp.
Iowa Mold Tooling Co., Inc.
Steel Acquisition Corp.

State or Other Jurisdiction
of Incorporation or Organization
Minnesota
Iowa
Iowa
Iowa
Minnesota
Indiana
Delaware
Nebraska
Canada
Wisconsin
Delaware
Pennsylvania

McNeilus Companies, Inc. owns a 49% interest in Mezcladores Trailers de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.
McNeilus Companies, Inc. as limited partner and Oshkosh Logistics Corporation as general partner are sole partners in
LMI Finance L.P., a limited partnership
McNeilus Truck and Manufacturing, Inc., owns all of the stock of McNeilus Financial, Inc., a Texas corporation.
McNeilus Financial, Inc. owns all of the stock of the following corporations:

Name
Viking Truck & Equipment Sales, Inc.
Viking Truck & Equipment Sales, Inc.
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State or Other Jurisdiction
of Incorporation or Organization
Michigan
Ohio

McNeilus Financial Services, Inc. owns all of the stock of the following corporations:

Name
Oshkosh/McNeilus Financial Services, Inc.
Viking Equipment Leasing, Inc.

State or Other Jurisdiction
of Incorporation or Organization
Minnesota
Michigan

Concrete Equipment Company, Inc. owns all of the stock of Audubon Manufacturing Corporation, an Iowa Corporation.
London Machinery Inc. owns all of the stock of London Machinery (Mtl) Inc., a Canadian Corporation:
Oshkosh/McNeilus Financial Services, Inc. owns an equity interest in Oshkosh/McNeilus Financial Services Partnership
(California partnership) and owns Oshkosh Equipment Finance, L.L.C.
AK Acquisition Corp. owns all of the stock or member interests in the following:

Name
Aluminum Body Corporation
Prime Medical Manufacturing LLC

State or Other Jurisdiction
of Incorporation or Organization
California
Delaware

AK Acquisition Corp. and Prime Medical Manufacturing LLC are sole partners in AK Specialty Vehicles, LLC, a Texas
Corporation.
AK Specialty Vehicles, LLC owns AK Specialty Vehicles, Limited.
Prime Medical Manufacturing LLC owns all of the stock of the following corporations:

Name
Frontline Holdings, Inc.
AK Specialty Vehicles B.V.

State or Other Jurisdiction
of Incorporation or Organization
Delaware
Netherlands

AK Specialty Vehicles B.V. owns all of the stock in the following corporations:

Name
Smit Container B.V.
Smit Carrosseriefabrick B.V.
Smit Mobile Equipment B.V.
Smit Hydraulick B. V.

State or Other Jurisdiction
of Incorporation or Organization
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands

Oshkosh Unipower Limited owns Oshkosh Truck (UK) Limited.
Oshkosh Truck Corporation as limited partner and Summit Performance Systems, L.L.C. and Total Mixer Technologies,
L.L.C., as general partners, are the sole partners in Windmill Ventures C.V. (Netherlands), a limited partnership.
Windmill Ventures C.V. owns Oshkosh European Holdings S.L. (Spain), a limited liability company.
Oshkosh European Holdings S.L. owns Oshkosh Group B.V. (Netherlands), a close corporation.
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Oshkosh Group B.V. owns all of the stock in the following corporations:

Name
Geesink Group B.V.
Geesink Norba Limited
Norba A.B.
Oshkosh Italy B.V.
Medias Industries SRL

State or Other Jurisdiction
of Incorporation or Organization
Netherlands
England and Wales
Sweden
Netherlands
Romania

Geesink Group B.V. owns all of the stock in the following corporations:

Name
Geesink B.V.
Kiggen Den Engelsman B.V.
Geesink Kiggen B.V.
Geesink Kiggen Leasing B.V.
Geesink Vast Goed B.V.
Geesink Polska Sp.z o.o

State or Other Jurisdiction
of Incorporation or Organization
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Poland

Geesink Norba Limited owns all of the stock of Sheppard Meiler Limited (England and Wales).
Norba A.B. owns all of the stock in the following corporations:

Name
Norba Limited
Norba A. S.

State or Other Jurisdiction
of Incorporation or Organization
England and Wales
Denmark

Norba Limited owns all of the stock of Sertek Limited (England and Wales).
Oshkosh Italy B.V. owns 75% of the outstanding quotas (ownership interests) in the following corporation:

Name
Brescia Antincendi International S.r.l.

State or Other Jurisdiction
of Incorporation or Organization
Italy

Brescia Antincendi International S.r.l. owns all of the stock of BAI Deutschland GmbH (Germany)
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EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements Nos. 333-114939, 333-101596, 333-84000, 33381681, 33-38822 and 33-62687 on Form S-8 of Oshkosh Truck Corporation of our reports dated November 14, 2006 relating
WRWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDQGILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVFKHGXOHRI2VKNRVK7UXFN&RUSRUDWLRQDQGPDQDJHPHQW¶VUHSRUWRQWKH
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Oshkosh Truck
Corporation for the year ended September 30, 2006.

/S/DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Milwaukee, Wisconsin
November 14, 2006
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Exhibit (31.1)
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Robert G. Bohn, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Oshkosh Truck Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and
G  'LVFORVHGLQWKLVUHSRUWDQ\FKDQJHLQWKHUHJLVWUDQW¶VLQternal control over financial reporting that occurred during
WKHUHJLVWUDQW¶VPRVWUHFHQWILVFDOTXDUWHU WKHUHJLVWUDQW¶VIRXUWKILVFDOTXDUWHUin the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materialO\ DIIHFW WKH UHJLVWUDQW¶V LQWHUQDO FRQWURO RYHU ILQDQFLDO
reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons
SHUIRUPLQJWKHHTXLYDOHQWIXQFWLRQ 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

November 16, 2006
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/S/ Robert G. Bohn
Robert G. Bohn
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit (31.2)
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Charles L. Szews, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Oshkosh Truck Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and
G  'LVFORVHGLQWKLVUHSRUWDQ\FKDQJHLQWKHUHJLVWUDQW¶VLQternal control over financial reporting that occurred during
WKHUHJLVWUDQW¶VPRVWUHFHQWILVFDOTXDUWHU WKHUHJLVWUDQW¶VIRXUWKILVFDOTXDUWHUin the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materialO\ DIIHFW WKH UHJLVWUDQW¶V LQWHUQDO FRQWURO RYHU ILQDQFLDO
reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons
SHUIRUPLQJWKHHTXLYDOHQWIXQFWLRQ 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

November 16, 2006

/S/ Charles L. Szews
Charles L. Szews
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit (32.1)
Written Statement of the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350
Solely for the purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. §1350, I, the undersigned Chairman, President and Chief Executive
2IILFHURI2VKNRVK7UXFN&RUSRUDWLRQ WKH³&RPSDQ\´ KHUHE\FHUWLI\WRWKHEHVWRIP\NQRZOHGJHWKDWWKH$QQXDO5HSRUW
RQ)RUP.RIWKH&RPSDQ\IRUWKH\HDUHQGHG6HSWHPEHU WKH³5HSRUW´ IXOO\FRPSOLHVZLWKWKHUHTXLUHPHQWVRI
6HFWLRQ  D  RI WKH 6HFXULWLHV ([FKDQJH $FW RI  DQG WKDW LQIRUPDWLRQ FRQWDLQHG LQ WKH 5HSRUW IDLUO\ SUHVHQWV LQ DOO
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

65REHUW*%RKQ
5REHUW*%RKQ
1RYHPEHU

122

Exhibit (32.2)
Written Statement of the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350
Solely for the purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. §1350, I, the undersigned Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
2IILFHURI2VKNRVK7UXFN&RUSRUDWLRQ WKH³&RPSDQ\´ KHUHE\FHUWLI\WRWKHEHVWRIP\NQRZOHGJHWKDWWKH$QQXDO5HSRUW
RQ)RUP.RIWKH&RPSDQ\IRUWKH\HDUHQGHG6HSWHPEHU WKH³5HSRUW´ IXOO\FRPSOLHVZLWKWKHUHTXLUHPHQWVRI
6HFWLRQ  D  RI WKH 6HFXULWLHV ([FKDQJH $FW RI  DQG WKDW LQIRUPDWLRQ FRQWDLQHG LQ WKH 5HSRUW IDLUO\ SUHVHQWV LQ DOO
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/S/ Charles L. Szews
Charles L. Szews
1RYHPEHU
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The Annual Meeting of Shareholders
of Oshkosh Truck Corporation
will be held on Tuesday, February 6,
2007 at 10:00 a.m. at the
Fox Cities Performing Arts Center,
400 West College Avenue,
Appleton, Wisconsin, USA

The Company has filed as exhibits
to its Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended September
30, 2006 the certifications of its
Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer and Executive
Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer required by Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
The Company submitted to the
New York Stock Exchange during
fiscal 2006 the Annual CEO
Certification required by Section
303A.12(a) of the New York Stock
Exchange Listed Company Manual.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
555 E. Wells Street, Suite 1400
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202


Oshkosh Truck Corporation
Common Stock is listed on the
New York Stock Exchange under the
symbol OSK


Copies of the Company’s Form
10-K as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission are
available free of charge by visiting
the Company’s website, or
by contacting:
Virginia Abel
Oshkosh Truck Corporation
P.O. Box 2566
Oshkosh, Wisconsin 54903-2566
920-235-9151, Ext. 2296

     
  
To obtain information on the
Company’s Dividend Reinvestment
and Buy Your Direct Stock Plan,
please contact Computershare
Investor Services, LLC.

  
 

 
  
2307 Oregon Street
Oshkosh, Wisconsin 54902

   
   
Oshkosh Truck Corporation
P.O. Box 2566
Oshkosh, Wisconsin 54903-2566
920 -235-9150

  

 

For Company facts, corporate
governance information including
the Company’s code of conduct,
news releases, earnings conference
call webcasts, webcast archives,
presentations and product
information, visit Oshkosh Truck
on the Internet at:
www.oshkoshtruckcorporation.com

Computershare Investor
Services, LLC
Mail:
P.O. Box A3504
Chicago, Illinois 60690-3504
Shipment:
2 North LaSalle Street
Chicago, Illinois 60602
www-us.computershare.com
866-222-4059 (within the U.S. and Canada)
+1-312-601-6643 (outside the U.S. and Canada)

© 2006 Oshkosh Truck Corporation
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